Public Document Pack

SCRUTINY BOARD (STRATEGY AND RESOURCES)
Meeting to be held in Civic Hall, Leeds, LS1 1UR on
Monday, 24th January, 2022 at 10.00 am
(A pre-meeting will take place for ALL Members of the Board at 9.45 a.m.)
MEMBERSHIP
Councillors
S Burke -

Middleton Park;

P Carlill -

Calverley and Farsley;

D Chapman S Firth B Flynn S Hamilton J Heselwood A Hutchison J McKenna A Scopes (Chair) S Seary -

Rothwell;
Harewood;
Adel and Wharfedale;
Moortown;
Bramley and Stanningley;
Morley North;
Armley;
Beeston and Holbeck;
Pudsey;

Please Note: Members of the public are now able to attend the meeting in person, but
please be mindful that Coronavirus is still circulating in Leeds. Therefore, even if you have
had the vaccine, if you have Coronavirus symptoms: a high temperature; a new,
continuous cough; or a loss or change to your sense of smell or taste, you should NOT
attend the meeting and stay at home, and get a PCR test. For those who are attending the
meeting, please bring a face covering, unless you are exempt.
Note to observers of the meeting: To remotely observe this meeting, please click on the
‘View the Meeting Recording’ link which will feature on the meeting’s webpage (linked
below) ahead of the meeting. The webcast will become available at the commencement of
the meeting.
Council and democracy (leeds.gov.uk)

Principal Scrutiny Adviser:
Rob Clayton
Tel: 37 88790
Produced on Recycled Paper

A

AGENDA

Item
No
1

Ward/Equal
Opportunities

Item Not
Open

Page
No
APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION
OF DOCUMENTS
To consider any appeals in accordance with
Procedure Rule 25* of the Access to Information
Procedure Rules (in the event of an Appeal the
press and public will be excluded).
(* In accordance with Procedure Rule 25, notice of
an appeal must be received in writing by the Head
of Governance Services at least 24 hours before
the meeting).

2

EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC
1

To highlight reports or appendices which
officers have identified as containing exempt
information, and where officers consider that
the public interest in maintaining the
exemption outweighs the public interest in
disclosing the information, for the reasons
outlined in the report.

2

To consider whether or not to accept the
officers recommendation in respect of the
above information.

3
If so, to formally pass the following
resolution:RESOLVED – That the press and public be
excluded from the meeting during
consideration of the following parts of the
agenda designated as containing exempt
information on the grounds that it is likely, in
view of the nature of the business to be
transacted or the nature of the proceedings,
that if members of the press and public were
present there would be disclosure to them of
exempt information, as follows:
No exempt items have been identified.

B

Item
No
3

Ward/Equal
Opportunities

Item Not
Open

Page
No
LATE ITEMS
To identify items which have been admitted to the
agenda by the Chair for consideration.
(The special circumstances shall be specified in
the minutes.)

4

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS
To disclose or draw attention to any interests in
accordance with Leeds City Council’s ‘Councillor
Code of Conduct’.

5

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND
NOTIFICATION OF SUBSTITUTES
To receive any apologies for absence and
notification of substitutes.

6

MINUTES - 29 NOVEMBER 2021

7 - 16

To confirm as a correct record, the minutes of the
meeting held on 29 November 2021
7

STAFF INCLUSION UPDATE: IMPROVING THE
EXPERIENCE AND OUTCOMES OF DISABLED /
CARER COLLEAGUES AT LEEDS CITY
COUNCIL AND FEEDBACK FROM STAFF
NETWORKS
Following consideration of items related to the
experience of BAME colleagues working at the
Council at the February and September 2021
Board meetings, this report from the Director of
Resources provides specific information in relation
to Improving the experience and outcomes of
Disabled / Carer colleagues at Leeds City Council.
In addition the report continues the Board’s focus
on staff inclusion with a further update from the
BAME staff network and direct feedback from the
Carer and Healthy Minds networks.

C

17 56

Item
No
8

Ward/Equal
Opportunities

Item Not
Open

Page
No
INITIAL BUDGET PROPOSALS FOR 2022/23

57 176

To consider a report from the Head of Democratic
Services that introduces the Executive Board’s
initial budget proposals for 2022/23 for
consideration, review and comment on matters and
proposals that fall within the Scrutiny Board’s remit
and note the intention to provide comments and
feedback to Executive at its February meeting
through a composite report from all five scrutiny
boards.
9

FINANCIAL HEALTH MONITORING - MONTH 7

177 222

To consider a report from the Head of Democratic
Services that introduces information regarding the
projected 2021/22 financial health position of those
service areas that fall within the Board’s remit at
Month 7 (October 2021).
10

PERFORMANCE REPORTING: CULTURE AND
AN EFFICIENT, ENTERPRISING AND HEALTHY
ORGANISATION

223 240

To consider a joint report of the Director of
Resources, Director of City Development and
Director of Communities and Environment on
performance in service areas that fall under the
scrutiny board’s remit in 2021/22
11

BEST CITY AMBITION

241 250

To consider a report from the Director of
Resources in relation to the new Best City
Ambition following approval for consultation to take
place on its aims and ambitions at Executive Board
on 15 December 2021, with a view to reporting
back to the February Executive Board with
composite report from all five scrutiny boards.
12

WORK PROGRAMME
To consider the Scrutiny Board’s work programme
for the 2021/22 municipal year.

D

251 278

Item
No
13

Ward/Equal
Opportunities

Item Not
Open

Page
No
DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING
The next meeting of the Board is Monday
14th February 2022 at 10.00 am (Pre-meeting for
all Board Members at 9.45 am).
THIRD PARTY RECORDING
Recording of this meeting is allowed to enable those
not present to see or hear the proceedings either as
they take place (or later) and to enable the reporting of
those proceedings. A copy of the recording protocol is
available from the contacts on the front of this agenda.
Use of Recordings by Third Parties – code of practice
a) Any published recording should be
accompanied by a statement of when and
where the recording was made, the context
of the discussion that took place, and a clear
identification of the main speakers and their
role or title.
b) Those making recordings must not edit the
recording in a way that could lead to
misinterpretation or misrepresentation of the
proceedings or comments made by
attendees. In particular there should be no
internal editing of published extracts;
recordings may start at any point and end at
any point but the material between those
points must be complete.

E

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6
SCRUTINY BOARD (STRATEGY AND RESOURCES)
MONDAY, 29TH NOVEMBER, 2021
PRESENT:

Councillor A Scopes in the Chair
Councillors S Burke, P Carlill, B Flynn,
S Hamilton, C Hart-Brooke, D Jenkins,
J McKenna, S Seary and P Wadsworth

27

Appeals Against Refusal of Inspection of Documents

28

There were no appeals against refusal of inspection of documents.
Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public

29

There were no exempt items.
Late Items

30

There were no formal late items. However, there was supplementary
information circulated to Members in relation to Agenda Item 7 – Future
Waste Strategy Inquiry – Finance, Contracts and Recycling.
Declaration of Interests

31

No declarations of interest were made at the meeting.
Apologies for Absence and Notification of Substitutes
Apologies were received from Cllrs Heselwood, Chapman, and Firth.
Cllr Jenkins attended the meeting as substitute for Cllr Heselwood, Cllr HartBrooke attended the meeting as substitute for Cllr Chapman and Cllr
Wadsworth attended the meeting as substitute for Cllr Firth.
It was also noted at this point that Cllr Ragan was attending the meeting as
representative of Environment, Housing and Communities Scrutiny Board, in
relation to the joint inquiry on the Future Waste Strategy. It was noted that Cllr
B Anderson had been intending to also join the meeting for this item but had
sent apologies.

32

The Chair sent Cllr B Anderson his best wishes.
Minutes - 18 October 2021

33

RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting held on 18th October 2021, be
approved as a correct record.
Matters arising
The PSA informed the Board of the following points:

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Monday, 24th January, 2022

Page 7



34

Minute 20 – Inclusion Agenda – Plans are being developed to have
staff networks attend the January 2022 meeting to give their views on
how the Council is responding to inclusion issues in the workforce.
 Minute 21 – Leeds 2023 – Additional information requested by the
Board had now been sent to Members.
 Minute 25 – The Chair and the PSA discussing the request to bring
back an item to update the Board on Devolution.
 In October members suggested an additional meeting in December. It
was noted that the work programme for the Board was significant and
to manage this an additional item has been added to the 13th
December Working Group to deal with an initial report on the Contact
Centre.
Future Waste Strategy Inquiry - Finance, Contracts and Recycling
The report from the Head of Democratic Services set out the ongoing inquiry
into waste strategy working with the Environment, Housing and Communities
Scrutiny Board. The report provided information linked to the service in terms
of tonnages of waste collected, costs of the service and contractual matters.
In attendance for this item were:
 James Rogers – Director of Communities, Housing and Environment
 John Woolmer – Acting Chief Officer Environmental Services
 Cllr Mohammed Rafique – Executive Member for Environment and
Housing
 Polly Cook – Chief Officer Sustainable Energy and Air Quality
 Jason Singh – Head of Service Environmental Action
 Kevin Mulvaney – Head of Finance Communities, Housing and
Environment
 Rosie Harvey – Officer in the Contracts Team, Waste Management
 Amanda Pitt – Manager of the Veolia Contract
 Philip Turpin – Senior Business Officer Communities, Housing and
Environment
 Ed Walton – Business Officer Communities Housing and Environment
 Robin Akers – Commercial Director HW Martin
 Declan Nortcliffe – HW Martin
 Scott Francis – Head of ERF Operations North – Veolia (attended via
zoom link)
 Donald Macphail – Chief Operating Officer Treatment Division – Veolia
(attended via zoom link)
Members were provided with a presentation in relation to Waste
Managements – Key Contracts.
Members were informed of the following points:
 The RERF contract is a 25year PFI contract based on SOPC4 it is a
contract only for the treatment of residual waste. It is a design build and
operate contract not due to expire until 2041.

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Monday, 24th January, 2022

Page 8












The technical solution offered by Veolia was for a mechanical pretreatment followed by energy recovery from waste that cannot be
recycled.
There are three key targets in the contract:
o Landfill diversion
o BMW diversion (which is tonnage allowance per year)
o Recycling. It was noted that the target for this had been reduced
in April 2020 from 10% to 2% with performance for 20/21 at
2.3%. Members were advised that despite efforts made by
Veolia recycling had not increased sufficiently to achieve the
10% target. Therefore, with agreement of DEFRA the targets
had been reduced for the next seven years. The Board noted
that metals are currently the only materials being recycled for a
significant compensation payment made by Veolia
Members were informed of benefits provided by the RERF either by
recycling or creating of energy.
Members noted that the facility also provides a range of other benefits
including, up to 11 mega-watts of electricity to the National Grid,
provides heat to the Council’s District Heating network and has a visitor
centre.
DEFRA support the work at the facility, this is monitored with monthly
meetings and quarterly meetings with all PFI contract management
teams.
It was noted that the facility has saved 40,000 tonnes of carbon per
year compared to landfill, which was the equivalent to taking 19,500
cars off the road, produced 11MW electricity – enough to power 22,000
homes.
Over the life of the contract, it is expected to save £7m per annum
compared to previous solutions.

Members were provided with a contract overview which included the following
information.
 HW Martin Ltd operate a state of the art material recycling facility on
Parkside Lane in Leeds. Around 26 RVC vehicles are tipped per day
Monday to Saturday which roughly equates to 41,000 tons yearly.
 The current contract ends in November 2023, it was noted that the
contract had been extended using Public Contract Regulation 72, as it
is currently unclear on the requirements of the Council arising from the
Environment Bill, the potential effects from the deposit return scheme,
extended producer responsibility and funding opportunities from
Government.
 The Board were advised of the pricing mechanism within the contract.
 The presentation showed the process stages and the mechanisms for
removing and sorting the various items of waste. It was noted that any
waste residue from the process is made into Refuse Derived Fuel.
 Members noted that performance and outcomes are measured using
information gathered from monthly reporting where material tonnes,
price and performance are tracked. Operational issues, H&S issues,
legislative adherence are monitored through the contract management
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Monday, 24th January, 2022

Page 9





process. It was also noted that 6 monthly due diligence audits are
carried out on all waste contractors.
HW Martin provided the Board with a brief background of the company,
explaining that they are part of the Martin Company established in
1996. The company is all about recyclables, with 99% of their clients
being local councils, they extract valuable recyclable materials from
waste.
It was noted that the Council is measured by how they perform in
relation to tonnage which is contradictory in relation to carbon impact.
Members were informed that as a Council we are driven by
Government Strategy which is still subject to consultation. The focus
for the Council needs to be on re-using such materials as textiles with
an aim to reducing our carbon impact. The Chair requested that the list
referred to in relation to re-using waste and the carbon impact be sent
to the PSA, to circulate to the Board.

Members’ discussions included:
 Collection and recycling of glass and the issues in relation to glass
collection. It was noted that Leeds currently collected approximately
13,000 tonnes of glass.
 Types of recyclable materials which are best for recycling to ensure
that the Council continues to sustain performance in relation to low
carbon impact.
 Kerbside waste collections, which would achieve the best use of
resources and performance and provide ease of recycling for Leeds
residents. Discussion was focused on garden waste, food waste, glass
and textile recycling.
 Promotion of the recycle, re-use and reduce agenda. It was noted that
third sector organisations were supportive of this. An example of a
successful Leeds campaign to re-use school uniforms was provided.
The Leeds by Example website can provide useful information about
recycling and re-using items.
 The Board noted that if food waste was collected, it would make people
more aware of how much food was wasted and this may drive down
food waste, it is also possible that it could increase food waste as
people may feel like it is going somewhere useful anyway.
 There was discussion of the 20p deposit return scheme in relation to
glass collection and the possibility of Leeds introducing a scheme. In a
linked discussion it was noted that the Council was looking at the
fashion industry and work in this area was currently ongoing with the
University in terms of textile recycling or re-use of clothing.
 It was noted that there are no plans for charging for garden waste
collection and that where Council’s do charge, they collected
significantly less than Leeds.
 The Board discussed Wakefield Council and their recycling of
polystyrene. Leeds does not collect polystyrene as it breaks down into
small particles. The Board was advised that there was a number of
different types of polystyrene and work was ongoing externally to the

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Monday, 24th January, 2022

Page 10










Council with food manufacturers who use polystyrene in containers for
change to reduce this type of waste.
Advertising of what and what cannot be recycled is sent to residents on
an annual basis and will again be sent out before Christmas.
In relation to other cities waste management, Leeds was comparable.
Options would be discussed with DEFRA in relation to collecting food
waste, with an option to co-mingle waste with garden waste collections.
The Board noted that the Council was still awaiting guidance and clarity
on management of co-mingled waste.
Work was ongoing with the route review to look at how to make the
service more efficient.
The District Heating System receives energy from the RERF. It was
noted that the RERF has a capacity to collect 20MW of electricity. On a
regular basis no more than 6MW is used by the district system,
however, more sites are being added.
The Board discussed the impact of food waste on the RERF and the
calorific value of items, for example different types of plastic, that are
recycled there and how that impacts on performance of the facility.
That while the Council does need to comply with Government
requirements, it should have its own view on the best way forward
driven by carbon impact in line with the climate emergency.

The Chair in closing the item said that there was a need for a coherent
national strategy on waste and looked forward to seeing it in the New Year, he
hoped that it would look at the increased impact of carbon rather than on the
tonnage of carbon. He suggested that the Board need to be aware of this and
for it to be a focus.
The Chair invited Cllr Rafique to add his comments. Cllr Rafique thanked the
Scrutiny Board for their input into this as a move forward. This had highlighted
the good initiatives in Leeds. However, there was still a need for clear
guidance and how waste management would be funded.
Cllr Rafique thanked the contractors for their hard work and requested that his
gratitude was passed onto the staff particularly over the last 20 months.
The Chair reiterated Cllr Rafique’s comments.
RESOLVED – To note:
a) The contents of the Appendices 1 and 2 providing relevant information
on service costs, tonnages of waste collected, recycling rates and the
contractual arrangements Leeds has in order to deal with different
waste streams and highlight further areas of interest linked to the
scrutiny inquiry that can be brought back to future meetings of the
Board.
b) The evidence provided by the guests and use this to assist in the
formulation of a scrutiny statement to be reported back to the
Environment, Housing and Communities Board.
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Monday, 24th January, 2022

Page 11

35

Future Ways of Working - Update on Estate Realisation and Staff Survey
The report from the Director of City Development provided a further update on
the Board’s ongoing work looking at agile working, developing new ways of
working and estate realisation as well as employee wellbeing.
In attendance for this item were:
 Cllr Debra Coupar – Executive Member for Resources
 Mark Mills – Head of Asset Management
 Graham Sephton – Head of HR
The Board were informed of the following points:
 The pandemic had accelerated service change to a more digital focus,
with staff forced to work from home, more hybrid approaches to
working arrangements and service delivery.
 Work on estate realisation has been ongoing for 5 years. The Council
has reduced its estate in the city centre from 17 buildings to 3. The
Council’s buildings currently have front facing services and the aim is
to make the customer experience better and easier.
 Feedback from the staff survey shows that staff are supportive of the
new ways of working including the flexibility to work from home and the
way workspace has been set out. The way in which the Council works
has been changed through engagement with staff, trade unions and
Members.
 4 employee wellbeing surveys have been undertaken with results for
the latest undertaken in August 2021, within the submitted report. It
was noted that since the survey of October 2020 there had been some
improvement in how staff were feeling. Support has been offered to
staff who need it.
Cllr Coupar advised the Board that work on the estate was still ongoing and
had been for many years this was not as an impact of the pandemic. The
changing the workplace programme had recognised improvements in digital
working and this has been progressed. Much of the Council’s estate is ageing
and in need of refurbishment to bring it up to date and to ensure that it has the
best carbon footprint that it can. Cllr Coupar reassured the Board that there
would be consultation on any proposals.
In response to questions from the Members the Board were provided with the
following information:
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Monday, 24th January, 2022

Page 12














Consideration would be given to converting buildings to housing. The
Housing Growth Team are provided with those buildings which are to
be put up for sale or lease to assess potential for housing.
Any listed buildings which are to be sold would be done only in
consultation with the community and local ward members. The Council
has a large number of heritage buildings and recognises that it is not
always the best custodian of such buildings. It does not wish to see
some of these buildings left to become derelict and decayed.
Appropriate consideration is given to heritage buildings some taking
years for a decision to be made.
Community Asset Transfers are considered with Bramley Baths and
Yeadon Town Hall a demonstration of where this has been successful.
It was recognised that Community Hubs have been a valuable
resource for staff to work instead of working from home or travelling
into the city centre. They have also provided a valuable service to
people in the community.
Members suggested that work in relation to heating buildings whilst
ensuring they are properly ventilated should take place especially in
buildings used regularly by residents, such as libraries.
It was noted that IDS are due to attend the Board in February 2022, in
relation to agile working.
It was noted that a third of staff had responded to the staff survey.
Responses had been received from staff working in front line services
and staff working from home. It was not possible to say if it was the
same staff responding on all the surveys.
It was acknowledged that some buildings where staff are employed
had not seen the same level of consideration in relation to the
workspace such as depots.
It was recognised that the estates management systems were not
consistent. Work was ongoing with IDS to have one single system
which allows real time data.

Councillor Flynn expressed his disappointment that IDS were not at the
meeting as he had a few questions he wished to put to them both from an
agile working perspective and from a personal perspective. It had been noted
that IDS would be attending Scrutiny Board in February 2022.
The Board suggested that base data was required from the directorates in
relation to service delivery. They wished to know about impact on service, the
quality of service, purpose of the buildings. It was the view that service
delivery data needs to be considered in relation to the experience of
customers and residents.

36

RESOLVED - To:
a) Note the content of the report
b) Consider and provide comment on the work to date and future estate
realisation opportunities.
Agency Staffing and Overtime - Update Report

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Monday, 24th January, 2022

Page 13

The Chief Officer Human Resources submitted a report on agency staffing at
Leeds City Council covering costs, overtime, value for money, the recent
Early leavers Initiative (ELI), the impact on financial strategies and links to
inclusive growth.
Alex Watson – Head of HR attended for this item.
The Board were informed of the following points:
 This report was a follow up to the report submitted in July 2021. It
provided an update on services and work done and the effects of the
pandemic.
 Spend for the service is the same as last year at this midway point.
 Highlights from the report were noted as:
o IDS who had shown a reliance on agency staff and were now
bringing this back in house through permanent staffing on the
structure
o Assistance was being given to support managers on sickness
and attendance issues
o Leave was still an issue and the team were looking at how this
can be better managed including the booking of leave and
ensuring sufficient staff cover
o ELI - this initiative had saved money and was sustainable.
Responding to questions from Members the Board were informed of the
following:
 It was acknowledged that sickness levels were increasing. This was a
concern with work ongoing to assess this.
 Overtime was paid in relation to responsive services. It was difficult to
clarify spend in relation to agency spend and overtime spend as this
was often seasonal. More work would be undertaken to provide details
and ensure that rotas were robust enough.
 The team would look at the use of a wider pool of staffing that could be
used in place of agency staffing, key problems could ensuring those
staff do have full time roles and also past experience at other Councils
where a pool approach had not fully worked.
 Sickness in the main seemed to relate to stress, muscular skeletal
issues and mental health issues. The figures do take into consideration
staff with long Covid. The officer offered to clarify if the figures included
Covid.
The Board requested information in relation to the retention of Social Workers.

37

RESOLVED - To
a) Note the current position regarding the use of agency workers and
overtime
b) Note the ongoing demands that different services are facing
c) Note the resourcing solutions that have been achieved and options
being proposed to further develop and apply these.
d) Consider the need for further updates and progress reports
Work Programme
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Monday, 24th January, 2022

Page 14

The report of the Head of Democratic Services presented the Scrutiny Board’s
work schedule for the 2021/22 municipal year.
The Principal Scrutiny Adviser informed the Board that the working group
scheduled for 13th December had now been expanding to include an initial
report on the Contact Centre.
It was noted that Appendix 1 provided the work schedule for the Board. The
Board also noted that the PSA and the Chair were working on economic
income and spend as a possible future work item.
The Board requested the following:
 An update on Welcome to Yorkshire which the Board had worked on
last year.
 An item on quality of services to the public. The PSA and the Chair to
check if this comes under the remit of the Board.
RESOLVED – To note the content of the report.
38

Date and Time of Next Meeting
RESOLVED – That the next meeting of the Board will be Monday 24 th
January 2022 at 10.00 am (Pre-meeting for all Board Members at 9.45 am).
The meeting concluded at 13:15

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Monday, 24th January, 2022

Page 15

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7
Report author: Terry Pycroft
Tel: 0113 3781440

Report of Director of Resources
Report to Resources and Strategy Scrutiny Board
Date: 24 January 2022
Subject: Staff Inclusion Update: Improving the experience and outcomes of Disabled
/ Carer colleagues at Leeds City Council, and Feedback from Staff Networks
Yes

No

Has consultation been carried out?

Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration?

Yes

No

Will the decision be open for call-in?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

Are specific electoral wards affected?
If yes, name(s) of ward(s):

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number: 10.4(3)

Summary
•

Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board, following the race equality action plan presentation in
September 2021, requested additional updates from other staff networks, and this report gives
the latest position on the (DAWN) Disability and Wellbeing Network (including Healthy Minds),
the Carers Staff Network and the BAME network.

•

The Equality Act 2010 says you are Disabled if you have a physical or mental impairment,
visible or hidden, that has a 'substantial' and 'long-term' negative effect on your ability to do
normal daily activities (which can last 12 months or longer and be recurring).

•

In the UK, 1 in 5 people have a disability, 80 per cent of which are said to have a hidden
disability.

•

A Carer is someone who provides unpaid care and support to a family member or friend due to
their disability, health condition, frailty, mental health problem, addiction or other health and care
need. If you are looking after a child, including your own child, who has special physical or
mental health support needs, then you are also a carer.

•

There are some 13.6 million unpaid carers across the country, including 4.5 million people who
first started caring during the pandemic and 800,000 young carers. Each of these carers
provides vital support to a family member or friend, often at considerable personal cost.

•

In 2019 Leeds City Council made a commitment as a Disability Confident Leader. As one of the
largest employers in the city we have an opportunity to show strong leadership and act as an
exemplar to other employers by championing
working (both in how people work and
Page “healthy”
17

the environments where they work), and by taking a person-centred, social model of disability
approach to the care of our employees in work and in supporting those with long term health
needs and disabilities and those with caring responsibilities.
•

This is demonstrated in our Equality Improvement Priorities 2018 – 2022. One of these priorities
aims to ‘provide effective support to disabled people and people with long term health conditions
with a focus on those with poor mental health to access the labour market and sustain
employment with the objective of increasing the number of people experiencing mild to
moderate mental health moving into work’.

•

In February 2021, this scrutiny board received a joint commitment from Corporate Leadership
Team and our BAME Staff Network to improve the work experience and outcomes for BAME
colleagues in Leeds City Council. This was an initial item focussing on the Council’s response to
a call for urgent action from the BAME staff network in response to the Black Lives Matter
movement, the disproportionate impact of Covid-19 on those communities and colleagues and
the need to address a broad range of issues for Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME)
colleagues working in the Council, some new and many longstanding.

•

As a consequence, this Scrutiny Board requested additional updates from other staff networks,
and this report gives the latest position on the Disability and Wellbeing network (including
Healthy Minds), and the Carers staff network along with a further update from the BAME
network. Board members were keen to hear directly from the networks as well as from leaders
and those involved in developing new strategies both from BAME colleagues but also from a
range of staff networks. The appendices to this report provide additional statements from these
sources and reflect the aims of this report and discussion of the Board at the September
meeting when a further item on Improving the experience and outcomes of Black, Asian and
Minority Ethnic colleagues at Leeds City Council, was considered. Board members were keen to
hear directly from staff networks and receive regular updates in relation to the ongoing work on
Black, Asian and Ethnic Minority colleagues at the council. Representatives from the DAWN,
BAME, Healthy Minds and Carers networks will be in attendance at the meeting.

•

Attached at Appendix 6 is the Joint CLT and BAME Staff Network Action Plan which was also
considered by the Board in September but is attached here in order to provide added context to
the comments from the BAME staff network which are included as a separate Appendix 4 and
reflect the ongoing dialogue between that network and CLT and the Council generally.

•

Since the onset of COVID in March 2020, the Council has supported approximately 8,500 staff
working online from home through varying sets of measures imposed by the government
providing equipment from desks chairs and computer monitors, plus any specialist equipment if
required to continue working at home.

•

During this period HR has worked closely with the Staff Networks to provide support (and where
required risk assessments) for vulnerable and shielding staff, disabled colleagues, and working
carers by helping them stay safe but connected online or in a workplace, focussing on individual
need, where no “one size fits all”. Making sure staff had the right tools to do their work was
critical at this time, particularly anyone with a reasonable workplace adjustment (e.g., assistive
technology users).

•

During lockdown we supported over 600 staff who needed to attend a workplace because of
their disability or long-term health need, or because they could not work from home. We
recognised the impact COVID had on some groups (e.g., LGBT+, BAME, those with mental ill
health and on the autistic spectrum who maybe more vulnerable to anxiety and isolation; and
single parents, working carers and parents with young children who had little or no respite from
juggling work, home schooling and caring).

•

A core team from Health & Safety, Occupational Health, HR, IDS and Asset Management all
contributed to support these groups. Keeping people connected was key to everyone’s wellbeing with social media (Facebook, Twitter, WhatsApp) and peer support groups (e.g., Healthy
minds, Mental Health First Aiders “Listening Ear”, DAWN’s “Cuppa n’ Chat” and LGBT+
networks “the Tea”) being just a few of the
initiatives
Page
18 taken to support our workforce. We were

keen to know how our workforce was feeling during this time, so we asked them using four staff
wellbeing pulse surveys throughout the period to all staff and one working from home survey
specifically targeted at remote workers.
•

The Disability and Well-being and Carers Networks worked with HR to evaluate the findings
from the most recent staff wellbeing pulse survey 4 (carried out between 30 July - 16 August
2021) which had specific questions to identify how Disabled staff and working carers were
feeling. Some additional questions were asked of all colleagues to identify whether they were
disabled, were a carer and what would improve their working life experience? The responses
from 3,709 colleagues indicated 16% believed they were disabled or had a long-term
impairment, while 9% confirmed they had caring responsibilities.

•

In the fourth wellbeing pulse survey responses were received equating to a quarter (26%) of the
total LCC workforce of around 14,000. Of these only 181 or 5% were staff without regular
access to a PC.

•

The 2011 census indicates 16.7% of the Leeds Community consider themselves disabled and
10% with un-paid caring roles.

•

Analysis of this data compared to equality declarations held in existing staff records (SAP)
shows a significant disparity between those who have identified themselves as being disabled in
the recent pulse survey and those who have identified as being disabled in our workforce
equality data. This presents an interesting dilemma, which warrants further investigation to be
included as part of our action plan for the networks overall.

1. Best Council Plan Implications (click here for the latest version of the Best Council Plan)
•

Our People Strategy 2020-25 sets out our ambition to be the Best Place to Work with a
clear focus on creating a great all round employee experience for all staff, with the
support of their leaders and managers working in a positive organisationalculture, driven
by our council values.

•

Inclusion sits at the heart of our People Strategy – we strive to ensure that all
employees can be their best and are treated fairly.

2. Resource Implications
•

The Council employs 844 disabled employees (November 2021), which represents 6% of
the overall workforce. 1272 (9%) have declared themselves as working Carers. In terms of
representation at senior leadership roles 22 (6%) of JNC are Disabled while 36 (9%) of
JNC staff are Carers.

•

Scrutiny Board is keen to understand more about the council’s workforce profile and how
this compares to the wider city working age population.

•

The details of the demographics indicate16.7% of the Leeds Community consider
themselves disabled and 10% with un-paid caring roles

Recommendations

a) Resources Scrutiny Board is asked to:
I.

Note the contents of this report.

II.

Note the Disability and Carers Action Plan 2021-23 and the council wide activity
available to support this work.

III.

Receive further updates and reports as this important work progresses.

IV.

Receive wider inclusion updates in the future from across the networks and various
characteristics.
Page 19

3. Purpose of this report
3.1 To provide Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board with an update on the joint
commitment from Corporate Leadership Team and our Disability and Wellbeing / Carers
Staff Networks and our Healthy Minds peer support group to improve the work life
experience and outcomes for colleagues in Leeds CityCouncil and to provide an update
on the same issues in relation to the BAME staff network following consideration at
meetings in February and September 2021.

4. Background information
4.1 In February 2021, and an update item in September 2021, this scrutiny board received a report
setting out a joint commitment from Corporate Leadership Team and our BAME Staff Network to
improve the work experience and outcomes for BAME colleagues at Leeds City Council. This
committed the Council to:

•
•
•
•
•
•

Do more to listen to and understand your real lived experiences Disabled Staff and Working
Carers in our workforce
Not shy away from uncomfortable and challenging conversations, nor ignore hard truths
Do all we can to eliminate inequality and discrimination wherever we find it
Deliver immediate and long-term change by creating the plan together, and keeping
your issues high on the agenda
Expect everyone in the council to play their part – this is a whole #TeamLeeds effort,
and there will be allies and ambassadors right across the organisationworking with
you for change
Take a zero-tolerance approach to inequality in the workplace taking all allegations of
inequality seriously. We will challenge and address inappropriate behaviour

4.2

Therefore, this Scrutiny Board requested additional updates from other staff networks, including
the BAME network, and this report gives the current position on the Disability and Wellbeing
network (including Healthy Minds), the Carers staff network and the BAME staff network all
appended to this report in Appendices 2-5. The above commitment to BAME colleagues could
equally be applied to Disabled colleagues and working Carers within LCC.

4.3

The impact and outcomes we aim to achieve include:
•
•
•
•

Trust across the organisation to speak up
Better progression and development
A more representative workforce across all characteristics
Reduced inequality to improve colleagues’ everyday experience.

4.4

Equality monitoring in the Council records 90% of our workforce have declare they have a
disability or not with only 6% declaring a disability, while 66% declare they are a working carer or
not with only 9% declaring they are a carer. We know that some people do not define themselves
with the word “disabled” if they have a sensory impairment, have periods of mental ill health, have
a hidden disability like autism, dyslexia, ADHD or who have a long-term health condition. So
more may need to be done to improve people’s confidence in disclosing equality data in the
Council and so understand their lived experiences as either a disabled person or a working carer.

4.5

The overall representation varies across our directorates, by grade, service and role. Work is
taking place to produce a more detailed and granular level report which will enable us to better
understand the representation of different groups that make up our Disabled and carer community
and how this compares to our working age population in the city. This will be shared as part of a
new dataset for tracking progress against disability and carers equality action plan measures
showing representation levels at different grades, for the organisation as a whole.

Page 20

Staffing
Numbers

A1-C3

PO5-PO6

5
5.1

Headcount

Disabled

carers

Not declared
Disabled

Not
declared carer

12105

14126

844

1272

1411

4889

100%

(6%)

(9%)

10%

35%

7850

471

663

100%

6%

8%

4647

282

445

100%

6%

10%

1246

69

128

100%

6%

10%

383

22

36

100%

6%

9%

6284

SO1-PO4

JNC

Employees
November
2021
FTE

4282

1174

365

Main issues
Disability and Carers Action Plan 2021-23

5.1.1 Further to the existing short term activity plans in the disabled and carers networks, a
Disability and Carers Equality Action Plan 2021-23 has been developed. This has been
approved by CLT, the Disability and Wellbeing network and the Carer’s network.
5.1.2 The staff networks and HR reviewed the feedback from the council wide survey
conducted Autumn 2020 and the most recent pulse 4 survey, to make sure that all the
key issueswere being addressed in the plan. Survey results were also shared with all
Chief Officers to inform service level action planning.
5.1.3 A number of themes emerged from the staff survey around improving the everyday
experience of disabled and carer colleagues at work. These were:
• Education and understanding, creating open and honest discussion,
respecting and celebrating difference
• Improved staff awareness across the characteristics
• Improved management support and consistency across the organisation
• Being valued, listened to and treated equally and fairly
• Improved special leave and sickness policies
• Continued support of flexible agile working
• Improved communications
5.1.4

A copy of the Disability and Carers Page
Action21
Plan 2021-23 can be seen in Appendix 1.

This identifies the key priorities, outcomes and measures.
5.1.5

The action plan with clear accountabilities and timescales will be used to track the
progress being made across the work themes. The necessary connections to corporate
groups and local service Equality and Diversity Boards have been made, as part of a
review of council wide equality and diversity governance arrangements.

5.1.6

Our members have put forward several suggestions for priority attention, following their
initial reflections on the disability and carers equality action Plan. These are listed below,
and are places wherewe are looking to dedicate our attention and resource:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Improved awareness and understanding through inclusion training for all staff (including
Social Model of Disability)
Continued work on the agile working options through (NWW) new ways of working
Supporting managers to be confident and competent around equality in the
workplace (Inclusion Essentials/Inclusive Leadership/Unconscious Bias)
Review of various policies (including special leave, recruitment/grievance)
Develop guidance on supporting neurodiverse conditions in work
Ensure all managers and staff understand the Supporting Staff at work Charter and
apply the Reasonable Adjustment and Working Carers passports where appropriate
Review managers guidance on Working Carers in line with new national policy

5.1.7

Commit to be a Disability Confident Leader and re-submit application with the support
of the Business Disability Forum and complete the BDF Disability Standard.

5.1.8

Alongside the local service activity, a range of corporate actions are in progress to support
delivery of the Disability and Carers Action Plan. These are described in the table below:

Disability and carers
Action Plan priority
Staff Support

Activity
•

•
•
•

•

•

•

Ongoing review and checks regarding the
experiences of disabled and working carers who
raise claims of inequality - so that we are confident that
all cases are taken seriously, and we improve the
support people get inthese circumstances.
Introducing the Freedom to Speak Up Guardian
approach – with the intention for a council-wide roll out.
Working with EDI boards to engage services and improve
communications roll out.
Promoting and embedding the Council values and
Manager habits, to strengthen our expectations around
diversity and inclusion, and drive cultural change so that
more Disabled and carer coleagueshave positive experiences
around the support they receive from their managers.
Introducing an improved development offer for
leaders and managers – to raise awareness and
improve skills and knowledge around inclusion. To
include practical areas such as ensuring managers are
confident and competent in addressing reported
incidents of discrimination within work.
Continuing to ensure that all Disabled and working
Carer colleagues have up to date individual Covid Risk
Assessments - for those who continue in front line roles,
and those who are returning to the workplace soon.
Encouraging colleagues to take on the role of‘decision
makers’ in formal meetings and casework -so that
decision makers in our disciplinary, grievance and appeals
process are representative of all our diverse workforce.

Page 22

• Reviewing recruitment and selection – ensuring wehave
fair and transparent policy, process and practice.Removing
barriers and bias, diverse panels, training around inclusion
for managers.
• Improved monitoring and analysis of recruitment and
progression data for Disabled and Carer colleagues –
to identify issues, guide our decisions and target resources
into the right areas
• Positive action and support for Disabled and Carer
colleagues to aidcareer progression, especially into
leadership positions –e.g., reverse mentoring programme
and other training opportunities – training for managers
and HR on positive action – reasonable adjustments and
tie-breaker decisions)
• Having a corporate cohesive strategy on recruiting long
term unemployed disabled with learning
disability/difficulties and those with neurodiverse
conditions through supported employment
• As part of the ‘right resources for the right audience’
approach, we suggest the need for some role-specific
disability skills training e.g., disability-smart recruitment,
procurement, communications and service provision
• Establishing our corporate position around
mandatory training – for all staff and all managers.
• Exploring more ways to share good practice and learning
with other organisations in Leeds, such as the Anchors
and Forum central. Promoting the work, we have done
around engaging with our staff networks as a consultation
forum, is something other organisations could really learn
from.

Staff progression,
learning and
development

• Developing and agreeing a corporate workforce visionfor
Inclusion and Diversity
• Creating a link with all directorate EDI boards
to aid communication
• Creating more and better opportunities to listen to and
understand the real, lived experiences of colleaguesat
work, and build a culture in which people have a strong
voice and this influences service development and
improvement.
• Working alongside directorate teams, to share and
monitor the outcomes from EqualityImpact
Assessment and findings from service reviews.
• Continuing to collaborate with partners to deliver
inclusion events and trainingthroughout the year, with
checks that they are reaching all teams. To raise the
awareness and understanding and ensure that more staff
act as strongambassadors and allies and have the
knowledge and skills they need.
• We have been a Mindful Employer since 2011 and have
recently re-signed the Charter, we need to work more
closely with the mindful employer coordinator in Leeds to
promote good mental health practice within our
workforce

Communication and
Engagement

•
Measurement and
impact

•

Producing and sharing regular data and reports that
show how we are performing on all the measures included
in the Disability and Carers Action Plan
Equality impact assessment on Future Ways of
Working,
to ensure that any issuesand challenges
Page 23
specific to Disabled and Carer colleagues are identified

•
•

•

•

•

An accessible and
Inclusive working
environment

•
•

and addressed.
Benchmark our progress on equality and inclusion
with partner organisations within the city and region and
nationally E.g., BDF, Inclusive Employers, Stonewall etc.
We need to ensure there is a strong whole-organisation
approach to inclusive procurement – all goods and
services provided to employees or service users need to be
accessible. This means the pre-qualification questionnaire or
procurement framework should ideally include stronger
criteria around how potential suppliers: are committed to
removing barriers for people with disabilities and long-term
conditions; provide products and services that are accessible
to disabled people; and review their products and services
with the involvement of disabled people.
In relation to the Future Ways of Working project we are
collaborating with the University of Leeds on what Hybrid or
Agile working may look like. With Leeds being invested in
this research project we want to ensure inclusion is at the
centre of future local and national plans so the voices of
disabled staff and working carer are considered
Working with directorates to ensure Disabled and
carers communities across the city have access
to relevant, high quality services – whether directly
deliveredor commissioned by the council.
Working with Asset Management and Facilities to create a
fully inclusive Civic Estate with an emphasis on new ways
of working and staff collaboration.
We will continue work with our Access Officer and the Staff
Networks to explore what is helpful to ensure environments
we work in are inclusive and accessible.
Working with Asset Management and the future ways of
working team to create a future proofed accessible Civic
estate for all. This will consider all aspects of inclusive
design, including integrating the needs of those with
neurodiverse or neurological conditions and share this with
partner organisations across the city.
To complete the new ways of working project work
ensuring the impact on both disabled and caring staff
are taken into account therefore providing the best
work life balance while meeting service needs

Page 24

5.1.9 Leeds City Council continues to engage with its partners, including the Anchor
Institutions, the Health & Social Care Academy, NHS and other networks, to share its
policy and practice, learn from others and augment its impact across the city andits
communities.
5.1.10 A recent example of our regional collaboration around Disability and Carers has been
the continued work with the third sector and Anchor organisations establishing the
International day for people with disabilities on December 3rd and the planned disability
and carer events calendar for 2022.
5.1.11 In addition to regular updates on our Action Plan, it is proposed that similar updates are
brought forward on our wider inclusion work.
6. Consultation and engagement
6.1

Listening to the lived experiences of all Disabled and Carer colleagues is fundamental to
driving positive change. As set out in our joint commitment with the Disability and carers
Action Plan,all members of the workforce will be expected to play their role too.

7. Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration
7.1

Our relentless focus on this crucial work will continue, including progressing the
organisational Action Plan, further creating a supportive work environment for staff and
being informed by listening to the experiences of our diverse communities.

8. Council policies and the Best Council Plan
8.1

Inclusion underpins the delivery of the Best Council Plan, our People Strategy 2020-25 and
Best Place to Work ambitions.

9. Resources, procurement and value for money
9.1

The business case for inclusion and diversity is stronger than ever. It directly impacts on
team performance and creativity, service reputation and reach, relationships with
communities and partners, talent attraction and retention. Thereare clear benefits for
getting it right, and significant consequences and lost opportunities for not doing so.

10. Legal implications, access to information, and call-in
10.1

There are no legal implications related to this report.

11. Risk management
11.1 The risk of failing to work on these actions is that the workforce across the
characteristics will continue to feel marginalised removing the creativity a diverse
work force can bring.
12. Recommendations
12.1 Resources and Strategy Scrutiny Board is asked to:
A. Note the contents of this report.
B. Note the Disability and carers Action Plan 2021-23 and the council wide activity inplace to
support this work.
C. Receive further updates and reports as this important work progresses.
D. Receive wider inclusion updates in the future.

Page 25

13. Appendices
13.1 Appendix 1 – Disability and Carers Equality Action Plan 2021/23.
13.2 Appendix 2 – Carers Network feedback on successes and future challenges faced by the
Council
13.3 Appendix 3 – DAWN Network feedback on successes and future challenges faced by the
Council
13.4 Appendix 4 – BAME Network feedback on successes and future challenges faced by the
Council
13.5 Appendix 5 – Health Minds Network feedback on successes and future challenges faced by
the Council
13.6 Appendix 6 – Joint CLT and BAME Staff Network Race Equality Action Plan 2021-23

Page 26

Disability and Carers Equality Action
Plan 2021-2023
This Action Plan specifically targets issues of under representation, measurement and impact, progress of working Disabled and Carer in our workforce.
• When considering an action plan for Disable staff and Carers it is worth looking at these two separate but inter-linked groups of people.

Page 27

•

The Equality Act 2010 say you are Disabled if you have a physical or mental impairment, visible or hidden, that has a 'substantial' and 'long-term' negative effect on your ability to do normal daily activities (which can last 12
months or longer and be recurring).

•

In the UK, 1 in 5 people have a disability, 80 per cent of which have a hidden disability.

•

Not all disabilities are visible: some are not obvious and can make everyday life demanding for so many people. Hidden disabilities are a wide range of physical and mental conditions that range from a speech impediment,
reduced sight, bipolar, chronic fatigue syndrome, colitis, autism, depression, and many others.

•

A Carer is someone who provides unpaid care and support to a family member or friend due to their disability, health condition, frailty, mental health problem, addiction or other health and care need. If you are looking after a
child, including your own child, who has special physical or mental health support needs, then you are also a carer.

•

There are some 13.6 million unpaid carers across the country, including 4.5 million people who first started caring during the pandemic and 800,000 young carers. Each of these carers provides vital support to a family
member or friend, often at considerable personal cost.

•

Over the past two years with COVID, the role of unpaid carers has become more important than ever. With many people shielding or unwilling to go out, unpaid carers have stepped up to provide additional support and keep
people safe throughout the pandemic, but the reality is that these carers do not feel that their role is being recognised.

•

This action plan includes a list of actions for the whole organisation and managers which can help address some of the barriers that working disabled and Carers may experience in our workplace.

•

In 2019 Leeds City Council made a commitment as a Disability Confident Leader. As one of the largest employers in the city we have an opportunity to show strong leadership and act as an exemplar to other employers by
championing “healthy” working (both in how people work and the environments where they work), and by taking a person-centred, social model of disability approach to the care of our employees in work and in supporting
those with long term health needs and disabilities and those with caring responsibilities.

•

This is demonstrated in our Equality Improvement Priorities 2018 – 2022. One of these priorities aims to ‘provide effective support to disabled people and people with long term health conditions with a focus on those
with poor mental health to access the labour market and sustain employment with the objective of increasing the number of people experiencing mild to moderate mental health moving into work’.

•

The roles of the staff networks particularly the Disability and Well-being (including Healthy Minds) and Carers networks are crucial in giving some of our most vulnerable workers a voice. Peer support groups gives them a
greater sense of engagement, confidence and empowerment. By encouraging participation in all our staff networks, we actively value the diversity they represent within our workforce and by so doing makes it less likely that
parts of the workforce are ‘left behind’. This in turn makes the organisation more attractive to diverse cultures to want to work for LCC, including greater opportunities for disabled people.

•

This action plan has been developed following consultation with both the Disability and Wellbeing, and Carers Staff Networks members and builds on the findings and achievements of the Race Equality Action Plan which gave
a commitment from the Council to “stand together against all forms of racism and inequality in our council and our city”.

•

Like the Race Equality Action plan this document will address the concerns of our Disabled and working carers in our workforce, we have identified areas of focus as key priority areas from 2021-2023: Staff Support; Staff
Progression, Learning and Development; Communication and Engagement and Measurement and Impact

Our key priorities

Outcomes

Measures

How we will know we are successful
1. Staff support
Adopt a zero tolerance approach to
discrimination in the workplace and create a
supportive work environment for all staff

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Clear zero tolerance culture which drives towards elimination in staff
experiencing discrimination, language, behaviour from colleagues and
customers.
Disabled and carer staff are treated fairly and equally as employees
Disabled and carer staff feel safe when undertaking their work
Disabled and Carer staff have positive experiences of the support they receive from
their managers and colleagues
All managers are confident and competent in addressing reported incidents of
discrimination within work
Initiatives/programmes which relate to advocacy routes available to disabled and
carer staff in the organisation. .
Continued effective monitoring of COVID-19 risk assessment tool and impact on
disabled staff

•

Page 28

2. Staff progression, learning and
development
Fair and transparent recruitment and selection
processes; career progression and leadership
development for staff

Disabled and caring staff are widely represented in all roles across the Council
including in senior leadership and management roles
• Disabled and caring staff are accessing and completing training and leadership
development programmes
• Improved and inclusive recruitment practices and processes
• Sustained monitoring of recruitment and progression performance data relating to
Disabled and caring staff in the organisation.

3. Communication and engagement
Promoting opportunities and platform for open
and honest debate both at the corporate and
local level relating to disability and carer
issues across the organisation

•

Zero tolerance policy around inequality is in place and communicated to workforce and
stakeholders across thecouncil
% of Disabled and caring Staff reporting positive outcomes following harassment or bullying
incidents
% of Disabled and caring Staff reporting positive resolution following all stages of
grievance/disciplinary procedures
% of staff and managers reporting increased confidence in dealing with issues relating to
discrimination at work
Number and % of managers trained to support awareness around disability and carers
Number and % of cases involving Disabled and caring staff subject to litigation
(both internal andexternal)
Number and % where disability identified as risk factor in council’s ‘Risk assessment
foremployees more at risk from COVID-19’ tool.

•
•
•
•
•
•

• % of Disabled and carer staff employed in senior leadership and management roles
• % of disabled and caring staff completing apprenticeships and training programmes

The voices and experiences of Disabled and caring staff are heard and inform policy
and practice
Disabled and caring staff are contributing to service reviews and to service
developments
Our diverse communities contribute to and shape the development of our services
There is increased access to services by the Disabled and caring communities
Diversity is valued and is celebrated across the council
Team Leeds approach - Build a strong and active network of Allies across the
organisation including at senior leadership and management levels.
Working in partnership with stakeholders to share learning and best practice
Network attendance and representation at all EDI boards.

•
•

• Disabled and caring staff are treated fairly and equally as employees
• Disabled and caring staff are widely represented at all levels of the organisation
• Discriminatory practice is eliminated
• Transparent and accessible dataset and information of Disabled and carer
workforce profile andexperiences
• Improved take up of services by all communities
• Improved customer satisfaction and feedback
• Commissioning of services is informed by robust Equality Impact Assessments which
reflect appropriate stakeholder engagement

•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

4. Measurement and impact
The Council bases its policies, procedures,
practice and its service provision on robust,
comprehensive and transparent data and data
analysis, and through consultation with
communities

•

•
•

•

Number and % of Allies trained across the council
Number and % of disabled and carer staff impacted by service reviews process and
Numbers and %of disabled and carer Staff Network members trained and involved in
EIA assessments.
Levels of engagement with community organisations, by directorate, to shape and inform
service developments
Numbers and level of engagement activities and events to celebrate diversity and inclusion
to include international day for people with disabilities, inclusion day and disability history
month.

Data on equality, diversity and inclusion is routinely collated, is transparent and accessible
via workforce profile dashboard.
Increase in use of Equality Impact Assessments related to disability and carers to
inform policy,service reviews and service developments

Disability and Carers Equality Action Plan
Our Ambition:
To achieve a position of ‘Zero Tolerance’ to discrimination in the council, with co-production embedded
into organisational change processes, so that we can create an inclusive culture where all staff can fulfil
their potential in the organisation and bring their whole selves to the workplace.

Objectives

Leads

Performance Management & Review:
Progress on achieving the objectives and action plan will be primarily owned by the council’s Corporate
Leadership Team supported by key stakeholders such as the Disability and Wellbeing Network, Carers
Network and healthy minds Peer Support Group. The governance structure supporting this work will
require a whole Team Leeds approach and is further described below.

Actions

Timescales for completion
and progress update

1: Staff support: Adopt a zero tolerance approach to discrimination in the workplace and create a supportive work environment for Disabled and caring
staff

Page 29

1.1 Realise the ambition to
adopt a zero tolerance
approach to
discrimination in the
workplace
1.2 Ensure governance and
accountability of Senior
Leadership Teams on their
commitments and actions
on zero tolerance of
discrimination

Implementation lead/s:

Corporate HR

1.4 Ensure Disabled and
Carer staff are
supported when they
experience and report
inequality in the
workplace
1.5 Maximise opportunities for
Disabled and Carers staff
to share their lived
experience of working
within the organisation and
to celebrate achievements
1.6 Implement checks to
ensure Covid Risk
Assessments are
happening for
Disabled colleagues

Develop a corporate policy on zero tolerance to •
equality

•

Develop mandatory training programme for
all staff on zero tolerance to discrimination

•

DAWN network members
Carers network Members

1.3 To ensure a proactive
approach to challenging
language and behaviours
in the workplace

•

Support all managers to become confident
and competent is addressing
discrimination in the workplace

•

Support all managers to adopt inclusive
leadership approaches

•

Deliver inclusion events and learning

•

opportunities throughout the year for all staff

Healthy Minds Peer Group

•

•

•

Enable Disabled and caring staff where they
do not ordinarily have access to emails to
contributeto and receive support from the
DAWN and carers network
Staff Network to deal with any issues of
discrimination, using a ‘Speak up Guardian’
approach

Consistent monitoring of COVID-19 risk
assessment tool and impact on Disabled staff.

HR and The joint networks have consulted with the skills and xx to include inclusion and social
model of disability training in future apprentice levy cohorts.

•

Inclusion training has already been added and forms part of the new leadership training suite
on offer.

•

HR are running lets talk inclusion training with emphasis on the social model of disability in
addition to the inclusive recruitment offer

•

Further training has been reviewed as part of the skills booster offering to LCC

•

Active participation of the inclusion events has been undertaken jointly with forum central and
Anchors across the city including International day for disabled people Dec 3rd.

•

The outreach vehicle project for use across networks is currently work in progress for outreach
work across services and the city.

•

Speak up guardian currently in recruitment process.

•

Wellbeing offer now being rolled out to ensure staff have the meaningful conversation as part of
the appraisal window. This included:

•

Reasonable adjustments passport

•

Carers passport

2: Staff progression, learning and development: Fair and transparent recruitment and selection processes; career progression and leadership
development for Disabled and caring staff
2.1 Ensure a consistent and
sustained approach to
career development and
progression opportunities
for Disabled and caring
staff at all levels in the
organisation including in
senior leadership and
management roles
2.2 Develop inclusive
recruitment practices with
following key elements:
o
o

o

Page 30

o
o

•

Develop transparent recruitment process
withdata analysis and tracking to monitor
disabled and carer applications as well as
outcomes

•

A training course similar to BAME inclusion training currently in draft for future roll out across
the services.

•

Create more diverse and
representativerecruitment and
selection panels

•

Lets talk inclusion training now on PAL for managers

•

Leadership training under development

•

Implement anonymised shortlisting capability
and options into the council’s recruitment
andselection process

•

New ways of working initiatives and training

•

Develop inclusion training for all staff
involved in the recruitment process

•

Consistent and credible approach in sharing
quality and transparent feedback with
candidates with support as part of
recruitmentprocess

•

To provide more support to managers so
thatthey are skilled around inclusion and
staff development

Implementation lead/s:

DAWN network members
Carers network Members
Healthy Minds Peer Group

Transparency of
recruitment process
More diverse and
representative
recruitment and
selection panels
Anti-discrimination
training of recruitment
panel members
Sharing quality and
transparent feedback
with candidates
Support for managers
so that they are skilled
around
their
awareness
of
inclusion competency
and staff development

3. Communication and engagement: Promoting opportunities and platform for open and honest debate both at the corporate and local level relating
equality issues across the organisation
3.1 To raise awareness of the
Disabled and carers Staff
Networks ambition to
achieve ‘ZeroTolerance’
to discrimination in the
organisation

Implementation lead/s:

3.2 Celebrate the rich diversity
of the council’s disabled
and carers workforce

Carers network Members

DAWN network members

Healthy Minds Peer Group

•Develop Allyship programme/model for staff to
utilise across the council.

•

HR to look at the work of the various allies, people person and DAWN ambassadors to
consolidate the role across the Authority, provide training and awareness opportunities

•

•

Continued support of awareness campaigns and masterclass training through on line training

Disability and carers Staff Networks to work
with HR and relevant stakeholders to
develop sessions/opportunities specifically
targeted at addressing priorities through
awareness of Disabled and caring staff who
do not have regular access to emails.

•

3.3 Build a strong and active
network of Allies across the
organisation

•
3.4 To improve support to
disabled and carer staff
in services where they
do not ordinarily have
access toemails so they
can contribute to the
work of the wider
network

•

•

3.5 Monitor the impact of
service reviews on
disabled and caring staff

•

3.6 Progress of Plan actions
and priorities are
communicated across the
council including
directorate leadership
teams (DLT) and
managers

Launch a zero tolerance campaign across
thecouncil and city, making our stance
visible (both internally and externally).
Active Staff Network involvement in
the service review process and
training more network members
around Equality ImpactAssessments.
Council communications
(internal/external)marking key diversity
and inclusion dates/events throughout
the year.
Regular progress updates of Plan actions
andpriorities shared across a range of
platforms and forums (both written and
verbal) includingto key stakeholders such
as DLT and managers.
To draw on the expertise, support and
resources of partner organisations,
networks,and others with this shared
endeavour - locally, regionally, and
beyond.

Page 31

3.7 Working in partnership with
stakeholders to share
learning and best practice

4. Measurement and impact: Council’s policies, procedures and practice are informed by robust and comprehensive data analysis on equality, diversity
and inclusion in the workplace
4.1 Transparent and
accessible dataset and
information of disabled
and carers workforce
profile and
experiences.
4.2 Increased Staff and
Manager engagement to
inform organisational
understanding and
response to improve the
experience of council
disabled and caring staff

SRO:

•

Implementation leads:

DAWN network members
Carers network Members

•
•

Healthy Minds Peer Group
•

HR to lead a review of what data we have,
and what new data we need, including
lookingat datasets used by the NHS and
other organisations. It will also
recommend what information should be
shared, who with and how often.
Conduct a pulse survey with all staff in
the council to understand the lived
experience ofdisabled and carer staff.
Conduct a survey with all managers in
the council to understand confidence to
supportand address equality, diversity
and inclusionissues and challenges.
To review the councils special leave and
sickness policies at the earliest
opportunity to ensure they are fit for
purpose around the new ways of
working.

•

Currently part of the HR snr mgt teams work with the Anchors

5. Delivery of the best employee experience

•

Currently 6 pilot sites are part of the new ways of working review, these survey responses
will help inform the future work programmes for staff.

•

Review the current building inclusion report 2016 to reflect changes to construction
legislation and inclusion.

Carers network Members

•

Complete the buildings accessibility review as part of the new ways of working programme.

Healthy Minds Peer Group

•

Monitor and support the continued home working of disabled and caring staff.

5.1
Implementation leads:
To Establish new ways of
agile working to provide the best
DAWN network members
employee experience.

•

Establish robust systems of work both at
home and in the office, including
collaboration offers across the civic estate.

Page 32

Page 33

This page is intentionally left blank

Carers Staff Network
Working Carers play a vital role in supporting the most vulnerable people in our
city, and even more so since the pandemic. We know that in Leeds we have at
least 74,000 residents who look after a family member or friend due to illness,
disability, frailty, mental health or a substance misuse issue. People who otherwise
cannot manage without the help of their carer giver.
Carers undertake the same and often more care giving tasks as paid staff in the
health and social care setting. With many being unpaid carers balancing caring
responsibilities with employment. It’s often these unpaid carers that can feel
isolated, a sense of not being respected or valued, and can feel their huge
contributions disregard or taken for granted. It is recognised and accepted that
this can impact the carers in many ways such as their physical, mental and
economic health and wellbeing. To put into context Carers in Leeds provide
around 1.5 million hours of unpaid care each week, every week. Research
published by the University of Leeds and Carers UK estimates the financial
contribution of carers in Leeds to be around £1.4billion per year. Without unpaid
carers, we know that our health and social care system would collapse.
We know the coronavirus outbreak has put additional pressure on carers as a
result of challenges presented by constant changes, social distancing and the
restrictions on normal daily life. Working carers across Leeds have done excellent
work in supporting those who have has to clinically shield, which in turn has
continued to make a significant contribution to efforts to manage the outbreak in
Leeds and protect the most vulnerable in our communities.
Leeds City Council Working Carers
Leeds city council employs around 14126 staff (Nov 2021) of which 9% (1272)
have declared being a carer. In the peak of the pandemic in 2020 declaration was
at 10%. We are aware that in many cases carers do not recognise themselves as
a ‘carer’ and therefore feel these figures under-represent carers within the
workforce.
As one of the city’s largest employers, Leeds city council values to the contribution
of their working carers both in their work and caring roles.
Existing Support/Provisions available within Leeds City Council for working
Carers
• During the pandemic managers have kept in touch with staff to ensure their
health and wellbeing in addition to• Employment policies such as flexible working options, special leave
provisions for paid/unpaid time off for dependant/personal and domestic
situations
• Manager guides/toolkits
• Access to Carers UK training and Carers Digital App ‘Jointly’
• Various wellbeing provisions e.g. Counselling support through LCC HELP
contract

Page 35

•
•

Supporting staff at Work Charter
Carers Leeds Working Carers Employers Forum Membership - LCC/ NHS
Leeds CCG commission for Carers Leeds to work with Leeds employers to
consider and address working carers issues in businesses, the third sector
and statutory organisations.

Carers Staff Network
The Carers Staff Network is primarily a virtual network with a small core group and
no formal membership. The network’s focus is to support carers work life balance
and to assist manager have a quality conversation and explore options to help
their staff achieve this.
The CSN is mainly an information page on INSITE with support, guidance and
signposting to council polices, services and external organisations that may be of
support to staff also caring for someone. Through the pandemic the network has
reached out to carers in a number of ways in order to share and stay connected.
This has been:
• Throughout 2020, Care, Share and Chat sessions. Informal monthly
sessions providing a safe space online for carers to meet others and
discuss concerns and share experiences and tips. Sessions have been a
mix of general wellbeing and more focused topics such as the impact of
covid on caring, coming out of shielding, Dementia support, support for
parents/carers of children with special/complex needs transitioning back to
school. Due to limited resources in 2021 these have been the limited.
• Facebook group - launched in lockdown to communicate and link with
carers providing provide a platform for carers to connect and share with
each other. A mechanism to also reach staff with no direct work-based IT
access.
• CSN Plan B- carer care plan
• Carer awareness briefings for services/teams as required
• A Carer awareness slide show launched in 2020.
• Annual information day in June during Carer’s Week. Since the pandemic
this has been run as a virtual marketplace with information stalls and
briefing sessions
• CSN proposed and drafted the carer’s passport – This was launched in
June 2021 as part of the Supporting staff at Work Charter and disability
passport.
• 2021 subgroup formed called Super Families, support group specifically for
parents/carers of children with special and complex needs. Monthly
information and support sessions.
• In partnership with Carers Leeds – continued provision of confidential 121
support sessions facilitated by a Carers Leeds Support worker covering a
wide range of carer related matters such as respite care, carer
assessments, guidance on social care provisions and the wellbeing of
carers. Originally on a face to face basis, these moved to a telephone call
basis.
• Raising awareness within the organisation through leaflets/information
events and delivery of joint network sessions such as with Healthy Minds

Page 36

and Dawn (disability staff network). e.g. through Inclusion Week, Carers
Rights Day, Young Carers Day.
Carers staff Network – future challenges and Development
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•

Re- establishing the monthly general Care, Share and Chat sessions.
Raise carer awareness
Following the outcome of the last two LCC pulse survey’s, continue to
collaborate with HR and the Disability Network to formalise an action plan to
improve the employment experience of carers in the workplace.
Support the council and bring about improvements in the
understanding/utilisation of flexible working options by both staff and
managers with a focus on more accessibility for frontline staff.
Support the role out and briefings of the Supporting Employee at Work
Charter- A holistic staff centred/owned document capturing individual
support needs e.g. (personal circumstances, agreed arrangements,
reasonable adjustment, flexible working, carer responsibility etc. specifically
with regards to the Carers passport.)
Recruit support to assist the CSN deliver its objectives
Wider involvement in Equality impact assessments
Involvement in improving the recruitment and selection process for carers
and associated training.
Improve communication with carers, introduce a newsletter and link in with
other localised communication channels to reach those not using the Carers
staff network Facebook page.

Page 37

This page is intentionally left blank

DAWN Network
What the networks done through COVID
Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion (EDI) – big support to enable LCC roll out
accessible use of Leeds City Council staff working at home and fundamental in
allowing the timely rollout of Microsoft teams.
Cuppa and Chats – creation of a none structured informal meeting between dawn
and other Leeds City Council employees to allow concerns, tensions, and
uncertainty to be expressed and shared. These sessions have also gained
external stakeholders’ understandings to share what support is available before,
during and possibly after covid pandemic.
Further supported disabled employees to gain access to suitable equipment so
they can continue to contribute effectively to the Council and the community –
including continued/refresh work needs assessments due to work environment
changes e.g., equipment dropped off at more suitable locations for people who
may experience problems with traveling and/or carrying large/heavy equipment.
Where it is now, any areas of ongoing work etc.
Disabled Passport – a document which will indicate all the different aspects of a
persons’ impairments to ensure that this information can be shared with others so
that they understand how they can provide effective support for each separate
individual.
Supporting staff in the work environment so their confident to declare any aspects
which thy may not find satisfactory.
Creating and providing effective inclusive training for LCC staff about disabled
people based around the Social model of Disability. – identifying the potential
barriers which would cause people to have a disability to achieve their intended
outcome(s).
Reviewing the aspects of the new ways of working to ensure that they provide
inclusivity for everyone e.g., space size, location access, types of desks, chairs,
equipment, and lighting used and/or available.
Aspirations for the future
Reviewing further functionality of Microsoft Teams to possibly gain access to an
automated accurate BSL interpreter option for users?
More of an understanding in services about disabled people and potentially
causing them to have a disability.
Managers understanding about the potential barriers out there.

Page 39

Inclusion training will help to reinforce the potential barriers in the environment and
how they can be resolved to ensure people are looked after and their needs are
met as soon as possible.
Expansion of EDI and skills which are essential for people to understand what it
means to work for Leeds City Council and treating people fairly.

Page 40

BAME Staff Network: Written Response
We understand that members of the board brought an issue for discussion at the February 2021 board
meeting entitled ‘Improving the experience and outcomes of Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic colleagues
at Leeds City Council’. This was discussed again in September 2021 and it was decided that the Board would
receive further updates at the forthcoming meeting on 24 January 2022.
This written response addresses the progress that has been made over the past 12-18 months by reference
to the Priorities identified on the Joint BAME/CLT Action Plan and in relation to the experiences of BAME
colleagues in general.
The Joint BAME/CLT Action Plan covers an extensive range of issues that need to be addressed to lead the
organisation into a position where BAME colleagues feel supported, included and protected within the
corporate culture and governance of the organisation. Due to the extensive list of objectives, it would be
challenging to focus on them all at once and so we therefore made the decision to focus our efforts on four
key objectives taken from the action plan priorities which were voted on by our members at our network
meeting held on Wednesday 28th July 2021. These objectives are:
1. The development and implementation of a zero-tolerance policy
2. Representation of BAME colleagues in all roles across all levels/inclusive recruitment
3. Having confident/competent managers who are able to address BAME related issues
4. A grievance policy that is fit for purpose, fair and delivered in an informed, timely manner.
Due to the nature of the challenges BAME colleagues face within the organisation, the role of the network
has evolved from that of a space to connect with other BAME colleagues to a more of strategic position. As
members have highlighted a range of systemic issues across the organisation, the network now meets
regularly with CLT, HR and our Elected Member Lead to support the review of policy and practice to create
positive change. We recognise that many of the systems in place to support staff do not meet the needs of
BAME colleagues and therefore find that the only place that they feel listened to is directly within the
network. Though the organisation has an ambition to be anti-racist, we know that practice and the
implementation of policy does not uphold this ambition and so the role of the network has evolved to
address this. A significant amount of volunteer hours has been offered by network members to develop a
strategy that allows the network to gain a deeper understanding of the issues faced by BAME colleagues and
to also provide a safe space for the sharing of lived experiences.
We have devised a Network Ambassador programme to raise the profile of the network at a more localised
level to increase engagement and ensure that we are able to afford all colleagues the opportunity to raise
concerns and review any delivered activity that has been carried out in line with the joint action plan
objectives. There is a lack of trust in the organisation to be able to adequately support BAME related issues
and developing a good working relationship with members has been one of our main areas of focus to fully
understand the scope of the challenges faced.
We are pleased to see that the profile of creating a more equal system for BAME colleagues is high up on the
organisation’s agenda. It is great that so many colleagues, services and working groups are requesting the
network’s involvement in a range of activities and to provide updates within service meetings. We are
conscious that we have had to decline a lot of requests due to limited facility time that is only afforded to
the chair and increased demand within our day jobs.
We can see the many different initiatives going on within the council and can see that there is possible
overlap. It has been challenging to decide on what we should accept or decline as all add value but can run
the risk of duplication. We feel that for us all to be as effective as possible, we need to have more structure
from our leaders to reduce the risk of this. This in the long run will save time, money and make our approach
more consistent.

Page 41

Below is a brief overview of the progress made and challenges highlighted within the 3
priorities set out in the action plan (Staff Support; Staff progression, learning and development;
Communication and engagement). We have not included updates on the fourth priority of the joint action
plan as this is the measurement and impact of actions being delivered on behalf of the BAME agenda and
this section needs to be coordinated from a corporate perspective:
Priority 1: Staff Support
Progress made
Challenges
BAME Ambassador programme: This has been set BAME Ambassador programme: Some colleagues have
up to help to amplify key messages of the Network expressed concern about being permitted to be
and to provide a first point of contact for BAME
involved as an Ambassador alongside their work
staff if they need support. We see this as a vital
duties. It would be great if we could see managers
tool to support BAME colleagues and are keen to
across the Council voicing their support for this scheme
see where these Ambassadors can fit in with other so that colleagues feel that they are able to take on this
support services available within the Council.
role.
BAME Events Calendar: The Network has
BAME Events Calendar: We often contact external
promoted a wide range of BAME related events
representatives to deliver presentations/content in
throughout 2021, including Black History Month,
relation to the events we put on but unfortunately, we
Islamophobia Awareness Month and South Asian
are limited by the fact that we are a voluntary staff
Heritage Month. Our aim was to engage as many
network without any budget. We would welcome an
Council employees as possible to learn about other allocation of funding to assist us putting on some of our
cultures. Initiatives included online events via
larger scale events along with manager support for
Teams/Zoom, in person events, information on
colleagues to get involved in arranging/attending these
InSite and via staff Facebook Groups.
events.
Grievance Policy: We have had many discussions
Grievance Policy: Whilst there has been a commitment
with HR regarding the grievance policy and how
to review the policy, we are concerned that the review
this could be improved to better support BAME
has yet to be started and the timescales in the review
colleagues. HR have committed to undertake a
have not been met. We would like to see further detail
wholescale review of the policy and we have been
as to how and when the BAME Network, along with
assured that the Network will be able to actively
other key stakeholders, will be consulted and kept up to
contribute to this process.
date during the review. Staff should also be dissuaded
from using the grievance policy to deal with allegations
of racism.
Manager support regarding racial discrimination:
Manager support regarding racial discrimination:
This runs through a lot of the issues that network
Whilst we are supportive of any effort to help to
members raise with us and it was also highlighted
provide support and training to managers on diversity
within the BAME survey. We are aware that a
issues, we feel that there ought to be greater
training session was developed by HR in relation to involvement from the Networks in sourcing the
equality in general. We are also aware that many
training. We want a clear package of ongoing training
services have started to introduce their own
and support for managers in dealing with matters of
BAME/equality training for their staff, to help to
discrimination, and a tool that gathers feedback to
raise awareness and to develop understanding of
assess the impact of any training delivered with follow
others lived experiences.
up mechanisms to review how learning has been
implemented into practice.
Corporate ‘Zero-Tolerance’ to racism policy:
Corporate ‘Zero-Tolerance’ to racism policy: We are
The need for a Zero Tolerance Policy regarding
concerned that, to date, there has not been any
racism in its various forms has been agreed. This
progress on putting together a ‘Zero Tolerance’
would address all areas of the council, including
policy. We feel that this Policy will greatly assist our
elected members, staff and customers.
members to point out where conduct falls below this
standard. We would ask that this policy provides clear
pathways for how allegations of racism will be dealt
with and investigated, including methodology and

Page 42

timescales, with a move away from the grievance policy
being utilised for allegations of racism.
Priority 2: Staff progression, learning and development
Progress made:
Challenges:
GROW meetings: The Network have launched
GROW meetings: We would welcome explicit support
our own series of training sessions regarding self- from managers as regards to their staff being permitted
development or areas of staff concern. Recent
to attend these sessions during work-time.
session topics include financial wellbeing and
disciplinary/grievances issues with Andy
Dodman.
Recruitment initiatives: We recognise that a task Recruitment initiatives: Work on this agenda has
and finish group was commissioned in 2020 to
stalled since the task and finish group. We would like to
identify how more inclusive practice could occur
see renewed focus on improving the recruitment
in this area, and BAME steering group members
process, including independent panel members (with
worked with HR colleagues in this area. This
feedback from these members to ensure improvement)
resulted in a pilot scheme of 40 vacancies being
and provision of clear and constructive feedback to
subject to a recruitment process with an
unsuccessful candidates. We recognise the current
independent BAME panel member. We also
recruitment freeze, but recruitment continues in
recognise that HR have committed to further
pockets of the council. BAME Network members have
work to develop the recruitment process.
highlighted current recruitment culture as a ‘bedrock of
unfair treatment’, and we have received numerous
Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic Recruitment and reports from members that they have been overlooked
Progression manager training – this has been led for posts whilst they see their white counterparts
by Nick Simpkins and Paul Leahy from HR but
progress up the ranks much quicker. We would
supported by network members to devise the
welcome the introduction of exit interviews, to help
training. There has been a steady influx of
inform future policy/practice where BAME colleagues
delegates undertaking the training and a strong
leave the organisation due to racism.
push has been made to ensure that underrepresented directorates (City Development,
Children’s and Families, Adults and Health) take
up the training offer.
Anti-discrimination training: We are pleased to
Anti-discrimination training: We are conscious that this
see that some services have started to
training is not consistent across the Council and so the
recommend anti-discrimination training, with
quality of the training may differ across
some making it mandatory. We are also pleased Directorates/Services. We would suggest that the
to see that the Racial Inequalities Workshop
Racial Inequalities Workshop becomes compulsory for
(West Yorkshire and Harrogate Health and Care
all staff with access to a work computer, with a similar
Partnership) is available for colleagues to
training offering for staff who do not have computer
complete on PALS (the Council’s online training
access. This should be alongside any other identified
platform). We support this training programme
training.
as we believe that it is fit for purpose.

Priority 3: Communication and engagement
Progress made
Challenges
CLT meetings – CLT have shown commitment to
Not all colleagues have access to computers or
our agenda through the quarterly meetings being
Insite and this limits our ability to engage with all
held where CLT members provide written reports
areas of the organisation. Whilst our network
on progress and challenges within their own
ambassadors can assist in engaging with frontline
directorates. Sal Tariq has been appointed as our
members of staff, we do need corporate support

Page 43

CLT lead and he will be coordinating a task and
finish group to include network members to
support all areas of work. We also have scheduled
meetings with Sal and Graham Sephton to discuss
the coordination of working towards our objectives.
This shows a good level of commitment to ensuring
that CLT are not only listening to the needs of
BAME colleagues but also are willing to act upon
these requests. This is big positive and a change
from 18 months ago. We now need a formalised
structure for coordination to review and report on
progress made. This will be devised by Graham and
Sal.
Elected Member lead – we have a good working
relationship with Cllr Taylor who leads on BAME.
The steering group meets with her on a monthly
basis in order to share ideas and seek guidance and
support where necessary. She provides additional
support to network members where relevant and
all other support systems have been exhausted.
Race Equality InSite page – An ambition of the
network is that both BAME and non-BAME
colleagues can access information, key updates and
training that supports the BAME agenda in one
space. The Race Equality Insite page was set up and
is now currently in is Beta stage. There have been
significant delays in the development of the page
and the layout needs to be more user friendly so
that all abilities can access the information. This is
being addressed by Graham Sephton and we hope
to see the finalised version very soon. There is no
timescale for completion at this time.

through comms, updates in team meetings for front
line colleagues, posters etc.
There is a duplication of efforts happening across
the organisation and a level of Inconsistency /
confusion with all the different equality boards etc
within the service – this needs to be simplified and
we all need to understand each other’s roles and
responsibilities and how we can help each other.
The ambitions of colleagues to progress are not
always addressed and this goes against the
ambitions set out int the People’s Strategy 20202025 which states that colleagues would be
supported ‘to follow your chosen career path, that
matches your ambitions and circumstances’ as well
as ‘Development routes for both technical and
managerial careers’. We would like to see this
conversation introduced and recorded in appraisals
and acted upon accordingly.
Some areas of the organisation find it easier than
others to make positive conversations about
equality common practice. Many colleagues feel
unable to speak about racism and discrimination in
the workplace and we would like to see a culture
shift where people can confident and supported to
voice their experiences in a supportive
environment.
Where good practice is happening across the
organisation, this is not always adopted by other
directorates and services and this leaves an
inconsistent approach to driving the culture shift
needed to make equality, diversity and inclusion
common practice.

Conclusion
We are pleased to see that there is a lot of valuable work going on across the Council in respect of improving
the lived experience of BAME colleagues within the Council.
•

•

There is a lot of valuable work going on to support the BAME agenda. Input from the Network is
requested across the Council and this is largely done by volunteers of the network who are not provided
with any facility time (aside from the Chair). Given the importance of this work, the impact on LCC
colleagues etc the network could benefit from additional support.
Whilst initial interest and commitment to many of the elements of the BAME Action Plan has been high,
there has been a delay in doing the work needed to get these elements off the ground and to effect

Page 44

•

the change that we want to see. This can be seen in issues such as Grievance Policy,
Recruitment initiatives etc.
There are many different projects / groups being set up with a lack of overarching guidance. This leads
to inconsistency; a lack of ownership and greater impact being felt in all corners of the organisation. This
creates a sense of frustration and mistrust of the organisation amongst network members. Striving for
equality in general needs some consistency and whilst there is plenty of good intentions and effort being
expended it is not always the most efficient use of these resources.

The theme that runs across many of the challenges highlighted is a lack of checks and balances. Where
training is being delivered, formalised feedback is not being gathered. Where actions are carried out, they
are not supported or governed by a timebound strategy so efforts can seem endless with no structure to
knowing what ‘good’ looks like and when and how we aim to achieve it. Whilst many good decisions are be
being made, they are not having wider impact because these checks and balances are not in place. Taking a
SMARTER approach to meeting the objectives set out in the joint CLT/BAME action plan would be a better
use of time and resources.

The Network’s Key Asks:
Grievance Policy Review: We would like to see further detail as to how and when the BAME Network, along
with other key stakeholders, will be consulted and kept up to date during the review. Staff should also be
dissuaded from using the grievance policy to deal with allegations of racism.
Manager support regarding racial discrimination: We want a clear package of ongoing training and support
for managers in dealing with matters of discrimination.
Recruitment initiatives: Corporate commitment to imposition of the following initiatives (along with
timescales for implementation):
(a) independent panel members (with feedback from these members to ensure improvement)
(b) provision of clear and constructive feedback to unsuccessful candidates.
(c) exit interviews (to help inform future policy/practice where BAME colleagues leave the organisation
due to racism)
(d) recruitment drive audits, to check that policies are being followed and practice is fair.
Corporate ‘Zero-Tolerance’ to racism policy: Urgent progress to be made on devising the Council's Zero
Tolerance Policy. We would ask that this policy provides clear pathways for how allegations of racism will be
dealt with and investigated, including methodology and timescales, with a move away from the grievance
policy being utilised for allegations of racism.
Anti-discrimination training: Corporate commitment to mandatory training for all staff in the form of the
Racial Inequalities Workshop (West Yorkshire and Harrogate Health and Care Partnership) which is already
available on PALS.
Formal Support for Network Representatives: The Chair and Steering Group to be allowed facility time in
order to plan and deliver network activities.
Engaging Front Line BAME staff: Corporate support to be given to the Network to help reach out and
communicate with front line BAME colleagues.

Page 45

Below are several member testimonials that reflect upon experiences of working within the
organisation over the past 12-18 months that are in direct reference to each of the 3 priority areas:
Member Testimonials on Priority 1: Staff Support
During the BAME Remembrance Day display at Merrion House, a white colleague approached and shared
how she was so glad that we had this exhibition there for all to experience. She said she hadn’t realised just
how much BAME people played a part in the first and 2nd world war and she was glad that they were finally
getting the recognition. As an Irish woman she had said that Irish people had a similar experience of not
being acknowledged as supporting the war effort and that this had inspired her to make a conscious effort to
recognise and honour Irish service men and women from now on. This is a great example of how the BAME
staff network are driving inclusion through the sharing of our stories for all to share through our events.
During Black History Month a group of volunteers had recognised that we don’t do enough to celebrate and
share a space for wellbeing. The volunteer group put on a wellbeing session where we had a DJ playing music
of black origin and sharing the history of the music. It was great to share this time with colleagues where we
could eat, sway to the music, and learn. Having cultural wellbeing sessions like these are most certainly
something that we should encourage all council colleagues to take part in.
Staff report that support is lacking in formal processes and therefore have a reluctancy to make a formal
complaint as this often results in no action. The impact of racism on mental health is not understood and
support lacking. The HELP service does not have understanding to deal with racism. There is also a belief that
formal processes are more likely to be implemented against BAME staff and senior managers do not see
tackling racism on a ground level as a priority.

Member Testimonials on Priority 2: Staff progression, learning and development:
I haven’t been interviewed but I have been on the [recruitment] panels and found affinity bias to be a
challenge. Many panels are stuck in the way they have always done interviewing with; too many questions,
questions that are too long and become a memory challenge, focus on jargon or industry terminology, lack of
diversity on panels etc
I felt all the interviewers were very patient and willing to repeat questions which was useful as I was very
nervous, everyone on my interview panel was white Caucasian, I got a temporary role as opposed to a
permanent role but was made permanent more recently, I was given brief feedback over the telephone and
the interviewer that gave me the feedback was actually very pleasant.
A Chief Officer circulated a really good statement about the commitment he has to ensuring that banter in
the workplace does not cause offence. It was a great example of leadership being responsive to the feelings
of colleagues. I wish my team could follow the same sentiment but when it was raised in a team meeting, it
was met with sarcasm and disdain. Being the only BAME person within the team made it near impossible to
feel confident enough to feel heard or have my views on the matter respected. I feel more needs to be done
to support managers to uphold council values and ensure that colleagues do the same.
There are clear disparities in what is said about racism corporately and what practitioners on the ground
continue to share. People share a lack of transparency around opportunities and promotions. Over scrutiny
and Micro aggressions continue to feature for BAME staff in their daily work lives.

Page 46

Member Testimonials on Priority 3: Communication and engagement
I am the only ethnic minority member in my team. We have had discussions in regards to the importance of
culture in social work practice and discussions about topics within the news that have been race related that
could affect our practice- I do [have these discussions] as I feel we need to be having more race related
conversations (it shouldn’t be taboo). I have noticed that I feel more comfortable in my team when having a
voice or discussing sensitive topics related to race.
Regarding listening circles/discussions regarding race at work, I feel the sessions and discussion were really
useful. There has been a small incremental improvement, more notably from managers. we regularly hold a
group meeting to discuss topics relating to the wellbeing of BAME staff within the directorate, we also
appointed individuals who can act as advocates and support for BAME staff to make them feel comfortable
about reporting or just talking about issues that they are facing in the workplace. We also aim to involve
more non BAME members join the discussions.
This is common practice with services that have responded advising that conversations are encouraged at
team meetings. Feedback from BAME network and other BAME related topics are a standing agenda item at
Manager meetings and disseminated across services at Team meetings. We have BAME and carer champions
across the services to encourage conversations of equality and diversity including BAME related topics. One
to ones and wellbeing conversations are also used as platforms to encourage open discussions.
Member Testimonials: Conclusion
Over the past year we have seen statements coming from our senior leaders pledging their commitment to
improving the experience of BAME colleagues within the organisation. As there has been a joint action plan
drawn up, we have seen the network leaders work so hard to ensure that there is structure and continuous
momentum to bring about cultural and policy changes. Whilst there have been some actions from the
organisation, there hasn’t been a clear strategic plan that has allowed actions to be reviewed and results
measured. We have seen them adopt this approach in all strategic initiatives yet for equality it hasn’t been
afforded the same level of strategic planning or structure. My hope is that our leaders will adopt the same
approach as our network leaders as this will help to develop a sense of trust that our BAME colleagues are
valued by the organisation.

Page 47

This page is intentionally left blank

Healthy Minds Network
The network has gone from strength to strength during the pandemic. We have
taken all our face-to-face session onto teams delivering sessions twice a month
covering various themes associated with positive mental health. These have
included for example sleep and mental health, OCD awareness (during OCD
awareness week), food and mood (what food does to your mental health) and how
to stay healthy in both body and mind any many more.
To compliment this work, we also have an active Facebook group with over 350
members both office based and frontline. Also, so that nobody has to miss a session
we have been recording the sessions to the Leeds city council Facebook page for
people to watch at their leisure. Some sessions have been attracting over 1000
views which is amazing.
We have also been working closely with the occupational health team to deliver
sessions through our men’s / women’s health workshops that have been greatly
attended. These sessions are on different topics each month in line with the public
health calendar.
At the start of the pandemic, having listened to staff, we set up coffee and chat
events, laugh and giggle sessions designed to give people the chance to come away
from work for an hour and have informal discussion, as we were finding that people
were lonely working from home, and this helped immensely. This work also included
targeted front line sessions scheduled at a time convenient for the services.
We also have in place weekly ‘how are you feeling’ sessions which have been a
lifeline for some people during this time and is well attended. We also have a ‘how
you feeling’ session for managers’ twice a month.
A new starter social group has been created for those joining the Council during the
pandemic. A place to come together and meet others within the Council who had
started but didn’t know anyone.
We also have a monthly newsletter that goes out across the organisation letting
people know what’s happening and what sessions are on for the next month.
We also held and online ‘heathy minds event’ this year where Tom Riordan opened
the proceedings following which we had a full day of speakers. More than 100 people
attended this event for mental health awareness day.
The current position of the network is strong with an effective and active team. We
are now planning for 2022 and envisage that next year’s sessions will be better this
year with more people accessing the extensive support and guidance available.
A key future challenge of the network is to address the request to undertake some
face to face sessions, as following a survey, this was a theme that came out. We
will be trying to do some hybrid sessions also within our plan of action.
All in all, I think the future for the healthy minds network looks really positive and I
am very excited about the opportunities ahead and carrying on the amazing work
through 2022.

Page 49

This page is intentionally left blank

Joint CLT & BAME Staff Network
Race Equality Action Plan 2021-2023
This Action Plan specifically targets issues of under representation, measurement and impact, progress and development of BAME staff in the organisation. It has been developed following consultation with the BAME Staff Network
members and builds on the actions progressed in the BAME/CLT Action Plan supported by the series of commitments from the council as stated in the organisation’s joint statement that we all stand together against all forms of racism
and inequality in our council and our city. To address the concerns of our BAME workforce, we have identified four main areas of focus as key priority areas from 2021-2023: Staff Support; Staff Progression, Learning and Development;
Communication and Engagement and Measurement and Impact

Our key priorities

Outcomes

Measures

How we will know we are successful
1. Staff support
Adopt a zero tolerance approach to racial
discrimination in the workplace and create a
supportive work environment for BAME staff







Page 51




Clear zero tolerance culture which drives towards elimination in BAME Staff
experiencing racial discrimination, language, behaviour from colleagues and
customers.
BAME staff are treated fairly and equally as employees
BAME staff feel safe when undertaking their work
BAME staff have positive experiences of the support they receive from their managers
and colleagues
All managers are confident and competent in addressing reported incidents of racial
discrimination within work
Initiatives/programmes which relate to advocacy routes available to BAME staff in the
organisation. .
Continued effective monitoring of COVID-19 risk assessment tool and impact on BAME
staff.

2. Staff progression, learning and
development
Fair and transparent recruitment and selection
processes; career progression and leadership
development for BAME staff



3. Communication and engagement
Promoting opportunities and platform for open
and honest debate both at the corporate and
local level relating to race issues across the
organisation








4. Measurement and impact
The Council bases its policies, procedures,
practice and its service provision on robust,
comprehensive and transparent data and data
analysis, and through consultation with
communities

 BAME staff are treated fairly and equally as employees
 BAME staff are widely represented at all levels of the organisation
 Discriminatory practice on the grounds of race is eliminated
 Transparent and accessible dataset and information of BAME workforce profile and
experiences
 Improved take up of services by all communities
 Improved customer satisfaction and feedback
 Commissioning of services is informed by robust Equality Impact Assessments which
reflect appropriate stakeholder engagement

BAME staff are widely represented in all roles across the Council including in senior
leadership and management roles
 BAME staff are accessing and completing training and leadership development
programmes
 Improved and inclusive recruitment practices and processes
 Sustained monitoring of recruitment and progression performance data relating to
BAME staff in the organisation.
The voices and experiences of BAME staff are heard and inform policy and practice
BAME staff are contributing to service reviews and to service developments
Our diverse communities contribute to and shape the development of our services
There is increased access to services by BAME communities
Cultural diversity is valued and is celebrated across the council
Team Leeds approach - Build a strong and active network of Allies across the
organisation including at senior leadership and management levels.
 Working in partnership with stakeholders to share learning and best practice



Zero tolerance policy in place and communicated to workforce and stakeholders across the
council
% of BAME Staff reporting positive outcomes following harassment or bullying incidents
% of BAME Staff reporting positive resolution following all stages of grievance/disciplinary
procedures
% of staff and managers reporting increased confidence in dealing with issues relating to
racial discrimination at work
Number and % of managers trained to support cases of racial discrimination
Number and % of BAME colleagues who take on the role of ‘decision makers’ in formal
meetings and casework in the Grievance and Disciplinary processes
Number and % of cases involving BAME staff subject to litigation (both internal and
external)
Number and % where ‘BAME’ identified as risk factor in council’s ‘Risk assessment for
employees more at risk from COVID-19’ tool.









 % of BAME staff employed in senior leadership and management roles
 % of recruitment panels with representation from BAME staff
 % of BAME staff completing apprenticeships and training programmes









Number and % of Allies trained across the council
Number and % of BAME staff impacted by service reviews process and Numbers and %
of BAME Staff Network members trained and involved in EIA assessments.
Levels of engagement with community organisations, by directorate, to shape and inform
service developments
Numbers and level of engagement activities and events to celebrate diversity

Data on equality, diversity and inclusion is routinely collated, is transparent and accessible
via workforce profile dashboard.
Increase in use of Equality Impact Assessments related to ethnicity to inform policy,
service reviews and service developments

Joint CLT & BAME Staff Network Action Plan
Our Ambition:
To achieve a position of ‘Zero Tolerance’ to racial discrimination in the council, with co-production
embedded into organisational change processes, so that we can create an inclusive culture where all
staff can fulfil their potential in the organisation and bring their whole selves to the workplace.

Objectives

Leads

Performance Management & Review:
Progress on achieving the objectives and action plan will be primarily owned by the council’s Corporate
Leadership Team supported by Action Plan Steering Group and key stakeholders such as the BAME
Staff Network. The governance structure supporting this work will require a whole Team Leeds
approach and is further described below.

Actions

Timescales for completion
and progress update

1: Staff support: Adopt a zero tolerance approach to racial discrimination in the workplace and create a supportive work environment for BAME staff
1.1 Realise the joint CLT and
BAME Staff Network
ambition to adopt a zero
tolerance approach to
racial discrimination in the
workplace

Page 52

1.2 Ensure governance and
accountability of Senior
Leadership Teams on their
commitments and actions
on zero tolerance of racial
discrimination

SRO:




Implementation lead/s:



BAME Steering Group member:





1.3 To ensure a proactive
approach to challenging
language and behaviours
in the workplace
1.4 Ensure BAME staff are
supported when they
experience and report
racism in the workplace
1.5 Maximise opportunities for
BAME staff to share their
lived experience of working
within the organisation and
to celebrate achievements
1.6 Implement checks to
ensure Covid Risk
Assessments are
happening for BAME
colleagues





Develop a corporate policy on zero tolerance
Develop mandatory training programme for
all staff on zero tolerance to racial
discrimination
Support all managers to become confident
and competent is addressing racial
discrimination in the workplace
Support all managers to adopt inclusive
leadership approaches
Deliver inclusion events and learning
opportunities throughout the year for all staff
Enable BAME staff where they do not
ordinarily have access to emails to contribute
to and receive support from the BAME
network
Roll out of a peer support model to ensure
BAME staff have access to support from the
BAME Staff Network to deal with any issues of
racial discrimination, using a ‘Speak up
Guardian’ approach
Increase the number of BAME colleagues who
take on the role of ‘decision makers’ in formal
meetings and casework.in the Grievance and
Disciplinary processes



Consistent monitoring of COVID-19 risk
assessment tool and impact on BAME staff.

2: Staff progression, learning and development: Fair and transparent recruitment and selection processes; career progression and leadership
development for BAME staff
2.1 Ensure a consistent and
sustained approach to
career development and
progression opportunities
for BAME staff at all levels
in the organisation
including in senior
leadership and
management roles

SRO:

o

Page 53

o
o
o

Develop transparent recruitment process with
data analysis and tracking to monitor BAME
applications as well as outcomes



Create more diverse and representative
recruitment and selection panels



Implement anonymised shortlisting capability
and options into the council’s recruitment and
selection process



Develop anti-discrimination training for all staff
involved in the recruitment process



Consistent and credible approach in sharing
quality and transparent feedback with
candidates with support as part of recruitment
process



To provide more support to managers so that
they are skilled in cultural competency and
staff development

Implementation lead/s:

BAME Steering Group member:

2.2 Develop inclusive
recruitment practices with
following key elements:
o



Transparency of
recruitment process
More diverse and
representative
recruitment and
selection panels
Anti-discrimination
training of recruitment
panel members
Sharing quality and
transparent feedback
with candidates
Support for managers
so that they are skilled
in cultural competency
and staff development

3. Communication and engagement: Promoting opportunities and platform for open and honest debate both at the corporate and local level relating to
race issues across the organisation
3.1 To raise awareness of the
BAME Staff Network
ambition to achieve ‘Zero
Tolerance’ to racial
discrimination in the
organisation
3.2 Celebrate the rich diversity
of the council’s BAME
workforce

SRO:




Implementation lead/s:

BAME Steering Group member:



Share the council joint statement and activity
plan far and wide across the organisation.
Develop Allyship programme/model for staff to
utilise across the council.
BAME Staff Network to work with HR and
relevant stakeholders to develop
sessions/opportunities specifically targeted at
addressing priorities of BAME staff who do not
have regular access to emails.



3.3 Build a strong and active
network of Allies across the
organisation


3.4 To improve support to
BAME staff in services
where they do not
ordinarily have access to
emails so they can
contribute to the work of
the wider network





3.5 Monitor the impact of
service reviews on BAME
communities



3.6 Progress of Plan actions
and priorities are
communicated across the
council including
directorate leadership
teams (DLT) and
managers

Launch a zero tolerance campaign across the
council and city, making our stance visible
(both internally and externally).
Active Staff Network involvement in the
service review process and training more
network members around Equality Impact
Assessments.
Council communications (internal/external)
marking key diversity and inclusion
dates/events throughout the year.
Regular progress updates of Plan actions and
priorities shared across a range of platforms
and forums (both written and verbal) including
to key stakeholders such as DLT and
managers.
To draw on the expertise, support and
resources of partner organisations, networks,
and others with this shared endeavour locally, regionally and beyond.

3.7 Working in partnership with
stakeholders to share
learning and best practice

Page 54

4. Measurement and impact: Council’s policies, procedures and practice are informed by robust and comprehensive data analysis on equality, diversity
and inclusion in the workplace
4.1 Transparent and
accessible dataset and
information of BAME
workforce profile and
experiences.
4.2 Increased Staff and
Manager engagement to
inform organisational
understanding and
response to improve the
experience of council
BAME staff

SRO:



Implementation leads:

BAME Steering Group member:




HR to lead a review of what data we have,
and what new data we need, including looking
at datasets used by the NHS and other
organisations. It will also recommend what
information should be shared, who with and
how often.
Conduct a survey with all BAME staff in the
council to understand the lived experience of
diverse BAME communities.
Conduct a survey with all managers in the
council to understand confidence to support
and address equality, diversity and inclusion
issues and challenges related to race.

Page 55

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
Report author: Rob Clayton
Tel: 0113 3788790

Initial Budget Proposals for 2022/23
Date: 24th January 2022
Report of: Head of Democratic Services
Report to: Scrutiny Board (Strategy and Resources)
Will the decision be open for call in?

☐ Yes ☒ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐ Yes ☒ No

What is this report about?
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions

•

The Chief Officer Financial Services submitted a report to the Executive Board on 15th
December 2021 setting out the proposed Budget for 2022/23, set within the context of the
Medium-Term Financial Strategy, the Spending Review 2021, and the Budget savings
proposals identified as part of the Financial Challenge savings programme this year. The
report also presented an update on the provisional budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25.

•

In accordance with the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework, the proposed Budget for
2022/23 is to be submitted to Scrutiny for review and consideration, with the outcome of the
Scrutiny Boards’ deliberations to be reported to the planned meeting of the Executive Board
on 9th February 2022 for consideration as it prepares its final proposals for consideration
and approval by full Council on 23rd February 2022.

•

The purpose of this report is to provide members of the Scrutiny Board (Strategy and
Resources) with the Executive Board’s initial budget proposals for 2022/23 for consideration,
review and comment on matters and proposals relating to service areas that fall within the
Scrutiny Board’s remit, as other Scrutiny Boards will be considering elements of the budget
proposals relevant to their terms of reference.

Recommendations
That the Scrutiny Board considers the relevant information provided within this report on the initial
budget proposals for 2022/23 and identifies any specific comments and/or recommendations for
consideration by Executive Board as it prepares its final proposals for consideration by full Council
on 23rd February 2022.

Page 57

Why is the proposal being put forward?
1.

In accordance with the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework, the proposed Budget for
2022/23 is to be submitted to Scrutiny for review and consideration, with the outcome of the
Scrutiny Boards’ deliberations to be reported to the planned meeting of the Executive Board
on 9th February 2022 as it prepares its final proposals for consideration and approval by full
Council on 23rd February 2022.

2.

The Chief Officer Financial Services submitted a report to the Executive Board on 15 th
December 2021 setting out the proposed Budget for 2022/23, set within the context of the
Medium-Term Financial Strategy, the Spending Review 2021, and the Budget savings
proposals identified as part of the Financial Challenge savings programme this year. The
report also presented an update on the provisional budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25. This
report is set out in Appendix 1 for Members’ consideration.

3.

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23-2026/27, which was considered by the
Executive Board on 22nd September 2021, had identified an estimated budget gap of
£126.7m for the period 2022/23- 2024/25 of which a gap of £65.4m related to 2022/23. This
position took account of the estimated level of resources available to the Council following a
number of years in which Government funding reductions have taken place. However, as
part of the Budget Proposals report, the Chief Officer Financial Services had provided an
update to the financial position reported to Executive Board in September 2021 in the
Medium-Term Financial Strategy. This revised position informed the proposals to ultimately
deliver a balanced budget in 2022/23 and updated the anticipated financial gap in the two
subsequent years to £30.6m for 2023/24 and £25.6m for 2024/25.

4.

Building on the Financial Challenge savings programme carried out last year, the Council
established a new Financial Challenge savings programme focused on identifying robust
and sustainable savings not just to help close the gap for 2022/23 but for the following years
2023/24 and 2024/25 too. This approach enables the authority to take a longer-term view of
its savings options, recognising that major change often requires one- to two-years’ lead
time to implement.

5.

A key element of the financial challenge approach for 2022/23, and linked to the remit of the
Board, has been to seek to drive improvements in procurement principally though improving
contract management approaches and increasing commercial acumen amongst staff, this
has a savings target of £4m in 2022/23. In addition, and in line with Government regulations
on the use of capital receipts, £6.1m relating to transformational work is included in 2022/23
to fund expenditure on any project that is designed to generate ongoing revenue savings in
the delivery of public services and/or transform service delivery to reduce costs and/or
transform service delivery in a way that reduces costs or demand for services in future years
for any of the public sector delivery partners.

6.

In September 2021, the Chief Officer Financial Services had provided a report to the
Executive Board that presented £20.6m of potential savings over the next three years
(£7.0m in 2022/23, £7.5m in 2023/24 and £6.0m in 2024/25). Such proposals had been
identified as part of the Financial Challenge savings programme at that stage. This report is
set out in Appendix 2 for Members’ consideration.

7.

To accompany the Budget Proposals report in December, the Chief Officer Financial
Services submitted a separate report to the Executive Board setting out further savings
proposals to contribute towards the Council being able to present a balanced budget
position for 2022/23. This report is set out in Appendix 3 for Members’ consideration.
Page 58

8.

Similar to last year, all savings proposals are categorised as either ‘Business as Usual’
(BAU) which can be implemented within the Council’s delegated decision-making framework
and without consultation, or ‘Service Reviews’ which may require meaningful consultation
with relevant stakeholders prior to any decisions being taken.

9.

Appendix 4 provides the Business as Usual (BAU) savings proposals relevant to the remit of
the Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board. Business as Usual (BAU) savings do not
require any consultation to implement. This is largely because the actions relate to improving
the efficiency of the service within the existing policy framework or are cost reduction
measures with no impact on service users or staff. Business as Usual savings and decisions
to give effect to them are taken by the relevant Director or Chief Officer in accordance with
the Officer delegation scheme (Executive Functions).

10. There is one Service Review that falls in the remit of the Board and this is in relation to the
Kirkstall Abbey Café that falls with the Museums and Galleries service, details of this can be
found at Appendix 3 to this report.
What impact will this proposal have?
Wards affected: All
Have ward members been consulted?

☐ Yes

☐No

11. The initial budget proposals for 2022/23 are submitted to Scrutiny for consideration, review
and comment. The Scrutiny Board (Strategy and Resources) is therefore asked to consider
matters and proposals relating to service areas that fall within its remit as other Scrutiny
Boards will be considering elements of the initial Budget proposals relevant to their terms of
reference.
12. The outcome of the Scrutiny Board’s deliberations will inform a composite report from
Scrutiny that will be submitted to the Executive Board for consideration during its meeting on
9th February 2022.
What consultation and engagement has taken place?
13. The proposed Budget for 2022/23 is being submitted to the respective Scrutiny Boards for
their consideration and review, with the outcome of their deliberations to be reported to the
planned meeting of the Executive Board on 9th February 2022. The budget proposals will
also be made available to other stakeholders as part of a wider and continuing process of
engagement and consultation.
14. As part of the consultation process this year, all five Scrutiny Boards held working group
meetings during December to consider the full range of budget saving proposals that fall
within their individual remits. The five Scrutiny Boards will now be utilising their January
meeting cycle to formally consider and share their views on the Executive’s initial budget
proposals. At this stage, the Scrutiny Boards will also be able to take into account any
significant developments stemming from the Spending Review announcement.
15. Relevant Executive Members and senior officers have been invited to attend today’s
meeting to discuss the appended Executive Board reports and to address any questions
raised by the Scrutiny Board.
What are the resource implications?
Page 59

16. All resource implications are detailed in the main body of the appended Executive Board
reports.
What are the legal implications?
17. The appended Executive Board reports have been produced in compliance with the
Council’s Budget and Policy Framework. In accordance with this framework, the initial
budget proposals are also submitted to Scrutiny for review and consideration. The outcome
of the Scrutiny Boards review, through a collated Scrutiny report, will be presented to the
February 2022 meeting of Executive Board at which proposals for the 2022/23 budget will be
considered prior to submission to Full Council in February 2022.
18. Further information surrounding the legal implications associated with the Budget proposals
is set out in the appended Executive Board reports.
What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
19. Financial management and monitoring continues to be undertaken on a risk-based approach
where financial management resources are prioritised to support those areas of the budget
that are judged to be at risk, for example the implementation of budget action plans, those
budgets which are subject to fluctuating demand, key income budgets, etc. This risk-based
approach will continue to be included in the in-year financial reports brought to Executive
Board.
20. In addition, risks identified in relation to specific proposals and their management will be
reported to relevant members and officers as required.
21. Further information surrounding the key risks associated with the Budget proposals is set out
in the appended Executive Board reports.
Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars?
☒ Inclusive Growth

☒ Health and Wellbeing

☒ Climate Emergency

22. The Best Council Plan is the Council’s strategic plan which sets out its ambitions, outcomes
and priorities for the City of Leeds and for the Local Authority. The Three Pillars of inclusive
growth, health and wellbeing and the climate change emergency underpin this vision and
these can only be delivered through a sound understanding of the organisation’s longer-term
financial sustainability which enables decisions to be made that balance the resource
implications of the Council’s policies against financial constraints. This is the primary
purpose of the Medium-Term Financial Strategy which provides the framework for the
determination of the Council’s annual revenue budget.
Appendices
23. Appendix 1 – Report of the Chief Officer Financial Services to Executive Board (15th
December 2021) on proposed budget for 2022/23 and provisional budgets for 2023/24 and
2024/25.
24. Appendix 2 – Report of the Chief Officer Financial Services to Executive Board (22 nd
September 2021) on revenue savings proposals for 2022/23 to 2024/25.
25. Appendix 3 – Report of the Chief Officer Financial Services to Executive Board (15 th
December 2021) on revenue savings proposals for 2022/23 to 2024/25.
Page 60

26. Appendix 4 – Business as Usual (BAU) Savinsg
Background papers
27. None.

Page 61

This page is intentionally left blank

Report author: Victoria Bradshaw
Tel: 88540

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional Budgets for
2023/24 and 2024/25
Date: 15th December 2021
Report of: Chief Officer – Financial Services
Report to: Executive Board
Will the decision be open for call in?

☐ Yes ☒ No

Recommendation d. will be open for call in. All other
recommendations are not eligible.
Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐ Yes ☒ No

What is this report about?
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions
•

The purpose of this report is to recommend the Council’s proposed Budget for 2022/23 for
consultation and to note the provisional budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25.

•

There are two reports, considered by the September Executive Board and elsewhere on this
agenda, which detail the savings proposals being considered to contribute towards the
Council being able to present a balanced budget position for 2022/23 for consultation.

•

These budget proposals are set within the context of the Medium Term Financial Strategy
2022/23-2026/27, which was approved by the Executive Board on the 22nd September
2021, and which continues the journey commenced in 2019 whereby the Council’s revenue
budget becomes more financially robust, resilient and sustainable by moving away from the
use of one-off sources of funding such as capital receipts and reserves to fund recurring
expenditure.

•

The Chancellor of the Exchequer announced the Spending Review 2021 on 27th October
2021, covering the three-year period to the end of the current Parliament, 2022/23 to
2024/25. The Spending Review is at a national level, with the detail of these announcements
covered at Appendix 1 to this report. We await further detail at a local authority level of the
provisional Local Government Settlement expected in mid-December. It is not yet known
whether this year’s Settlement will be for multiple years or for one year only, the
consequence of which is continued uncertainty regarding future funding for local government
which makes financial planning much more difficult.

•

The current financial climate for local government continues to present significant risks to
the Council’s priorities and ambitions and this report has been prepared against the
background of uncertainty with regard to the Government’s spending plans from April 2022.
The Council continues to make every effort possible to protect the front line delivery of
services and to avoid large scale compulsory redundancies. It is clear from the size of the
estimated budget gap for the period 2022/23 to 2026/27, that this is extremely challenging. It
Page 63

will therefore be increasingly difficult to maintain current levels of service provision without
significant changes in the way the Council operates.
•

The forecast position for the financial period to March 2025 recognises the requirement to
make the Council’s budget more financially resilient and sustainable whilst providing
increased resources to support demand-led services within the Council.

•

In the Spending Review 2021 the Chancellor announced a new relief scheme for the retail
and leisure sectors. There will be new reliefs granting 50% relief to businesses in these
sectors up to a maximum of £105,000 per ratepayer. These proposals include an estimate of
the cost of these reliefs although uncertainty about where individual ratepayers will claim
their maximum reliefs remains. These proposals also assume that local newspaper offices
will continue to receive a £1,500 reduction for a further year and public lavatories and certain
telecoms infrastructure will, by statute, receive 100% business rates relief. Local authorities
will be compensated in full by Government for any resultant loss of income caused by all
these reliefs.

•

COVID-19 has fundamentally affected the way the Council works. Whilst the impact of
COVID-19 has been to reduce the level of resources available to the Council it has also
provided the opportunity to consider how its business and services should operate in the
future and this is reflected in a number of the budget savings proposals that have been
received at Executive Board. This proposed Budget recognises the ongoing impact of
COVID on expenditure and income and identifies resources to deal with this impact in
2022/23.

•

Changes since the Medium Term Financial Strategy, received by this Board in September,
are summarised as follows:
o The Financial Strategy identified an estimated budget gap of £65.4m for 2022/23.
o Since that report, £42.9m of corporate measures to reduce this gap have been
agreed, including use of reserves, increased partner contributions and greater use of
Capital Receipts Flexibilities.
o Announcements at Spending Review 2021 are estimated to provide £19.1m of
additional funding, but also additional expenditure requirements including pay costs of
£4.1m relating to the National Living Wage and the Health and Social Care Levy and
a £3.3m reduction in the level of Adult Social Care Precept assumed in the Financial
Strategy.
o Other key adjustments, including movements in reserves, creation of a COVID
contingency and updated Net Revenue Charge assumptions, create an additional
pressure of £5.7m, result in a budget gap before directorate savings of £16.5m.
o Proposed savings of £17.7m have been presented to this Board in September and on
today’s agenda, £1.3m of which are included in the corporate measures outlined
above. As such the proposed savings are sufficient to balance the 2022/23 budget
position.
o As a consequence of these changes, as set out in Table 12 at Appendix 1 to this
report, this proposed Budget assumes that resources have increased by £51.8m, but
there has also been a net increase in budget pressures of £7.0m.
o The Council’s established ‘Financial Challenge’ programme has continued to identify
savings to contribute towards closing this gap. In September this Board received
budget savings proposals reports totalling £7.0m; further savings proposals for
2022/23 of £10.7m are presented to this Board through the report on today’s agenda,
‘Revenue savings proposals for 2022/23 to 2024/25’.
o An additional £3.0m of savings have been identified since publication of the MTFS,
including £2.7m of the £4m of proposed procurement savings not yet attributed to
directorates, closing the 2022/23 gap.
Page 64

•

The headlines for the 2022/23 proposed Budget when compared to the 2021/22 budget are
as follows:
o An increase in the Settlement Funding Assessment (SFA) of £9.0m (4.8%)
o Spending Review 2021 announced a core council tax increase of 1.99% and an
option to increase the Adult Social Care precept of 1%. In addition, there has been a
partial recovery in the council tax base as levels of Council Tax Support required
have decreased and growth in the tax base has increased as the impact of COVID
lessens. The total contribution of council tax to the Net Revenue Budget is projected
to increase by £23.9m in 2022/23.
o Business rates income has partially recovered in 2021/22, mainly due to the reduction
in extended reliefs introduced in 2020/21 as a response to the COVID-19 crisis. At
the Spending Review the Government announced further reliefs in 2022/23 for the
retail and leisure sectors, which are included in these proposals. The impact of these
reliefs is compensated for through Section 31 Grants.
o Reflecting the above, the Net Revenue Budget for the Council has increased in
2022/23 by £86.2m to £521.4m.

•

In respect of the Housing Revenue Account:
o The application of the Government’s formula of annual rent increases being no
greater than CPI+1% will see rents for all tenants increase by 4.1% in 2022/23.
o Service charges will increase by RPI of 4.9%.
o For the Retirement Life charge there will be full cost recovery for tenants receiving
Housing Benefit, the subsidy for self payers will be £1 for stand alone community
centres and £1.72 for communal areas.
o A Sheltered Accommodation Support Charge of £15.62, with full cost recovery for
tenants receiving Housing Benefit and a subsidy of £1.62 for self payers who will pay
£14. This is a stepped increase of £2 from 21/22.
o District heating and garage rental rates will increase by RPI of 4.9%.
o The total increase will be capped at £5 per week.

•

Leeds City Council has submitted an application on behalf of the following authorities to form
a business rate pool operating under the national 50% scheme in 2022/23: Bradford,
Calderdale, Harrogate, Kirklees, Leeds, Wakefield, and York. The advantage of forming a
business rate pool is the retention of levy payments within the region that would otherwise
have to be made to Central Government. This proposed Budget recognises that Leeds City
Council will be required to make a levy payment in 2022/23 to either the new Leeds City
Region Business Rates Pool or to Government, depending on the outcome of this
application.

How this report contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions
•

The Best Council Plan is the Council’s current strategic plan which sets out its ambitions,
outcomes and priorities for the City of Leeds and for the local authority. The City ambitions
as set out in the Best Council Plan are that the Council, working in partnership, will continue
to tackle poverty and inequalities through a combination of strengthening the economy and
doing this in a way that is compassionate and caring. The Authority’s internal ‘Best Council’
focus remains on becoming a more efficient, enterprising and healthy organisation.

•

In October, this Board considered the report, ‘Leeds 2030: Shaping Our Best City Ambition’
which sought agreement in principle to the replacement of the Best Council Plan with a more
externally-facing and partnership-focused City Ambition from February 2022. Initial
proposals are included elsewhere on today’s agenda through the report, ‘Best City Ambition
Page 65

– initial proposals’. These proposals aim to strengthen and better reflect the important role
that partnership working across Leeds has in achieving the city’s shared goals. The
proposals maintain the Council’s longstanding commitment to tackling poverty and reducing
inequalities and the framework of three pillars of Health and Wellbeing, Inclusive Growth and
Zero Carbon.
•

It is important the Best City Ambition remains rooted in activity on the ground and supports
delivery of real progress in this city. For the Council’s part, that means alignment is required
behind the ambition and goals outlined in the draft proposals, and the financial and wider
resources invested to deliver. As such, these strategic ambitions can only be delivered
through a sound understanding of the organisation’s longer-term financial sustainability
which enables decisions to be made that balance the resource implications of the Council’s
policies against financial constraints. This is the primary purpose of the Medium-Term
Financial Strategy which then provides the framework for the determination of Council’s
annual revenue budget for which the proposals for 2022/23 are contained in this report.

Recommendations

Executive Board is recommended to:
a) Note that the proposed Budget for 2022/23 presented in this report is based on the approval
and delivery of £17.7m of directorate savings for 2022/23. These have been brought to this
Board through the accompanying reports, ‘Revenue Savings Proposals for 2022/23 to
2024/25’ at its September meeting and elsewhere on this agenda.
b) Agree to consultation on the proposed Budget for 2022/23. This includes the proposed
increases in core Council Tax and the Adult Social Care precept. Further to this, that these
budget proposals are submitted to Scrutiny and for wider consultation with stakeholders.
c) Note the provisional budget position for 2023/24 and 2024/25 and to note that further
savings proposals to address the updated estimated budget gaps of £30.6m and £25.6m for
2023/24 and 2024/25 respectively will be reported to future meetings of this Board.
d) Approve that, should the application to form a 2022/23 Leeds City Region Business Rates
Pool be successful, Leeds City Council becomes a member of the proposed Pool and acts
as lead authority for it. The establishment of this new Pool will be dependent upon none of
the other proposed member authorities choosing to withdraw within the statutory period after
designation.

Why is the proposal being put forward?
1 Executive Board members are required to recommend a balanced Revenue Budget and Capital
Programme for 2022/23 to Full Council in February. The proposed Budget provides a key part
of the budget setting process.
2 This report presents an update to the financial position reported to this Board in September
2021 in the Medium-Term Financial Strategy for 2022/23 to 2024/25.
What impact will this proposal have?
Wards affected:
Have ward members been consulted?

☐ Yes

Page 66

☒ No

3 The Equality Act 2010 requires the Council to have “due regard” to the need to eliminate
unlawful discrimination and promote equality of opportunity. The law requires that the duty to
pay due regard be demonstrated in the decision making process. Assessing the potential
equality impact of proposed changes to policies, procedures and practices is one of the key
ways in which public authorities can show due regard.
4 The Council is fully committed to ensuring that equality and diversity are given proper
consideration when we develop policies and make decisions. In order to achieve this the
Council has an agreed process in place and has particularly promoted the importance of the
process when taking forward key policy or budgetary changes. Equality impact assessments
also ensure that we make well informed decisions based on robust evidence.
5 Equality impact screenings have been carried out on all ‘service review’ savings proposals
previously approved by this Board for implementation / consultation at its September meeting
and are included with the further service review proposals in the accompanying ‘Revenue
Savings Proposals for 2022/23 to 2024/25’ report elsewhere on this agenda. Where
appropriate, equality impact assessments will be carried out as part of the Council’s decisionmaking process.
6 The proposals within this report have been screened for relevance to equality, diversity,
cohesion and integration (Appendix 4) and a full strategic analysis and assessment will be
undertaken on the 2022/23 Revenue Budget and Council Tax report which will be considered
by Executive Board and subsequently by Full Council in February 2022. Specific equality impact
assessments will also be undertaken on all budget decisions identified as relevant to equality as
they are considered during the decision-making process in 2022/23.
What consultation and engagement has taken place?
7 The Authority’s financial strategy is driven by its ambitions and priorities as set out in the Best
Council Plan. The current Best Council Plan was approved by Council in February 2020
following consultation with members and officers throughout its development, with additional
extensive stakeholder consultation carried out on the range of supporting plans and strategies.
These arrangements will continue to inform further updates to the strategic plan as it transitions
to a new ‘City Ambition’.
8 The Council’s Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 – 2026/27, received at Executive
Board in September 2021, was informed by the public consultation exercise carried out
between January and February 2021 on the Council’s 2021/22 budget proposals. Whilst the
consultation covered the key 2021/22 proposals, it also included the principles of how we
should be funded, proposed changes to Council Tax, how we plan to spend the revenue
budget, and respondents’ service priorities. Additional areas were explored including:
perceptions of the Council, attitudes around our social contract with citizens, and how people
are coping and their concerns around the COVID-19 pandemic. This supplemented the ongoing
process of consultation through which residents are consulted on a variety of issues throughout
the year.
9 The approach for the public consultation on the proposed Budget for 2022/23 will follow a
similar approach to that taken last year, with the primary method being an online survey. This
will be carried out: with the public via the council’s website, social media and the Citizens’
Panel; with staff through the intranet; and with stakeholders, including representatives from the
Third Sector and the Business sector. A change from recent years, the consultation will be
hosted through an engagement platform (YourVoice), enabling key information and participants’
ideas to be shared in one place. Staff at the council’s customer community hubs will provide
support to members of the public requiring assistance to complete the online survey. The
consultation will begin once this report is initially agreed by Executive Board and will run for four
Page 67

weeks, with findings timetabled to be reported at the following meeting, prior to finalisation of
the Budget. The Budget public consultation will be delivered in parallel to the Best City Ambition
consultation, helping residents and respondents to consider these two important matters
together. Efforts will be made to cross-reference and signpost between the two consultations.
10 With regard to the individual savings proposals approved by this Board at its September
meeting and put forward in the accompanying, ‘Revenue Savings Proposals for 2022/23 to
2024/25’ report for consideration by the Executive Board elsewhere on this agenda, both senior
members and staff have been engaged in their development. Trade unions have also been
informed in headline terms of emerging proposals. Where required, further meaningful
consultation and engagement has been, and will be, carried out with staff, trade unions, service
users and the public as appropriate on the ‘Service Review’ savings proposals. The outcomes
of any consultation will inform the Council’s decision-making and, where completed and
analysed in time, be incorporated into the 2022/23 Budget Report for consideration at
February’s Executive Board and Full Council.
11 All five Scrutiny Boards will be initially consulted on the savings proposals (both those brought
to the Executive Board in September and those put forward elsewhere on this agenda), as
relevant to their remits, through working group meetings held during December. Subject to the
approval of Executive Board, this proposed Budget report will also be submitted to Scrutiny
Boards for consideration and review as part of their formal cycle of meetings in January 2022.
The outcome of their deliberations will be reported to the planned meeting of this Board on 9th
February 2022.
What are the resource implications?
12 The financial position as set out in the Medium Term Financial Strategy which was received at
September’s Executive Board identified an estimated budget gap of £126.7m for the period
2022/23- 2024/25 of which a gap of £65.4m related to 2022/23. This position took account of
the estimated level of resources available to the Council. In addition, it reflected the requirement
to make the Council’s revenue budget more financially resilient and sustainable over the
medium term whilst at the same time recognising increased demand pressures for the services
that we deliver.
13 Proposals to address this position and ultimately to deliver a balanced budget position for
2022/23 are contained within Appendix 1 of this proposed Budget report.
14 The provisional budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25 have been updated and the estimated budget
gaps are now £30.6m and £25.6m for the respective years. Details are contained within
Appendix 1 of this proposed Budget report.
What are the legal implications?
15 This report has been produced in compliance with the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework.
In accordance with this framework, the proposed Budget, once approved by the Board, will be
submitted to Scrutiny for their review and consideration. The outcome of their review will be
reported to the February 2022 meeting of this Board at which proposals for the 2022/23 budget
will be considered prior to submission to Full Council on the 23rd February 2022.
16 The proposed Budget will, if implemented, have implications for Council policy and governance
and these are explained within the report. The budget is a key element of the Council’s budget
and policy framework, but many of the proposals will also be subject to separate consultation
and decision making processes, which will operate within their own defined timetables and be
managed by individual directorates.

Page 68

17 In accordance with the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework, decisions as to the Council’s
budget are reserved to Full Council. As such, recommendations a., b. and c. are not subject to
call in, as the budget is a matter that will ultimately be determined by Full Council. The report
referred to in Recommendation a., ‘Revenue Savings Proposals for 2022/23 to 2024/25’, which
appears elsewhere on today’s agenda, is separately subject to call-in.
18 However, recommendation d., regarding the Council’s participation in the 2022/23 50% Leeds
City Region Business Rates Pool, is a decision of the Executive Board and as such is subject to
call-in.
19 With regard to the individual savings proposals considered at the September meeting of this
Executive Board and additional proposals put forward in the accompanying, ‘Revenue Savings
Proposals for 2022/23 to 2024/25’ report elsewhere on this agenda, decisions giving effect to
the Business as Usual proposals can be taken by the relevant Director or Chief Officer in
accordance with the Officer Scheme of delegation (Executive functions) and will be subject to
the Executive and decision – making procedure rules. Notice of any decision which is “Key” will
be published on the list of forthcoming decision not less than 28 clear calendar days in advance
of the date of the proposed decision.
20 Decisions giving effect to the Service Reviews will be made following the outcome of
consultation having regard to representations made. Decisions will be taken by the relevant
Director or Chief Officer, save where the Leader or the relevant Portfolio Holder has directed or
the Director considers that the matter should be referred to Executive Board for consideration.
What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
21 The proposed Budget 2022/23 and the provisional budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25 need to be
seen in the context of significant inherent uncertainty for the Council in terms of future funding
and spending assumptions.
22 The Council’s current and future financial position is subject to a number of risk management
processes. Not addressing the financial pressures in a sustainable way, in that the Council
cannot balance its Revenue Budget, is identified as one of the Council’s corporate risks, as is
the Council’s financial position going into significant deficit in the current year resulting in
reserves (actual or projected) being less than the minimum specified by the Council’s riskbased reserves policy. Both these risks are subject to regular review and reporting.
23 Failure to address these issues will ultimately require the Council to consider even more difficult
decisions that will have a far greater impact on front-line services including those that support
the most vulnerable and thus on our Best Council Plan ambition to tackle poverty and reduce
inequalities.
24 Financial management and monitoring continues to be undertaken on a risk-based approach
where financial management resources are prioritised to support those areas of the budget that
are judged to be at risk, for example the implementation of budget action plans, those budgets
which are subject to fluctuating demand, key income budgets, etc. This risk-based approach will
continue to be included in the in-year financial reports brought to Executive Board.
25 In addition, risks identified in relation to specific proposals and their management will be
reported to relevant members and officers as required.
26 Specific risks relating to some of the assumptions contained within this proposed Budget are
identified at Appendix 1 to this report.
Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars?
☒ Inclusive Growth

☒ Health and Wellbeing
Page 69

☒ Climate Emergency

27 The Best Council Plan is the Council’s strategic plan which sets out its ambitions, outcomes and
priorities for the City of Leeds and for the Local Authority. The Three Pillars of inclusive growth,
health and wellbeing and the climate change emergency underpin this vision and these can
only be delivered through a sound understanding of the organisation’s longer-term financial
sustainability which enables decisions to be made that balance the resource implications of the
Council’s policies against financial constraints. This is the primary purpose of the Medium-Term
Financial Strategy which provides the framework for the determination of the Council’s annual
revenue budget, with this report being the initial proposals for the 2022/23 Budget.

Options, timescales and measuring success
What other options were considered?
28 Not applicable.
How will success be measured?
29 Not applicable.
What is the timetable for implementation?
30 Not applicable.
Appendices
31 Appendix 1: Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
Appendix 2: Net Managed Budget by Directorate 2022/23
Appendix 3: The 10 Year Capital Programme
Appendix 4: Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and Integration Screening
Background papers
32 None.

Page 70

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25

Appendix 1:
Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25

Page 71

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25

1. Introduction
1.1

This report details the proposed Budget for 2022/23, set within the context
of the Medium Term Financial Strategy approved by Executive Board in
September 2021, the Spending Review 2021, and proposed Budget
savings reports, received at Executive Board in September and December,
that contribute towards bridging the estimated budget gap for 2022/23.

1.2

Subject to the approval of the Executive Board, this proposed Budget for
2022/23 will be submitted to the respective Scrutiny Boards for their
consideration and review, with the outcome of their deliberations to be
reported to the planned meeting of this board on the 9th February 2022.
These budget proposals will also be made available to other stakeholders
as part of a wider and continuing process of engagement and consultation.

1.3

This report also provides an update on the provisional budgets for 2023/24
and 2024/25 and the Executive Board are asked to note these revised
positions.

2.

The national context and Spending Review 2021
COVID-19 and a new operating context

2.1.

COVID-19 has fundamentally affected the way in which the Council works.
Elements of this change which relate directly to crisis response will, in time,
revert largely back to normal. However, an event of this magnitude has
resulted in the Council needing to consider closely how its business and
services should operate and any ongoing impact of the pandemic will be
one of the elements shaping services in the future. Measures introduced
nationally to combat the virus have had direct and indirect negative impacts
on Council finances which will need to be managed over future years.
There remains potential longstanding impact on Council income if
behaviour, working practices and spending patterns in the city continue to
change and this will need to be monitored and managed moving forward.

2.2.

However, the longer-term impact remains unclear. The economy is
recovering following the relaxation of lockdown restrictions and the
country’s labour market has proved more resilient than expected, with
employment rates higher than estimated. As a result whilst the proposed
Budget for 2022/23 recognises the ongoing impact of COVID-19 in specific
services, it is assumed that from 2023/24 the Council will not be incurring
additional expenditure as a result of COVID-19 and that income from sales,
fees and charges will have recovered to pre-pandemic levels.
EU Exit

2.3.

On January 31st 2020 the UK left the EU. While Leeds is prepared to take
advantage of the opportunities the EU exit presents, it is important to
recognise the potential impact of the loss of European Structural and
Investment Funds (ESIF). As a member of the European Union, the UK

Page 72

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
received structural funding worth about £2.1 billion per year, used for
boosting aspects of economic development, including support for
businesses, employment and agriculture. To replace it, the Government
has announced the establishment of the Shared Prosperity Fund, to
“reduce inequalities between communities”, to be launched in April 2022.
£220 million has been allocated to pilot schemes for the new fund in
2021/22, with Government indicating that funding will increase to £1.5
billion a year. The Spending Review 2021 indicated that the Fund would be
worth £2.6bn between 2022/23 and 2024/25, with £560m being allocated to
a new programme to boost adult numeracy skills and improve employment
prospects. There remains uncertainty about the detailed operation of the
scheme, how funds will be allocated and concerns that funding will not
reach ESIF levels in the early years.
Levelling Up
2.4.

One of Government’s flagship policies, levelling up is intended to “level up
opportunities across all parts of the United Kingdom, supporting jobs,
businesses and economic growth and addressing the impact of the
pandemic on public services.”1 A Levelling Up Fund was announced at the
2020 Spending Review and has now been established, initially making
£4.8bn available for UK local infrastructure through a competitive bidding
process, with this funding to be delivered through local authorities.
Government intends to publish a White Paper on its ‘levelling up’ strategy
later in the year and to provide further detail on how the Fund will operate
from 2022-23 onwards. In the view of the Local Government Association,
“The White Paper presents an opportunity to reset the relationship between
central and local government and put councils at the heart of delivering a
Government’s ambitious programme to improve opportunities in all parts of
the country.”2 The first £1.7bn of funding allocations have been announced
alongside Spending Review 2021, with £20m allocated to Leeds for
‘Connecting West Leeds’, a new transport infrastructure scheme focusing
on travel and environmental improvements to the Outer Ring Road
between Horsforth and Pudsey.
HS2

2.5.

The Government have announced their intention to not build the Eastern
leg of the HS2 high speed rail line to Leeds. The impact of this decision
along with the implications of the announced integrated rail plan upon the
city’s economy are as yet unclear.
NHS integration and Adult Social Care Reform

2.6.

1
2

The Health & Care Bill was introduced into Parliament on the 6th July 2021.
The Bill will ensure each part of England has an Integrated Care Board and
an Integrated Care Partnership responsible for bringing together local NHS
and local government, such as social care, mental health services and
public health advice, to deliver joined up care for its local population.

Prime Minister’s Office, Queen's Speech 2021, 11 May 2021
The Levelling Up agenda, House of Commons, LGA Briefing, 15 June 2021

Page 73

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
Details around future funding will become clearer later in the financial year
and updates provided accordingly.
2.7.

In September 2021 Government announced £5.4bn of funding for adult
social care reform over the next three years, to be funded by a new Health
and Social Care Levy. The Spending Review 2021confirmed that £1.7bn of
this funding would be for major improvements across the adult social care
system. Government published the “People at the Heart of Care: adult
social care reform”3 white paper on 1st December 2021, setting out how
some of this money will be spent, including investment in housing and
home adaptations, technology and digitisation, workforce training and
wellbeing support, support for unpaid carers, innovation and improvement.
The proposals do not directly address the existing local government social
care funding gap. The better integration of health and social care is also not
addressed, however a further white paper addressing NHS integration is
expected.
West Yorkshire Devolution

2.8.

At a local and regional level 2021 has seen some major changes.
Following the agreement of a devolution deal between the Government and
West Yorkshire Leaders in spring 2020, a West Yorkshire metro mayor was
elected in May 2021 with devolved powers across adult education, skills
and transport, and with access to a range of new funding streams from
government. The presence of a new regional body with significant funding
will naturally impact on how services are delivered regionally.
2021 Spending Review

2.9.

The Chancellor announced Spending Review 2021 and the Autumn Budget
on 27th October 2021 in which he set out the Government’s spending plans
until the end of this Parliament in 2024/25. The three-year plan saw a
headline increase in funding for local government of £4.8 billion over three
years. The announcement includes additional costs for the sector of
£0.3bn. providing a net increase of £4.5 billion, with £1.5 billion provided in
the first year and remaining approximately constant for the following two
years. These proposals assume that this additional funding will be split
equally between an increase in general revenue support through
Settlement Funding Assessment and additional grant funding. It is assumed
that the funding through SFA will be allocated to authorities in line with the
profile of the current distribution of SFA, which is estimated to result in
Leeds receiving an additional £9 million. Similarly if the additional funding
were to be distributed on the same basis as current Adult Social Care
funding the estimate is that Leeds will receive £10.1m, making Leeds total
share of the additional funding identified from the Spending Review
documents £19.1 million.

2.10.

Although the delivery of a three-year Spending Review raises hopes that
the next Local Government Finance Settlement in December 2021 will be a
multi-year settlement for local government, there is also a new ministerial

3

People at the Heart of Care: adult social care reform - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)

Page 74

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
team at the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities
(DLUHC), leading to speculation that the settlement may again be for a
single year, i.e. 2022/23.
2.11.

The headline announcements in the Spending Review 2021 are as follows:
•
Local government’s Core Spending Power (CSP) will increase by
£3.3bn (6.5%) in 2022/23. We await further details at the provisional
Settlement.
•

An up to 2% increase in “core” council tax plus a further 1% increase
in the Adult Social Care (ASC) precept. The impact on the Leeds
budget is an increase of £7.2m for the core increase, plus £3.6m for
the ASC precept. This is further discussed at paragraph 4.6.

•

The business rates multiplier will be frozen at the 2021/22 rate
(49.9%). Local authorities will receive full compensation for the loss
of income they will experience, for which the Government has set
aside £450m.

•

No additional funding was announced to support local authorities in
dealing with the ongoing impact of COVID-19.

•

The National Living Wage will increase by 6.6% from £8.91 to £9.50
an hour effective from 1st April 2022. The Council’s proposed Budget
provides for an increase to £9.90 per hour to meet the recently
announced Real Living Wage requirement.

As referenced above, we expect further detail and local authority
allocations at the Provisional Local Government Settlement in midDecember. As such this proposed Budget is based on the announcements
made during the Spending Review 2021 and Autumn Budget, and previous
Government announcements relating to social care funding.
2.12.

At the time of the Spending Review 2021, the Office for Budget
Responsibility (OBR) also published its independent economic and fiscal
forecasts. The OBR have noted an improvement in their economic
forecasts, which allowed the Chancellor to announce significant increases
in spending, as set out below:
•
the OBR’s forecasts for nominal GDP growth averages 5.3% a year
between 2021 and 2025, up from 4.4% on the forecast in March
2021.
•

Real GDP is expected to grow by 4.2% in 2022/23, 1.7% in 2023/24
and 1.4% in 2024/25.

•

The OBR estimates that inflation (CPI) will remain at 4.6% over the
next year before falling back to 3.2% in 2023/24 and 2.8% in
following two years.

•

The economic scarring as a result of COVID-19 has also improved
with OBR predicting that long-term damage to economic growth will
be 2% rather than the 3% assumed in March 2021.

•

Rates of unemployment are peaking at a significantly lower level than
forecast in March 2021, at 5.2% rather than the estimated 12%.

Page 75

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
•
2.13.

Average earnings are forecast to grow by 5.2% in 2021/22, 4.0% in
2022/23 before falling back to 2.5% in 2023/24 and 2.3% in 2024/25.

The latest Indices of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) were released in
September 2019 following the previous 2015 update. The IMD is the official
measure of relative deprivation in England and ranks each Lower Super
Output Area (LSOA: a small area with a population of around 1,500 people)
from the most deprived (1) to least deprived (32,844). The ranking is based
on 39 separate indicators organised across seven distinct domains of
deprivation, which are combined and weighted to calculate the overall IMD.
With a range of resources and analysis on the IMD publicly available on the
Leeds Observatory here, key headlines for Leeds include:
•
24% of Leeds’ LSOAs fall within the most deprived 10% nationally,
compared with 22% in 2015 which highlights some increase in
relative deprivation.
•

Leeds ranks 33 out of 317 (where 1 is most deprived and 317 is least
deprived) local authorities when looking at proportions of LSOAs in
the most deprived 10% nationally.

•

The most deprived areas are concentrated in the inner east and inner
south of the city.

•

12 LSOAs in Leeds have been ranked in the most deprived 1%
nationally compared to 16 in 2015.

2.14.

COVID-19 has compounded these deep-rooted inequalities, with young
people, low earners and women in the labour market being primarily
affected to date as they are most prevalent in the hardest hit sectors. Many
families are struggling with uncertainty and the potential of mounting debt.
The longer-term economic fallout is likely to have an adverse impact on
already significant health inequalities, with those individuals and
communities at most disadvantage hit hardest. While holistic analysis of
the pandemic’s effects is not yet possible in many respects, overall it is
clear that the national narrative of exacerbated inequalities,
disproportionate impact on older people, and emerging mental health
challenges across all ages are reflected in Leeds.

2.15.

In December 2017, the Government launched its Fair Funding Review of
Local Government finance, to refresh the methodology on which local
authority needs and resources are assessed and levels of government
funding are determined. It was expected that both the Fair Funding Review
and 75% Business Rates Retention would be announced as part of the
Spending Review 2021 and the Chancellor’s Autumn Budget. Recently the
Secretary of State for the Department for Levelling-Up, Housing and
Communities (DLUHC) expressed the opinion that the introduction of 75%
Retention was, in his view, not compatible with the Levelling-Up agenda as
it would tend to reward those areas with already high taxbases. The
outcome of the Fair Funding Review also remains highly uncertain as does
the timing of a business rates reset. It is for these reasons that this
proposed Budget does not include any assumptions about the
implementation of these reforms.

Page 76

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
2.16.

In the context of budget setting and financial planning the increase in
relative deprivation shown in the IMD 2019 is significant as deprivation is
expected to be reflected to a greater or lesser extent in the Fair Funding
formula being developed. If and when work on the new funding formula
resumes the Council will re-engage with consultation on this. These budget
proposals do not currently assume any impact of the increase in relative
deprivation as sufficient detail is not yet known.

3.

Developing the 2022/23 Budget and Medium Term Financial Strategy
with the Best Council Plan/Best City Ambition

3.1.

Between the 2010/11 and 2021/22 budgets, the Council’s core funding from
Government has reduced by around £263m. Additionally the Council has
faced significant demand-led cost pressures, especially within Adult Social
Care and Children’s Services. To date, the Council has responded
successfully to the challenge since 2010 through a combination of
stimulating good economic growth, creatively managing demand for
services, increasing traded and commercial income, growing council tax
from new properties and a significant programme of organisational
efficiencies, including reducing staffing levels since 2010/11 by over 2,875
FTEs up to 31st October 2021.

3.2.

Through targeting resources into preventative services the Council has
ensured that the implications of demand and demographic pressures that
have resulted in significant cost pressures in other local authorities have
been contained within Leeds. This is reflected in service areas such as the
number of people registered in Temporary Accommodation where Leeds
benchmarks favourably against most Core Cities and our Regional and
Statistical neighbours. In respect of Children Looked After, Leeds City
Council’s rate per 10,000 is below those local authorities as having similar
characteristics which are identified through CIPFA’s nearest neighbour
statistical analysis.

3.3.

The Best Council Plan is the Council’s current strategic plan which sets out
its ambitions, outcomes and priorities for the City of Leeds and for the local
authority. The City ambitions as set out in the Best Council Plan are that
the Council, working in partnership, will continue to tackle poverty and
inequalities through a combination of strengthening the economy and doing
this in a way that is compassionate and caring. The Authority’s internal
‘Best Council’ focus remains on becoming a more efficient, enterprising and
healthy organisation.

3.4.

In October, this Board considered the report, ‘Leeds 2030: Shaping Our
Best City Ambition’ which sought agreement in principle to the replacement
of the Best Council Plan with a more externally-facing and partnershipfocused City Ambition from February 2022. Initial proposals are included
elsewhere on today’s agenda through the report, ‘Best City Ambition –
initial proposals’. These proposals aim to strengthen and better reflect the
important role that partnership working across Leeds has in achieving the

Page 77

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
city’s shared goals. The proposals maintain the Council’s longstanding
commitment to tackling poverty and reducing inequalities and the
framework of three pillars of Health and Wellbeing, Inclusive Growth and
Zero Carbon.
3.5.

It is important the Best City Ambition remains rooted in activity on the
ground and supports delivery of real progress in this city. For the Council’s
part, that means alignment is required behind the ambition and goals
outlined in the draft proposals, and the financial and wider resources
invested to deliver. As such, these strategic ambitions can only be
delivered through a sound understanding of the organisation’s longer-term
financial sustainability which enables decisions to be made that balance the
resource implications of the Council’s policies against financial constraints.
This is the primary purpose of the Medium-Term Financial Strategy which
then provides the framework for the determination of Council’s annual
revenue budget for which the proposals for 2022/23 are contained in this
report.

3.6.

Inevitably, managing the £263m reduction in Government funding,
combined with increasing cost pressures, has meant that the Council has
had to make some difficult decisions around the level and quality of
services that it delivers.

3.7.

Looking ahead, and as detailed in the Council’s Medium Term Financial
Strategy, the Council is facing an estimated budget gap of £146.5m for the
period up to and including 2026/27. The financial challenge now facing the
Council is to manage these pressures alongside the significant impact
brought about by COVID-19. The needs of the communities serviced by
Leeds City Council have already increased and will continue to do so, and
the various funding streams that support local government are affected by
the longer-term economic scarring as a result of the virus.

3.8.

In recognition of the financial challenge the Council has embarked on a
programme of service reviews which when combined with business as
usual savings and cross-cutting reviews, contribute towards closing the
estimated revenue budget gap and enable the Authority to present a
balanced budget position in 2022/23. As detailed in the Council’s Medium
Term Financial Strategy, it is becoming increasingly difficult over the
coming years to identify further financial savings without significant
changes in what the Council does and how it does it. This impacts upon the
delivery of the Council’s ambitions as detailed in our strategic plan and will
have significant implications for directly provided services and those
commissioned by the Local Authority, impacting upon staff, partners and
service users. In order to deliver the Council’s ambitions of tackling poverty
and reducing inequalities, consideration may have to be given to stopping,
delivering differently or charging for those services that are no longer
affordable and are a lesser priority than others. This will be achieved
through a continuing process of policy and service reviews across the
Council’s functions and ongoing consultation and engagement.

Page 78

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
4.

Estimating the Net Revenue Budget for 2022/23

4.1.

Settlement Funding Assessment – increase of £9.0m

4.1.1.

Settlement Funding Assessment is essentially the aggregate of core
government grant and business rate baseline funding for a local authority.

4.1.2.

In the last two financial years, local government has received single-year
settlements, making financial planning more difficult. Despite there being a
three-year Spending Review in 2021, it remains unclear whether there will
be a one-year or multi-year Settlement for local government in 2021 as
there is a new ministerial team in place at the DLUHC. This has led to
speculation that there will only be a single year settlement for 2022/23.

4.1.3.

Table 1 below sets out the Council’s estimated Settlement Funding
Assessment for 2022/23, which is based on an assessment of what the
Council may expect to receive from announcements at the Autumn Budget
and Spending Review 2021. This represents an increase of £9.0m
compared to 2021/22 and is based on a number of assumptions. Although
the Government announced an increase in funding for local government of
£4.8 billion over three years, £0.3 billion of this increased funding appears
to be specific grants that require increased expenditure by the sector. The
net increase in funding is therefore estimated to be around £1.5 billion a
year and this proposed Budget assumes that this increased funding will be
split 50:50 between increased funding for Social Care and increased
general expenditure through the Settlement Funding Assessment.
Assuming that core funding will be distributed following the same profile as
current allocations, Leeds’ share of this funding received as Settlement
Funding Assessment would be around £9.0m. The Government announced
at the Spending Review 2021 that the business rates multiplier would be
frozen in 2022/23, and therefore the Business Rates Baseline, which
increases in line with the multiplier, will also be frozen. As such this £9.0m
will be received through Revenue Support Grant (RSG).
Table 1 – Settlement Funding Assessment

Revenue Support Grant
Business Rates Baseline
Settlement Funding Assessment

4.1.4.

2021/22
£m
28.4
158.4
186.8

2022/23
Change
£m
£m
37.4
9.0
158.4
0.0
195.8
9.0

The business rates element of the Settlement Funding Assessment is
determined by taking the 2021/22 baseline business rates amount and
uplifting it by the same percentage increase as the small business rates
multiplier, which the Government announced would be frozen in 2022/23.
This is then reduced by the tariff the Authority has to pay to Government
because it is assessed as collecting more business rates than it requires for
its spending needs, known as its baseline funding level. The tariff would
ordinarily increase in line with any increase in the multiplier from its 2021/22
amount, however, as with the business rates baseline, this will be frozen in

Page 79

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
2022/23. Local authorities will receive full compensation for the freezing of
the business rates baseline and the tariff in 2022/23 although there remains
some uncertainty whether this will be compensated with reference to CPI or
RPI. This proposed Budget assumes the compensation will be at the lower
CPI rate.
4.1.5.

Prior to 2013/14 when the Business Rates Retention Scheme was
introduced, business rates were paid to central government and
redistributed as general grant according to relative needs and resources. In
2013/14, in addition to general grant, a number of other funding streams
were rolled into the Settlement Funding Assessment. However since
2014/15 Settlement Funding Assessment has been adjusted without
reference to these individual grants and therefore it is not possible to
identify how much of the total amount of funding relates to each constituent
part. These funding streams include early intervention, homelessness
prevention, lead local flood authorities and learning disability & health
reform funding. A list of these individual funding streams is included in
Table 2.
Table 2 – Grants Rolled in to the Settlement Funding Assessment

2022/23
£m
195.80

Settlement Funding Assessment
Which includes:
General funding
Redistristributed Business Rates
Formula Grant
Specific grants rolled in with tailored distributions
Council tax freeze grant 2011/12
Council tax freeze grant 2013/14
Early intervention grant
Preventing homelessness
Lead local flood authority grant
Learning disability & health reform grant
Local welfare provision
Care act funding
Sustainable drainage systems
Carbon monoxide & fire alarm grant

4.2.

Business Rate Retention

4.2.1.

Leeds has the most diverse of all the UK’s main employment centres and
has seen the fastest rate of private sector jobs growth of any UK city in
recent years. Yet this apparent growth in the economy has not translated
into business rate growth; in fact the income from business rates available
to the Council declined from 2015/16 to 2017/18, only returning to 2014/15
levels in 2018/19 with the introduction of the 100% retention pilot. The
effect of the present coronavirus crisis has reversed this growth again with
in-year income levels from the Business Rates Retention (BRR) Scheme
(i.e. excluding the exceptional effects of the Collection Fund deficits from
2020/21 and 2021/22) declining below 2015/16 levels in 2021/22 and not

Page 80

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
projected to recover to budgeted 2020/21 levels, set before the impact of
the COVID-19 crisis, until 2024/25.
Table 3 – Rateable Value in Leeds and Business Rates Income Generated

Rateable Value in Leeds projected to 31 March 2022
multiplied by business rates multiplier
Gross business rates based on projected rateable value
Estimated Growth
equals gross business rates to be collected in Leeds

£m
920.72
0.499
459.44
1.25
460.69

less: -

Mandatory Reliefs
Discretionary Reliefs
Transitional Adjustments (year 4)
equals net business rates paid by ratepayers

-78.32
-26.50
0.00
355.86

less adjustments for: -

Bad debts and appeals
Cost of collection
Projected Enterprise Zone and renewable energy projects yield
Transitional Adjustments repaid to Government
equals non-domestic rating income in Leeds

-25.00
-1.26
-1.66
0.00
327.94

Split into shares: -

Leeds City Council (49%)
West Yorkshire Fire Authority (1%)
Central Government (50%)

160.69
3.28
163.97

less deductions from operation of business rates retention scheme: -

Leeds City Council's tariff from Local Government Finance Settlement
Leeds City Council's share of deficit from 2021-22
Adjustment for spreading the 'exceptional deficit' from 2020-21 over 3 years
Leeds City Council 's 2022-23 income from business rates

-14.36
-18.90
-12.23
115.20

4.2.2.

The total projected rateable value of businesses in Leeds as at 31st March
2022 is £920.7m which would generate gross business rates income of
£459.4m. It is projected that there will be some modest growth in gross
business rates of £1.2m in 2022/23 after two years of decline due to the
impact of COVID-19, although this is only 25% of normal rates of growth
prior to the crisis. As shown in Table 3, the impact of a range of business
rate reliefs (see paragraph 4.3) and statutory adjustments reduces this to a
net income figure of £327.9m.

4.2.3.

Under the projected 50% BRR scheme, Leeds City Council’s share of this
income is £160.69m (49%). The Authority then pays a tariff of £14.4m to
Government because Leeds is assessed to generate more business rates
income than it needs.

4.2.4.

Leeds must also meet its share of the business rates deficit created in
2021/22, which totals £31.1m. The unusually large deficit from 2021/22
comprises a number of components. The first is the part of the deficit
generated by the continued reliefs introduced by the Government as a
response to the COVID-19 lockdown for which the Council receives full
compensation (see section 4.3 and paragraph 5.5.20). The Council will hold
the funding it receives in excess of expectations in the 2021/22 budget in its
General Fund reserves to meet this part of the deficit in 2022/23. The

Page 81

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
second part of the deficit is the second one third payment of the
‘exceptional deficit’ that occurred in 2020/21 which the Government said
local authorities must spread repayment to the Collection Fund over three
years. This second payment will be £12.2m.
4.2.5.

As shown above, business rates income is shared between local and
central government. Under the 50% BRR scheme local authorities
experiencing business rates growth are able to retain 49% of that growth
locally, but also bear 49% of the risk if business rates fall or fail to keep
pace with inflation, although a safety net mechanism is in place to limit
losses in-year.

4.2.6.

In particular, BRR exposes local authorities to risk from reductions in
rateable values. The system allows appeals if ratepayers think rateable
values have been wrongly assessed or that local circumstances have
changed. One major issue is that successful appeals are usually backdated
to the start of the relevant valuation list, which means that for every £1 of
rateable value lost on the 2010 list, growth of £6 would be necessary to
fund the cost. The 2010 list is however closed for new appeals and the
backlog of appeals has reduced greatly. At the end of October 2021 there
were 164 outstanding appeals against the 2010 ratings list in Leeds
although many of these appeals are for properties with high Rateable
Values, such as supermarkets. The Council holds significant provisions of
£6.0m against the risk that these will result in reductions.

4.2.7.

Until the beginning of 2020/21 and the introduction of nationwide
restrictions across the UK, the 2017 ratings list was proving to be less
susceptible to challenge than the previous 2010 list. The 2010 list was
based on rental values in 2008, just before the ‘financial & economic crisis’
but came into effect after that crisis, when property values had greatly
reduced. Appeals submitted against the new 2017 list can be backdated to
1st April 2017, and, together with the impact of the new ‘check, challenge,
appeal’ appeals process, which was also introduced on 1st April 2017, had
appeared to reduce business rate appeals and volatility going forward.
However, following the introduction of national restrictions in response to
the coronavirus crisis, the number of checks submitted to the Valuation
Office Agency, the first stage in the new appeals system, rose from an
average of 150 per month to, during the months of May, June and July
2020, over 1,000 per month. The ratepayers sought reductions in their
Rateable Values as a consequence of the lockdowns in 2020 claiming a
Material Change in Circumstances, one of the grounds for appeals. The
Council made provisions for these appeals and they were included in the
deficit declared in 2020/21. Subsequent to this Government announced that
it would retrospectively legislate to ensure these appeals would not be
successful stating that generalised changes in circumstances affecting the
whole economy were not the purpose of appeals based on a Material
Change of Circumstance but should be rectified at a Revaluation.
Legislation is now in Committee Stage in the House of Lords and the
Council has therefore no longer provided for these appeals. This has
improved the deficit to be paid in 2022/23.

Page 82

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
4.2.8.

Since 2013/14 the total amount repaid by way of business rate appeals is
£174.9m, at a cost to the Council’s general fund of £91.3m. The provision
for business rate appeals within the collection fund has been reviewed and
recalculated to recognise new appeals and the settlement of existing
appeals. The 2022/23 proposed Budget provides for an additional £2.3m
contribution from the general fund to fund this provision.

4.3.

Small Business Rates Relief and other mandatory reliefs

4.3.1.

From April 2017, Government increased the rateable value threshold for
small businesses from £6,000 to £12,000 and the threshold above which
businesses pay the higher national business rates multiplier from £18,000
to £51,000. As a result an additional 3,300 small businesses in Leeds
immediately paid no business rates at all. Before the pandemic almost
12,600, about 30%, of business properties in Leeds paid no business rates.
Of these businesses just over 9,600 receive 100% Small Business Rates
Relief. Whilst Small Business Rates Relief and other threshold changes
reduce the business rates income available to Leeds, the Authority
recovers 69.1% of the cost of the relief through Government grant. A fixed
grant of £0.8m is paid by the Government for the changes to the multiplier
threshold and a further £8.9m is recovered through the ratepayers in more
valuable properties who still pay rates based on the higher business rates
multiplier. The overall proportion any individual authority recovers depends
on the mix of large and small businesses in that area.

4.3.2.

Unlike Small Business Rates Relief, in 2022/23 Leeds will bear 49% of the
cost of other mandatory business rate reliefs such as mandatory charity
relief and empty rate relief, but has no control over entitlement and no
powers to deal with their use in business rates avoidance. Costs of
mandatory reliefs have increased significantly since the introduction of
BRR, further reducing Leeds’s retained business rates income: in real
terms mandatory charity relief alone has increased by almost 30%, from
approximately £22.6m in 2012/13 to a projected £28.8m in 2021/22 costing
the Council an estimated £3.0m more in lost income under 49% retention in
2021/22.

4.3.3.

In 2020/21 the Government announced a 100% relief from business rates
for all retail, leisure and child-care facilities forced to close during the 2020
lockdowns. In the Autumn Budget 2020 no mention of a continuation of
these reliefs was mentioned and the Council’s Budget was set accordingly.
However before the beginning of 2021/22 the Government announced that
these businesses would receive additional relief in 2021/22 as a response
to the continuing lockdowns in the winter months. Businesses in these
sectors were given 100% relief for three months followed by relief of 66%
for the remainder of the year. However ratepayers that could remain open
were limited to a maximum of £105,000 whereas businesses that were
closed during the lockdown were given a limit of up to £2,000,000. This
cost this authority’s collection fund £64.8m, with Leeds’ General Fund
share being £31.8m. This cost has been fully compensated by Government

Page 83

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
through a section 31 grant, which the Council will hold in general reserve to
meet the cost of the resulting deficit in 2022/23.
4.3.4.

In the Spending Review of 2021 the Government announced that a further
relief scheme would be introduced in 2022/23. This scheme would see
retail, hospitality and leisure businesses receive a 50% relief against their
2022/23 business rates liability up to a maximum of £110,000 per business.
Local authorities will receive full compensation for losses to their business
rates income for this measure. Although it is currently somewhat uncertain,
because businesses can choose where to receive their relief across
England, these proposals estimate that this will cost the Collection Fund
something in the order of £25.0m for which the Council will receive full
compensation. It is also assumed that local newspaper offices will continue
to receive a £1,500 reduction for a further year and that public lavatories
and certain telecoms infrastructure will receive a new statutory 100% relief
against business rates. Local authorities receive a government grant to
compensate them for any resultant loss of income.

4.4.

Business Rate Retention and the Proposed Budget

4.4.1.

In terms of the proposals in this proposed Budget, it is estimated that the
local share of business rates funding in 2022/23 will be £160.7m, as set out
in Table 3. As per Table 4, the proposed Budget recognises business rate
decline below the baseline of £12.1m, a decrease of £7.5m from the
2021/22 budget. This is a significant decline in the city’s locally generated
revenue below the baseline (4.5%) largely caused by the new reliefs
introduced by the Government to support business after the lockdowns of
2020/21 and 2021/22. The elements of this decline are set out in
paragraphs below.
Table 4 – Business Rates, Estimated Growth/(Decline) to the Baseline

Business rates local share
Less: business rates baseline
Growth above baseline

2021/22 2022/23 Change
£m
£m
£m
168.18 160.69
(7.49)
172.79 172.79
0.00
(4.61) (12.10)
(7.49)

4.4.2.

Table 5 sets out the main changes in business rates income that results in
this £7.49m decline in growth above the baseline. The single largest
element (-£12.3m) is the introduction of the extended Retail and Leisure
Relief announced by the Government at the Spending Review 2021, for
which the Council will be fully compensated by section 31 grant. There are
some further costs that are expected due to reliefs due to an increased
demand for Mandatory Charity Relief (-£0.7m) and the new Telecoms and
Public Toilet reliefs (-£0.2m). The cost of the latter two new reliefs will also
be fully compensated by Government grant.

4.4.3.

It is now projected that these additional costs will be partly netted off by a
number of improved elements of business rates income as the economy

Page 84

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
continues to recover from COVID-19. They include a slowdown in the
reduction to the taxbase in Leeds in 2021/22 (£1.7m), a reduction in the
requirement for bad debt provisions (£1.5m), a modest amount of growth in
2022/23 (£0.6m) and a slight reduction in the demand for Empty Rate
Relief (£0.2m) as demand for business property slowly increases again. In
the forecasts for 2021/22 a higher than usual requirement for provisions for
appeals cost was assumed because many ratepayers had appealed their
Rateable Value in reaction to the various lockdowns, however retrospective
legislation is currently before Parliament that states these appeals will not
be successful. Therefore this higher than average cost of provisions can be
reversed for 2022/23, a gain to business rates income of £1.9m. The
forecast for the cost of Small Business Rates Relief was also increased in
2021/22 because of a trend for large shared offices being split into
individual, small units attracting the relief. However this trend seems to
have levelled off in the last few months at a lower than forecast level
representing a saving of £0.3m. There are numerous smaller adjustments,
mainly to other reliefs funding by section 31 grants, that represent an
additional cost to income of £0.4m.
Table 5 – Changes in Growth above the baseline between the 2021/22 and 2022/23
Budgets and later years
2022/23
Leeds share of growth above the baseline
Growth above baseline assumed previous year (£m)
Cost of extended Retail Relief and Leisure relief (£m)
Change in cost of Mandatory Charity Relief (£m)
Introduction of Telecoms relief and Public Toilet reliefs (£m)
Change in cost of provisions for appeals (£m)
Slowdown in reduction in current taxbase in 2021/22 (£m)
Change in cost of bad debt provisions (£m)
In-year growth of business rates yield (£m)
Change in cost of Small Business Rates Relief (£m)
Change in cost of empty rate relief (£m)
Other changes in the tax base (£m)
Growth above baseline assumed current year (£m)

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

2026/27

Indicative Indicative Indicative Indicative Indicative
49%
49%
49%
49%
49%

-4.6
-12.3
-0.7
-0.2
1.9
1.7
1.5
0.6
0.3
0.2
-0.4
-12.1

-12.1
12.3
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
1.0
1.2
0.0
0.8
-0.2
3.1

3.1
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
1.1
1.9
0.0
0.8
0.1
7.0

7.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
1.2
2.7
0.0
0.6
0.1
11.6

4.4.4.

The £160.7m local share of business rates funding is then reduced by a
£14.4m tariff payment and £31.1m deficit on the collection fund to reduce
the funding available to the Council to £115.2m as shown in Table 6.

4.4.5.

When compared to the £158.4m Business Rates Baseline (the
Government’s assessment of what it expects a local authority to collect
before any local growth is taken into account), the funding available to the
Council of £115.2m represents a deficit of £43.2m. Compared to the
exceptional budgeted deficit in 2021/22 of £96.5m this is a net improvement
to the Net Revenue Charge of £53.2m. However in both years the Council
received funding from central government for the reliefs awarded to the
retail, leisure and childcare sectors as a response to the Coronavirus crisis.
In 2020/21 the Council was able to hold £75.5m of this funding in reserve to
apply to the deficit in 2021/22, reducing the net impact on the General Fund

Page 85

11.6
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
2.7
0.0
0.0
0.2
14.5

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
in 2021/22 to £26.3m. In 2021/22 the reliefs offered to ratepayers were
more restricted and therefore the Council received far less compensation
from the Government. At £31.7m, the amount held in reserve to apply in
2022/24 is £43.8m lower than in the previous year meaning the net impact
of Business Rates Retention in 2022/23 is an improvement of only £9.4m.
Table 6 – Business Rates Retention 2021/22 to 2022/23

Business rates baseline (including tariff)
Projected growth above the baseline to March
Estimated growth in the year
Total estimated growth
Estimated provision for appeals
Additional cost of transitional arrangements and provision for bad debts
Expanded Retail, Leisure and Childcare Reliefs
Estimated total year-end Collection Fund deficit (Leeds Share)

2021/22 2022/23
£m
£m
158.4
158.4
(4.6)
0.0
(4.6)
(6.6)
(9.7)
(75.5)
(91.9)

(12.7)
0.6
(12.1)
(2.3)
2.9
(31.8)
(31.1)

Estimated Business Rates Funding
62.0
Increase/(reduction) against the Business Rates baseline
(96.5)
Business Rates Retention - Impact on General Fund Income
Change in the funding available for previous years' reliefs
Net impact of Business Rates Retention on the 2022/23 General Fund

115.2
(43.2)
53.2
(43.8)
9.4

4.4.6.

In 2021/22 the Council is a member of the Leeds City Region Business
Rates Pool, with 50% business rates retention. The Council has submitted
an application on behalf of Leeds City Region Authorities to form a 50%
retention Business Rates Pool in 2022/23, with a view to retaining levy
payments in the region that would otherwise be paid to central government.
Leeds City Council expect to hear whether this application is successful at
the provisional Local Government Financial Settlement in December 2021.
Section 4.5 of this proposed Budget report gives more detail on 50%
retention and pooling in the region.

4.5.

Leeds City Region application to pool 50% Business Rate Retention

4.5.1.

In December 2020, Government announced that a Leeds City Region
Business Rates Pool application to pool 50% Business Rates Retention in
2020/21 had been successful. The Leeds City Region Pool (LCR Pool) was
established on the 1st April 2021.

4.5.2.

Following discussions within Leeds City Region authorities it was agreed
that the Pool should continue into 2022/23 and the following have agreed to
submit an application for a business rates pool in 2022/23: Bradford,
Calderdale, Harrogate, Kirklees, Leeds, Wakefield and York. The LCR Pool
submitted a renewed application to Government on the 8th October 2021
and we expect to be informed as to whether it has been successful at the
provisional Financial Settlement.

Page 86

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
4.5.3.

Under the 50% scheme the advantage of forming a business rate pool is
the retention of levy payments within the region that would otherwise have
to be made to central government. We estimate the gains to the region
would be around £5.1 million if such a pool was designated and income
from the Business Rates Retention Scheme remains at current projections.
Leeds City Council’s financial commitment would be in the region of £0.9m,
whether as a levy to the Pool or to Central Government. This proposed
Budget recognises that Leeds City Council will be required to make a levy
payment in 2022/23.

4.5.4.

The application itself is not binding. Any member of the proposed pilot Pool
will still be able to withdraw during the statutory 28-day window after
Government designates the new pilot Pool, as set out in the Local
Government Finance Act 2012. It must be noted however that, should any
member withdraw, not only would the pilot Pool be revoked but there would
be no opportunity to fall back on existing pooling arrangements.

4.5.5.

This report asks Executive Board to agree that, should the application for a
2022/23 business rates pool at 50% retention be successful, Leeds should
become a member of this new Business Rates Pool and should act as lead
authority for it. Notwithstanding this decision, the continuation of the Pool
will be dependent upon none of the other member authorities choosing to
withdraw within the statutory period after designation.

4.6.

Council Tax

4.6.1.

The 2021/22 budget was supported by a 4.99% increase in the level of
council tax, 3% of which was attributable to the adult social care precept.
Leeds council tax remains the 2nd lowest of the English core cities and midpoint of the West Yorkshire districts, as detailed in Table 7.
Table 7 – 2021/22 Council Tax Levels (Figures include Police and Fire Precepts)

Core Cities

Band D £:p

4.6.2.

West
Yorkshire
Districts

Band D £:p

Nottingham

2,225.76

Kirklees

1,926.59

Bristol

2,163.65

Calderdale

1,904.08

Liverpool

2,129.49

Leeds

1,799.75

Newcastle

2,022.29

Bradford

1,777.57

Sheffield

1,991.42

Wakefield

1,775.57

Manchester

1,805.84

Leeds

1,799.75

Birmingham

1,748.19

The 2022/23 proposed Budget recognises a projected gain of £10.9m
(7,145 band D equivalent properties) due to both increases in tax-base

Page 87

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
growth during the 2021/22 financial year and a decrease in the number of
Council Tax Support claimants as employment has recovered following the
relaxation of restrictions during the lockdowns. It also recognises a
decrease in the projected deficit on the collection fund of £2.3m. The £2.3m
is made up of a budgeted £13.2m collection fund deficit in 2020/21 offset by
an adjustment of £9.0m to spread the deficit over three years as required
by Government, decreasing to a surplus of £2.6m in 2021/22, offset by
payment of the second instalment of £4.5m of the three-year spread of the
deficit from 2020/21.
4.6.3.

In 2021/22 the Government allowed local authorities to increase their core
council tax charge by up to, but not including, 2% before having to submit
their proposed increase to a local referendum. The Council decided to
increase its core council tax by 1.99%. During the Spending Review 2021
the Government intimated that the limit for core council tax would remain
the same for 2022/23. These proposals therefore include a 1.99% increase
in the Council’s core council tax, however, the final decision on council tax
remains with Full Council.

4.6.4.

At the Spending Review 2020 the Chancellor announced that local
authorities with social care responsibilities would be able to increase their
ASC precept by up to 3% over two years beginning in 2021/22. In 2021/22,
the Council decided to increase its ASC precept by 2.99%. At the Spending
Review 2021 the Government stated that its expectation would be that
authorities would be permitted to increase the ASC precept by up to 1% per
year over the Spending Review period before requiring the authorities to
submit their proposals to a local referendum. These budget proposals
therefore include a 1.0% increase to the Council’s ASC precept. As with the
core increase, a final decision on this will be taken by Full Council.

4.6.5.

The impact of the proposed core and ASC increases on the Leeds share of
the council tax charge by band is as shown at Table 8. The Leeds council
tax charge will be presented to the Full Council for approval in February
2022.
Table 8 – Proposed 2022/23 Leeds Council Tax

BAND
A
£ p

BAND
B
£ p

BAND
C
£ p

BAND
D
£ p

BAND
E
£ p

BAND
F
£ p

BAND
G
£ p

BAND
H
£ p

1044.50 1218.59 1392.67 1566.76 1914.92 2263.09 2611.26 3133.52

4.6.6.

Table 9 sets out the estimated total council tax income in 2022/23;
recognising the £10.9m estimated increase in the council tax base, a
general £7.2m increase in the council tax rate, and a £3.6m increase due to
the ASC precept. Table 9 also recognises the additional £2.6m estimated
surplus on the collection fund wholly offset by an £4.5m adjustment to
spread the 2020/21 council tax deficit over three years.

Page 88

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
Table 9 – Estimated Council Tax Income in 2022/23

2021/22

2022/23

Baseline Forecast
£m
Previous year council tax funding
Change in tax base - increase / (decrease)
Increase in council tax level
Adult Social Care precept
Council Tax Funding before surplus/(deficit)

£m

333.7

344.9

(2.7)

10.9

6.6

7.2

10.0

3.6

347.6

366.6

Surplus/(Deficit) 2019/20

(1.6)

Surplus/(Deficit) 2020/21

(13.2)

Surplus/(Deficit) 2021/22

(13.2)
2.6

Council Tax Adjustment for spreading over three years

9.0

Council Tax Adjustment for spreading over three years

Change in collection fund contribution - increase/(decrease)

Total - Council Tax Funding

9.0
(4.5)

(2.6)

2.3

344.9

368.9

Increase from previous year

23.9

4.6.7.

Spending Review 2020 included £762m to fund 75% of “irrecoverable loss
of council tax and business rates revenues in 2020-21”. “Irrecoverable
losses” were not defined formally until after the Council’s 2021 Budget was
approved, but the Council is now estimated to receive some £2.2m from
this fund for losses experienced from reduced Council Tax revenues in
2020/21. It is proposed that this funding be held in reserve to assist the
Council in meeting the final instalment of the deficit from 2020/21, which will
become due in 2023/24.

4.6.8.

In total the level of Council Tax receivable by the Council in 2022/23 is
projected to increase by £23.9m when compared to that receivable in
2021/22.

4.6.9.

The Settlement Funding Assessment includes an element to compensate
parish and town councils for losses to their council tax bases arising as a
result of Local Council Tax Support (LCTS). As this amount is not
separately identifiable it is proposed, as in previous years, that LCTS grant
should be pro-rated in line with the assumptions for Leeds’s overall change

Page 89

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
in the Settlement Funding Assessment. The value of this increase will be
confirmed at the provisional Settlement.
4.7.

Adult Social Care Precept

4.7.1.

At the Spending Review 2021, the Chancellor stated that the Government
had the expectation that the Adult Social Care precept would increase by
around 1% over the lifetime of the next Spending Review, that is 2022/23 to
2024/25. This expectation should be considered alongside the
announcement in September 2021 of the new funding package for Health
and Social Care announced by the Government, which appeared to
intimate that additional pressures on Adult Social care services in future
years would not be funded in the earlier years of the reforms by the 1.25%
increase National Insurance rates but instead by efficiencies, council tax
and the Adult Social care precept.

4.7.2.

Based on these statements, these budget proposals and financial plans in
future years have assumed a 0.99% increase in the Adult Social Care
precept for the years 2022/23 to 2024/25. However any final decision on
such a levy remain that of Full Council.

4.8.

The Net Revenue Budget 2022/23

4.8.1.

After taking into account the anticipated changes to the Settlement Funding
Assessment, business rates and council tax, the Council’s overall net
revenue budget is anticipated to increase by £86.2m or 19.8% from
£435.3m to £521.4m, as detailed in Table 10 and at Appendix 2. This
includes a significant reduction in the business rates deficit of £60.7m.
Table 10 – Estimated Net Revenue Budget 2022/23 compared to the 2021/22 Net
Revenue Budget
2021/22
2022/23
Change
£m
£m
£m
Revenue Support Grant
28.4
37.4
9.0
Business Rates Baseline
158.4
158.4
0.0
Settlement Funding Assessment
186.8
195.8
9.0
Business Rates Growth

(4.6)

(12.1)

(7.5)

Business Rates Deficit that will not be spread

(79.6)

(18.9)

60.7

Business Rates Deficit: One-third of 'exceptional balance'
Council Tax (incl. Adult Social Care Precept)

(12.2)
349.1

(12.2)
370.7

0.0
21.6

Council Tax Surplus that will not be spread
Council Tax Adjustment: One-third of 'exceptional balance'
Net Revenue Budget

4.8.2.

0.3

2.6

2.3

(4.5)
435.3

(4.5)
521.4

(0.0)
86.2

Table 11 analyses this £86.2m estimated increase in the net revenue
budget between the Settlement Funding Assessment and locally
determined funding sources.

Page 90

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
Table 11 – Increase in the Funding Envelope

Funding Envelope

2022/23
£m

Government Funding
Settlement Funding Assessment

9.00

Sub-total Government Funding

9.00

Locally Determined Funding
Council Tax (incl tax base growth)
Business Rates
Sub-total Locally Determined Funding

23.95
53.24
77.18

Increase/(decrease) in the Net Revenue Budget

86.18

4.8.3.

The estimated increase in the 2022/23 net revenue budget compared to
2021/22 cannot be properly understood without considering changes in
general fund income streams associated with the collection fund. In
2020/21 the Government funded exceptional reliefs against business rates
for the retail and leisure sectors which was forwarded to local authorities to
meet the resultant deficit in 2021/22. In 2021/22 the Government
announced further reliefs but at a much reduced level, the funding for which
will also be held in reserve to meet the smaller resultant deficit in 2022/23.
This means that although the net revenue budget due to business rates has
increased by £53.2m because the business rates deficit has reduced, the
reduction in funding held in reserve to meet this deficit is £43.8m. As can
be seen in Table 6 the net result of this is that business rates revenue to
the Council has only increased by £9.4m.

4.8.4.

Council tax is projected to increase by £23.95m because of a number of
reasons detailed below. Since the 2021/22 council budget was estimated
the level of applications for council tax support has reduced as
unemployment has reduced, which has the effect of increasing the council
tax base. Growth in the council tax base, with new homes being completed
in the city, has also markedly improved as construction resumed following
the lockdowns in 2020/21. Finally the Government announced at the
Spending Review 2021 that it expected core council tax to rise up to 2%
and the adult social care precept to rise by up to 1% in 2022/23. These
proposals assume, subject to the approval of Full Council, that this will be
the increase in Leeds. This is further discussed at section 4.7.

Page 91

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
5.

The Proposed Budget 2022/23
Table 12 – Summary of Changes in Resources, Cost Increases and Savings
Proposals in the Proposed Budget 2022/23 and comparison with the position at the
Medium Term Financial Strategy

MTFS
£m
(83.4)
(4.0)
(22.7)
47.5
33.8
10.7
(2.4)
0.0
(20.5)

Changes
since
MTFS
£m
(2.7)
0.0
(7.0)
(3.6)
0.0
(10.5)
(15.4)
(12.4)
(51.8)

Proposed
Budget
22/23
£m
(86.2)
(4.0)
(29.7)
43.8
33.8
0.2
(17.8)
(12.4)
(72.3)

17.7
0.0
16.3
(8.1)
60.1
86.0

(3.4)
2.9
1.1
5.9
0.5
7.0

14.3
2.9
17.4
(2.2)
60.6
93.1

Total Resources and Cost Pressures

65.5

(44.7)

20.8

Existing Actions to Reduce the Budget Gap

£m

£m

£m

Business As Usual
Service Reviews
Total Existing Savings

1.0
(1.1)
(0.2)

(0.2)
0.0
(0.2)

0.8
(1.1)
(0.4)

Gap Remaining After Existing Savings

65.4

(44.9)

20.5

Additional Savings 2021

£m

£m

£m

0.0
0.0

(6.7)
(0.4)

(6.7)
(0.4)

0.0
0.0
0.0

(9.2)
(1.5)
(17.7)

(9.2)
(1.5)
(17.7)

Procurement Savings
Business As Usual

0.0

(2.7)

(2.7)

Gap Remaining After Additional Savings

65.4

(65.4)

(0.0)

Resources
Increase in Net Revenue Charge
Change in contribution to/(from) General Reserve
Change in contribution to/(from) Earmarked Reserves
COVID-19 Grants (business rates reliefs)
COVID-19 Grants
Increases in Other Specific Grant
Other Non-Collection Fund Business Rates Movements
Other Contributions
Pressures
Pay Inflation
Health and Social Care Levy
General Inflation
COVID Pressures
Other incl. Debt

Directorate Savings
September 2021
Business As Usual
Service Reviews
December 2021
Business As Usual
Service Reviews
Total Additional Directorate Savings

5.1.

This section provides an overview of the changes in resources, including
specific grants (section 5.5), and cost increases (paragraphs 6.1 to 6.20)
which the Council is facing in 2022/23 and concludes with savings
proposals (paragraphs 7.1 to 7.7) which contribute towards balancing the

Page 92

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
2022/23 budget to the estimated available resources. Table 12 provides a
high level summary of these changes.
5.2.

There are three categories of savings shown in Table 12:
• existing savings which are the later year effects of proposals already
agreed, already included in the September Medium Term Financial
Strategy;
• further savings identified by directorates which have already been
agreed by Executive Board at its meeting in September 2021 and
approved for consultation;
• additional directorate savings proposals included in the ‘Revenue
Savings Proposals for 2022/23 to 2024/25’ report for Executive
Board’s consideration on today’s agenda.
Changes since the Medium Term Financial Strategy

5.3.

Table 12 also shows the movement between the estimated budget gap of
£65.4m for 2022/23 reported in the Medium Term Financial Strategy and
the proposed balanced budget position for 2022/23 contained in this report.

5.4.

The savings are discussed in summary at paragraph 7 of this report and in
more detail in the ‘Revenue Savings Proposals for 2022/23 to 2024/25’
reports for Executive Board’s consideration at its September 2021 meeting
and on today’s December agenda. The identified level of gross savings
may contribute towards mitigating funding changes and cost pressures
detailed in sections 5 and 6 of this report. Where appropriate, for the final
Budget report to be received at this Board in February 2022 these will be
netted off related funding changes or cost pressures.

5.5.

Decreases/(Increases) in Resources

5.5.1.

Changes in both the Settlement Funding Assessment (SFA) of (£9.0m
increase) and local funding (£77.2m increase), a net increase of £86.2m,
are detailed in sections 4.1.3, 4.8.2 and 4.8.1 respectively.
Changes in Reserves (£33.7m)

5.5.2.

Changes in contributions to/(from) the General Reserve (£4.0m) – The
opening General Reserve position in 2021/22 stood at £27.8m with the
opening position for 2022/23 estimated to be £31.7m, reflecting a budgeted
contribution of £4.0m in 2021/22. Whilst this proposed Budget doesn’t
incorporate a budgeted contribution to the General Reserve the 2022/23
budget incorporates the fallout of the 2021/22 budgeted contribution (£4m)
from the base. From 2023/24 onwards the planned budget assumes a £3m
contribution to the Council’s General Reserve.

5.5.3.

Changes in contributions to/(from) Earmarked Reserves (£29.7m) –
Overall the measures in this proposed Budget apply a net contribution to
the revenue position of £29.7m from Earmarked Reserves. Opening
earmarked reserves for 2021/22 stood at £153.6m.

Page 93

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
5.5.4.

This total included £24.3m of Strategic Contingency reserve, which was
established in 2020/21 to fund future unforeseen budget pressures and to
ensure the Council becomes more financially resilient. The 2021/22 budget
provided a further net contribution of £6.2m to this reserve, leaving a
projected balance of £30.5m at the 31st March 2022. The proposed
2022/23 Budget assumes net use of £3.2m of this reserve to contribute to
achieving a balanced budget position. As such the Strategic Contingency
reserve is projected to hold £27.3m at the end of 2022/23. Use of a further
£15m is proposed for 2023/24. Base budget contributions of £6.2m in
2021/22 fall out in 2022/23, benefitting the revenue budget position.

5.5.5.

The 2021/22 approved budget allowed for the creation of an earmarked
reserve for COVID pressures. £16.7m of funding received from
Government was placed in a reserve to manage the ongoing financial
impact of COVID and this funding is currently projected to be applied in full
to address pressures arising in 2021/22 and which have been incorporated
into the Financial Health reports received at this Board. These base budget
contributions of £16.7m in 2021/22 fall out in 2022/23, benefitting the
revenue budget position. The proposed Budget also reflects planned
contributions of £4.2m to this reserve in 2021/22 which will be utilised in
2022/23 alongside a further £1.4m of resources so that £5.6m in total will
be available to address the ongoing impact in the forthcoming financial
year.

5.5.6.

There is a further contribution of £1.6m to the Energy reserve which was
first established in 2021/22, to provide contingency funding should energy
costs exceed the provision within this proposed Budget.

5.5.7.

A net increase in contribution of £0.6m to the Investment reserve is
provided for. This additional funding will support a range of transformational
activities across the authority where they are identified as generating future
savings, supporting the delivery of the Financial Strategy and improving the
financial resilience of the Authority.

5.5.8.

The proposed Budget provides £0.5m for the establishment of a Staffing
and Management Support reserve which will provide a resource to
support HR initiatives.

5.5.9.

Movements across a range of other earmarked reserves provide for a net
contribution of (£2.1m) to the revenue budget in 2022/23. These include a
contribution of £2.3m from Adults and Health reserves which is a reduction
of £0.4m when compared with 2021/22. Other variations totalling (£2.5m)
reflect the fallout of 2021/22 budgeted contributions to reserves in respect
of Post 16 funding (£1.0m); the fallout of use of the Individual Electoral
Registration (IER) grant reserve £0.3m, repayment of savings to the
Investment reserve in respect of the implementation of ‘Channel Shift’
£0.2m; and the one-off application of Highways Commuted Sums (£2.0m).

Page 94

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
Changes in Grant Funding £60m
5.5.10.

Specific Grant Funding Changes – Adults and Health (£0.0m). The final
2021/22 Local Government Finance Settlement confirmed Government’s
intention to roll forward all social care grants that had been receivable in
2020/21, including Improved Better Care Fund, the Winter Pressures Grant
and the Social Care Support Grant, with an additional injection of £300
million of new Social Care grant funding in 2021/22 for adults and children’s
services. Leeds received an allocation of £4.5m of this funding in 2021/22.
This Strategy assumes that all existing social care grants continue to be
protected, including the 2020/21 Social Care grant allocation and these
allocations have been rolled forward in 2022/23 proposed Budget and
beyond.

5.5.11.

As discussed at paragraph 4.6.4, the proposed Budget assumes a 1% uplift
in the Adult Social Care Precept as permitted at Spending Review 2021.
Should this proposal be approved, this additional Precept income will
provide further funding for Adult Social Care services of almost £3.6m for
Leeds in 2022/23. This continues the trend in recent years whereby social
care provision is increasingly funded by local taxation.

5.5.12.

Specific Grant Funding Changes – Children and Families Directorate
(£0.0m). The final 2021/22 Local Government Finance Settlement
confirmed the Government’s intention to roll forward all social care grants
receivable in 2020/21. This Strategy assumes a continuation of the roll
forward of all existing Children’s Social Care grants, including the 2020/21
Social Care grant allocation, the School Improvement Monitoring and
Brokerage Grant and the Troubled Families Programme: Earned Autonomy
grant. If the assumed levels of grant funding are not realised, the
directorate will be required to reduce their expenditure budgets accordingly.

5.5.13.

Leeds is one of three authorities to receive funding through the Department
for Education (DfE) Strengthening Families Protecting Children (SFPC)
Programme to support the spread of innovation programmes across 20
local authorities over five years. The 2022/23 budget for the Children and
Families Directorate included the third tranche of additional grant of £1.6m.
The remaining year of funding and the fallout of this grant are reflected in
the provisional budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25 respectively.

5.5.14.

As such, the proposed Budget assumes no increase in these rolled forward
Children’s Social Care resources over the period 2022/23 to 2026/27 and
reflects the fallout of the £1.6m per annum Strengthening Families grant in
2024/25.

5.5.15.

Specific Grant Funding Changes – Communities, Housing and
Environment £0.2m. The Housing Benefit and Local Council Tax Support
Administration Subsidy grants are anticipated to continue to reduce by
£0.2m in 2022/23 and by a further £0.4m over the life of the current
Medium Term Financial Strategy, reflecting the continuing reductions in the
national quantum of funding allocated to Local Authorities. This is an

Page 95

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
indicative assessment at this stage as the final allocations for 2022/23 will
not be made until late 2021/early 2022. No other grant funding changes are
assumed.
5.5.16.

Specific Grant Funding Changes – Strategic and Central Accounts
(£10.1m). At Spending Review 2021, the Government announced £4.8
billion of additional funding for the Local Government Sector, £0.3bn of
which was for specific grants to meet new burdens. The remaining £4.5
billion is allocated equally across the three years covered by the Spending
Review at £1.5 billion per annum. Therefore the allocation is front loaded in
2022/23 with no further increases anticipated in 2023/24 and 2024/25. No
detail has yet been provided about individual local authority allocations.
This proposed Budget assumes that this increased funding will be split
50:50 between increased funding and increased general expenditure
through the Settlement Funding Assessment. Assuming that funding will be
distributed following the same profile as current allocations, Leeds’
estimated share received as Settlement Funding Assessment would be
around £9.0m, as discussed at paragraph 4.1.3, and additional funding is
estimated at £10.1m, based on the Adult Social Care formula used in
2020/21. It is not yet known whether this additional funding will be
ringfenced to any specific services, therefore for the purposes of this
proposed Budget it has been shown in the Strategic and Central Accounts.
Confirmation of the final amount and conditions of use are expected at the
provisional Settlement.

5.5.17.

Specific Grant Funding Changes – New Homes Bonus £0.0m
Government introduced the New Homes Bonus in 2011 to encourage
housing growth: initially councils received grant for six years for each net
additional property added to the tax base each year. This grant is funded by
top slicing Revenue Support Grant. In 2016/17 Government made some
changes, including gradually reducing the number of years ‘legacy
payments’ are receivable from six to four years and imposing a 0.4%
growth baseline on new allocations before any Bonus is paid. From
2020/21 New Homes Bonus has been paid for that year only and given rise
to no further legacy payments. In February 2021 the Government published
a consultation on the future of New Homes Bonus with increasing
speculation that the scheme in its current form would be phased out. The
consultation gave further options on how to refine the scheme in an attempt
to distinguish housing growth brought about by a local authority’s actions
and that growth that occurred outside of the authority’s control. The Council
responded to this Consultation and is currently awaiting the Government
response. In order to remain prudent amidst this uncertainty these
proposals only recognise a final legacy payment from 2018/19 to be
accounted for in 2021/22 and no further benefit to be received in future
years. The position for 2022/23 should become clearer at the time of the
Provisional Financial Settlement in December 2021.

5.5.18.

Specific Grant Funding Changes – COVID-19 related grants £33.8m. In
both 2020/21 and 2021/22 Government provided local authorities with
additional funding to meet both expenditure pressures and income losses

Page 96

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
related to the impact of COVID. No further specific support for 2022/23 or
later years has been announced by Government to date. These budget
proposals reflect the fallout of £24.6m of one-off COVID Support Grant and
£9.2m of COVID-related Local Council Tax Support Grant. This proposed
Budget sets aside resources of £5.8m to fund anticipated ongoing COVID
pressures in 2022/23, discussed at paragraph 6.15.
5.5.19.

Specific Grant Funding Changes – Collection Fund COVID-19 Grants
£43.8m. In 2020/21 the Government awarded unprecedented reliefs to
retail, leisure and childcare establishments in Leeds. These reliefs added to
the Council’s collection fund deficit for which the authority received full
compensation. However the deficit did not have to be paid until 2021/22
and therefore the £75.5m was held in reserve and applied in 2021/22. In
2021/22 the Government awarded reliefs to these sectors again, although
at a lower level. Once again the Council will hold this funding, £31.7m, in
reserve to apply to the collection fund deficit that becomes due for payment
in 2022/23.

5.5.20.

Other Non-Collection Fund Business Rates and Council Tax
Movements £7.7m. Section 31 grants are allocated to local authorities to
compensate them for changes made by Government to the business rates
system. An authority’s allocation depends on the level of business rates
yield in that authority’s area, the extent to which it awards certain reliefs
mandated by Government and its share of any losses resulting from these.

5.5.21.

At the Spending Review 2021 the Government announced that it would
award relief to retail and leisure businesses in recognition of continuing
challenges for these sectors after the pandemic. These businesses will
receive 50% relief against their business rates liabilities up to a maximum
of £110,000 per business. There has not been detailed guidance on how
these reliefs will be administered and uncertainties persist about where
businesses with many properties in different billing authority areas will claim
their maximum relief of £110,000. In these proposals an allowance for this
relief against business rates income of £25.0m has been assumed,
attracting additional section 31 compensation of £13.2m.

5.5.22.

The Government also announced at the Spending Review 2021 that the
Small Business Rates Multiplier and higher National Multiplier would be
frozen at its 2021/22 level instead of increasing by CPI as would normally
be the case. Local authorities also receive compensation from Government
for the loss of income this entails. It is estimated that this increased
compensation will amount to £3.6m. It is also assumed that due to the
introduction of the new statutory reliefs for public toilets and certain
telecoms infrastructure, the Council will receive £0.1m in additional
compensation. These proposals also include the continuation of the special
relief for local newspapers. In total section 31 compensation for business
rates reliefs is expected to increase by £16.7m

5.5.23.

In addition to these movements in section 31 grants the Council will have to
pay a levy on any growth in the total of retained business rates income and

Page 97

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
section 31 income either to the Leeds City Region Business Rates Pool or
to the Government. Current estimates are that the Council will have to pay
a levy payment of £0.9m in 2021/22, an increase of £0.4m on the budgeted
amount for 2021/22 due to slow recovery in business rates income in the
city.
5.5.24.

At the Spending Review 2020 the Chancellor announced that £762m was
to be used to provide support to local authorities for ‘irrecoverable losses’ in
business rates in 2020/21 that authorities would have to repay to the
collection fund in 2021/22, 2022/23 and 2023/24. The definition of
irrecoverable losses was confirmed in May 2021 and the Council estimates
that it will receive £15.1m in total, although final allocations have not yet
been confirmed. In 2021/22 £8.6m was applied to the deficit to be repaid in
year. These proposals assume that none of the remaining funding will be
applied in 2022/23 but held in reserve to apply to the final instalment of the
2020/21 deficit in 2023/24.
Other Changes in Resources (£12.4m)

5.5.25.

This proposed Budget for 2022/23 provides for the receipt of £3m of Gain
Share from West Yorkshire Combined Authority. This resource will make a
contribution in supporting the delivery of the West Yorkshire Mayor’s
priorities in respect of Transport, Skills and Jobs, Culture, Housing and
Sustainability.

5.5.26.

The proposed Budget position also reflects the fallout of a one-off receipt of
£1.7m of Gain Share from WYCA in 2021/22 in respect of the West
Yorkshire Devolution Deal.

5.5.27.

In the final Local Government Finance Settlement for 2021/22, which was
published in February 2021, the Government extended the regulations
whereby capital receipts can be used flexibly to fund expenditure on any
project that is designed to generate ongoing revenue savings in the delivery
of public services and/or transform service delivery to reduce costs and/or
transform service delivery in a way that reduces costs or demand for
services in future years for any of the public sector delivery partners. In
2022/23 planned additional expenditure of £6.1m relating to
transformational work that meets this criteria will be funded through the
Government’s flexible use of capital receipts regulations.

5.5.28.

Additional contributions of £5m from the NHS are proposed, to support the
cost of council services where there are shared pathways of care. In Adults
and Health this includes services that support the timely discharge of
patients from hospital, the costs of which continue to grow due to demand
and market pressures. In Children and Families there is a substantial focus
on preventative work which has close links with health services, including
support for mental health and trauma. The Council and NHS are also
looking at further opportunities for joint working, with a focus on
preventative investment that reduces demand and costs across shared
pathways of care.

Page 98

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
6.

Projected Cost Increases

6.1.

Table 13 summarises the projected cost increases in the 2022/23 proposed
Budget.
Table 13 - Cost Increases 2022/23

Pay - Leeds City Council
Health and Social Care Levy
Employer's LGPS contribution
Fall-out of capitalised pension costs
Capitalised Pension Costs (New ELI scheme 2020)
Wage costs - commissioned services
Inflation: General
Inflation: Electricity and Gas Tariffs
Demand and demography - Adult Social Care
Demand and demography - Children Looked After
Demand and demography - Other
Financial Sustainability
IDS Restructuring
Leeds 2023
Income pressures
Debt - external interest / Minimum Revenue Provision
COVID Pressures
Other Pressures/Savings
Cost Increases

2022/23
£m
14.3
2.9
0.0
(1.6)
(0.7)
8.8
7.5
1.1
7.2
6.1
0.2
9.0
3.5
0.9
0.2
30.4
(2.2)
5.5
93.1

6.2.

Pay Inflation - the proposed Budget allows for £14.3m of pay inflation in
2022/23. Spending Review 2020 indicated a public sector pay freeze in
2021/22. However, it is now assumed that a pay award will be required in
2021/22. The increase of £14.3m therefore provides for two elements:
£5.7m which reflects the Employer’s final offer for 2021/22 and which had
not been provided for in the 2021/22 base budget and £8.6m for an
assumed 2022/23 pay award incorporating the recently announced Real
Living Wage of £9.90 at pay scale points 1 and 2 and a 2% pay award for
all other staff.

6.3.

Health and Social Care Levy – The 2021 Spending Review confirmed
plans to increase funding for health and social care over the next three
years through the introduction of a new tax, the Health and Social Care
Levy. The Levy will initially take the form of a 1.25% increase in National
Insurance contributions (NICs), which are paid by employees, employers
and the self-employed. The proposed Budget for 2022/23 allows for a cost
to the Authority of £2.9m. The Spending Review also announced that the
cost to the Local Government sector would be funded. It is currently
assumed that this funding forms part of the additional grant referenced at
paragraph 5.5.11. The adult social care reform white paper, published on
1st December, sets out how some of the funding generated by the Levy will

Page 99

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
be spent.
6.4.

Employers Local Government Pensions Contributions - The most
recent actuarial valuation showed that the West Yorkshire Pension Fund is
in a surplus position. As a result, the Council was notified that the
employer’s contribution would reduce from 16.2% to 15.9% from the 1st
April 2020 and remain unchanged for three years. The Medium Term
Financial Strategy reflected concerns that the COVID-19 pandemic may
impact the Pension Fund adversely both by affecting return on investments
and by changing the profile of membership of the Fund, assuming a short
term increase in the employer’s contribution to 16.1% in 2022/23 and a
return to 15.9% in 2023/24. However, at the time of writing these concerns
have not materialised so the additional costs resulting from this assumed
increase have been reversed, and no increase is shown in the proposed
Budget.

6.5.

The fall out of capitalised pension costs associated with staff who have
left the Council under the Early Leaver’s Initiative (ELI) to 2020 will save an
estimated £1.6m in 2022/23.

6.6.

The Council relaunched its ELI scheme and a range of other voluntary
options to reduce the wage bill in July 2020. In 2022/23 the net costs of this
relaunched scheme will reduce by an estimated £0.7m, with further net
savings in the later years of the Council’s financial strategy as pension
strain costs fall out.

6.7.

National Living Wage for commissioned services and the Ethical Care
Charter - in respect of services commissioned from external providers by
both Adults and Health and Children and Families directorates, provision of
£8.8m has been included in the proposed Budget for 2022/23. This is
consistent with the national minimum wage assumptions for 2022/23.
Elements of the Ethical Care Charter, particularly in respect of better terms
and conditions including improved rates of pay for care staff, were
implemented in 2019/20 and the provision required in 2022/23 continues to
consolidate this position.

6.8.

The increased costs associated both with paying our staff the Real Living
Wage and ensuring that the services we commission pay their staff the
national minimum wage have been resourced by the Council.

6.9.

The proposed Budget allows for net price inflation of £7.5m. It provides
inflation where there is a contractual commitment but anticipates that the
majority of other spending budgets are cash limited. An inflationary uplift on
fees and charges is assumed where they can be borne by the market.
Specific energy increases for gas and electricity of £1.1m (5%) have been
incorporated into these proposals: work continues to estimate the impact of
planned asset rationalisation and new ways of working on energy budgets
and any changes will be incorporated into the final Budget report. In
addition, an assessment of current and projected energy prices indicates
there may be an additional pressure in 2022/23, in response to which

Page 100

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
£2.7m has been placed into reserve, as discussed in paragraph 5.5.6, and
will be applied as required.
6.10.

The proposed Budget recognises the increasing demography and
consequential demand pressures for services in Adults and Health and
Children and Families. Within Adults and Health, the population growth
forecast assumes a steady increase from 2020 in the number of people
aged 85-89 between 2020 and 2026. These increases of 2.8%, 1.8%,
2.6%, 0.9% and 0% respectively result in additional costs for domiciliary
care and care home placements. In addition, the Medium Term Financial
Strategy reflects the anticipated impact of increasing cash personal
budgets through to 2026. The Learning Disability demography is expected
to grow by 1.0% (based on ONS data) over the period. It should be noted
that the high cost increase in this area of service is primarily a combination
of increasingly complex (and costly) packages for those entering adult care,
as well as meeting the costs of the increasing need for existing clients
whose packages may last a lifetime. A sum of £7.2m has been built into
this proposed Budget for 2022/23 to deal with this demand and
demographic growth.

6.11.

Children and Families continues to face demographic and demand
pressures reflecting relatively high birth rates (particularly within the most
deprived clusters within the city), increasing inward migration into the city
(particularly from BME groups from outside the UK), the increasing
population of children & young people with special and very complex
needs, greater awareness of the risks of child sexual exploitation, growing
expectations of families and carers in terms of services offered and
changes in Government legislation, including ‘staying put’ arrangements
that enable young people to remain with their carers up to the age of 21.
Consequently, the proposed Budget for 2022/23 provides £6.1m for the
projected demand in the 0-19 year old population and the impact this will
have on transport costs, Children Looked After (CLA) and financially
supported non-CLA budgets. Financially supported non-CLA budgets
include arrangements that prevent children from becoming looked after,
such as special guardianship orders.

6.12.

Based on demand pressures due to assumed housing growth, provision
of £0.2m has been made for the increased disposal costs of waste to the
Recycling and Energy Recovery Facility (RERF).

6.13.

The proposed Budget includes further measures to improve financial
sustainability. The 2022/23 proposed Budget allows for an additional
£5.0m to reduce reliance on capitalisations and £4.0m for internal charging.
This is in addition to reducing the Authority’s reliance on capital receipts,
referenced in paragraph 6.17.

6.14.

An additional £3.5m will be invested in IDS for 2022/23 to allow for the
creation of and recruitment to new posts which will largely be used to
support delivery of key Council priority 1 projects and a programme of work
to rationalise software applications. The new posts will be a combination of

Page 101

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
Solution Architects, Integration Specialists, Technical Leads, Project
Managers, Business Architects and Business Analysts. Priority 1 projects
are those which: bring a significant saving; prevent a critical service failure;
are a legislative requirement; a major unforeseen event (e.g. COVID 19);
prevent reputational damage and/or; have a deadline that must be
delivered in the next 6-9 months. The application rationalisation programme
will reduce the number of applications supported thereby reducing the
support and maintenance costs and simplifying business processes.
6.15.

Leeds 2023 – the proposed Budget currently provides for £0.9m to fund
additional costs as we approach the City’s celebration of culture. Alternative
funding sources are being investigated to mitigate the requirement for this
funding.

6.16.

Income variations of £0.2m are included in this proposed Budget, the
majority of which relates to a projected reduction in local land charges.

6.17.

This proposed Budget provides for a £30.4m increase in the cost of debt.
Changes approved at Full Council in 2017 to previous years’ Minimum
Revenue Provision Policy (MRP), based on the fact that MRP had been
overprovided for between 2008/09 and 2014/15, enabled the Council to
benefit from reduced MRP payments for the three years 2017/18 to
2019/20. However from 2020/21 this position started to unwind and MRP
will increase by £28.9m in 2022/23. Other Debt variations total £1.5m, and
include providing £5.0m for reduced reliance on capital receipts, a £0.3m
increase in prudential borrowing costs and a £1.8m increase in respect of
PFI lifecycle costs. However this position is netted down by £5.6m of
Treasury Management savings.

6.18.

At Spending Review 2020, Government announced a further £1.55bn of
national funding for additional COVID related expenditure pressures in
2021/22. The Leeds allocation was anticipated to be £24.6m and utilised in
the 2021/22 budget. This is now fully utilised and has been used to offset
additional COVID expenditure pressures in 2021/22 as reported through
the monthly Financial Health reports to this Board. As such the proposed
budget reflects the fallout of £8.1m of this funding applied to COVID in the
2021/22 budget.

6.19.

Whilst no further financial support is expected from Government to fund the
economic impact of COVID, this proposed Budget for 2022/23 makes
provision for a £5.8m continued impact on the Council’s income and
expenditure, specifically:
• £5.4m for car parking and waste services income losses
• £0.4m for additional Planning expenditure to deal with backlogs,
• £0.07m for Registrars

6.20.

Other Pressures and Savings Other net budget pressures of £5.5m have
been identified for 2022/23. These include:
• An additional £1.0m for Microsoft licences as the Authority moves
towards a cloud-based system;

Page 102

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

An additional payment to the West Yorkshire Combined Authority of
£1.0m which recognises the cessation of a previously received rebate;
£0.3m is provided for the revenue costs associated with Highways
maintenance;
£0.3m is provided for the revenue costs of additional grounds
maintenance including those associated with new capital schemes;
£0.5m is provided for repayment of schools balances;
£0.2m contribution to the rent costs of the Coroners Court;
£0.6m to recognise the impact of Universal Credit on budgeted
overpayment income;
£0.4m to fund investment in the waste strategy;
£0.4m income relating to housing enquiry services;
£0.6m for pressures within LBS.
The net effect of other pressures across all Directorates is £0.2m.

7.

The Budget Gap – Savings Options

7.1.

After allowing for changes to funding and identified pressures that are
described in this report, there still remains an estimated budget gap of
£20.8m. The extensive savings programme in 2021/22 included a number
of savings which impacted in later years of the period covered by the
Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy. Overall the net full year effect of
these prior year savings plans is to reduce the 2022/23 estimated budget
down gap to £20.5m.
Table 14 Budget Gap And Savings Options

Total Resources and Cost Pressures
Existing Actions to Reduce the Budget Gap
Business As Usual
Service Reviews
Total Existing Savings
Gap Remaining After Existing Savings
Additional Savings 2021
Directorate Savings
September 2021
Business As Usual
Service Reviews
December 2021
Business As Usual
Service Reviews
Total Additional Directorate Savings
Procurement Savings
Business As Usual
Gap Remaining After Additional Savings

Page 103

Proposed Budget
2022/23
£m
£m
20.8

0.8
(1.1)
(0.4)
20.5

(6.7)
(0.4)
0.0
(9.2)
(1.5)
(17.7)
(2.7)
(0.0)

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
Bridging the Revised Gap – the Corporate & Directorate Savings
Programme
7.2.

The Medium Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 – 2026/27, approved at
September’s Executive Board, reported an estimated budget gap of £65.4m
in 2022/23.

7.3.

Building on the Financial Challenge savings programme carried out last
year which resulted in £56m of budgeted savings and contributed to the
setting of a balanced budget for 2021/22, the council has established a new
Financial Challenge savings programme focused on identifying robust and
sustainable savings not just to help close the gap for 2022/23 but for the
following years 2023/24 and 2024/25 too. This approach enables the
authority to take a longer-term view of its savings options, recognising that
major change often requires one- to two-years’ lead time to implement. As
such, the savings proposals set out in the ‘Revenue Savings Proposals for
2022/23 to 2024/25’ reports for Executive Board’s consideration at its
September 2021 meeting and on today’s December agenda span the next
three financial years.

7.4.

The Financial Challenge programme continues to aim to protect services
that support the most vulnerable whilst ensuring that the organisation
becomes more financially resilient and sustainable for the future. Reviews
have been carried out across all council services: some cross-cutting (such
as procurement), others focused on specific services or activities. The
cross-council senior officer group established in 2020 to provide support
and ensure a co-ordinated, consistent approach across the Financial
Challenge programme, has been reconvened. Further support and
challenge is again being provided by Scrutiny Board working groups.

7.5.

These reviews have led to proposals which are categorised as either
‘Business as Usual’ (BAU) or ‘Service Reviews’. BAUs do not require
consultation to implement: for example, they relate to improving the
efficiency of the service, are cost reduction measures with no impact on
service users or, where there are budgeted staffing reductions, these are
anticipated to be met through deletion of vacant posts or voluntary means,
as has been collectively agreed. Where voluntary measures have a modest
and/or residual impact on the workforce, local / BAU consultation would be
expected. ‘Service Review’ proposals are of more significance and
therefore may require meaningful consultation with staff, trade unions,
service users and the public as appropriate prior to any decisions being
taken.

7.6.

With regard to 2022/23, in September the Board considered savings
proposals totalling £7.0m. A further £10.7m are presented for the Executive
Board’s consideration. Should these be approved, total directorate savings
approved by this Board for 2022/23 will be £17.7m. As noted above, for
further detail, please see the accompanying, ‘Revenue Savings Proposals
for 2022/23 to 2024/25’ reports considered at the Executive Board meeting
in September 2021 and a further report on this agenda.

Page 104

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
7.7.

In 2021/22 Council spent c.£650m in revenue procuring external goods and
services. Through a combination of reviewing both contract usage and
contract specifications targeted procurement saving of £4.0m has been
incorporated into this 2022/23 proposed Budget, £1.3m of which has been
identified within the directorate savings discussed at paragraph 7.6 and a
further £2.7m which is currently shown in Strategic and Central Accounts,
but which will sit within directorate positions when the detail is finalised.
Summary Budget By Directorate

7.8.

The pie chart below shows the proposed share of net managed expenditure
between directorates for 2022/23 based on this proposed Budget. Net
managed expenditure represents the budgets under the control of
individual directorates and excludes items such as capital charges,
pensions adjustments and allocation of support costs in directorate
budgets.
Share of Net Managed Expenditure 2022/23 (Proposed Budget)

7.9.

It should be noted that these resource allocations may be subject to
amendment as we move through the budget setting process.

8.

Impact of proposals on employees

8.1.

The Council has operated a voluntary retirement and severance scheme
since 2010/11 which has already contributed significantly to the reduction in
the workforce since this time. Whilst there are other elements that will
impact on the fluctuation of the workforce numbers such as natural attrition
and turnover there has been an overall reduction of around 2,875 full time

Page 105

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
equivalents (FTEs) or 3,730 headcount up to the 31st October 2021.
8.2.

Budget savings proposals to date received at September’s Executive
Board, and the budget savings proposals that are considered elsewhere on
today’s agenda, result in an estimated potential reduction of 26 FTEs.
Offsetting these reductions there is a growth of 148 FTEs (13 FTEs relate
to the HRA) across Directorates. Therefore there is a net increase of 122
FTEs (13 HRA) when the 2022/23 proposed Budget is compared to the
approved 2021/22 budget.

8.3.

However given the context of the estimated budget gaps for 2023/24 and
2024/25, £30.6m and £25.6m respectively, budget savings proposals to
bridge these gaps will be required to be identified and these could result in
a reduction in the number of budgeted FTE posts. In the context of the
potential reduction of FTE posts the Council intends to issue a further
section 188 notice in February 2022 following approval of the 2022/23
Budget at Full Council.

8.4.

The Council remains committed to doing everything it can to try to avoid
compulsory redundancies through natural turnover, continuing the voluntary
early leaver scheme, staff flexibility, reviewing and reducing both agency
and overtime spend and continuing the positive consultation and joint
working with the trade unions.

9.

General Reserve

9.1.

Under the 2003 Local Government Act, the Council’s Statutory Financial
Officer is required to make a statement to Council on the adequacy of
reserves as a part of the annual budget setting process. It is also good
practice for the Authority to have a policy on the level of its general reserve
and to ensure that it is monitored and maintained.

9.2.

The purposes of the general reserve policy are to help longer-term financial
stability and mitigate the potential impact of future events or developments
which may cause financial difficulty. General and useable reserves are a
key measure of the financial resilience of the Council, allowing the Authority
to address unexpected and unplanned pressures.

9.3.

The general reserve policy encompasses an assessment of financial risks
both within the Medium Term Financial Strategy and also in the annual
budget. These risks should include corporate/organisation wide risks and
also specific risks within individual directorate and service budgets. This
analysis of risks should identify areas of the budget which may be uncertain
and a quantification of each “at risk” element. This will represent the scale
of any potential overspend or income shortfall and will not necessarily
represent the whole of a particular budget heading. Each assessed risk will
then be rated and scored in terms of impact and probability.

9.4.

The proposed Budget for 2022/23 assumes a general reserve balance of

Page 106

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
£31.7m will be brought forward from 2021/22, with no contribution to the
reserve proposed in 2022/23.
9.5.

Whilst the Council maintains a robust approach towards its management of
risk and especially in the determination of the level of reserves that it
maintains, it is recognised that our reserves are lower than those of other
comparable local authorities of a similar size. However the Council has
made provision over the life of the Medium Term Financial Strategy to
address this position while having minimum impact on front line services.

9.6.

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy recognises the requirement to keep
the level of the Council’s reserves under review to ensure that they are
adequate to meet the identified risks. Grant Thornton’s Annual Audit Letter
for the year ended 31st March 2020 noted that “the Council should consider
the adequacy of its reserves going forward and the appropriate level of
balances which should be linked to the approved MTFS and which should
be reviewed each year.” The current MTFS approved in September 2021
by the Board provides for a £3m annual contribution to the General
Reserve from 2023/24 onwards. As a result the balance on the General
Reserve is projected to be £37.7m by 31st March 2025 as shown in Table
15.
Table 15 - General Reserve

General Reserve
Brought Forward 1st April
Budgeted Contribution/(Use) in-year
Repayment of Treasury Management Savings
Additional Contribution in-year
Carried Forward 31st March

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
£m
£m
£m
£m
27.8
31.7
31.7
34.7
4.0
0.0
3.0
3.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
31.7
31.7
34.7
37.7

9.7.

As stated above, whilst the pressures faced by the Authority continue to
make the current financial climate challenging, we will continue to keep the
level of the Council’s reserves under review to ensure that they are
adequate to meet identified risks.

10.

Provisional Revenue Budgets 2023/24 and 2024/24

10.1.

At its meeting in September 2021 Executive Board received the updated
Medium Term Financial Strategy and agreed the revisions to the Council’s
forecast budget gap for 2022/23 to 2026/27. The reported forecast gap was
£126.7m of which £48.1m and £13.3m related to 2023/24 and 2024/25
respectively. The report received at Executive Board in September
recognised that savings would be required to be identified in order that a
balanced budget position could be delivered in 2023/24 and 2024/25.

10.2.

In the context of the Spending Review on 27th October and other variations
identified during the determination of the proposed Budget for 2022/23 (and
later year impact of 2022/23 savings), the financial projections for 2023/24

Page 107

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
and 2024/25 have been refreshed to reflect these latest assumptions.
However, it should be stressed that under the Council’s Constitution the
decision to set the annual council tax base and rate of council tax can only
be taken by Full Council each year and therefore the provisional budgets
for 2023/24 and 2024/25 are for information and planning purposes only
and the decisions will continue to be made as part of the Council’s annual
budget setting process.
10.3.

Following a statement from the Secretary of State for the Department for
Levelling Up, Housing and Communities, it is understood that the move to
75% business rates retention is not consistent with the Government’s
levelling up agenda and that other mechanisms for redistributing funding
would be looked for. Therefore, the strategy for 2024/25 has been revised
to reflect this. It is uncertain what impact this may have on the proposed
business rates reset and the implications of the outcome of the
Government’s Fair Funding review. As such, it is assumed these will be
revenue neutral upon the Council with any impacts being addressed
through transitional arrangements. For calculating SFA no increases have
been assumed for either 2023/24 or 2024/25.

10.4.

In the determination of the revised financial projections for both 2023/24
and 2024/25 significant areas of uncertainty remain as to the Council’s
financial position in respect of both funding and spending assumptions,
compounded by the ongoing impact of COVID-19. Specifically the
implications of the Government’s future spending plans remain unclear.
Whilst the high-level Spending Review announced on 27th October covered
the three year period to 2025, there is uncertainty whether the more
detailed provisional Settlement (expected mid-December) will cover the
same period, or just one year.

10.5.

After taking account of the funding assumptions outlined in 10.2 to 10.4
above and the variation in pressures and savings that have been identified
in the determination of the 2022/23 proposed Budget proposals, the
provisional positions for 2023/24 and 2024/25 are detailed in Table 16.

10.6.

As can be seen in Table 16, the estimated budget gap has been revised to
£30.6m in 2023/24 and to £25.6m in 2024/25. The main changes since the
Medium Term Financial Strategy are as follows:
•

•

Changes to Funding: In 2023/24 the strategy no longer assumes that
the Government will be offering reliefs against business rates to
businesses, which the Council receive as compensating grants.
Conversely, we assume this will be offset by the resulting increase in
rates, increasing the Net Revenue Charge assumptions.
Revised Pressures: changes in pensions assumptions in 2022/23,
specifically the revised assumption since the MTFS that no increase
will be required in the employer’s contribution to the West Yorkshire
Pension Fund, resulting in a decrease in pressures in 2022/23 of
£2.1m, with a corresponding debit in 2023/24. Changes in

Page 108

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25

•

assumptions around the ongoing impact of COVID in later years
reduces other pressures by £5.4m in 2023/24.
Revised Savings: the changes largely reflect the later year impacts of
the 2022/23 savings proposals, noted at paragraph 7 and set out in the
‘Revenue Savings Proposals for 2022/23 to 2024/25’ reports for
Executive Board’s consideration at its September 2021 meeting and
elsewhere on this agenda.

Table 16 - Provisional Revenue Budget 2023/24 and 2024/25

MTFS September 2021
Changes to Funding
Net Revenue Charge Assumptions
Contribution to General Reserve
Changes in Earmarked Reserves
Grants
Other Contributions

2023/24
£m

2024/25
£m

48.1

13.3

(16.4)
0.0
(1.0)
15.7
0.0
(1.6)

(0.8)
0.0
15.8
7.2
0.0
22.2

2.6
0.0
(0.0)
(5.2)
(2.6)

0.1
0.0
(0.0)
0.0
0.2

(11.6)
(1.7)
(13.3)

(8.4)
(1.7)
(10.0)

30.6

25.6

Revised Pressures
Pay and Pensions
Capitalised Pensions (ELI)
Debt
Other
Revised Savings
Directorate Savings
Procurement Savings
Revised Gap - Provisional Budget

10.7.

The position set out above contains a number of assumptions, as set out in
paragraphs 10.2 to 10.6 for which updated information would alter the
projected financial position and any such changes in these assumptions will
be incorporated into an updated Medium Term Financial Strategy that will
be presented to a future meeting of this Board.

11.

Schools Budget

11.1.

The Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) for 2022/23 is funded in four separate
blocks for early years, high needs, schools and central schools services.

11.2.

A National Funding Formula (NFF) was implemented from April 2018 for
high needs, schools and central schools services. The schools formula was
initially a “soft” formula to allow local authorities some limited flexibility and
this remains the case for 2022/23.

Page 109

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
11.3.

The Early Years block funds 15 hours per week of free early education for
3- and 4-year-olds and the early education of eligible vulnerable 2-yearolds. There is an additional 15 hours per week provision for working
families of 3- and 4-year-old children. The funding hourly rate has not yet
been confirmed for 2022/23, but in 2021/22 the hourly rates were £5.36 for
2-year-olds and £4.95 for 3- and 4-year-olds. The grant received will
continue to be based on participation. The actual grant received during
2021/22 depends on pupil numbers in the 2021 and 2022 January
censuses. The early years pupil premium is also included in this block and
is payable to providers for eligible 3- and 4-year-olds. The hourly rate for
2022/23 for this element has also not yet been announced but was £0.53
per hour for 2021/22. In addition, there is a Disability Access Fund which
was £615 per eligible child per year in 2021/22. The grant value shown
below is based on the actual pupil numbers in January 2020 as the final
January 2021 pupil numbers have not yet been confirmed.

11.4.

The High Needs Block supports places and top-up funding in special
schools, resourced provision in mainstream schools and alternative
provision; top-up funding for early years, primary, secondary, post-16 and
out of authority provision; central SEN support and hospital & home
education. An indicative allocation under the NFF calculation has been
published though the final allocation will not be issued until December
2021. The value in Table 17 is before any deductions are made by the
Education and Skills Funding agency (ESFA) in respect of funding for
academies, free schools and post-16 places. The High Needs Block is
facing a number of financial pressures nationally and in recognition of this
the national allocation has increased again for 2022/23. For Leeds the
indicative allocation is an increase of £11.061m for 2022/23 although there
is still a cap on gains within the national funding formula and this has been
applied to the funding allocation to Leeds to the value of £1.903m. Despite
the increase in funding for 2022/23 the anticipated increase in special
school places and pupils eligible for additional top-up funding means that
there is expected to be on going funding pressures for the High Needs
Block which will need managing within the overall available funding. As part
of managing the funding pressures it is proposed to transfer funding from
the Schools Block as outlined below.

11.5.

The Schools Block funds the delegated budgets of primary and secondary
schools for pupils in reception to year 11. The grant for 2022/23 will be
based on pupil numbers (including those in academies and free schools) as
at October 2021. The pupil numbers from this census are not yet available.
Schools have been consulted on options for the local formula in 2022/23
and on proposals to transfer funding to the High Needs Block. The results
of the consultation have been presented to Schools Forum to enable further
discussion with a final decision on the local formula being made by the
Director of Children and Families in early 2022. As part of the consultation
the majority of schools which responded supported a proposal to transfer
0.5% (approximately £3.069m) from the Schools Block to the High Needs
Block. A Schools Forum meeting on the 18th November approved this
transfer. The majority of schools who responded to the consultation also

Page 110

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
supported a proposal for maintained schools to contribute funding of £150k
towards severance costs. Schools Forum also approved this contribution.
11.6.

As part of the NFF, the Central School Services block (CSSB) was created
from the DSG funding that is held by the local authority for central services.
This includes the funding which was previously delivered through the
retained duties element of the Education Services Grant (ESG) along with
ongoing responsibilities and historic commitments. A draft allocation under
the NFF calculation has been published, though the final allocation will not
be issued until December 2021. The funding for the historic commitments
element has been reduced by 20% in 2022/23.

11.7.

At the end of 2021/22 it is projected that there will be a deficit balance of
£4.923m on DSG compared to a deficit balance of £2.002m at the end of
2020/21. The deficit balance will be carried forward into 2022/23 and
proposals to address the deficit will need to be incorporated into the
medium term financial plan for the High Needs Block and DSG funding.
The conditions of grant for the Dedicated Schools Grant requires that any
local authority with an overall deficit on its DSG account at the end of
2019/20 financial year must be able to present a plan to the DfE for
managing their future DSG spend. The initial DSG management plan has
been presented to Schools Forum and this will be regularly updated with
termly updates presented to future Schools Forum.

11.8.

Funding for post-16 provision is allocated by the ESFA. Funding for high
need post-16 pupils is no longer to be part of this grant and is now included
in the DSG High Needs Block totals. Funding for 2022/23 will be based on
2021/22 lagged student numbers.

11.9.

Pupil Premium grant is paid to schools and academies based on the
number of eligible Reception to year 11 pupils on the school’s roll in
January each year. The rates for 2022/23 have not yet been confirmed but
are expected to remain at: primary £1,345, secondary £955, for each pupil
registered as eligible for free school meals (FSM) at any point in the last 6
years and £310 for children of service families. The pupil premium rate for
children looked after and children who have ceased to be looked after by a
local authority because of adoption, a special guardianship order, a child
arrangements order or a residence order is also expected to remain the
same at £2,345.

11.10.

The PE and Sport premium for primary schools grant will be paid in the
2021/22 academic year to all primary schools at a rate of £16,000 plus £10
per pupil. It is expected that these rates will remain the same for 2022/23.

11.11.

A grant for the universal provision of free school meals for all pupils in
reception, year 1 and year 2 was introduced in September 2014. Funding
for the 2021/22 academic year is based on a rate of £2.34 per meal taken
by eligible pupils, giving an annual value of £444.60. Data from the October

Page 111

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
and January censuses will be used to calculate the allocations for the
academic year.
11.12.

Since 2021/22 the funding for the additional teachers’ pay costs from 1st
September 2018 and September 2019 has been paid to schools and high
needs settings through the National Funding Formula (NFF) instead of
being paid as separate grants. However mainstream academies continued
to receive the teachers’ pay grant for April to August 2021, as they did not
receive their 2021/22 NFF allocations until September 2021. This grant is
now fully assumed within the NFF for all settings with the exception of
school nursery and sixth form provision from 1st April 2021.

11.13.

A further grant in relation to additional costs incurred in respect of increases
in the teacher’s pension scheme from September 2019 is also now being
paid to schools and high needs settings through the National Funding
Formula (NFF) instead of being paid as separate grants. However
mainstream academies continued to receive the teachers’ pension grant for
April to August 2021, as they did not receive their 2021/22 NFF allocations
until September 2021. This grant is now fully assumed within the NFF for
all settings with the exception of school nursery and sixth form provision
from 1st April 2021.

11.14.

In 2020/21 and 2021/22 the Government announced a range of funding
streams to support children and young people to catch up following the
disruption as a result of coronavirus (COVID-19). For the financial year
2021/22 this was made up of the following elements:
•

•

•
•

11.15.

A one-off universal £650 million catch-up premium for the 2020 to
2021 academic year. Schools allocations were calculated on a per
pupil basis with each mainstream school receiving £80 for each pupil
in years reception to 11. Special, alternative provision and hospital
schools received £240 per place.
A School-led tutoring grant for the academic year 2021 to 2022 was
introduced to allow schools to fund locally sourced tutoring provision
for disadvantaged pupils. The calculation of this grant is based on
pupils eligible for pupil premium.
A summer schools programme was introduced and funding made
available to secondary schools based on the number of year 7 entry
pupils, this was for 2021 only.
A Covid Recovery Premium was introduced for the academic year
2021/22 again based on pupil premium eligibility to further support
pupils through evidence-based approaches.

The amounts in Table 17 are the provisional allocations based on the
October 2020 census. The final grant will be based on the October 2021
census.

Page 112

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
11.16.

Schools funding summary
Table 17 – the Estimated Schools Budget

2021/22 2022/23 Change
Current Estimate
£m
£m
£m
DSG - Schools Block
DSG - Central Schools Services
Block
DSG - High Needs Block
DSG - Early Years Block
ESFA Post 16 Funding
Pupil Premium Grant
PE & Sports Grant
Universal Infant Free School
Meals Grant
Teachers Pay Grant
Teachers Pension Grant
Coronavirus Catch Up Grant
School Led Tutoring
Covid Summer School
Covid Recovery Premium

601.90
5.16

613.71
5.10

11.81
-0.06

97.57
60.95
22.85
43.99
4.32
9.11

108.46
60.95
23.96
43.99
4.33
9.01

10.89
0.00
1.11
0.00
0.01
-0.10

1.96
5.56
4.03
2.50
2.27
3.11
857.40

0.74
2.09
0.00
1.79
0.00
2.22
872.34

-1.22
-3.47
-4.03
-0.71
-2.27
-0.89
14.94

12.

Housing Revenue Account

12.1.

The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) includes all expenditure and income
incurred in managing the Council’s housing stock and, in accordance with
Government legislation, operates as a ringfenced account. The key
movements in 2022/23 are detailed in Table 19.
Income

12.2.

In 2019, the Government confirmed a return to allowing up to a CPI+1%
rent increase for five years from 2020/21. An increase in accordance with
the Government’s rent formula of CPI (3.1% as at September 2021) +1% is
therefore proposed. This overall 4.1% rise equates to approximately £8.6m
in additional rental income.

12.3.

A reduction in the qualifying period after which tenants are able to submit
an application to purchase a council house through the Government’s Right
to Buy (RTB) legislation continues to sustain an increase in the number of
sales with a subsequent reduction in the amount of rent receivable. Based
on latest sales, a further 610 sales are forecast in 2022/23. The impact of
these RTB sales, along with other stock reductions in year for demolitions,
(partly offset by an anticipated additional 44 stock through the Right of First
Refusal process, 168 new build and 11 off the shelf homes), will cost the

Page 113

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
HRA around £1.5m in lost rental income in 2022/23. A review of the void
rate from 0.8% to 1.0% following the impact of the pandemic will cost the
HRA an additional £0.5m Therefore the total net expected increase in rental
income year on year is estimated at £6.6m.
12.4.

Tenants in multi-storey flats and in low/medium-rise flats receive additional
services such as cleaning of communal areas, staircase lighting and lifts. It
is proposed to increase these charges by an inflationary increase of RPI of
4.9%. In 2022/23 this will generate an additional £196k compared to
2021/22. In 2021/22 a retirement life charge was introduced for the
provision of additional services linked to communal areas. In 2022/23 for
self payers this charge will be subsidised for the second year of three
(£1.72 subsidy for communal areas and £1 subsidy for standalone
community centres).

12.5.

Housing Leeds manages a number of district heating schemes including
the Leeds PIPES scheme. In 2022/23 a 35p/wk change in the standing
charge is proposed for Leeds PIPES as a step towards full cost recovery.
An RPI increase of 4.9% is proposed for all other District Heating Schemes.

12.6.

Currently tenants in sheltered accommodation receiving a support service
are charged £15.14 per week for this service. This charge is eligible for
Housing Benefit. In 2016/17 a nominal charge of £2 per week was
introduced for those tenants who benefited from the service but did not pay.
This was increased to £4 a week in 2017/18, £6 in 2018/19, £8 in 2019/20
and £10 in 2020/21, £12 in 2021/22 and it is proposed to continue to
increase this charge by a further £2 per week in 2022/23 to £14 per week.
A review of the Sheltered Charge has been undertaken for 2022/23 to take
into account pay award and other cost changes. The sheltered charge full
cost is estimated at £15.62 per week and is eligible for Housing Benefit.

12.7.

An analysis of the impact on tenants of increasing rents by 4.1% and
implementing the proposed charges outlined above has been undertaken.
These figures are based on average rents for different categories of tenants
as individual levels will vary.

12.8.

With a return to a rental increase of CPI+1, all tenants will pay more in
2022/23 than in 2021/22 as outlined in Table 18 below. The vast majority of
tenants (94%) will pay between £2.81 and £3.49 per week more. The 2.3%
of tenants whose average weekly increase is the highest relates to tenants
who are self-payers in Sheltered Accommodation. These tenants would
have faced between £4.97 and £6.71 per week average increase, however
it is proposed to cap any overall increase to £5 per week.
Table 18 – Average rental increase per week 2022/23
% of Tenants

Numbers of Tenants

94.4
3.3
2.3

51,145
1,791
1,252

Page 114

Average Increase
£/per week
2.81-3.49
3.50-3.75
4.97-6.71

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
These increases will be funded through Housing Benefit for eligible tenants
or tenants eligible for Universal Credit (UC) will receive payments for this
increase. Approximately 38% of tenants are in receipt of Housing Benefit
with a further 26% in receipt of UC, a total of 64%. For those in Sheltered
Accommodation, this figure rises to 71%.
Expenditure
12.9.

The proposed staffing budget has increased by £1m, assuming a pay
award of 2% for 2022/23 plus the recently announced 1.25% NI levy. The
impact of the current pay award offer of 1.75% pay award for 2021-22 has
also been budgeted for.

12.10.

The repairs to dwellings budget has initially been increased in line with
inflation, but adjusted to reflect an anticipated reduction of 1% in housing
stock as a result of Right to Buy. The proposed Budget for 2022/23 is
therefore a £941k increase to £45.8m.

12.11.

Provision will be made for costs and inflationary uplifts for the PFI
contractor and contributions to the Private Finance Initiative sinking fund
will decrease by £0.35m within the agreed model.

12.12.

In addition to the cost of increasing the repairs budget by CPI, inflation will
cost the HRA £0.7m (specifically c.£400k on energy and c.£300k on PFI)
and pay award inflation on recharges will be £1m in 22/23.

12.13.

The service continue to invest over £120m in the stock, be this through
responsive repairs (see 12.10 above) or the annual investment programme
(see 12.15 below). However, despite this investment and reflecting an
ongoing nationwide issue, it is necessary to provide for an additional sum to
cover the cost of disrepair claims. The provision for disrepair budget is
therefore proposed to be increased by £1m to reflect the increase in the
number of claims for disrepair that the service is receiving.

12.14.

The proposed management fee payable to Belle Isle Tenant Management
Organisation (BITMO) is an increase of £61k to £3.2m to reflect the
approach to changes in the staffing and repairs budgets within Housing
Leeds as outlined above. The BITMO management fee is adjusted each
year by an agreed formula.

12.15.

The Council remains committed to prioritising resources to meet the capital
investment strategy and to replace homes lost through Right to Buy by the
planned investment in new homes. The costs associated with servicing the
HRA’s borrowing include the planned increase in borrowing to support the
£337m Council’s Housing Growth programme which will see 168 new build,
11 off-the-shelf and 44 homes through the Right of First refusal process
planned to be delivered in 2022/23. Forecast additional borrowing costs
from the capital spend on the Council House Growth Programme are £2m,
including c.£0.6m for repayment of debt specifically relating to new builds,
in line with the agreed viability assessments. This is to ensure that in the

Page 115

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
event of future sales of these new properties that the HRA is not left with
significant outstanding debt on an asset it no longer holds and enables the
maximum allowable RtB receipts to be reinvested back into future
programmes.
12.16.

Even though the net stock numbers are decreasing, the Council aims to
maintain a consistent level of investment in the HRA capital programme.
This will help ensure the overall condition of the stock is improved and help
mitigate any further disrepair pressures. The total draft capital programme
for the HRA is in excess of £80m in 2022/23. Most of the capital
programme is provided for by contributions from the revenue budget. The
revenue contribution to the capital programme required in 2022/23 is
£62.2m, an increase of £1m including £0.3m added for sheltered housing
schemes.

12.17.

It is proposed that the existing £2.3m Sheltered Housing Reserve be
transferred into the Major Repairs Reserve to support the funding of the
capital programme, as the Major Repairs Reserve which had been used as
a source of funding for many years is forecast to be fully utilised next year.
Sheltered Housing works will still take place over the medium term as
planned but will in future be funded from the mainstream capital
programme.

12.18.

The use of the Efile reserve, which resources the digitisation of Housing
Management paper files, and reducing the contribution to the general
reserve will result in additional funds of £0.4m for 2022/23.
Table 19 – Housing Revenue Account Pressures and Savings

Page 116

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
13.

Capital Programme
Table 20 - Revised Capital Programme
2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m
Major Programmes
509.0
359.6
196.8
165.9
12.4
Annual Programmes
86.7
87.6
71
67.6
63.3
595.7
447.2
267.8
233.5
75.7

Total
£m
1243.7
376.2
1619.9

13.1.

The Council’s capital programme considers the need for capital investment
against affordability within the MTFS. The programme identifies annual
programmes across the Council that aim to provide investment in assets to
ensure that the Council can continue to operate effectively. The Council
also has a number of major programmes that provide investment in line
with the Best Council Plan objectives.

13.2.

Capital investment needs are assessed on an annual basis under the
direction of the cross-council senior officer group Best Council Team:
Strategic Investment with final approval sought from Executive Board and
Full Council in February each year. Capital investment proposals that
deliver savings or generate additional income can come forward throughout
the year and are subject to a robust business case approval. Schemes
funded by external resources can also come forward throughout the year.

13.3.

A detailed review of the whole capital programme was undertaken in the
lead up to the Capital Programme being approved by Executive Board and
Full Council in February 2021, identifying reductions in the programme over
a number of years to deliver substantial savings to the revenue debt
budget. A key principle of that review was to replace borrowing with
external funding sources where possible and that principle continues in the
current year where the focus has been on supporting the delivery of
savings proposals to address the current Financial Challenge. These
proposals are reviewed to ensure that any interdependencies between
capital and revenue are given due consideration.

13.4.

Appendix 3 details the 10-year capital programme (annual programmes),
identifying increased investment proposals to be agreed as part of the
22/23 Budget.

13.5.

These proposals include:
•
additional investment under capital receipt flexibilities for the
following:
o Revenue transformational change costs, therefore supporting
the Financial Challenge - £1.8m in 21/22, £5.0m pa from 22/23;
and
o £1.14m pa from 22/23 to fund IDS costs linked to
transformational change projects; and
•
additional corporate borrowing to address the following pressures:

Page 117

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
o
o

increases to the Highways Maintenance Annual Programme £3.0m pa from 22/23; and
the reinstatement of the Highways Bridges & Structures Annual
Programme - £2.0m pa from 22/23.

13.6.

The revenue base budget for debt will be increased by £280k per annum to
fund the additional £5m per annum of corporate borrowing, and this has
been incorporated into the proposed Budget position reported here.

13.7.

An injection from the CIL Strategic Fund / an allocation from general
contingencies will be made to the Learning Places Programme to assist in
cashflowing the expected programme of works during 2022/23 to address
the current projected deficit.

13.8.

The implementation of the proposals outlined above have been factored
into the revised capital programme position summarised in Table 20.

13.9.

The proposed Budget provides for a £30.4m increase in the cost of debt
and capital financing for 2022/23. This assumes that the remaining
borrowing is taken at an average rate of 1.75% interest for the remainder of
2021/22 and at an average of 2.25% in 2022/23. Interest rate projections
will be kept under review.

13.10.

The Council recovers VAT on expenditure (capital and revenue) relating to
the Council’s statutory functions and on activities which are charged for at
the standard rate of VAT. VAT incurred on expenditure relating to activities
which are charged for and which are exempt from VAT is only recoverable
if the amount of such VAT does not exceed 5% of the Council’s total VAT
on expenditure in any one year. Examples of exempt activities are sport,
culture, land & property transactions, and crematoria. If the Council’s VAT
on expenditure relating to its exempt activities exceeds the 5% limit, all VAT
on expenditure attributable to exempt activities is irrecoverable. This would
create an additional cost to the Council of at least £7m per annum. In
addition, the Council would have to bring into account a proportion of any
VAT incurred in the prior 10 years which was attributable to exempt
activities and recovered in full at the time. Future schemes will only be
allowed to progress once the full impact of the VAT implication has been
assessed.

14.

Management of Key Risks

14.1.

Risk management

14.1.1.

The Council’s current and future financial position is subject to a number of
risk management processes. Not addressing the financial pressures in a
sustainable way, in that the Council cannot balance its Revenue Budget, is
identified as one of the Council’s corporate risks, as is the Council’s
financial position going into significant deficit in the current year resulting in
reserves (actual or projected) being less than the minimum specified by the

Page 118

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
Council’s risk-based reserves policy. Both these risks are subject to regular
review and reporting.
14.1.2.

Failure to address these issues will ultimately require the Council to
consider even more difficult decisions that will have a far greater impact on
front-line services including those that support the most vulnerable and thus
on our Best Council Plan ambition to tackle poverty and reduce inequalities.

14.1.3.

Financial management and monitoring continues to be undertaken on a
risk-based approach where financial management resources are prioritised
to support those areas of the budget that are judged to be at risk, for
example the implementation of budget action plans, those budgets which
are subject to fluctuating demand, key income budgets, etc. This risk-based
approach will continue to be included in the in-year financial reports brought
to Executive Board.

14.1.4.

In addition, risks identified in relation to specific proposals and their
management will be reported to relevant members and officers as required.
Specific risks relating to some of the assumptions contained within this
proposed Budget are identified below.

14.1.5.

The impact of COVD-19 upon the Council’s revenue budget in 2020/21 and
2021/22 has been significant and the receipt of specific financial support
from the Government has been necessary to deliver balanced budget
positions. Whilst the proposed Budget for 2022/23 provides for the ongoing
impact of COVID within both the Waste Management and Car Parking
services, any ongoing impact of COVID within other services is not
specifically budgeted for. This position assumes that there will not be a
requirement for further lockdowns and therefore the Council will not be
required to incur, with the exception of Waste Management in 2022/23,
specific additional expenditure relating to COVID-19. In addition it is
assumed that income realisable from sales, fees and charges, with the
exception of car parking income in 2022/23, return to pre-COVID levels.
However if the ongoing impact of COVID is greater than budgeted for, and
no further government support is forthcoming, then then there will be a
requirement for contingency actions to be identified and implemented.

14.1.6.

As detailed in the ‘Revenue savings proposals for 2022/23 to 2024/25’
reports considered by this Board at its September meeting and today, the
proposed Budget for 2022/23 assumes the delivery of £17.7m of budget
savings proposals, including some that are subject to consultation. There
remains a risk that there is slippage in the implementation of these
proposals or that the assumptions contained in these proposals change as
a result of the consultation exercises. This could lead to a variation in the
assumed level of savings. Should this be the case, in accordance with the
Revenue Budget principles agreed at Executive Board in July 2019 through
the ‘Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2020/21 to 2024/25’ report, directors
would need to identify budget savings options to mitigate the directorate
from going into an overspend position.
Risks to Funding

14.1.7.

The Government’s current Spending Review covers the three years until
the end of this Parliament in March 2025. Whilst the Spending Review on

Page 119

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
the 27th October 2021 provided details of the Government’s spending
intentions for this three year period, these have not yet been ratified by
Government through the annual budget process.
14.1.8.

Further to this, we await the Provisional Local Government Finance
Settlement which is anticipated to be published in mid-December. Whilst
the Spending Review 2021 provided details of the Government’s spending
plans for 2022/23 to 2024/25, the provisional Local Government Finance
Settlement in each year will confirm these details. There remains a risk that
the more detailed funding assumptions contained in the provisional
Settlement are different to the assumptions contained in the Spending
Review and this could have implications for the level of resources available
to the Council in 2022/23.

14.1.9.

The 2022/23 budget submission contains a number of assumptions about
the level of resources receivable through some specific grants. Where the
Government has yet to announce or finalise how much grant will be
receivable in 2022/23 then a number of assumptions will be made in the
determination of the budgeted figures receivable. Where the grant received
is less than assumed in the Budget then, as per the Revenue Budget
Principles approved at Executive Board in June 2019, the directorate
concerned will need to manage the reduction in both expenditure and
income through the identification and implementation of an exit.

14.1.10. Under the Business Rates Retention Scheme the Council’s local share of
business rates is exposed to risks both from collection and from reductions
in rateable values. Since 2013 two trends have become clear: firstly that
there is a lag between gradual economic recovery and significant volumes
of business new-builds in Leeds, with little growth in aggregate Rateable
Value in Leeds until 2018/19, and secondly that business rates growth that
does occur has been offset by successful appeals and other reductions to
the rating list - either through closure or Valuation Office reviews.
14.1.11. The level of business rates appeals continues to be a risk. Although the
2010 ratings list is now closed and only limited scope remains for
ratepayers to challenge that list, this is the final year of the 2017 ratings list
being in force which tends to result in a higher than normal number of
appeals to be submitted by ratings agents on behalf of their clients.
Provision will have to be made for these appeals. However, the 2017
ratings list has proven to be unusually robust compared to the 2010 ratings
list, although the impact of COVID-19 on the commercial property market
may have implications for the business rates tax base in 2023/24 when the
new ratings list will be introduced following the 2023 Revaluation.
14.1.12. Subject to its application to government being approved, for 2022/23 Leeds
will again be part of the Leeds City Region Business Rates Pool. As with
previous years’ Pools, there remains a risk that if a member authority
becomes entitled to a safety net payment, because its retained income has
fallen dramatically, then that safety net payment will no longer be received

Page 120

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
from the Government but will have to be met by other members of the Pool.
This will represent a loss of income to the region.
14.1.13. The level of council tax collected could be affected by: the increase in the
council tax base being less than assumed; collection rates being below
budgeted assumptions; Council Tax Support claimant requirements being
greater than budgeted; or a mixture of the above.
14.1.14. Business rates and Council Tax income continues to be a significant risk,
however, any losses greater than those assumed in setting the budget will
materialise through a Collection Fund and will not impact in the current
year, although this will be an issue in future financial years.
Key risks to cost and income assumptions
14.1.15. Demographic and demand pressures, particularly in Adult Social Care and
Children’s Services, could be greater than anticipated and this will impact
upon the assumptions made in the 2022/23 proposed Budget.
14.1.16. The implementation of proposed savings and additional income realisation
could be delayed. Equally, the level of savings generated and/or the level of
additional income realised could be less than that assumed in this report.
14.1.17. Inflation including the pay award and energy costs could be higher than that
assumed in this report. In addition this proposed Budget makes a number
of assumptions about the costs associated with managing the Council’s
debt. Whilst the Council has benefited from converting some of its shorter
term borrowing into longer term borrowing at record low interest rates, it still
has debt as short term rates which means that it is exposed to any upward
movement in rates which would result in an increase in costs to the
Council.
14.1.18. The Council’s and City’s economic and fiscal position is clearly impacted
upon by the wider national economic context. The impact of the UK’s
withdrawal from the EU is still largely unclear and combined with the
economy recovering from the impact of the COVID pandemic there remains
a significant degree of uncertainty as to how this will impact upon the
pound, increase inflation, reduce domestic and foreign direct investment
and impact upon borrowing costs. All of this has implications for the level of
resources available to the Council and the level of demand for the services
that it provides.
14.1.19. A full analysis of all budget risks will continue to be maintained and will be
subject to monthly review as part of the in-year monitoring and
management of the budget. Any significant and new risks and budget
variations are contained in the in-year financial health reports submitted to
the Executive Board.

Page 121

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
15.

Conclusions

15.1.

The proposed Budget for 2022/23 and the projected budgets for 2023/24
and 2024/25 need to be seen in the context of inherent uncertainty for the
Council in respect of future funding and spending assumptions. Whilst the
Government’s future spending plans with regard to local government and
other areas of the public sector were outlined in the Chancellor’s Autumn
Budget Review and Spending Review Statement to Parliament on October
27th , and further details will be provided in the Provisional Local
Government Finance Settlement in mid-December, these spending plans
will continue to be influenced by the performance of the economy following
the UK’s withdrawal from the European Union, the recovery of the economy
following the COVID-19 pandemic and the Government’s ongoing response
to the significant increase in borrowing that has been undertaken in
response to the COVID-19 pandemic.

15.2.

As a result of the pandemic the Council incurred additional expenditure in
both 2020/21 and 2021/22, whilst at the same time seeing reductions in the
level of resources available through a combination of lower forecast income
levels for both Business Rates and Council Tax and a reduction in the level
of income receivable from sales, fees and charges. Whilst the estimated
ongoing impact of COVID-19 upon the Council’s financial position has been
incorporated into the proposed Budget for 2022/23 it is assumed in 2023/24
and 2024/25 that there will be no further expenditure incurred as a result of
COVID-19 and that level of income receivable from sales, fees and charges
return to pre-COVID levels. However if the ongoing impact of COVID is
greater than budgeted for, and no further government support is
forthcoming, then then there will be a requirement for contingency actions
to be identified and implemented.

15.3.

In addition, and to compound the uncertainty over the period covered by
the Medium Term Financial Strategy, the Secretary of State for the
Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) recently
announced that the move to 75% business rates retention was not
consistent with the Government’s levelling up agenda and that instead the
government would now look at the mechanism for redistributing funding to
the authorities most in need. It is unclear how this mechanism would
operate, how it impacts upon any reset of business rates baselines and
whether it will include elements of any outcomes from the Government’s
Fair Funding review of the methodology by which funding is allocated,
which determines current funding baselines and is based on an
assessment of relative needs and resources. The timing of all these
changes to the local government finance system remain uncertain and
whether they will be introduced alongside further reforms of the business
rates system as a tax. An early resolution with regard to the future structure
of local government finance would have the advantage of adding some
stability to the funding system over the medium-term. Whilst the
Government’s White Paper for Adult Social Care, published on 1st
December 2021, provides proposals for system reform and the use of
funding generated by the Health and Social Care Levy, it does not address

Page 122

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
the wider financial sustainability of the sector or the issue of better
integration with the NHS. A further white paper is expected.
15.4.

The Council Tax section of this proposed Budget includes a 1% increase in
the Adult Social Care precept, in line with the Spending Review 2021
announcements. Should this proposed increase be reduced below the
anticipated precept amount, any shortfall will require identification of
proposals to balance this reduction. This could include using one-off
funding from the Adults and Health reserves.

15.5.

In the determination of the proposed Budget for 2022/23 and the forecast
position for 2023/24 and 2024/25 a number of assumptions have been
made as to the level of resources available to the Council. These
assumptions are under constant review to reflect any changes in
circumstances or if further information emerges in respect of known risks.

15.6.

The Spending Review 2021 indicated that there would be additional net
funding for local government in 2022/23 of around £1.5bn. Most
commentators assume that this will be split between general revenue
support and adult social care. These proposals assume that this will be split
equally and that the resources will be allocated between authorities in line
with the current distribution. Such an outcome would see Leeds receive
£9.0m in additional funding through Settlement Funding Assessment for
general revenue support and £10.1m in further funding. There are inherent
risks that either the Government does not distribute the funding assumed
without adding new duties or that a new allocation methodology is used or
that the balance between general revenue support and specific grant is
different.

15.7.

The Council’s Medium Term Strategy which was received at Executive
Board in September identified a funding gap of £65.4m for 2022/23.
Following the receipt of budget savings proposals at September’s
Executive Board and further proposals that can be found elsewhere on this
agenda, the announcement of additional resources in October’s spending
review, the review of Council Tax and Business Rates along with the use of
the Council’s Strategic Contingency reserve a balanced position for the
forthcoming financial year, 2022/23, can be presented in this report.

15.8.

The initial budget positions for 2023/24 and 2024/25 identify estimated
budget gaps of £47.8m and £15.3m respectively. The revised gaps for
these two years take into account the directorate savings proposals brought
to this Board in September and elsewhere on today’s agenda through the
reports, ‘Revenue Savings Proposals for 2022/23 to 2024/25’. Further
budget savings proposals to reduce the estimated gaps for 2023/24 and
2024/25 will be brought to this Board for consideration.

15.9.

As set out in both the Medium Term Financial Strategy 2022/23-2026/27,
and this proposed Budget report for 2022/23, the budget proposals detailed
in this report need to be viewed within the context of the longer term
approach to increase the financial sustainability, robustness and resilience

Page 123

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25
of the Council’s financial position. Specifically this is to reduce reliance
upon one funding sources to fund revenue expenditure e.g. capital receipts,
and to reduce the Council’s expenditure base so that it is affordable with
the level of resources that are available to the Council in line with the
Council’s MTFS.

Page 124

Appendix 2

2022/23

Adults &
Health

Children &
Families

City
Communities,
Development
Housing &
Environment

Resources

Strategic &
Central

Total Net
Revenue
Budget

£m

£m

£m

£m

£m

£m

£m

Net managed budget (2021/22) - RESTATED

195.21

117.02

31.02

75.53

77.39

(60.92)

435.26

Pay - Leeds City Council
Health and Social Care Levy
Employer's LGPS contribution
Fall-out of capitalised pension costs
Capitalised Pension Costs (New ELI scheme)
Wage costs - commissioned services
Inflation: General
Inflation: Electricity and Gas Tariffs
Demand and demography - Adult Social Care
Demand and demography - Children Looked After
Demand and demography - Other
Income pressures
COVID Pressures newly provided for 2022/23
COVID Pressures including fall out of 2021/22
Financial Sustainability
IDS Restructuring
Leeds 2023
Other Pressures
Debt - external interest / Minimum Revenue Provision
COVID Grants reduction
COVID Grants (Council Tax & Business Rates)
Business Rates Levy
S31 Business Rate and Council Tax Grants
Additional Funding notified at Spending Review 2021 (est.)
Integration Grant
Housing Benefit Admin Grant
Additional Contribution from WYCA
Capital Receipt Flexibilities
IDS Restructuring - Capital Receipt Flexibilities
Gainshare fall out
NHS/CCG Income
Changes in Strategic Grants
Contribution to / (from ) General Reserve
Change in Use of Earmarked Reserves

1.83
0.38
0.00
(0.24)
(0.02)
8.06
1.75
0.03
7.18

3.27
0.68
0.00
(0.12)
(0.07)
0.72
2.65
0.04

1.96
0.40
0.00
(0.09)
(0.17)

2.62
0.54
0.00
(0.29)
(0.26)

4.65
0.93
0.00
(0.88)
(0.15)

2.17
0.84

0.77
0.09

0.20
0.13

0.00

0.00

0.20
0.00
0.00

0.18
0.00

0.50

0.90
0.26
0.28

Total - cost and funding changes

14.33

Budget savings proposals
Savings identified for the 2021/22 savings strategy
Savings identified for the 2022/23 savings strategy

6.10

0.00

5.85
(8.09)
9.00

3.46
0.01

1.63

1.33

1.79
30.08
33.77
43.84
0.38
(16.70)
(10.10)

0.02
0.20
(3.00)
(5.00)
(1.14)
1.70
(5.00)

14.34
2.93
0.00
(1.61)
(0.67)
8.78
7.54
1.12
7.18
6.10
0.20
0.18
5.85
(8.09)
9.00
3.46
0.90
5.52
30.36
33.77
43.84
0.38
(16.70)
(10.10)
0.02
0.20
(3.00)
(5.00)
(1.14)
1.70
(5.00)
8.61
(3.96)
(29.70)

(2.00)

0.33

0.20

8.61
(3.96)
(28.59)

13.77

6.25

5.85

8.92

57.88

107.00

(0.41)
(10.00)

(0.08)
(0.90)

0.20
(3.70)

0.43
(1.21)

(0.50)
(1.93)

0.00
(2.73)

(0.36)
(20.46)

Total - Budget savings proposals

(10.41)

(0.98)

(3.50)

(0.78)

(2.43)

(2.73)

(20.82)

2022/23 Submission

199.14

129.82

33.77

80.60

83.88

(5.77)

521.44

Increase/(decrease) from 2021/22 £m

3.92

12.80

2.75

5.07

6.49

55.15

86.18

Increase/(decrease) from 2021/22 %

2.01%

10.94%

8.88%

6.71%

8.38%

(90.53% )

19.80%

0.35

TOTAL FUNDING AVAILABLE (Forecast Net Revenue Charge)

521.44

GAP

0.00

Page 125

10 Year Capital Programme

Appendix 3

Page 126

Appendix 4

Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and
Integration Screening
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration.
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions.
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine:
• the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration.
• whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has
already been considered, and
• whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment.
Directorate: Resources

Service area: Corporate Financial
Management

Lead person: Victoria Bradshaw

Contact number: 88540

1. Title: Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional Budgets for 2023/24 and
2024/25

Is this a:
x

Strategy / Policy

Service / Function

Other

If other, please specify

2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening
The Council is required to publish its proposed Budget two months prior to
approval of the Budget by Full Council in February 2022. The proposed Budget
report for 2022/23 sets out the Executive’s plans to deliver a balanced budget
within the overall funding envelope. It should be noted that the Budget represents
a financial plan for the forthcoming year and individual decisions to implement
these plans will be subject to equality impact assessments where appropriate.

Page 127

Appendix 4
3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
All of the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees
or the wider community – city-wide or more local. These will also have a greater/lesser
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are.
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being.
Questions
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different
equality characteristics?
Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the
policy or proposal?
Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by
whom?
Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment
practices?
Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on
• Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and
harassment
• Advancing equality of opportunity
• Fostering good relations

Yes
X

No

X
X

X

X
X
X

If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7
If you have answered yes to any of the above and;
• Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity,
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4.
• Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration within your proposal please go to section 5.
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance).
• How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration?
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected)

Page 128

Appendix 4
The proposed Budget identifies a savings requirement of £20.5m due to unavoidable
pressures such as inflation and demand/demography and the ongoing impact of COVID19. Savings proposals to bridge this gap will affect all citizens of Leeds to some extent.
The Council has consulted on its priorities in recent years and has sought to protect the
most vulnerable groups. However, the cumulative effect government funding reductions
and these unavoidable pressures means that protecting vulnerable groups is becoming
increasingly difficult. Where consultation is required and has not already commenced
with regard to the specific proposals contained in this report this will be carried out before
the final budget for 2022/23 is agreed.
• Key findings
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups,
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another)
The budget proposals will impact on all communities and protected characteristics but
those who have been identified as being at the greatest potential risk include:
•
•
•
•
•

Disabled people
BAME communities
Older and younger people and
Women
Low socio-economic groups

The proposed Budget has identified the need for staffing savings in all areas of the
Council which may impact on the workforce profile in terms of the at-risk groups. There
may be some impact on our partners, for example through commissioning, which may
have a knock on effect for our most vulnerable groups.
• Actions
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact)
Equality screening has already been carried out for all of the relevant budget savings
proposals included in the position set out in this report. An overall strategic equality
impact assessment of the budget will be undertaken prior to its approval in February
2022.
There will also be equality impact assessments on all key decisions as they go through
the decision making process in 2022/23.

5. If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment.
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment:
Date to complete your impact assessment

Page 129

Appendix 4
Lead person for your impact assessment
(Include name and job title)

6. Governance, ownership and approval
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening
Name
Job title
Date
Victoria Bradshaw
Chief Officer Financial
6.12.21
Services
Date screening completed
6.12.21

7. Publishing
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated Decisions or
a Significant Operational Decision.
A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision
making report:
• Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full
Council.
• The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions and
Significant Operational Decisions.
• A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be sent
to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk for record.
Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached screening
was sent:
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to
Date sent: 6.12.21
Governance Services
For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate

Date sent:

All other decisions – sent to
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk

Date sent:

Page 130

Report author: Victoria Bradshaw
Tel: 88540

Revenue savings proposals for 2022/23 to 2024/25
Date: 22nd September 2021
Report of: Chief Officer Financial Services
Report to: Executive Board
☒ Yes ☐ No

Will the decision be open for call in?
Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐ Yes ☒ No

What is this report about?
•

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23-2026/27 which is included elsewhere on this agenda
reports an estimated revenue budget gap of £126.7m over the three years 2022/23 to 2024/25: £65.4m
in 2022/23, £48.1m in 2023/24 and £13.3m in 2024/25 (all figures rounded). This position includes a
number of assumptions around external factors that significantly impact on the council’s income and
expenditure but remain subject to considerable uncertainty - such as COVID-19, the economy, national
policy and the upcoming three-year Spending Review - and so will continue to be reviewed on an
ongoing basis.

•

Building on the Financial Challenge savings programme carried out last year which resulted in £56m of
budgeted savings and contributed to the setting of a balanced budget for 2021/22, the council has
established a new Financial Challenge savings programme focused on identifying robust and
sustainable savings not just to help close the gap for 2022/23 but for the following years 2023/24 and
2024/25 too. This approach enables the authority to take a longer-term view of its savings options,
recognising that major change often requires one- to two-years’ lead time to implement. As such, the
savings proposals set out in this report for Executive Board’s consideration span the next three financial
years.

•

Reviews are underway across all council services: some cross-cutting (such as procurement) whilst
others are focused on specific services or activities. The cross-council senior officer group established
in 2020 to provide support and ensure a co-ordinated, consistent approach across the Financial
Challenge programme, has been reconvened. Further support and challenge to identify new proposals
and consider options put forwards by officers is again being provided by Scrutiny Board working groups.
The outcome of this work has, and will continue to, provide a number of savings proposals for
consideration by the Executive Board during the Autumn of 2021. Those approved for implementation,
or consultation as required, will subsequently be built into the 2022/23 Budget and Provisional Budget
for 2023/24 and 2024/25.

•

For the Board’s consideration today, the Financial Challenge reviews have so far identified £20.6m
potential savings over the next three years: £7.0m in 2022/23, £7.5m in 2023/24 and £6.0m in 2024/25.
The proposals are categorised as either ‘Business as Usual’ (BAU) which can be implemented within
the council’s delegated decision-making framework and without consultation, or ‘Service Reviews’
which may require meaningful consultation with relevant stakeholders prior to any decisions being
taken. The results of any such consultation with staff, trade unions, service users and the public will be
used to inform the final decision.

•

A summary of today’s proposals is provided at Table 1, showing the split between BAU proposals and
Service Reviews. The BAUs can be further categorised into key themes around Value for Money (VfM)
efficiencies in the way we work (for example, through increased digitalisation) and in our procurement
and commissioning arrangements; income generation opportunities, such as increasing our traded
services; or accounting for inflationary changes.

Page 131

Table 1 - Overview of proposals
Savings proposals
Business as Usual
VfM efficiencies - the way we work
VfM - procurement / commissioning
Income generation opportunities
Inflationary changes
Total BAUs
Total Service Reviews

Total proposals
•

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
£'000s
£'000s
£'000s

Total
£'000s

-2,453
-1,000
-2,475
-725
-6,653

-1,325
-1,230
-1,430
0
-3,985

-1,665
-1,125
-1,260
0
-4,050

-5,443
-3,355
-5,165
-725
-14,688

-380

-3,564

-1,972

-5,916

-7,033

-7,549

-6,022

-20,604

Three Service Reviews are proposed:
o
o
o

Reduction in grants and contracts to five third sector organisations supporting older people and
other client groups
In-house strategic mental health review
Diversifying children’s residential provision

•

Further information, including equality, diversity, cohesion and integration screening documents, for
each of these Service Review proposals is included at Appendix 1.

•

Table 2 presents the overall impact of the savings proposals for each council directorate.

Table 2 – Directorate savings
Directorate proposals
Business as Usual

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
£'000s
£'000s
£'000s

Total
£'000s

-2,845
0
-1,794
-913
-1,101
-6,653

-2,950
0
-100
-240
-695
-3,985

-3,250
0
-50
-30
-720
-4,050

-9,045
0
-1,944
-1,183
-2,516
-14,688

-85
-295
0
0
0
-380

-85
-3,479
0
0
0
-3,564

-50
-1,922
0
0
0
-1,972

-220
-5,696
0
0
0
-5,916

Adults & Health
Children & Families
City Development
Communities, Housing & Envt
Resources

-2,930
-295
-1,794
-913
-1,101

-3,035
-3,479
-100
-240
-695

-3,300
-1,922
-50
-30
-720

-9,265
-5,696
-1,944
-1,183
-2,516

Total proposals

-7,033

-7,549

-6,022

-20,604

Adults & Health
Children & Families
City Development
Communities, Housing & Envt
Resources

Total
Service reviews
Adults & Health
Children & Families
City Development
Communities, Housing & Envt
Resources

Total
All proposals

Page 132

•

Table 3 shows the impact on the estimated budget gap for 2022/23 to 2024/25 if these proposals are
approved.

Table 3 - Budget gap

MTFS gap currently estimated
September EB proposals

Revised gap

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
£'000s
£'000s
£'000s

Total
£'000s

-65,353
-7,033

-48,068
-7,549

-13,267
-6,022

-126,689
-20,604

-58,320

-40,519

-7,245

-106,085

•

Further reports will be brought to this Board in November and December setting out additional savings
proposals to further reduce the three-year gap. A strategic approach with regard to the level of savings
which can be achieved in 2022/23 is currently being considered with further measures being explored
that will factor in the implications of the forthcoming Autumn Budget and Spending Review 2021 and
subsequent local government provisional financial settlement in December. The updated financial
position will be reported to this Board in December through the Proposed Budget for 2022/23 report.

•

Our strategic ambitions and priorities for the city and the council as set out in the Best Council Plan can
only be delivered through a sound understanding of the organisation’s longer-term financial
sustainability. This enables decisions to be made that balance the resource implications of the council’s
policies against financial constraints. To help mitigate the pressures on the authority’s financial
sustainability, it is essential that the proposals contained in this report are considered in order that the
council’s strategic priorities can continue to be delivered within a robust financial framework.

Recommendations
Executive Board is requested to:
a) Note the financial position for 2022/23 to 2024/25 outlined in this report and that further savings are
required to deliver a balanced budget position for 2022/23 and close the projected gaps in the years
2023/24 and 2024/25.
b) Note the ‘Business as Usual’ savings and that decisions to give effect to them shall be taken by the
relevant Director or Chief Officer in accordance with the Officer Delegation Scheme (Executive
functions); and
c) Agree that consultation commences where required with regard to the ‘Service Review’ proposals
and note that decisions to give effect to them shall be taken by the relevant Director or Chief Officer,
following any consultation period, in accordance with the Officer Delegation Scheme (Executive
functions).

Why is the proposal being put forward?
1 This report details the actions underway and proposed to address the financial gap for 2022/23-2024/25
which is currently estimated at £126.7m. It presents a number of savings proposals to contribute to
closing the gap over that three-year period and achieving a balanced budget for 2022/23 (a legal
requirement for local authorities). Where appropriate, the report also seeks agreement to begin
meaningful consultation with staff, trade unions, service users and the public as required.
Wards affected: None
Have ward members been consulted?

☐ Yes

☐ No

☒ N/A

What impact will this proposal have?
2

The Financial Challenge savings programme aims to protect services that support the most vulnerable
whilst ensuring that the organisation becomes more financially resilient and sustainable for the future.
However, the scale of the gap over the next three years is unprecedented and closing it is likely to mean

Page 133

difficult decisions will have to be taken that will impact across the council’s services, affecting service
users, residents, businesses, partners and staff.

What consultation and engagement has taken place?
3

Senior officers and elected members have been engaged in developing the savings proposals set out in
today’s report. Trade unions have been informed in headline terms of the emerging proposals.

4

The majority of the proposals are classed as ‘Business as Usual’ (BAU) that do not require consultation
to implement: for example, they relate to improving the efficiency of the service, are cost reduction
measures with no impact on service users or, where there are budgeted staffing reductions, these are
anticipated to be met through deletion of vacant posts or voluntary means, as has been collectively
agreed. Where voluntary measures have a modest and/or residual impact on the workforce, local / BAU
consultation would be expected.

5

The ‘Service Review’ proposals are of more significance and therefore may require meaningful
consultation with staff, trade unions, service users and the public as appropriate prior to any decisions
being taken.

6

Scrutiny Boards will also be considering the proposals as relevant to their remits through their October
meetings.

7

The outcomes of any consultation will inform the council’s decision-making and be incorporated into the
2022/23 to 2024/25 Budget Report timetabled for initial consideration at December’s Executive Board.

What are the resource implications?
8

The financial implications are set out earlier in the report.

9

In accordance with our statutory requirements, in February 2021 the council served notice under Section
188 of the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992 (TULR(C)A) to collectively
consult with our recognised Trade Unions to avoid, reduce and mitigate the potential risk and
consequences of compulsory redundancies. In the context of further potential staffing reductions that
may be required to deliver the significant level of savings needed, we anticipate the need to serve a
further Section 188 notice in February 2022 following Full Council approval of the 2022/23 Revenue
Budget.

What are the legal implications?
10 Decisions giving effect to the Business as Usual proposals included in this report can be taken by the
relevant Director or Chief Officer in accordance with the Officer Scheme of delegation (Executive
functions) and will be subject to the Executive and decision – making procedure rules. Notice of any
decision which is “Key” will be published on the list of forthcoming decision not less than 28 clear
calendar days in advance of the date of the proposed decision.
11 Decisions giving effect to the Service Reviews will be made following the outcome of consultation having
regard to representations made. Decisions will be taken by the relevant Director or Chief Officer
following the procedure set out in the previous paragraph, save where the Leader or the relevant
Portfolio Holder has directed or the Director considers that the matter should be referred to Executive
Board for consideration.
12 As a decision of Executive Board, the recommendations in this report are eligible for call-in.
13 The Equality Act 2010 requires the Council to have “due regard” to the need to eliminate unlawful
discrimination and promote equality of opportunity. The law requires that the duty to pay “due regard” be
demonstrated in the decision-making process. Assessing the potential equality impact of proposed
changes to policies, procedures and practices is one of the key ways in which public authorities can
show due regard.
14 The council is fully committed to ensuring that equality and diversity are given proper consideration
when we develop policies and make decisions. In order to achieve this, the council has an agreed
process in place and has particularly promoted the importance of the process when taking forward key
policy or budgetary changes. Equality impact assessments also ensure that we make well informed
decisions based on robust evidence.

Page 134

15 Equality impact screenings have been carried out on the service review savings proposals and included
with those proposals at Appendix 1. Where appropriate, equality impact assessments will be carried out
as part of the decision-making process.

What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
16 As detailed in the updated Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022/23-2026/27, the financial projections
for the coming years contain a number of inherent risks even without taking account of the ongoing
impact of COVID-19. These include risks associated with budgets which are subject to fluctuating
demand and demographic pressures and key income budgets that rely upon the number of users of a
service. In addition the approved Budget assume a level of resources receivable through council tax,
business rates and government grants.
17 The financial position going forward therefore makes a number of assumptions around income and
expenditure; any variations from these assumptions has implications for the level of resources available
to the council to fund services.
18 There also remain uncertainties around the impacts of the government’s Spending Review 2021 (due to
be outlined alongside the Chancellor’s Autumn Budget speech on 27th October), business rates reform
and Fair Funding Review.
19 These risks and assumptions will be subject to review as more information becomes available and
through the council’s financial management, monitoring and reporting processes.
20 This report includes budget saving proposals that will be subject to consultation. There remains a risk
that there is slippage in the implementation of these proposals or that the assumptions contained in
these proposals change as a result of the consultation exercises. This could lead to a variation in the
assumed level of savings and the council’s ability to set a balanced budget for 2022/23.

Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars?
☒ Inclusive Growth

☒ Health and Wellbeing

☒ Climate Emergency

21 As noted above, the council’s strategic vision, underpinned by the three pillars, can only be delivered
through a sound understanding of the organisation’s longer-term financial sustainability, this enabling
decisions to be made that balance the resource implications of the council’s policies against its financial
constraints.

Options, timescales and measuring success
What other options were considered?
22 All options are being considered to contribute to the council achieving a balanced budget for 2022/23
and a sustainable medium-term financial position, whilst protecting as far as possible those services that
support the most vulnerable.

How will success be measured?
23 As above, setting a balanced budget and achieving a sustainable medium-term financial position.
What is the timetable for implementation?
24 Savings proposals approved today for implementation, or consultation as required, will subsequently be
built into the 2022/23 Budget and Provisional Budget for 2023/24 and 2024/25 for consideration at this
Board prior to approval at Full Council in February 2022.

Appendices
25 Appendix 1 details the Service Review proposals with accompanying equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration screening documents.

Background papers
26 None

Page 135

Appendix 1

Service review savings proposal
Report to: Executive Board
Date of meeting: 22nd September 2021
Report author(s): James Woodhead, Head of Commissioning, Adults & Health
Report of: Director of Adults & Health
Executive Portfolio(s): Adult & Children’s Social Care and Health Partnerships (Cllr Venner)
Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? No
Reduction in grants and contracts to five third sector
organisations supporting older people and other client groups

Proposal title:

Projected savings / additional income (net of investment)
Year
2022/23
2023/24
Saving / £’000s
-35.5
-35.5
Who are you expecting to
consult with?

Service users?
Staff?
Other stakeholders?

Are there equalities implications?
If yes, have you attached a screening document?

2024/25
0

No
No
Yes – the individual third sector
organisations in question and Forum
Central
Yes
Yes

Executive Summary
This proposal is for a flat 10% recurrent reduction in funding to the following older people’s and
other third sector organisations who did not receive a 10% funding reduction in 2021/22:
LCC annual
funding value

10% reduction
FYE

Age UK Leeds

£42,399

£4,240

Trinity Network

£86,996

£8,700

Community Links
(LCC component)-

£180,500

£18,050

Organisation

Page 136

Service
This a grant contribution towards the
organisation costs which support the
wider work of Age UK Leeds
A grant contribution towards Trinity
Network which provides day
opportunities and luncheon clubs to
older people from its two sites in Belle
Isle and Dewsbury Road. It also
produces and sells meals to a number of
independent luncheon clubs across the
city.
A partnership between Community
Links and Carers Leeds - offers a range

Organisation
Young Dementia
service

LCC annual
funding value

10% reduction
FYE

Touchstone - Sikh
Elders

£63,248

£6,325

Advonet (nonstatutory element)

£337,000

£33,700

Total

£71,014

Service
of support, connecting people to groups
and activities within their community
helping people to live well with
dementia incl. 1:1 support or small
group activities offering a short break
for family and carers.
The Young Dementia Leeds Hub based
in Cottingley offers day respite for
younger people living with dementia,
providing a structured programme of
activities, taking a more creative, less
traditional approach to day care.
Open access service.
Aims to improve the health and wellbeing of Sikh Elders by supporting them
to live independently. A dedicated
Punjabi speaking team who provide
specialised provision and support.
Provide advocacy across a range of
client groups to people in Leeds.

The proposal is subject to consultation with those organisations as to the impact of the saving on their
service users and on their sustainability as organisations. The implementation of any agreed cost
savings following consultation would require six months to those organisations in line with the Leeds
Third Sector Compact.
LCC would work in partnership with Forum Central and Voluntary Action Leeds to provide support and
advice to the organisations in realising the 10% savings with the minimum impact on service users and
the organisation and also support to explore alternative funding sources.

Recommendations
Executive Board is requested to:
•

Consider the proposal to reduce funding to five third sector organisations (Age UK; Trinity
Network; Community Links (LCC component) – Young Dementia Service; Touchstone – Sikh
Elders; and Advonet - non-statutory element) by 10% with a total half year savings effect in
2022/23 of £35,500 and a full year effect in 2023/24 and beyond of £71,000 per annum;

•

Approve the proposal going out to consultation as part of the council’s Medium-Term
Financial Strategy and preparation for setting the 2022/23 Budget; and

•

Note that the Director of Adults & Health will be responsible.

Page 137

Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and
Integration Screening
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration.
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions.
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine:
• the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration.
• whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has
already been considered, and
• whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment.
Directorate: Adults & Health

Service area: Integrated Commissioning

Lead person: Lisa Hanson

Contact number: 07891 273480

1. Title: Savings Proposals for Strategic Commissioning (Older Adults) Reduction in grants and contracts to five third sector organisations supporting
older people and other client groups
Is this a:
Strategy / Policy

x

Service / Function

Other

If other, please specify
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening
This assessment is screening the proposals to make 10% funding reductions across
a further five grant and contract arrangements, namely: Age UK Leeds, Trinity
Network, Community Links (LCC component of the Young Dementia service),
Touchstone (Sikh Elders Service), and; Advonet (non-statutory element). This
proposal represents a 10% reduction in the overall LCC funding of these
discretionary services.
In terms of the services themselves and what the LCC funding contributes towards:
Age UK Leeds - This is a grant contribution towards the organisation’s core costs
and supports the overall work of Age UK Leeds in supporting older people across the
city.
Trinity Network – The grant contributes towards the provision of day opportunities
and luncheon clubs predominantly offered to older people living in and around the
Belle Isle area of Leeds/Middleton Park Ward.
EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 138

1

Community Links - Young Dementia service – This contract is for a range of support
for adults with dementia and their family/carers. This includes connecting people to
groups and activities within their community helping people to live well with
dementia, including 1:1 support or small group activities. The Young Dementia
Leeds Hub based in Cottingley offers day respite for younger people living with
dementia, providing a structured programme of activities, taking a more creative,
less traditional approach to day care.
Touchstone - Sikh Elders – A contract that aims to improve the health and wellbeing
of older members of the Sikh community by supporting them to live independently.
This involves a dedicated Punjabi speaking team who provide specialised provision
and support.
Advonet (non-statutory element) – this contract includes the provision of short-term
issue-based advocacy across a range of all client groups in Leeds

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or
the wider community – city wide or more local. These will also have a greater/lesser
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are.
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being.
Questions
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different
equality characteristics?
Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the
policy or proposal?
Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by
whom?
Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment
practices?
Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on
• Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and
harassment
• Advancing equality of opportunity
• Fostering good relations

Yes
X

No

X
X
X
X

If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7
If you have answered yes to any of the above and;
• Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity,
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4.
• Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration within your proposal please go to section 5.
EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 139

2

4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance).
- How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration?(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected,
equality related information, gaps in information and plans to address,
consultation and engagementactivities (taken place or planned) with those likely
to be affected)
The impacts will be on Leeds citizens who receive support and/or connect with others
through the named voluntary sector partners who across them provide services for
adults who are either disabled;have other support needs or needs associated with
older age. The services effected through this proposal provide support to people
through a range of means that maintains those individuals’ independence in the
community and promotes their health and wellbeing.
Proposals would affect the revenue available to organisations and it is thought that the
reductions proposed could be managed without potential disruption and negative
impact on service users and staff. This however is not certain as these are small
funding streams, therefore any reduction considered must be consulted and negotiated
potentially.
Furthermore, third sector organisations attract funding from other external sources and
COVID-19 has had an impact on these funding opportunities. The full impact of these
proposals would therefore only be fully understood once the detail of how the saving
would be realised has been agreed on a service-by-service basis.
The services provided generally support older adults, though will also benefit younger
adults and carers. Any reduction to the funding for these services may affect these
groups of individuals, however it is hoped that these impacts can be mitigated through
continued consultation and engagement with the service providers and stakeholders
with a view to working flexibly and innovatively, reviewing delivery and expectations to
ensure minimal impact – however this cannot be confirmed at this stage.
Overall Leeds City Council continues to invest in the third sector and preventative
services, with a range of support offered across a number of organisations all across
the city.
• Key findings
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups,
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another)
EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 140

3

Between them the services facing potential funding reductions under these
proposals include services providing support to:
- older people
- people with dementia
- specific BAME communities
- people and families involved in offering informal care
- people with mental health needs
- disabled people
The full impact of even a 10% reduction in funding income to these organisations will
not be known until detailed impact analysis is carried out with those providers,
however possible key impacts will be;
- the continued ability to deliver the level of service to the same number of people
- a change to the type of service which is offered
- cessation of certain activity/advice/guidance/support offered within the community
- viability of continued service
• Actions
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact)
-

-

On a service-by-service basis, work with each third sector provider to identify how
a funding reduction will be implemented whilst minimising the impact on service
users.
Signpost organisations to support and advice to help them manage the changes;
including support to identify alternative funding streams
Undertake further work with Forum Central, as the health and care third
sector infrastructure support, to identify how any reductions in service
resulting from the funding reductions could be picked up within the wider
sector
Work with providers to identify Asset Based community alternatives to
their service

5. If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment.
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment:

N/A

Date to complete your impact assessment

N/A

Lead person for your impact assessment
(Include name and job title)

N/A

6. Governance, ownership and approval
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening
Name
Job title
Date
Lisa Hanson
Project Lead, Older
08/09/2021
People’s Commissioning
Date screening completed
08/09/2021
EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 141

4

7. Publishing
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated Decisions or
a Significant Operational Decision.
A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision
making report:
• Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full
Council.
• The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions and
Significant Operational Decisions.
• A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be sent
to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk for record.
Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached screening
was sent:
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to
Date sent: n/a
Governance Services
For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate

Date sent:

All other decisions – sent to
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk

Date sent: n/a

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 142

5

Service review savings proposal
Report to: Executive Board
Date of meeting: 22nd September 2021
Report author(s): Aidan Smith/Debbie Ramskill
Report of: Director of Adults & Health
Executive Portfolio(s): Adult & Children’s Social Care and Health Partnerships (Cllr Venner)
Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? No
Proposal title:

In-House Strategic Mental Health Review

Projected savings / additional income (net of investment)
Year
2022/23
2023/24
Saving / £’000s
-50
-50
Who are you expecting to
consult with?

Service users?
Staff?
Other stakeholders?

Are there equalities implications?
If yes, have you attached a screening document?

2024/25
-50

Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes

Executive Summary
This proposal is the strategic review of the LA in-house mental health provision with a view to
looking at specific areas of delivery to create efficiency savings. The areas for consideration are:
•

Maximising in-house accommodation capacity to meet statutory mental health demand

•

Maximise income from health partners who utilise LA in house mental health
accommodation

•

Reduce the in-house void level fees associated with ILP properties

•

Improving move on throughout in-house accommodation to greater independence and
release accommodation capacity for the mental health care pathway

•

More efficient and creative use of the IMPACT floating support service

Savings are likely to be around 50k for 2022/23, 2023/24 and 2024/25.

Impacts of proposal
The service will, wherever possible, seek to avoid any unintended consequences of any proposals
developed, though only a small number of current customers are unlikely to be directly affected.
However any changes to move on from accommodation within in house capacity will be considered
and will require consultation. In addition, there would be little impact on staff and the service would
seek to engage staff in any new ways of working.

Page 143

Potential impacts of this work will be felt across the mental health system and through improved
strategic alignment of in-house mental health accommodation, impacts would be mostly positive.
A detailed review of this proposal will be required to understand the possible impacts and the levels
of engagement and consultation required to realise potential savings.
The responsible individual for delivery of this proposal is Cath Roff, Director Adults & Health with
support from Shona McFarlane, Deputy Director Social Work & Social Care Services, Debbie Ramskill,
Head of Care Delivery and Aidan Smith, Head of Commissioning, Working Age Adults.

Recommendations
Executive Board is requested to:
•

Consider the proposal to carry out an In-House Strategic MH Review & deliver net savings in
22/23, 23/24 and 24/25;

•

Approve the proposal going out to consultation as part of the council’s Medium-Term
Financial Strategy and preparation for setting the 2022/23 Budget; and

•

Note that the Director of Adults & Health will be responsible.

Page 144

Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and
Integration Screening
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration.
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions.
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine:
• the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration.
• whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being or has
already been considered, and
• whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment.
Directorate: Adults & Health

Service area: Care Delivery Service

Lead person: Aidan Smith/Debbie Ramskill

Contact number: 07891 279039

1. Title: In-House Strategic Mental Health Review
Is this a:
Strategy / Policy

X

Service / Function

Other

If other, please specify
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening
This EDCI is screening the request to Executive Board to approve the following:
• Maximising in-house accommodation capacity to meet statutory mental health
demand
• Maximise income from health partners who utilise LA in house accommodation
• Reduce the in-house void level fees associated with ILP properties
• Improving move on throughout in-house accommodation to greater
independence and release accommodation capacity for the MH care pathway.
• More efficient and creative use of the IMPACT floating support service

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 145

1

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
All the council’s strategies and policies, service and functions affect customers,
employees or the wider community - city wide or more local. These will also have a
greater or lesser relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are.
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being.
Questions
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different
equality characteristics?
Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the
policy or proposal?
Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by
whom?
Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment
practices?
Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on
• Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and
harassment
• Advancing equality of opportunity
• Fostering good relations

Yes
x

No
x

x
x
x

If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7
If you have answered yes to any of the above and;
• Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity,
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4.
• Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration within your proposal please go to section 5.
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance).
• How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration?
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected)
The Service review Proposal summaries those groups who would be affected by the
EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 146

2

proposals; in particular the customers/residents of support and staff who provide the care
and support.
Women make up a very large proportion of the workforce.
A full EDCI assessment will be carried out upon a decision by Executive Board to
approve the proposals. In addition, a full EDCI on organisational change will consider
impacts on staff.
• Key findings
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups,
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another)
Full EDCI to be carried out.
• Actions
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact)
Full EDCI to be carried out.
5. If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment.
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment:
Date to complete your impact assessment

November 2021 (subject to
Executive Board decision).
December 2021

Lead person for your impact assessment
(Include name and job title)

Aidan Smith/Debbie Ramskill,
Head of Service

6. Governance, ownership and approval
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening
Name
Job title
Date
Shona MacFarlane
Deputy Director
September 2021
Date screening completed
September 2021
7. Publishing
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated Decisions or
a Significant Operational Decision.
A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision
making report:
• Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full
EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 147

3

•
•

Council.
The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions and
Significant Operational Decisions.
A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be sent
to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk for record.

Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached screening
was sent:
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to
Date sent:
Governance Services
For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate

Date sent:

All other decisions – sent to
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk

Date sent:

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 148

4

Service review savings proposal
Report to: Executive Board
Date of meeting: 22nd September 2021
Report author(s): Joel Hanna (Head of Service Children Looked After), Ben Finley (Deputy Head of
Service Corporate Parenting), Louise Hornsey (Senior Head of Finance)
Report of: Director of Children and Families
Executive Portfolio(s): Adult and Children’s Social Care and Health Partnerships (Cllr Venner)
Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? No
Proposal title:

Diversifying Children’s Residential Provision

Projected savings / additional income (net of investment)
Year
2022/23
2023/24
Saving / £’000s
-295
-3,479

Who are you expecting to
consult with?

Service users?
Staff?
Other stakeholders?

Are there equalities implications?
If yes, have you attached a screening document?

2024/25
-1,922

Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes

Executive Summary
This ‘service review savings proposal’ sets out the business case for investing in our fostering and
residential services to continue to improve outcomes for children and generate savings across our
children and family’s placement budgets.
We recognise that children do best when they live in family-based care. This experience of family life
compared with more institutionalised arrangements is known to be significantly better and their lives
as children, adults and then as parents themselves are improved by this experience.
For a small number of children, currently less than 100, their needs mean that family-based care isn’t
right for them or they are not able to manage in those situations at times in their life. In those
circumstances children are looked after in residential care. The focus of our work with children in
these circumstances is to help prepare them for family life.
These proposals to invest in our fostering and residential provision are based on an analysis of the
needs of children in our care. The proposals aim to create increased in-house capacity for children and
young people to reduce reliance on externally commissioned fostering and residential placements.
This will be achieved by reviewing our payment and support structure and introducing foster
placements that can manage and support the needs of more complex children. In addition, we will
establish four new residential hubs that will provide care for up to 16 children.

Page 149

The fostering proposals will create greater resilience in placement stability, reducing the need for
children to move to residential care and the additional levels of fostering capacity will provide skilled
carers who can help children and young people move out of residential care and into longer-term
family-based care. The residential hubs will provide additional capacity to support children with higher
level needs and in turn create capacity in our 4 person homes for those young people who can manage
this level of care.
These strengthened arrangements will provide a broader range and more resilient placements to
improve stability and to return more children to in-house placements improving their outcomes and
creating savings over a number of years following full implementation.

Recommendations
Executive Board is requested to:
•

Consider the proposal to develop our residential care home offer through the development of 4
residential hubs.

•

Consider the proposal to review the support and payment structure for foster placements
including the introduction of a placement type at a higher rate of fees with the expectation of
returning children from residential care to family-based living.

•

Approve the proposal going out to consultation as part of the council’s Medium-Term Financial
Strategy and preparation for setting the 2022/23 Budget.

•

Note that the Director of Children and Families will be responsible for implementation.

Page 150

Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and
Integration (EDCI) screening
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration.
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions.
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine:
• the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration.
• whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being or has
already been considered, and
• whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment.
Directorate: Children and Families

Service area: Corporate Parenting

Lead person: Joel Hanna

Contact number:
83643

1. Title:
Is this a:
x

Diversifying Children’s Residential Provision

Strategy / Policy

x

Service / Function

Other

If other, please specify
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening
1 – the introduction of a new approach and expansion to our children’s residential care
2 – changes to the pay and remuneration levels of foster carers
3 – changes to the skills and grades of foster carers
4 – increased capacity in the fostering service

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
All the council’s strategies and policies, service and functions affect service users,
employees or the wider community – city wide or more local. These will also have a
greater or lesser relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are.
EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 151

1

When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being.
Questions
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different
equality characteristics?
Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the
policy or proposal?
Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by
whom?
Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment
practices?
Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on
• Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and
harassment
• Advancing equality of opportunity
• Fostering good relations

Yes

No
*

*
*
*
*

If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7
If you have answered yes to any of the above and;
• Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity,
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4.
• Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration within your proposal please go to section 5.

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 152

2

4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance).
• How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration?
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected)
1 – These changes relate to establishing new residential care for children. This will be
available to all and is an approach that we believe will improve outcomes for children,
promoting their integration and overall social cohesion.
2,3,4 – these changes will be applied consistently across the foster carer cohort. We
recognise the need to continue to develop diversity within the Fostering Service and have
a specific action plan in place to do this.
• Key findings
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups,
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another)
These changes are for the children looked after by Leeds. They will increase the
potential to provide the best quality care for them and improve their outcomes.
There may be local concern as we look to open new children’s homes, but this will be
managed through local engagement by the project leads and through active work with
elected members and children’s champions through the city’s Corporate Parenting Board.
• Actions
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact)
We will actively engage with stakeholders (young people, staff and foster carers) and with
communities as we consult on potential changes.

5. If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment.
EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 153

3

Date to scope and plan your impact assessment:
Date to complete your impact assessment
Lead person for your impact assessment
(Include name and job title)
6. Governance, ownership and approval
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening
Name
Job title
Date
Date screening completed
7. Publishing
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated Decisions or
a Significant Operational Decision.
A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision
making report:
• Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full
Council.
• The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions and
Significant Operational Decisions.
• A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be sent
to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk for record.
Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached screening
was sent:
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to
Date sent:
Governance Services
For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate

Date sent:

All other decisions – sent to
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk

Date sent:

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 154

4

Report author: Victoria Bradshaw
Tel: 88540

Revenue savings proposals for 2022/23 to 2024/25
Date: 15th December 2021
Report of: Chief Officer Financial Services
Report to: Executive Board
☒ Yes ☐ No

Will the decision be open for call in?
Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐ Yes ☒ No

What is this report about?
•

At its September 2021 meeting, the Executive Board received the council’s updated Medium-Term
Financial Strategy which reported an estimated revenue budget gap of £126.7m over the three years
2022/23 to 2024/25: £65.4m in 2022/23, £48.1m in 2023/24 and £13.3m in 2024/25 (all figures
rounded). This position included a number of assumptions around external factors that significantly
impact on the council’s income and expenditure but remain subject to considerable uncertainty - such
as COVID-19, the economy and national policy - and so will continue to be reviewed on an ongoing
basis. (The ‘Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25’ report
elsewhere on this agenda provides an update on the Financial Position over these years taking into
consideration the savings presented to September and this Executive Board.)

•

At the same September Executive Board meeting, the ‘Revenue savings proposals’ report noted that
the council had agreed to have a programme focused on identifying robust and sustainable savings
over the three years 2022/23 to 2024/25. This approach enables the authority to take a longer-term
view of its savings options, recognising that major change often requires one- to two-years’ lead time to
implement.

•

Reviews are underway across all council services: some cross-cutting (such as procurement) whilst
others are focused on specific services or activities. The cross-council senior officer group established
in 2020 to provide support and ensure a co-ordinated, consistent approach across the Financial
Challenge programme, has been reconvened. The outcome of this work has led to a number of savings
proposals, the first set of which were considered by this Board in September, the second set presented
today.

•

Proposals are categorised as either ‘Business as Usual’ (BAU) which can be implemented within the
council’s delegated decision-making framework and without consultation, or ‘Service Reviews’ which
may require meaningful consultation with relevant stakeholders prior to any decisions being taken. The
results of any such consultation with staff, trade unions, service users and the public will be used to
inform the final decision.

•

The initial set of savings proposals approved at September’s Executive board total -£20.6m over the
next three years. For the Board’s consideration at this December meeting, a further -£11.1m are
proposed over this period: -£10.7m in 2022/23, -£2.1m in 2023/24 and £1.6m in 2024/25. The
combined effect of the September and December savings proposals is -£31.7m over the next three
years: -£17.7m in 2022/23, -£9.6m in 2023/24 and -£4.4m in 2024/25.

•

A summary of December’s savings proposals is provided at Table 1, showing the split between BAU
proposals and Service Reviews. The BAUs can be further categorised into key themes around Value

Page 155

for Money (VfM) efficiencies in the way we work (for example, through increased digitalisation) and in
our procurement and commissioning arrangements; income generation opportunities, such as
increasing our traded services; use of reserves; or accounting for inflationary changes.

Table 1 - Overview of proposals by type, December Executive Board
Savings proposals
Business as Usual
VfM efficiencies - the way we work
VfM - procurement / commissioning
Income generation opportunities
Inflationary changes
Use of reserves
Total BAUs
Total Service Reviews

Total proposals

•

2022/23
£'000s

2023/24
£'000s

2024/25
£'000s

Total
£'000s

-3,141
-1,270
-1,728
0
-3,035
-9,174

-47
-345
-217
0
-265
-874

-51
-330
-150
0
3,300
2,769

-3,239
-1,945
-2,095
0
0
-7,279

-1,525

-1,210

-1,120

-3,855

-10,699

-2,084

1,649

-11,134

Two Service Reviews are proposed today:
o

A Review of Adult Social Work Provision, with areas for consideration being:
 Changes to Social Care at “the front door” to maximise capacity to meet growing demand for
information, advice and a social care assessment of needs, embedding an “independence
first” approach that uses Occupational Therapy staff.
 Changes to Social Work Reviewing Functions to maximise capacity to meet statutory social
care duties by piloting a new Community Reviewing Team. This will include Occupational
Therapy and Social Work staff to enhance the capacity of the current Adult Reviewing Team
in order to deliver an increased reviewing schedule thereby right-sizing care packages.

o

Leeds Museums & Galleries Invest to Save: Kirkstall Abbey Admissions (Non-Leeds Residents)
and Café

•

Further information, including equality, diversity, cohesion and integration screening documents, for
each of these Service Review proposals is included at Appendix 1.

•

Table 2 presents the overall impact of December’s savings proposals for each council directorate.

Table 2 – Overview of proposals by directorate, December Executive Board
Directorate proposals

•

Adults & Health
Children & Families
City Development
Communities, Housing & Envt
Resources

2022/23
£'000s
-7,065
-600
-1,906
-299
-829

2023/24
£'000s
-1,520
100
630
-467
-827

2024/25
£'000s
2,280
0
124
-150
-605

Total proposals

-10,699

-2,084

1,649

Total
£'000s
-6,305
-500
-1,152
-916
-2,261

-11,134

Table 3 shows the combined impact of September and December’s savings proposals for each council
directorate.

Page 156

Table 3 – Overview of proposals by directorate, September & December Executive Board
Directorate proposals

•

Adults & Health
Children & Families
City Development
Communities, Housing & Envt
Resources

2022/23
£'000s
-9,995
-895
-3,700
-1,212
-1,930

2023/24
£'000s
-4,555
-3,379
530
-707
-1,522

2024/25
£'000s
-1,020
-1,922
74
-180
-1,325

Total
£'000s
-15,570
-6,196
-3,096
-2,099
-4,777

Total proposals

-17,732

-9,633

-4,373

-31,738

Table 4 shows the combined split of BAUs and Service Reviews proposals across the two Executive
Board reports.

Table 4 – Overview of proposals by type, September & December Executive Board
Savings proposals

2022/23
£'000s

2023/24
£'000s

2024/25
£'000s

Total
£'000s

Business as Usual
VfM efficiencies - the way we work
VfM - procurement / commissioning
Income generation opportunities
Inflationary changes
Use of reserves
Total BAUs

-5,594
-2,270
-4,203
-725
-3,035
-15,827

-1,372
-1,575
-1,647
0
-265
-4,859

-1,716
-1,455
-1,410
0
3,300
-1,281

-8,682
-5,300
-7,260
-725
0
-21,967

Total Service Reviews

-1,905

-4,774

-3,092

-9,771

-17,732

-9,633

-4,373

-31,738

Total proposals
•

The proposals set out in both the September and December reports support the council’s proposed
budget for 2022/23 and provisional budgets for the two years following as set out in the accompanying
report, ‘Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25’. However, as
that report notes, there remains an updated estimated budget gap of £30.6m for 2023/24 and £25.6m
for 2024/25 and so further savings proposals will be required; these will be brought to future meetings of
this Board.

•

Our strategic ambitions and priorities for the city and the council as set out in the Best Council Plan can
only be delivered through a sound understanding of the organisation’s longer-term financial
sustainability. This enables decisions to be made that balance the resource implications of the council’s
policies against financial constraints. To help mitigate the pressures on the authority’s financial
sustainability, it is essential that the proposals contained in this report are considered in order that the
council’s strategic priorities can continue to be delivered within a robust financial framework.

Recommendations
Executive Board is requested to:
a) Note the ‘Business as Usual’ savings and that decisions to give effect to them shall be taken by the
relevant Director or Chief Officer in accordance with the Officer Delegation Scheme (Executive
functions).
b) Agree that consultation commences with regard to the two ‘Service Review’ proposals and note that
decisions to give effect to them shall be taken by the relevant Director or Chief Officer, following any
consultation period, in accordance with the Officer Delegation Scheme (Executive functions).

Page 157

c) With specific regard to the ‘Review of Adult Social Work Provision’ Service Review, the Board is
requested to:
i.

Consider and approve the proposal to invest £660,253 to deliver a pilot that uses
Occupational Therapy and additional Social Worker staff at “the front door” to maximise
capacity to meet growing demand for information and advice and demand for a social care
assessment of needs, embedding an “independence first” approach. Note that this
investment could generate £1.552m cost avoidance savings during 2022-23.

ii.

Consider and approve the proposal to invest £646,323 to deliver a pilot of a new Community
Reviewing Team that includes Occupational Therapy and Social Work staff to enhance the
capacity of the current Adult Reviewing Team in order to deliver an increased reviewing
schedule. Note that this investment is anticipated to deliver £3.3m from 2022–2025.

iii.

Note that when accounting for annual investment costs over the 3 years, total overall
projected savings are £3.6m.

iv.

Note that the impacts of the above proposals will inform a longer-term model of area social
work for the city.

d) Note that the savings proposals for 2022/23 presented in this report, combined with the savings
proposals brought to the Executive Board at its September meeting, support a draft balanced budget
for 2022/23 and the council’s financial position for the following two years as set out in the
accompanying report elsewhere on this agenda, ‘Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional
Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25’.
e) Note that further savings will be required to close the council’s estimated budget in the years
2023/24 and 2024/25 and that proposals will be brought to future meetings of this Board.

Why is the proposal being put forward?
1 This report details the actions underway and proposed to address the financial gap for 2022/23 to

2024/25. It presents a number of savings proposals to contribute to closing the gap over that three-year
period and achieving a balanced budget for 2022/23 (a legal requirement for local authorities).
Wards affected: None
Have ward members been consulted?

☐ Yes

☐ No

☒ N/A

What impact will this proposal have?
2

The Financial Challenge savings programme aims to protect services that support the most vulnerable
whilst ensuring that the organisation becomes more financially resilient and sustainable for the future.
However, the scale of the gap over the next three years is considerable and closing it is likely to mean
difficult decisions will have to be taken that will impact across the council’s services, affecting service
users, residents, businesses, partners and staff.

What consultation and engagement has taken place?
3

Senior officers and elected members have been engaged in developing the savings proposals set out in
this report. Trade unions have been informed in headline terms of the emerging proposals.

4

The majority of December’s savings proposals are classed as ‘Business as Usual’ (BAU) that do not
require consultation to implement: for example, they relate to improving the efficiency of the service, are
cost reduction measures with no impact on service users or, where there are budgeted staffing
reductions, these are anticipated to be met through deletion of vacant posts or voluntary means, as has
been collectively agreed. Where voluntary measures have a modest and/or residual impact on the
workforce, local / BAU consultation would be expected.

Page 158

5

The ‘Service Review’ proposals are of more significance and therefore may require meaningful
consultation with staff, trade unions, service users and the public as appropriate prior to any decisions
being taken.

6

All five Scrutiny Boards will be initially consulted on the savings proposals (both those brought to the
Executive Board in September and those put forward today), as relevant to their remits, through working
group meetings held during December. Subject to the approval of Executive Board, this report will also
be submitted to Scrutiny Boards for consideration and review as part of their formal cycle of meetings in
January 2022 in which the wider Proposed Budget for 2022/23 will also be considered. The outcome of
their deliberations will be reported to the planned meeting of this Board on 9th February 2022.

7

The outcomes of any consultation will inform the council’s decision-making and, where completed and
analysed in time, be incorporated into the 2022/23 Budget Report for consideration at February’s
Executive Board and Full Council.

What are the resource implications?
8

The financial implications are set out earlier in the report.

9

As noted in the ‘Revenue Savings Proposals’ report considered by this Board at its September meeting,
in accordance with our statutory requirements, in February 2021 the council served notice under Section
188 of the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992 (TULR(C)A) to collectively
consult with our recognised Trade Unions to avoid, reduce and mitigate the potential risk and
consequences of compulsory redundancies. In the context of the estimated budget gaps for 2023/24 and
2024/25 of £30.6m and £25.6m respectively and the requirement to identify and deliver further savings
to bridge the gap, further potential staffing reductions may be required. The council therefore intends to
issue a further Section 188 notice in February 2022 following approval of the 2022/23 Revenue Budget
at Full Council.

What are the legal implications?
10 Decisions giving effect to the Business as Usual proposals included in this report can be taken by the
relevant Director or Chief Officer in accordance with the Officer Scheme of delegation (Executive
functions) and will be subject to the Executive and decision-making procedure rules. Notice of any
decision which is “Key” will be published on the list of forthcoming decision not less than 28 clear
calendar days in advance of the date of the proposed decision.
11 Decisions giving effect to the Service Reviews will be made following the outcome of consultation having
regard to representations made. Decisions will be taken by the relevant Director or Chief Officer
following the procedure set out in the previous paragraph, save where the Leader or the relevant
Portfolio Holder has directed or the Director considers that the matter should be referred to Executive
Board for consideration.
12 The detailed service review undertaken so far which has enabled the Review of Adult Social Work
proposal to be brought forward did not conclude until 17th November, which was after the deadline for
publishing Key Decisions on the List of Forthcoming Key Decisions ahead of this Executive Board. The
issue was published on the List as soon as it was reasonably practicable to do so. As such, this matter is
being administered as a General Exception, in line with the Council’s Executive & Decision-Making
Procedure Rule 2.5. This proposal is required to be brought to the December Board in line with the
associated timeframe for the council’s budget-setting process, and as such, cannot practically be
deferred until the next scheduled meeting of the Board in February 2022.
13 As a decision of Executive Board, the recommendations in this report are eligible for call-in.
14 The Equality Act 2010 requires the Council to have “due regard” to the need to eliminate unlawful
discrimination and promote equality of opportunity. The law requires that the duty to pay “due regard” be
demonstrated in the decision-making process. Assessing the potential equality impact of proposed
changes to policies, procedures and practices is one of the key ways in which public authorities can
show due regard.
15 The council is fully committed to ensuring that equality and diversity are given proper consideration
when we develop policies and make decisions. In order to achieve this, the council has an agreed
process in place and has particularly promoted the importance of the process when taking forward key

Page 159

policy or budgetary changes. Equality impact assessments also ensure that we make well informed
decisions based on robust evidence.
16 Equality, diversity, cohesion and integration impact screenings have been carried out on the service
review savings proposals and included with those proposals at Appendix 1. Where appropriate, equality
impact assessments will be carried out as part of the decision-making process.

What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
17 The financial projections for the coming years contain a number of inherent risks even without taking
account of the ongoing impact of COVID-19. These include risks associated with budgets which are
subject to fluctuating demand and demographic pressures and key income budgets that rely upon the
number of users of a service. In addition the Budget assumes a level of resources receivable through
council tax, business rates and government grants.
18 The financial position going forward therefore makes a number of assumptions around income and
expenditure; any variations from these assumptions has implications for the level of resources available
to the council to fund services. Further information on the key financial risks is provided in the
accompanying report on today’s agenda, ‘‘Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional Budgets for
2023/24 and 2024/25’.
19 This report includes budget saving proposals that will be subject to consultation. There remains a risk
that there is slippage in the implementation of these proposals or that the assumptions contained in
these proposals change as a result of the consultation exercises. This could lead to a variation in the
assumed level of savings. Should this be the case, in accordance with the Revenue Budget principles
agreed at Executive Board in July 2019 through the ‘Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2020/21 to
2024/25’ report, directors would need to identify budget savings options to mitigate the directorate from
going into an overspend position.
20 All risks and assumptions will be subject to review as more information becomes available and through
the council’s financial and wider risk management, monitoring and reporting processes.

Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars?
☒ Inclusive Growth

☒ Health and Wellbeing

☒ Climate Emergency

21 As noted above, the council’s strategic vision, underpinned by the three pillars, can only be delivered
through a sound understanding of the organisation’s longer-term financial sustainability, this enabling
decisions to be made that balance the resource implications of the council’s policies against its financial
constraints.

Options, timescales and measuring success
What other options were considered?
22 All options are being considered to contribute to the council achieving a balanced budget for 2022/23
and a sustainable medium-term financial position, whilst protecting as far as possible those services that
support the most vulnerable.

How will success be measured?
23 As above, setting a balanced budget and achieving a sustainable medium-term financial position.
What is the timetable for implementation?
24 Savings proposals will be built into the 2022/23 Budget and Provisional Budget for 2023/24 and 2024/25
for consideration at this Board prior to approval at Full Council in February 2022.
Appendices
25 Appendix 1 details the Service Review proposals with accompanying equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration screening documents.

Background papers - None
Page 160

Appendix 1

Service review savings proposal
Report to: Executive Board
Date of meeting: 15th December 2021
Report author(s): Sarah Buncall, Programme Manager, Sheryar Khan, Project Manager
Report of: Director of Adults & Health
Executive Portfolio(s): Adult and Children’s Social Care and Health Partnerships – Cllr Venner
Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? No

Proposal title:

Review of Social Work Provision: Savings Proposals Review

Projected savings / additional income (net of investment)
Year
2022/23
2023/24
Saving / £’000s
-1,365
-1,120
Who are you expecting to
consult with?

Service users?
Staff?
Other stakeholders?

Are there equalities implications?
If yes, have you attached a screening document?

2024/25
-1,120

Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes

Executive Summary
This proposal considers local authority social work provision with a view to looking at
specific areas of delivery to create efficiency savings.
The areas for consideration are:
•
•

Changes to Social Care at “the front door” to maximise capacity to meet growing
demand for information, advice and a social care assessment of needs, embedding
an “independence first” approach that uses Occupational Therapy staff.
Changes to Social Work Reviewing Functions to maximise capacity to meet statutory
social care duties by piloting a new Community Reviewing Team. This will include
Occupational Therapy and Social Work staff to enhance the capacity of the current
Adult Reviewing Team in order to deliver an increased reviewing schedule.

Recommendations
Executive Board is requested to:
•

Consider and approve the proposal to invest £660,253 to deliver a pilot that uses
Occupational Therapy and additional Social Worker staff at “the front door” to
maximise capacity to meet growing demand for information and advice and demand
for a social care assessment of needs, embedding an “independence first” approach.
Note that this investment could generate £1.552m cost avoidance savings during
2022-23.

1
Page 161

•

Consider and approve the proposal to invest £646,323 to deliver a pilot of a new
Community Reviewing Team that includes Occupational Therapy and Social Work
staff to enhance the capacity of the current Adult Reviewing Team in order to deliver
an increased reviewing schedule. Note that this investment is anticipated to deliver
£3.3m from 2022 – 2025.

•

Note that when accounting for annual investment costs over the 3 years, total
overall projected savings are £3.6m.

•

Note that the impacts of the above proposals will inform a longer-term model of
area social work for the city.

•

Approval these proposals going out to consultation as part of the council’s MediumTerm Financial Strategy and preparation for setting the 2022/23 Budget.

•

Note that the Director of Adults & Health will be responsible for the implementation
of this decision.

2
Page 162

Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and
Integration (EDCI) screening
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration.
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions.
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine:
• the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration.
• whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being or has
already been considered, and
• whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment.
Directorate: Adults and Health

Service area: Social Work and Social
Care Services

Lead person: Nyoka Fothergill

Contact number: 0113

3788800

1. Title: Review of Social Work Provision: Savings Proposals Review
Is this a:
Strategy / Policy

X

Service / Function

Other

If other, please specify
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening
This proposal is the strategic review of local authority social work provision with a view
to looking at specific areas of delivery to create efficiency savings.
The areas for consideration for this screening are:
•

Review of Social Care at “the front door” to maximise capacity to meet growing
demand for information and advice and demand for a social care assessment of
needs, embedding an “independence first” approach that uses Occupational
Therapy staff.

A Review of Social Work Reviewing Functions to maximise capacity to meet
statutory social care pathway by piloting a new Community Reviewing Team that
EDCI Screening
Template updated January 2014
1
•

Page 163

includes Occupational Therapy and Social Work staff to enhance the capacity of
the current Adult Reviewing Team to deliver an increased review schedule.

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
All the council’s strategies and policies, service and functions affect service users,
employees or the wider community – city wide or more local. These will also have a
greater or lesser relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are.
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being.
Questions
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different
equality characteristics?
Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the
policy or proposal?
Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by
whom?
Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment
practices?
Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on
• Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and
harassment
• Advancing equality of opportunity
• Fostering good relations

Yes
X

No

X
X
X
X

If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7
If you have answered yes to any of the above and;
• Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity,
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4.
• Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration within your proposal please go to section 5.

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 164

2

4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance).
• How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration?
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected)
The potential impacts of the proposed changes are highlighted in the report. Subject to
approval by Executive Board, a full EDCI Assessment and EDCI Organisational Change
Assessment will be carried out.
• Key findings
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups,
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another)

• Actions
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact)

5. If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment.
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment:

Jan 2022

Date to complete your impact assessment

Spring 2022 in line with specific
proposal timelines.
Nyoka Fothergill, Head of Service

Lead person for your impact assessment
(Include name and job title)

6. Governance, ownership and approval
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening
EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 165

3

Name
John Crowther

Job title
Chief Officer

Date screening completed

Date
05/11/2021
05/11/2021

7. Publishing
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated Decisions or
a Significant Operational Decision.
A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision
making report:
• Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full
Council.
• The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions and
Significant Operational Decisions.
• A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be sent
to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk for record.
Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached screening
was sent:
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to
Date sent: 19/11/2021
Governance Services
For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate

Date sent:

All other decisions – sent to
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk

Date sent:

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 166

4

Service review savings proposal
Report to: Executive Board
Date of meeting: 15th December 2021
Report author(s): David Hopes, Head of Service - Leeds Museums and Galleries
Report of: Director of City Development
Executive Portfolio(s): Economy, Culture and Education
Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? No

Proposal title:

Kirkstall Abbey Admissions and Café

Projected savings / additional income (net of investment)
Year
2022/23
2023/24
Saving / £’000s
-160
-90
Who are you expecting to
consult with?

Service users?
Staff?
Other stakeholders?

Are there equalities implications?
If yes, have you attached a screening document?

2024/25
0

Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes

Executive Summary
The Leeds Museum and Galleries service (LMG) propose changes to Kirkstall Abbey admissions for
Non-Leeds residents and a relocation of the café at Abbey House Museum to the visitor centre at
Kirkstall Abbey.
The additional income anticipated from charging Non-Leeds residents is proposed at £160k per year
from April 2022/23. The additional increased net surplus returned from the change of the café is
proposed at an additional £90k per year from 2023/24. These are ongoing incomes assuming
perceived customer value can be maintained.
The implications of the change in the admissions will be the requirement of Leeds residents to show
proof of address to enter the Abbey for free. Non-Leeds residents will be required to pay £8 which
will cover free return visits within 12 months.
The café relocation anticipates that turnover will increase as an aspirational café location is created
within the Rose Room within the Abbey grounds and overlooking the river. The cost of relocation
has been considered as part of the capital invest to save business case with some costs supported
from Art Council England NPO commercial development funding. The existing café space at Abbey
House Museum will be used for functions, events, and school visits, retaining some catering
functionality. Detailed estimates for the cost of these changes and consideration of the works are
currently being obtained.
Feedback from staff and stakeholder consultation has informed the proposed summary above.

Page 167

Recommendations
Executive Board is requested to:
•

Consider the proposal to apply an admission charge for Non-Leeds residents to Kirkstall
Abbey creating an additional income of £160k in 22/23, plus supporting the relocation of the
café and capital investment to increase the anticipated net surplus to £250k in 23/24 and in
24/25 and to commence a public consultation on the proposal.

•

Note that the Chief Officer, Culture and Economy will be responsible.

Page 168

Equality, diversity, cohesion and integration screening –
organisational change impacting on the workforce
As a public authority we need to ensure that all organisational change arrangements
impacting on the workforce have given proper consideration to equality, diversity, cohesion
and integration.
Equality and diversity will always have relevancy to organisational changes which impact on
a diverse workforce. If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact
on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration then you have already carried out an impact
assessment.
A screening process is a short, sharp exercise, which completed at the earliest opportunity
will help to determine:
• whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being or has already
been considered, and therefore
• whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment.

Directorate: City Development

Service area: Museums & Galleries

Lead person: David Hopes

Contact number:

1. Please provide a brief description of the organisational change arrangements that
you are screening
Leeds Museums and Galleries propose to charge non-Leeds Residents admissions to
Kirkstall Abbey and relocate the café from Abbey House to Kirkstall Abbey
2. Consideration of equality, diversity, cohesion and integration checklist
Questions
Have you already considered equality
and diversity within your current and
future planning?
Where you have made consideration
does this relate to the range of equality
characteristics?
Have you considered positive and
negative impacts for different equality
characteristics?

Yes
X This forms part of the LMG wider
charges report

No

X These charges and concessions rates
also support our funding objectives an
ACE NPO for equality, diversity, cohesion
and integration in conjunction with a
programme of changing exhibitions
X The charges consider equality within
this screening and recognised the impact
on existing user groups. Those who are

Use from October 2015

Page 169

1

Leeds residents will remain protected with
free admission. Whilst this may negatively
impact those from further afield this
distinction will also support the LMG
consideration of its carbon impact.
Discounted Coach rates will be available
to non-Leeds groups and DMC’s
(Destination Management Companies).
Have you considered any potential
barriers for different groups?

Have you used equality information and
consultation where appropriate to
develop your proposal?
Is there a clear plan of how equality
areas identified for improvement will be
addressed

X LMG propose the benefits of free
admission to remain to all Leeds
residents – we recognise the financial
barriers this may bring to tourists within
the area and have therefore ensured the
single admission charge will allow wider
locals to return free within a 12-month
period. Our free admission for carers
policy will apply to all admissions and the
change sits within the wider charging
policy of Leeds Museums in its
consideration of equality diversity and
cohesion.
X consultation has taken place and been
used to develop this proposal
X

If you’ve answered no to the questions above, there may be gaps in your equality and
diversity considerations and you should complete an equality and diversity, cohesion and
integration impact assessment (organisational change). Please go to section 4.
If you’ve answered yes to the questions above and believe you’ve already considered the
impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to
section 3.
3. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
If you can demonstrate that you’ve considered how your proposals impact on equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance).
How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration?
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected.
All current visitors and users of Kirkstall Abbey and Abbey House Museum will be affected
by these proposals since the proposal is not just to charge Non-Leeds residents, but to raise
the standard of presentation and the quality of the visitor experience for everyone. Using
Use from October 2015

Page 170

2

Your Voice as a platform we will use the LMG social media platforms to reach a wide and
diverse range of users / non-users, and we will make the questionnaire available in paper
form at Kirkstall Abbey and Abbey House Museum. Plans for consulting are outlined in the
service review. We have already submitted a funding application and put up match funding
for a changing places facility at Abbey House Museum.
Key findings
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality characteristics,
potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, potential to bring
groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception that the proposal
could benefit one group at the expense of another).
This proposal has wide-ranging benefits for all visitors and users of the Abbey, but there will
be negative implications for those who are not resident in Leeds.
Wheelchair access is not ideal either to the café at Abbey House nor at the proposed site for
relocation at Kirkstall Abbey visitor centre and there is certainly scope to improve access
from the main road by reducing the gradient of the path (this would need to be discussed
with colleagues in Parks & Countryside, who manage the grounds). Financial barriers for
visitors not resident in Leeds would be partially offset by free return admission for 12
months.
Actions
(think about how you’ll promote positive impact and remove or reduce negative impact)
Initiate discussions with colleagues in Parks & Countryside to improve wheelchair access to
the grounds from the main road.
4. If you’re not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration you’ll need to carry out an impact assessment
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment:

N/A

Date to complete your impact assessment

N/A

Lead person for your impact assessment
(Include name and job title)

N/A

5. Governance, ownership and approval
Please state here who approved the actions and outcomes of the screening
Name
David Hopes

Job title
Head of Museums &
Galleries

Date screening completed

Date
04/11/2021

04/11/2021

6. Publishing
Use from October 2015

Page 171

3

Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only
publishes those related to executive board, full council, key delegated decisions or a
significant operational decision.
A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision making
report:
•
•
•

governance services will publish those relating to executive board and full council
the appropriate directorate will publish those relating to delegated decisions and
significant operational decisions
a copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be sent to
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk for record

Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached screening was
sent
For executive board or full council – sent to governance
services

Date sent: 04/11/2021

For delegated decisions or significant operational
decisions – sent to appropriate directorate

Date sent:

All other decisions – sent to the equality team

Date sent:

Use from October 2015

Page 172

4

Revenue saving proposals
2022/23 to 2024/25
Strategy & Resources Scrutiny Board, Monday 24th
January 2022
Page 173

Business as Usual Proposals – Strategy & Resources Scrutiny Board
‘Business as Usual’ (BAU) savings proposals

Savings / £’000s

Page 174

Description
2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
BSC Shared Cost AVC (Additional Voluntary Contribution) - This would generate Employer NI savings (as
-185
-80
0
well as savings for the individual).
BSC Electrical Goods Salary Sacrifice. This would generate Employer NI savings (as well as savings for
-100
0
0
the individual).
BSC Lease Car Salary Sacrifice. This would generate Employer NI savings (as well as savings for the
-100
0
0
individual).
Targeted HR support in CEL.
-104
0
0
Elections, Licensing & Registration - Review Local Land Charges with a view to cost reduction, maintain
0
-250
0
income to reduce existing pressure.
Elections, Licensing & Registration - Staffing efficiencies in Local Land Charges (vacant post)
-22
0
0
Elections, Licensing & Registration - Line-by-line review of spend and income
-106
0
0
Ticketing Solutions: The Arts, Events and Venues team has recently invested in a new Customer
Relationship Management (CRM) solution called Tessitura. This system presents an opportunity to
generate savings and increased income across the council if adopted by more venues. The team is also
-80
0
0
exploring the development of a service to be provided to other local authorities to support them with
events ticketing.

Continued on next slide

Business as Usual Proposals – Strategy & Resources Scrutiny Board
‘Business as Usual’ (BAU) savings proposals

Savings / £’000s

Description
2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
-678
678
Leeds 2023: Substitution of £678k from the council's core budget contribution to Leeds 2023 in
0
FY22/23 with Business Rates Pool funding.
One-off One-off
56
133
Leeds 2023: Substitution of a further balance of £189k from the council's core budget contribution -189
to Leeds 2023 in FY22/23 with Business Rates Pool funding.
One-off One-off One-off
Page 175

Total BAUs p.a. -1,564
Total BAUs over 3 years

404
-1027

133

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
Report author: Rob Clayton
Tel: 0113 378 8790

Financial Health Monitoring 2021/22 – October (Month 7)
Date: 24 January 2022
Report of: Head of Democratic Services
Report to: Scrutiny Board (Strategy and Resources)
Will the decision be open for call in?

☐ Yes ☒ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐ Yes ☒ No

What is this report about?
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions
•

The Scrutiny Board (Strategy and Resources) is asked to consider the Financial Health
Monitoring report in the context of wider discussions about the initial budget proposals and
performance against strategic priorities that fall within the remit of the Board.

•

Scrutiny Board Strategy and Resources has a standing commitment to monitor financial
performance throughout the financial year as part of its remit and to identify emerging issues
and suggest alternative approaches as appropriate.

•

The role of scrutiny as a ‘critical friend’ on financial performance and management
contributes to supporting the Best Council ambition to be an efficient and enterprising
organisation.

•

Following the Covid-19 pandemic the Council is facing a period of significant financial
challenge. Prior to the pandemic budgets were already under significant pressure due to
Government funding reductions but this situation has been exacerbated by increased
expenditure and reduced income brought about by the pandemic.

•

In December 2021 the Executive Board received an update from the Chief Officer Financial
Services about the financial health of the Authority both in respect of the General Fund
revenue budget and the Housing Revenue Account.

•

The appended Executive Board report sets out some of the specific budget challenges
associated with Covid-19 and comments on financial performance against the 2021/22
budget, which targeted resources towards priorities set out in the Best Council Plan.

Recommendations
That the Scrutiny Board considers the relevant information within the attached Executive Board
report and provides comment in relation to those service areas that fall within its remit.

Page 177

Why is the proposal being put forward?
1.

The Chief Officer Financial Services provides a regular budget report to the Executive Board
throughout the year. The latest paper sets out the position at the end of October (month 7)
and was considered by Executive Board on 15 December.

2.

Twice a year – in June and January – the five scrutiny boards are also asked to consider the
latest information on financial health monitoring alongside a report that provides detail of
service performance in relation to strategic priorities that fall within the respective remits of
the Boards. In addition, financial health monitoring and the Council’s Medium Term Financial
Strategy were also considered by this Board in October 2021 as part of the Strategy and
Resources Board’s remit.

3.

At this meeting the Scrutiny Board is also asked to consider the Financial Health Monitoring
report in the context of its wider discussions about the initial budget proposals, which appear
elsewhere on the agenda at item 8.

What impact will this proposal have?
Wards affected: All
Have ward members been consulted?

4.

☐ Yes

☒No

This report is for information and members are asked to provide comment in the context of
the wider discussions about performance and the initial budget proposals.

What consultation and engagement has taken place?
5.

Public consultation on the 2021/22 Revenue Budget was carried out between December
2020 and January 2021 and is detailed in the 2021/22 Revenue Budget and Council Tax
report presented to this Board in February 2021.

6.

Relevant Executive Members and senior officers have been invited to attend today’s
meeting to discuss the appended report and to address any questions raised by the Scrutiny
Board.

What are the resource implications?
7.

The appended report is a revenue financial report and as such all resource implications are
detailed in the report and appendices.

What are the legal implications?
8.

There are no legal implications arising from the attached Executive Board report.

What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
9.

The reported budget position is considered in the context of risk to both the in-year financial
position and the potential impact on the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy. These
risks are included on the Council’s corporate risk register. Further information surrounding
other associated risks is set out in the appended report.

Page 178

Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars?
☒ Inclusive Growth

☒ Health and Wellbeing

☒ Climate Emergency

10.

The Best Council Plan is the Council’s strategic plan which sets out its ambitions, outcomes
and priorities for the City of Leeds and for the Local Authority. The Three Pillars of inclusive
growth, health and wellbeing and the climate change emergency underpin this vision, and
these can only be delivered through a sound understanding of the organisation’s longer-term
financial sustainability which enables decisions to be made that balance the resource
implications of the Council’s policies against financial constraints. This is the primary
purpose of the Medium-Term Financial Strategy which provides the framework for the
determination of the Council’s annual revenue budget.

11.

The appended report is a factual report which needs to be seen in context of the
requirement for the Council to be financially sustainable and deliver a balanced budget
position in 2021/22 so that resources can continue to be targeted at the Council’s priorities.

Appendices
12.

Appendix A – Report of the Chief Officer Financial Services to Executive Board (15
December 2021) on Financial Health Monitoring 2021/22 – October (Month 7).

Background papers
13. None.

Page 179

This page is intentionally left blank

Report author: Victoria Bradshaw
Tel: 88540

Financial Health Monitoring 2021/22 – October (Month 7)
Date: 15th December 2021
Report of: Chief Officer Financial Services
Report to: Executive Board
Will the decision be open for call in?

☒ Yes ☐ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐ Yes ☒ No

What is this report about?
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions
•

The purpose of this report is to inform the Executive Board of the financial health of the
Authority in respect of both the General Fund revenue budget and the Housing Revenue
Account. At the end of October (Month 7) a COVID-19 related overspend of £26.3m is
projected for the Authority.

•

The Council has received £24.3m of Government funding towards the costs of COVID-19 in
the first quarter of 2021/22. Of this amount £0.5m is committed to funding free school meals
and £0.8m is funding Directorate pressures. The position at the end of September assumes
that the balance of this funding, £23.0m, will be applied to the COVID related overspend. A
£3.0m Government contribution to lost income from sales, fees and charges is also being
applied to the identified COVID pressure. After the application of COVID funding there still
remains a projected COVID overspend of £0.371m which when combined with a projected
non COVID overspend of £0.538m results in an overall forecast overspend of £0.909m at
the end of October. Any Collection Fund income shortfall in 2021/22 will impact on revenue
in 2022/23.

•

The 2021/22 budget targeted resources towards the Council’s policies and priorities as set
out in the Best Council Plan. This report comments on financial performance against this
budget, supporting the Best Council ambition to be an efficient and enterprising
organisation.

•

The current and future financial climate for local government represents a significant risk to
the Council’s priorities and ambitions. The position remains challenging and the budget for
2021/22 requires delivery of £56.1m of savings in addition to the considerable savings
achieved since 2010. At the end of October, it is anticipated that the required £56.1m of
budgeted savings will be delivered in full or managed through mitigating actions, with the
exception of £0.7m relating to three savings plans in the Children and Families directorate.
Any areas of risk are highlighted in directorate narratives at Appendix 1, with further detail
provided at Appendix 3.

•

At the end of October, the Housing Revenue Account is forecasting a balanced position.

Recommendations
Executive Board are asked to:
a) Note the projected financial position of the Authority at the end of October (Month 7) and the
projected impact of COVID-19 on that position.
Page 181

b) Note that for 2021/22 the Authority is forecasting an overspend of £0.909m at the end of
October.
c) Note that the position reported does not reflect the potential effects of any further local or
national lockdown arrangements on these financial projections.
Why is the proposal being put forward?
1 This is a factual report to update the Board on financial performance against the Council’s
2021/22 General Fund revenue budget and Housing Revenue Account for the first 6 months of
the financial year.
What impact will this proposal have?
Wards affected:
Have ward members been consulted?

☐ Yes

☒ No

2 This is a factual report and is not subject to consultation.
3 The budget proposals contained in the 2021/22 Revenue Budget have, where appropriate,
been the subject of the Council’s Equality Impact Assessment process and mitigating measures
put in place or planned where appropriate. As such, an Equality Impact Assessment was
provided at Appendix 5 to the 2021/22 Revenue Budget and Council Tax Report.
What consultation and engagement has taken place?
4 This is a factual report and is not subject to consultation. Public consultation on the 2021/22
Revenue Budget was carried out between December 2020 and January 2021 and is detailed in
the 2021/22 Revenue Budget and Council Tax report presented to this Board in February 2021.
What are the resource implications?
5 This is a revenue financial report and as such all resource implications are detailed in the report
and appendices.
What are the legal implications?
6 There are no legal implications arising from this report.
What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
7 The reported budget position is considered in the context of risk to both the in-year financial
position and the potential impact on the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy. These risks
are included on the Council’s corporate risk register.
8 Budget management and monitoring is undertaken on a risk-based approach where financial
management resources are prioritised to support those areas of the budget judged to be at risk
such as the implementation of budget action plans, those budgets which are subject to
fluctuating demand and key income budgets. To reinforce this approach, specific project
management based support and reporting around the achievement of key budget actions plans
is in place for 2021/22.
9 More specifically, the reported position does not reflect the potential effects of any further local
or national lockdown arrangements not yet introduced which could impact on these financial
projections. Government support for additional general expenditure and eligible income losses
related to COVID in 2021/22 ended on 30th June 2021. A range of schemes supporting
businesses have also ended now and it remains complex to estimate the continued impact of
Page 182

COVID-19 on council tax and business rates income. Early concerns have arisen around
collection rates, reductions in the tax base in Leeds and the impact of any permanent economic
scarring on Business Rates reliefs, particularly Empty Rate Relief. These require continued
close monitoring over the coming months. However, there are signs that there may be some
recovery, particularly in Business Rates, contingent on the continued opening of the local
economy.
10 The projected position includes the estimated costs of the 2021/22 pay award, based on the
final National Employers pay offer. Pay negotiations are ongoing, and there remains a risk that
the final pay award agreed will exceed this level of provision.
11 The report highlights a risk relating to unprecedented high global electricity and gas prices. The
pressure on the General Fund may range from approximately £0.5m to £2.1m. As part of the
21/22 budget process, an Energy Reserve of £1.07m was created. It is likely that a substantial
call on this reserve may be made. Because of the uncertainty with regard to the likely impact of
energy price increases upon the Council’s financial position a variation on energy as not been
included in these financial projections, although it is recognised that there is likely to be a
pressure upon approved budgets.
Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars?
☒ Inclusive Growth

☒ Health and Wellbeing

☒ Climate Emergency

12 The Best Council Plan is the Council’s strategic plan which sets out its ambitions, outcomes and
priorities for the City of Leeds and for the Local Authority. The Three Pillars of inclusive growth,
health and wellbeing and the climate change emergency underpin this vision, and these can
only be delivered through a sound understanding of the organisation’s longer-term financial
sustainability which enables decisions to be made that balance the resource implications of the
Council’s policies against financial constraints. This is the primary purpose of the Medium-Term
Financial Strategy which provides the framework for the determination of the Council’s annual
revenue budget.
13 This is a factual report which needs to be seen in context of the requirement for the Council to
be financially sustainable and deliver a balanced budget position in 2021/22 so that resources
can continue to be targeted at the Council’s priorities.

Options, timescales and measuring success
What other options were considered?
14 Not applicable.
How will success be measured?
15 Not applicable.
What is the timetable for implementation?
16 Not applicable.
Appendices
17 The following appendices are attached to this report:
• Appendix 1 – background information, detailed narrative regarding the projected financial
positions for directorates, Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) and the Housing Revenue
Account HRA, update on Council Tax and Business Rates including collection performance.
•

Appendix 2 – Individual financial dashboards for directorates, DSG and the HRA.
Page 183

•

Appendix 3 – Directorate Budget Action Plans.

Background papers
18 None.

Page 184

Appendix 1

Financial Health Monitoring 2021/22 – October (Month 7)
1.

Purpose of this report

1.1.

This report sets out for the Executive Board the Council’s projected financial health
position for 2021/22 at the end of October (Month 7).

1.2.

Budget monitoring is a continuous process throughout the year, and this report
reviews the position of the budget and highlights potential key risks and variations
after the second month of the year.

2.

Background information

2.1

Executive Board will recall that the net budget for the general fund for 2021/22 was
set at £435.3m.

2.2

Following the closure of the 2020/21 accounts, the Council’s general fund reserve
stands at £27.8m. The 2021/22 budget assumes a contribution of £4m to this
reserve during the current financial year.

2.3

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy assumes a balanced budget position for
2021/22 after the application of Government funding, the delivery of non-COVID
savings and the utilisation of earmarked reserves. Any adverse variation to a
balanced budget position will require the identification of further savings in 2022/23.

2.4

Financial monitoring continues to be undertaken on a risk-based approach where
financial management resources are prioritised to support those areas of the budget
that are judged to be at risk, for example the implementation of budget action plans,
those budgets which are subject to fluctuating demand and key income budgets.
This is reinforced through specific project management based support and reporting
around the achievement of the key budget actions plans.

3.

Main Issues

3.1

At the end of October, a COVID related overspend of £26.3m is projected.
Directorate positions are summarised in Table 1.

3.2

The Council has received £24.3m of Government funding towards the cost of
COVID-19 in the first quarter of 2021/22. Of this amount £0.5m is committed to
funding free school meals and £0.8m is funding pressures relating to PPE, Planning
and Returning to the Workplace. The position at the end of September assumes
that the balance of this funding, £23.0m, will be applied to the COVID related
overspend. A £3.0m Government contribution to lost income from sales, fees and
charges is also being applied to the identified COVID pressure. After this application
of COVID funding there remains a projected COVID overspend of £0.371m which,
when combined with a projected non COVID overspend of £0.538m, results in an
overall forecast overspend at £0.909m at the end of October (Month 7).

3.3

Any Collection Fund income shortfall arising in 2021/22 will impact on the Revenue
Budget in 2022/23.

Page 185

3.4

Appendix 1
Consequently, this report reflects a net overspend of £0.909m against the 2021/22
Budget of which £0.371m relates to COVID pressures and £0.538m relates to net
directorate savings not relating to COVID.
Summary Position at Month 7 - Financial Year 2021/22
(Under) / Over spend for the current period
Staffing

Total
Total (under) COVID
Income
Expenditure
/overspend related

Directorate

Director

Adults & Health

Cath Roff

544

Children and Families

Sal Tariq

95

6,273

City Development

Martin Farrington

(870)

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Previous
Reported
Position
£000

0

(300)

300

0

2,715

8,987

9,330

(343)

8,980

(1,393)

7,667

6,274

6,825

(551)

6,430

1,241

3,989

6,029

10,018

8,287

1,731

10,146

282

(612)

1,138

526

2,190

(1,664)

1,090

(198)

9,901 (34,797)

(24,896)

(25,961)

1,065

(25,412)

Total Current Month

1,095

48,060 (47,150)

909

371

538

1,234

Previous reported (under)/over spend

1,577

34,564 (33,328)

1,234

1,435

(201)

Communities, Housing & EnvironmentJames Rogers

Resources

Neil Evans

Strategic

Victoria Bradshaw

MEMO: Covid Related Pressures

29,902 (29,902)

NonCOVID
related

26,332

funded by:
COVID Contingency in Strategic (Use of Govt funding)

(7,551)

COVID Reserve (use of Government Funding)

(16,729)

Less: Directorate pressures

774

Less :Free Schools Meals

520

Estimated Sales, Fees and Charges Compensation

(2,975)

Remaining COVID Related Pressure

3.5

371

The major variations are outlined below, with further detail provided on the
Directorate dashboards at Appendix 2 of this report. In addition to this, Appendix 3
provides details on the Directorate budget action plans.

3.5.1 Adults & Health – the directorate is projected to deliver a balanced budget, with
the Net Managed Budget for 2021-22 being £195.2m. Entering the 2021-22 Winter
Season we are beginning to see increased pressures on the Health and Social
Care System, which we’re currently projecting we will contain within the available
2021-22 budget or additional funding from the CCG.
The 2021-22 budget includes £15.3m for efficiency and service changes. The
service is currently on target to deliver a balanced budget, however there are
currently £2.0m Budget Action Plans that are at risk of non-delivery; £1.3m relating
to client income, £0.4m slippage in implementing Commissioning savings plans and
£0.3m assistive technology additional income via increased demand. Further details
are provided in Appendix 3. Where slippage / non-delivery have been ascertained,
alternative options to balance the budget have been identified from utilising
available reserves and additional income, principally from the CCG. Incorporated
into the budget is demand and demographic growth of £8.41m

Page 186

Appendix 1
Pay Award – This forecast takes account of the latest Employers pay offer for the
2021-22 financial year. The impact for Adults & Health, outside of externally funded
areas, e.g., Public Health, is an additional cost of £0.656m and is funded from the
underspend in the support for the Care Homes in regard to the low occupancy
scheme.
Demand – at Month 7 there is a £1.8m pressure on the Demand Led budgets; £1.1m
for Older People (£0.3m Homecare / £0.4m Nursing and £0.4m Residential) and
£0.7m for Working Age Adults, predominately in Supported Living settings. We are
working with the Service Managers to understand the implications for the in-year
budget and the Medium-Term Financial Plan.
Additional COVID-19 funding of £23.456m has been received and is projected to be
applied, assuming that associated expenditure is identified against this funding:
£2.66m for Clinical Extremely Vulnerable funding support, £0.53m Hospital
Discharge fund, £11.68m Infection Control fund & Rapid Testing (reflecting further
£4.659m for Infection Control Fund 3 for October 2021 to March 2022) and £6.34m
Controlled Outbreak Management fund. New, £2.24m, Winter 2021-22 funding for
Workforce Recruitment and Retention programme has also been received.
3.5.2 Children and Families – As detailed on the dashboard, the current year-end
forecast for the Children and Families directorate is an overspend of £8.987m which
is an increase of £7k since the previously reported Month 6 position. Within the
Month 7 projections there is an overspend of £9.330m related to COVID, and a
£343k net underspend not related to COVID.
The Month 7 projected overspend of £8.987m is broken down as follows:
Expenditure
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

£m

CLA Placements
Non CLA Placements
CLA staffing
Assumed pay award
Contract rebate
‘Little Owls’ nurseries staffing
Saving Action Plans not met
School Severance costs
Early Help service costs
Other

Income
• ‘Little Owls’ nurseries
• Leeds Activity Centres
• DSG contribution for pay award

3.732
3.209
0.721
1.408
(1.304)
(0.500)
0.290
(0.168)
(0.301)
(0.112)
1.900
0.224
(0.112)

Total projected overspend

8.987

Page 187

Appendix 1
As shown above, the key pressure relates to the budget for Children Looked After
(CLA) and non-CLA placements, which is currently forecast to overspend by
£6.941m. As at the end of October, CLA numbers were 1,326, an increase of 50
since the start of 2021/22. Although the number of in-house CLA placements has
decreased slightly from the start of the year (847) to 841, demand for external CLA
placements has increased from 426 at the start of the year to 485.
Over the past five years, CLA numbers have increased both nationally and in Leeds
by 10%. A number of local authorities are also currently reporting increased CLA
numbers leading to overspends. The Council has set up a task and finish group to
identify ways to mitigate the CLA pressure on the Children and Families budget.
Non-CLA placements are those such as special guardianship orders and semiindependent living for over 18s. Although they are not CLA placements, they are
related as they often prevent more costly CLA placements or relate to statutory
duties once young people leave care. Non-CLA placements have decreased by 13
overall since the start of the year, from 1,052 to 1,039. The reduction has been in
semi-independent living for over 18s. However, these placements are still greater
than originally expected which has resulted in an overspend.
Building and supplies constraints continue to impact the social housing sector,
meaning that the ability to move people out of placements into social housing is
significantly impaired. LCC Housing have committed to working with Children and
Families in helping these people move on to free up capacity. There is a small
project group being formed to work on this with oversight from senior managers
from Housing and Children and Families.
The projection also demonstrates an overspend of £721k against CLA staffing. This
mainly relates to the secure unit staffing budget due to additional agency costs
incurred to date due to both specialist post requirements and recruitment difficulties.
The Month 7 position assumes a projected net pressure of £1.4m across the Little
Owls nursery settings, which represents a projected £1.9m shortfall of paid fee
income offset by a projected £500k saving on staff costs. The Little Owls nurseries
have experienced a significant reduction in demand due to COVID and, whilst there
has been some recovery during 2021/22, attendance is still not back to prepandemic levels as a consequence of changing working patterns and reduced
nursery capacity due to ongoing recruitment difficulties. The service is taking
mitigating actions to increase nursery income, including a revised marketing
strategy to encourage new registrations and an enhanced apprenticeship
programme to increase staff numbers and nursery capacity.
The projected loss of income from the ongoing impact of COVID was included in a
claim to Central Government for the 'Sales, Fees and Charges' grant available for
the first three months of the 21/22 financial year.
The projections include the assumed pay award costs reflecting the National
Employers final pay offer. In addition, for Month 7 the projections include expected
rebates on Children and Families contracts.
The projection assumes delivery of most savings plans included in the budget. The
Month 7 projected overspend of £8,980k assumes that £700k of these savings

Page 188

Appendix 1
plans will not be delivered. £410k of this is included in CLA pressures in the
breakdown above, and a further £290k is separately identified for partnership
contributions and contract savings. In addition, a further two actions are deemed to
be higher risk and are being monitored by Children and Families. These relate to
additional net income of £1m for Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children and
£1.7m from the CCG.
Dedicated Schools Grant
In relation to the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG), the approved DSG budget
2021/22 assumed that there would be a carry forward deficit of £3.683m as at the
end of the year. At Month 7 we are projecting a £1.404m overspend on DSG for
2021/22, which would result in a closing deficit of £5.087m.
The in-year overspend is due to the following:
•

•
•

•

Schools Block £480k underspend: There is a slight underspend of £44k due
to business rate savings which occur following the conversion of schools to
academies. In addition, there is a net saving of 436k within delegated
services.
High Needs Block £44k underspend.
Early Years Block £2m overspend: During 2020/21 there was an underspend
on the Early Years block of £2,228k due to funding being based on the
January census which has higher numbers of 2-4 years olds than the
average of all censuses over the year. Children and Families are consulting
on the best use of this underspend. Although it was included in the DSG
balance carried forward to 2021/22, any expenditure incurred against it will
show as an overspend in the Early Years Block as it has not been budgeted
for.
Central School Service Block £78k underspend: Within this block there is a
projected saving of £78k due to staff vacancies and delays in recruitment.

3.5.3 City Development – at Month 7, the directorate is projecting an overspend of
£6.3m for the year. This is primarily due to the continuing impact of COVID on
income streams, currently estimated at £6.8m for the year, partially offset by all
other savings across the directorate of £0.5m. This represents an improvement of
£0.1m from the position reported last month and this projection includes the impact
of the Local Government pay award which is estimated at an additional cost of
£0.9m across the directorate.
As the impact that the COVID pandemic will have on income streams for the full
financial year remains uncertain, this position is still subject to variation and will
continue to be monitored over the coming months.
An element of the COVID related income losses incurred in the first quarter of the
year (c£2.6m) are recoverable through the Government’s income compensation
scheme for sales, fees and charges which applies to those first quarter losses only.
The main variations are:

Page 189

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

Appendix 1
Active Leeds – the estimated impact on income of capacity restrictions due
to COVID is £4.3m, primarily in respect of swimming and membership
income, although there is still likely to be a degree of volatility in the
projections. Of this projected income loss, £1.7m relates to the first quarter
and an element of this is recoverable through the Government’s income
compensation scheme. The income loss is projected to be partially offset by
staffing and running cost savings, resulting in an overall projected overspend
for the service of £3.7m.
Arts and Heritage - an overspend of £0.75m is anticipated, largely due to
the impact of COVID on Cafes/Shops, city centre sites room hire, and
admissions. Of this, the first quarter losses are £0.4m of which an element
will be recoverable through the income compensation scheme.
Asset Management & Regeneration – an overspend of £0.2m is projected
which reflects the impact of the pay award and all other variations across the
service.
Markets and City Centre - The estimated ongoing impact of COVID on
income is a projected shortfall of £1m on Markets income, reflecting rental
support to market traders and vacant units, and £0.7m in respect of city
centre advertising income and street café licences.
Planning & Sustainable Development – the COVID pandemic has had a
significant impact on the service in terms of increased volumes of
applications and enforcement work, outstripping the capacity of existing
resources. Additional short-term funding of £0.2m in 2021/22 has therefore
been secured to address the backlogs and to facilitate the timely delivery of
Planning outcomes. However, it is anticipated that there will be an impact on
the service’s ability to deliver budgeted efficiency savings and its staffing
vacancy factor and a projected overspend of £0.2m is currently estimated.
Highways and Transportation – The service is projecting an underspend of
£0.3m which includes savings of £0.6m in respect of street lighting energy
consumption. A projected staffing underspend of £0.8m due to vacancies is
offset by reduced income and increased external supplier costs.
The overall projected position of £6.3m includes net staffing savings of
£0.02m across the directorate after taking account of income generating
posts. However, as noted above, this includes provision of £0.9m for the
estimated impact of the local government pay award across the directorate,
which is subject to confirmation at this stage.

The 2021/22 budget contained £10m of new savings plans. Whilst the latest
monitoring position is that most have been delivered or are currently on track to be
delivered, the Month 7 position reflects shortfalls in the following main areas:
•
•
•

Efficiencies within the Planning Service (impacted by Covid) - £0.1m
Markets business plan savings - £0.1m
Breezecard charging income - £0.07m

In addition, there are some budget savings plans for which, although they are not
being achieved as originally envisaged, mitigating savings have been identified to
offset the pressures. These include:

Page 190

•
•
•
•

Appendix 1
Strategic Investment Fund target - £0.9m, offset by existing disposals and
disinvestments
Estate Rationalisation savings - c£0.4m, largely offset by one-off Access
Rights income
Additional Highways DLO surplus, - £0.08m, offset by other savings within
Highways & Transportation
Reduced opening hours at Lotherton Hall and Thwaite Mills - £0.1m, offset
by other expenditure savings within the service

3.5.4 Communities, Housing & Environment – At Month 7, the Directorate is currently
projecting an overspend of £10,018k, of which £8,287k is COVID related. This
position is relatively unchanged from Month 6 and the figures continue to include
the impact of the pay award offer.
There remains a great deal of uncertainty surrounding the projections in waste
management and car parking income in particular. These areas in particular will
continue to be kept under close review.
The shortfalls related to income will be partially offset by the Government’s Sales,
Fees and Charges compensation scheme which is in place to cover a proportion of
qualifying losses until the end of quarter 1 of this financial year, which is accounted
for centrally.
The main areas of variations in respect of COVID-19 are currently estimated as
follows:
• Car Parking Services
£2,912k
Loss of car parking and enforcement income, based on lost income during
the first half of this financial year with projections being based on an
improvement in income received in August and September. Position slightly
worse than previous month.
•

Net loss of Parks & Countryside income
£1,123k
This includes net income losses from visitor attractions, cafes, bereavement
services and the cancellation of planned events, offset by minor expenditure
savings.

•

Waste Management
£4,364k.
This includes the cost of providing additional crews and vehicles to deal with
continuing increased volumes of household waste, the cost of disposing of
this additional waste (10% to 15% above baseline) and the cost of providing
additional staffing cover at Household Waste sites.

•

Benefits subsidy income

•

Other minor variations
£(300k)
This includes losses on income from the hire of Community Centres, offset
by receipt of public health funding and other funding to compensate.

£180k

Page 191

Appendix 1
£1,732k

Non COVID Variations

Outside of the COVID related pressures, the main pressure is an estimated £1.4m
impact on housing benefit subsidy income. In 2020-21 approximately 94% of benefit
costs were recovered through subsidy. To date in 2021-22 this has reduced to 91%
mainly as a result of payments to some supporting people providers not being
eligible for full subsidy. The service is working with the providers to address this
pressure.
Additional pay pressures, estimated in excess of £1m over the amount provided for
in the budget, have been largely contained from staffing savings above, vacancy
factors, continued careful management of post releases, additional grant income
and spending controls.
The Directorate remains on target to deliver the vast majority of the savings of
£6.1m approved at Budget Council in February 2021.
3.5.5 Resources
Based on an examination of key risk budgets, an overspend of £526k is forecast for
the Resources Directorate. This is a £564k decrease from last month. The decrease
is mainly due to:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Catering £30k less due to reductions in the use of casual staff.
CPM £336k reduction due to a NNDR credit.
Facilities Management £200k reduction due to a NNDR credit.
Leeds Building Services £130k increase in loss of operative time due to
increased levels of sickness.
Finance has reduced by £100k due to an increased projection on Court Fee
Income.
Shared Services has improved by £190k due to a revised projection on
supplies and services.
Integrated Digital Service has improved by £100k due to a revised projection
on income.
This position now reflects the latest National Employers final pay offer. The
pay award has yet to be agree and could differ from the offer. Current
assumptions indicate the additional cost to Resources will be £2.4m. It is
anticipated all this additional cost can be mitigated as outlined below.

This is summarised into the following areas across the Directorate’s services:
•

Leeds Building Services (LBS)
£640k
This is the result of increased costs due to operatives working under COVID
compliant working conditions and operatives self-isolating due to Track and
Trace instructions. An estimated cost of pay award of £340k is included in
these figures.

•

Catering income & emergency meals
£650k
The overall loss of income in from schools is £1,670k. This is offset by the
savings on food of £592k and staffing savings of £806k. The overall loss of
commercial income is £549k this all due to covid and is somewhat offset by
staffing savings of £196k and food savings of £203k.

Page 192

Appendix 1
There are £50k of staffing savings due to the closure of sites in the Adults
and Health directorate, with staff being redeployed to other sites which will
alleviate pressure and reduce level of casual staff. There is a management
staff saving of £49k.
There is a further pressure of £158k due to £64k slippage in the
implementation of a new system and £94k loss of contract. An estimated
cost of pay award of £189k is included in these figures.
•

Integrated Digital Service
£385k
There is a projected staffing and agency overspend of £2,278k, which is
partially offset by income from the CCGs of £995k. A saving of £270k on
Microsoft is offset by other costs of £170k for additional contractors. There
are also other areas of increased income of £1,183k to offset this position,
including a one-off Prudential Borrowing saving of £200k. An estimated cost
of pay award of £385k is included in these figures.

•

Legal and Democratic
£168k
There is a £50k pressure due to a reduction in court fees due to the impact of
COVID. The budget pressure may be partially mitigated corporately by the
quarter one Sales Fees and Charges grant. An estimated cost of pay award
of £118k is included in these figures.

•

Procurement and Commercial Services
£232k
There is a projected loss of income of £440k due to a delay in the
recruitment of a Commercial Finance Manager and Senior Commercial
Business Partner which would drive income generation for the service. The
service has identified an additional £240k to mitigate some of this income
loss. An estimated cost of pay award of £32k is included in these figures.

•

Strategy and Improvement
-£116k
There is a projected saving of £198k, due to income from Public Health to
fund 5 x SO2 posts for 6 months. An estimated cost of pay award of £62k is
included in the projection.

•

Human Resources
-£46k
A staff saving of £142k is projected across the HR service, also additional
income of £87k from Public Health which is partly offset by an estimated
£56k loss of income due to elements of the Aspire contract. Severance costs
of £39k are reflected for a member of staff that has left on ELI. An estimated
cost of pay award of £88k is included in the projection.

•

Finance
£87k
This position utilises £300k of additional Court Fee income, which is
offsetting pressures in Revenues and £100k of the Pay Award. An estimated
cost of pay award of £187k is included in the projection.

•

Facilities Management

-£140k

Page 193

Appendix 1
There is a COVID cost of £60k within Facilities Management for the PAT
testing of home working equipment. There is also NNDR credit of £200k as
the service has actively sought to declare buildings as void where relevant.
•

Corporate Property Management
-336k
NNDR credit of £336k as the service has actively sought to declare buildings
as void where relevant.

•

Shared Services
£458k
A projected staffing saving of £19k along with an estimated cost of pay
award of £477k pay award.

•

Pay Award Mitigation
-£1642k
As stated in the summary, current assumptions indicate the additional cost to
Resources of the current National Employer’s pay offer will be £2.4m.
Approximately £0.75m of this is mitigated by following the principle that
trading departments recover the costs from clients where contract and
agreements allow. £1.4m will be mitigated by the identification of
transformational activity within the directorate which falls within the additional
flexibilities definition for Capital Receipts which the Government has allowed
local authorities. Approximately £0.25m is expected from additional fee
income and vacancy management. A total of £1.398m is therefore shown on
the ‘General Fund Support Services’ heading to reflect this mitigation.

Reported overspends due to loss of income from the ongoing impact of Covid have
been included in a claim to Central Government from the 'Sales, Fees and
Charges' grant available for the first three months of the 21/22 financial year. The
authority will continue to lobby for the funding of income losses related to
the remainder of the year and for further funding for additional expenditure incurred
due to COVID.
Budget Action Plans - Amber
The 21/22 Budget for Resources includes Action Plans of £16.626m. Each of these
is currently expected to be delivered with the exceptions of:
Catering. The £785k Action plan to generate additional income has been impacted
by COVID. This pressure is reflected in the above figures, with a mitigation of staff
savings offsetting much of the pressure. This action plan is therefore rated as
amber.
Contact Centre/Digital Access. A budget action plan of £420k requires channel
shift to fully deliver. £260k of the action plan has been achieved to date through the
Early Leavers initiative. The action plan is rated as amber.
3.5.6 Strategic & Central Accounts - At the end of October, the Strategic & Central
accounts projection is an overspend of £1.06m, before taking into account the
application of funding to address the £26.3m COVID pressures projected in
directorate positions.
The Strategic projection recognises a £1m pressure in relation to the Council’s levy
payment to the West Yorkshire Combined Authority, which was higher than

Page 194

Appendix 1
anticipated when the budget was set, and pressures of £0.9m in the delivery of
corporate savings targets and £0.5m in respect of budgeted capitalisations. These
pressures are netted down by projected savings in the debt budget of £1.3m.
The 2021/22 budget contained £0.8m of Budget Action Plans. An amber risk is
currently reflected against £750k of budgeted savings, £600k in respect of the
delivery of customer contact savings and £150k in respect of organisational change
savings in Revenues.
3.5.7 Directorate dashboards highlight a projected COVID-19 overspend of £26.3m. The
Council has received £24.3m of Government funding towards the costs of COVID19 additional expenditure for the first quarter of the 2021/22. £7.6m of this funding
had been included in the Strategic Budget as a COVID contingency, with the
remaining grant placed in a COVID reserve. The application of the £7.6m budgeted
COVID contingency, £15.4m of grant funding from the COVID reserve and the
compensation for eligible income losses of £3.0m are also reflected in the Strategic
position and in the appended dashboard. After the application of these funds there
remains a COVID pressure of £0.371m.
3.5.8 A projected non-COVID overspend of £0.538m is projected against the Council’s
2021/22 revenue budget which combined with the COVID overspend results in an
overall forecast variation of £0.909m.
3.5.9 The reported position does not reflect the potential effects of any further local or
national lockdown arrangements not yet introduced which could impact on these
financial projections. Government support for additional general expenditure and
eligible income losses related to COVID is currently unavailable beyond 30th June
2021. A range of schemes supporting businesses have also ended now and it
remains complex to estimate the continued impact of COVID-19 on council tax and
business rates income. Early concerns have arisen around collection rates,
reductions in the tax base in Leeds and the impact of any permanent economic
scarring on Business Rates reliefs, particularly Empty Rate Relief. These require
continued close monitoring over the coming months. However, there are signs that
there may be some recovery, particularly in Business Rates, contingent on the
continued opening of the local economy. The impact on the Council’s financial
position remains unclear.
3.5.10 The Council has budgeted for a £1.6m increase in pay costs to provide a minimum
pay increase of £250 in 2021/22 for all staff earning less than £24,000, as
announced at the 2020 Spending Review. National Employers made a final offer in
July 2021, based on which NJC staff on SCP1 would receive a 2.75% increase, all
other NJC staff a 1.75% increase and JNC staff a 1.5% increase. The reported
position for each directorate at Month 7 reflects the estimated impact of this final
offer on staffing costs. Pay negotiations are ongoing, and there remains a risk that
the final pay award agreed will exceed this level of provision.
3.5.11 Significant global increases in gas and electricity prices have been experienced
since late 2020, with current prices at an unprecedented high. The Council
purchases gas and electricity in advance in line with its agreed risk strategy, and so
has already hedged the price for the vast majority of its energy requirement for
2021/22, and for a substantial proportion for 2022/23. However, there remains a

Page 195

Appendix 1
proportion of our forecast volume requirement for which we have not yet secured
the price.
3.5.12 The 2021/22 budgets for gas and electricity total £20.93m. The latest estimate for
2021/22 is £21.63m for gas and electricity combined (£0.7m over budget).
However, if the prices currently being forecast based on the current market
conditions are realised, the estimated overall cost would be £23.95m (£3.0m over
budget). Approximately 70% of this pressure would fall on the General Fund, with
21% falling to Schools and 9% to the HRA. The pressure on the General Fund may
therefore range from approximately £0.5m to £2.1m. As part of the 21/22 budget
process, an Energy Reserve of £1.07m was created. It is therefore likely that a
substantial call on this reserve may be made. Because of the uncertainty with
regard to the likely impact of energy price increases upon the Council’s financial
position a variation on energy as not been included in these financial projections,
although it is recognised that there is likely to be a pressure upon approved
budgets. The Council’s Energy team will continue to monitor the market and to
purchase energy at the optimum time based on expert market advice, whilst
observing the agreed risk strategy.
3.5.13 The budget for 2021/22 requires the delivery of £56.1m of savings. Detailed budget
action plans have been developed to identify how these savings will be achieved
and progress against these action plans is monitored and reported throughout the
year. At the end of October, it is anticipated that the required £56.1m of budgeted
savings will be delivered in full or managed through mitigating actions, with the
exception of £0.7m relating to three savings plans in the Children and Families
directorate. Areas of risk are highlighted in directorate narratives above with further
detail provided at Appendix 3.
3.6

COVID Reserve

3.6.1 The £16.7m COVID Reserve was created in the 2021/22 Budget to be applied to
any pressures arising which exceeded the initial estimate of COVID impact in
2021/22. In addition to the use reported above (£15.4m in the Strategic position and
a further £0.8m in directorate positions), the July meeting of this Board approved
the use of £0.52m to support the delivery of Free School Meals across the summer
school holidays. As such, based on current projections, this reserve will be applied
in full in 2021/22.
4.

Other Financial Performance

4.1

Council Tax
The Council Tax in-year collection rate at the end of October was 62.1%. For
comparison, in October 2020 the in-year collection rate was 62.7%, and in October
2019, a ‘normal’ year, the in-year collection rate was 63.3%. The collection rate
requires continued monitoring as the economy recovers, however the collection rate
in the fullness of time for 2021/22 was assumed to be 1% lower, at 98%, than in a
normal year in the 2021/22 Budget. Currently this additional allowance for noncollection appears to allow sufficient provision.

Page 196

Appendix 1
Leeds’ share of the declared Council Tax deficit for 2020/21 (at
December
2020) has been incorporated into the 2021/22 budget. The declared deficit was
£15.557m. This has been adjusted for the 3-year spreading legislated by
Government in order that authorities can better manage deficits arising as a result
of the economic impact of COVID-19. The deficit that is budgeted to be repaid in
2021/22 is therefore £4.951m, with Leeds share of this being £4.196m. This
repayment is a fixed amount.
31st

The actual closing deficit for 2020/21 was £13.958m. Adjusting this for the 3-year
deficit spreading results in an opening deficit on the collection fund of £3.704m, with
Leeds share of this being £3.14m. The £1.056m improvement will benefit the
General Fund in 2022/23.
In addition to the above, Government introduced a Local Tax Income Guarantee
(LTIG), applying to both Council Tax and Business Rates. Losses in scope will be
compensated by Government at a rate of 75%. The 2021/22 budget reflected the
assumption that a grant of around £5.2m would be payable to the Authority under
this scheme. As the 2020/21 outturn position improved compared to the position in
the Budget, the grant we expect to receive will be lower. The 2021/22 Budget and
the Medium-Term Financial Strategy reflect that this funding will not be utilised in
2021/22, but will, instead, be held in reserve and applied in 2023/24 when the final
instalment of the 2020/21 deficit will become payable.
At the end of October 2021 the in-year projection for Council Tax is a surplus of
£1.364m. Whilst we expect an improved position by the year-end, at this stage of
the financial year it is still not possible to identify the full impact of economic scarring
resulting from the pandemic. The projected position and collection rate will continue
to be closely monitored.
4.2

Business Rates
The budgeted collection rate for business rates is to achieve an in-year collection
target of 96.5%, collecting £367.8m of business rates income. However, the Board
will be aware that, in response to the ongoing effects of the COVID-19 pandemic,
the Government subsequently announced significant additional business rates
reliefs, reducing the income to be collected directly from business to £322.2m as at
31st October 2021. These reliefs gave 100% business rates relief to retail and
leisure establishments and children’s nurseries until 30th June 2021, although the
total relief that any one ratepayer can claim is capped at £2m nationally if they were
forced to close in 2021/22 or £105,000 nationally if they could remain open, with a
sliding scale of relief subsequently until 31st March 2022 when all COVID-19 related
reliefs are due to end. The costs to the Council’s retained Business Rates income
will be funded in full by Government through Section 31 grants. This reduces the
risk to the Authority regarding non-collection of business rates income. The
collection rate at the end of October 2021 was 65.52%, unsurprisingly 6.9% ahead
of performance in 2020/21 and now 0.45% ahead of performance in 2019/20, the
last ‘normal’ year. Although the collection rate appears to be recovering after
2020/21, it remains a matter of concern to the Authority and will require close
monitoring in the coming months.
The total rateable value of business properties in Leeds has reduced from £929.3m
at the time of the 2021/22 budget to £925.0m as at 31st October 2021, a decrease

Page 197

Appendix 1
of £4.3m. The 2021/22 budget includes an expected reduction in Rateable Value of
£11.2m for the full year and the size of the Business Rates tax base in Leeds will
also require close monitoring.
Leeds’ share of the declared Business Rates deficit from 2020/21 (at 31st December
2020) has been incorporated into the 2021/22 budget. The total declared deficit on
the Collection Fund was £234.9m, largely driven by the extended reliefs introduced
in 2020/21 by the Government in response to the pandemic, fully funded by section
31 Government grant held in reserve. Leeds’ share of the unfunded declared deficit
is £36.7m, which will be spread over three years in accordance with Government
legislation. £12.2m of this unfunded deficit will be paid in 2021/22 and is fixed.
Since declaration a number of issues underlying the declared deficit have been
clarified. These positively affected previous assumptions regarding claims for Empty
Rate Relief during lockdowns; ratepayer appeals, many of whom claimed a Material
Change of Circumstance due to the pandemic that will not now be successful; and
the forecast continued reduction in the tax base in Leeds in 2020/21. Taking these
into account, the actual closing deficit for 2020/21 is an improvement of £12.3m
from the position declared and used in the 2021/22 budget. This improvement will
benefit the General Fund in 2022/23.
The outlook for the in-year Business Rates deficit on the Collection Fund remains
highly uncertain, with particular concerns around bad debts, continued reduction in
the tax base and higher than usual cost of Empty Rate Relief. Each of these areas
will require close monitoring. As at the 31st October 2021 it is projected that Leeds
share of the in-year deficit will be £31.2m, largely due to the reliefs introduced by
Government in March 2021 in response to the COVID-19 situation. These reliefs
are fully funded by section 31 grants, £31.7m of which will be held in reserve to
meet the cost of this deficit in 2022/23.
Government introduced a Local Tax Income Guarantee (LTIG) for 2020/21, with
losses in scope compensated by Government at a rate of 75%. The 2021/22 budget
reflects the assumption that a grant of around £25.8m would be receivable under
this scheme. As the 2020/21 outturn position was significantly improved compared
to the declared position in the Budget, the grant we expect to receive will be
significantly lower. Of the funding received, £8.6m will be applied in 2021/22 and the
remainder will be held in reserve to partially meet the unfunded final instalment of
the 2020/21 Business Rates deficit in 2023/24.
4.3

Business Rates Appeals
The opening appeals provisions for 2021/22 are £30.0m, made up of £7.7m relating
to appeals received against the 2010 ratings list and £22.3m estimated costs in
relation to the 2017 ratings list. Under 50% Business Rates Retention, Leeds’
budget is affected by 49% of any appeals provision made in this year.
On the 31st October 2021, there were 171 appeals outstanding against the 2010
ratings list. During October 2021 6 appeals have been settled, one of which has
resulted in changes to rateable values. No new appeals have been received in
October. Currently, 6.8% of the city’s total rateable value on the 2010 list is subject
to at least one appeal.

Page 198

Appendix 1
Before the COVID-19 public health crisis, the introduction of the new Check
Challenge Appeal system on 1st April 2017 saw a significant reduction in the
number of appeals submitted by ratepayers against their Rateable Value on the
2017 ratings list compared to the 2010 ratings list. There are only four outstanding
appeals that have been submitted to the Valuation Tribunal, the final stage of the
new process.
However, during the national lockdowns in 2020/21 there was a significant upsurge
in the number of Checks and Challenges submitted to the Valuation Office. Most of
these claimed a Material Change of Circumstance due to the restrictions to
economic activity during the crisis. Initially the Council provided for the estimated
costs of these appeals should they result in reductions to rateable value and this
was included in the declared deficit position for 2020/21, submitted to Council in
February 2021 in the 2021/22 Revenue Budget and Council Tax Report.
Subsequently the Government has published primary legislation, which is currently
before the House of Lords committee, to ensure that these ‘appeals’ will not be
successful and will not lead to reductions in Rateable Value. As at 31st March 2021
the Authority was therefore able to exclude 1,007 Challenges from its calculations
of provisions reducing the cost to Leeds in 2020/21 by £6.4m.
As at 31st October 2021 the Council is providing for a net of 398 other Checks and
Challenges against the 2017 ratings list plus provisions for specific issues such as
the removal of ATMs located in shops from the 2017 list, expected reduction to
hospitals, ambulance and fire stations and expected reductions to a number of GP
surgeries.
4.4

Impact of COVID-19 on the Collection Fund in 2021/22
It remains very complex to estimate the continued impact of COVID-19 on council
tax and business rates income. Early concerns have arisen around collection rates,
reductions in the tax base in Leeds and the impact of any permanent economic
scarring on Business Rates reliefs, particularly Empty Rate Relief. These require
continued close monitoring over the coming months. However there are signs that
there may be some recovery, particularly in Business Rates, contingent on the
continued opening of the local economy.

5.

Housing Revenue Account (HRA)

5.1

At the end of Month 7 the HRA is projecting a balanced position.

5.2

There is a forecast reduction in rental income of £791k mainly due to a temporary
increase in the number of void properties because of the ongoing impact of COVID19. There is a £125k pressure on service charges due to the delay in implementing
the new Retirement Life charge as facilities have been unable to open during the
first quarter of the year due to COVID restrictions. These income pressures are
partially offset by additional external telecoms income of £195k.

5.3

Employee costs are forecast to underspend by £1,657k. The projected saving is a
result of the time taken to fill vacant posts following the ELI process and service
realignment. The savings are partially offset by a £1,264k reduction in the staff
costs chargeable to the capital programme.

Page 199

5.4

Appendix 1
The £157k balance on the Welfare Reform reserve will be utilised in year as the
Enhanced Income Team has now been integrated back into the Housing
Management staffing structure, therefore the reserve is no longer required.

5.5

There is a forecast pressure on the disrepair budget of £1.97m for the year, this
pressure has been offset by utilising the disrepair / repairs reserve.

5.6

Total tenant arrears are £11.1m, approximately £1.7m lower than the equivalent
period last year and £0.03m lower than the 2020-21 outturn position. The latest rent
collection position is 96%, 0.7% lower than last year’s outturn position (96.7%).

5.7

Projected Right to Buy sales for the year are projected in line with budget at 610
with 313 completed sales at the end of October.

Page 200

Appendix 2
Overall Summary
Financial Dashboard 2021/22 Financial Year

Month 7 (October 2021)

Page 201

Adults and Health
Financial Dashboard 2021/22 Financial Year

Month 7 (October 2021)

Page 202

Children and Families
Financial Dashboard 2021/22 Financial Year

Month 7 (October 2021)

Page 203

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG)
Financial Dashboard 2021/22 Financial Year

Month 7 (October 2021)

Page 204

City Development
Financial Dashboard 2021/22 Financial Year

Month 7 (October 2021)

Page 205

Communities, Housing and Environment
Financial Dashboard 2021/22 Financial Year

Month 7 (October 2021)

Page 206

HRA
Financial Dashboard 2021/22 Financial Year

Month 7 (October 2021)

Page 207

Resources
Financial Dashboard 2021/22 Financial Year

Month 7 (October 2021)

Page 208

Strategic
Financial Dashboard 2021/22 Financial Year

Month 7 (October 2021)

Page 209

Appendix 3
Leeds City Council - Summary
Budget Action Plan 2021/22 Financial Year

Page 210
Other Savings Measures

October (Month 7)

Adults and Health
Budget Action Plan 2021/22 Financial Year

October (Month 7)

Page 211

Adults and Health
Budget Action Plan 2021/22 Financial Year

October (Month 7)

Red and Amber Risk Areas
Budgeted savings / Service Review /
Other savings
Business as
Savings title
measures
Usual
Increase in client
contributions

Accountable Chief
Officer
Shona McFarlane

Achieved Budgeted
Projected
to date / achieved
£'000s
£'000s
to date %

Projected
Shortfall /
(Surplus) £'000s

Latest

Budgeted
£'000s

At significant risk
of not delivering

1,076

0

0%

500

576

MAC review is out for consultation and then financial assessment would
be needed so Feb impact at earliest, Charges for two carers similarly out
for consultation and then needing financial assessments for Feb impact,

Including mitigating actions for Reds & Ambers

Budgeted savings

SR

Budgeted savings

BAU

Assistive Technology

Shona McFarlane

High risk

300

0

0%

0

300

Meant to be achieved through increasing the number of people receiving
a referal for reablement and assistive technology and therefore reducing
the cost of on going long term care. This has not happened in 2021/22

Budgeted savings

BAU

Recovery of Payments
for Care not Delivered

Shona McFarlane

At significant risk
of not delivering

489

0

0%

49

440

SR

Commissioned
services for working
age adults proposals:
reduction in grant
funding

Two extra staff needed to fulfil this role. Recruited in August so savings
expected in second half of the year. Shortfall funded from demand
savings

Shona McFarlane
Caroline Baria

High risk

33

3

9%

17

16

Savings were to be achieved from a 10% reduction in commissioned
services. Due to the need for a 6 month notification period only 50%
expected to be achieved in 21/22. Full saving expected in 22/23. Reserves
cover 21/22 shortfall

SR

Strategic
Commissioning (Older
Adults) proposals:
10% reduction in
grant funding

Shona McFarlane
Caroline Baria

High risk

24

2

8%

12

12

Savings were to be achieved from a 10% reduction in commissioned
services. Due to the need for a 6 month notification period only 50%
expected to be achieved in 21/22. Full saving expected in 22/23. Reserves
cover 21/22 shortfall

SR

Commissioned
services for working
age adults proposals:
reduction in grant
funding

Shona McFarlane
Caroline Baria

High risk

348

29

8%

174

174

Savings were to be achieved from a 10% reduction in commissioned
services. Due to the need for a 6 month notification period only 50%
expected to be achieved in 21/22. Full saving expected in 22/23. Reserves
cover 21/22 shortfall

Budgeted savings

SR

Strategic
Commissioning (Older
Adults) proposals:
10% reduction in
grant funding

Shona McFarlane
Caroline Baria

Budgeted savings

SR

Increase in client
contributions

Budgeted savings

Page 212

Budgeted savings

Budgeted savings

John Crowther

John Crowther

High risk

478

40

8%

239

239

Savings were to be achieved from a 10% reduction in commissioned
services. Due to the need for a 6 month notification period only 50%
expected to be achieved in 21/22. Full saving expected in 22/23. Reserves
cover 21/22 shortfall

At significant risk
of not delivering

160

0

0%

0

160

Appointeeship Charges deferred until 22/23. Impact to be addressed via
other savings

Savings achieved

4,638

3,500

75%

4,638

0

Cancelled

0

0

0%

0

0

High risk

2,908

74

3%

991

1,917

0

0

0%

0

0

7,749
15,295

4,109
7,683

53%
50%

7,649
13,278

100
2,017

Some risk
On track, no
issues
Total

Children and Families
Budget Action Plan 2021/22 Financial Year

Page 213

Other Savings Measures

October (Month 7)

Children and Families
Budget Action Plan 2021/22 Financial Year

October (Month 7)

Red and Amber Risk Areas

Page 214

Budgeted savings / Service Review /
Other savings
Business as
Savings title
measures
Usual
Increase in income
from Adel Beck
Budgeted savings
BAU
Placement charges
Additional income
through increase in
Budgeted savings
BAU
Unaccompanied
Asylum Seeking
Children
Budgeted savings
BAU
CCG Income
CLA Review/ Review
Budgeted savings
SR
of Early Help and
Prevention
Safeguarding
Budgeted savings
BAU
partnership –
management costs
Review of CLA
Other savings
BAU
pressure previously
measures
assumed

Accountable Chief
Officer

Latest

Budgeted
£'000s

Achieved
to date /
£'000s

Budgeted
Projected
achieved
£'000s
to date %

Projected
Shortfall /
(Surplus) £'000s

Ruth Terry

Some risk

250

0

0%

250

0

Whilst addiitional income is expected this needs to be considered in the
context of overall budget position of Adel Beck

Ruth Terry

Some risk

1,000

683

68%

1,000

0

£683k achieved to date is subject to the latest Home Office claim and
based on current UASC numbers, any subsequent placements will result
in further income generation.

Julie Longworth

Some risk

1,700

0

0%

1,700

0

Julie Longworth

High risk

750

0

0%

750

0

Sal Tariq

High risk

40

0

0%

40

0

Revised plan to deliver these savings subject to governance, so may be a
delay in implementation

Ruth Terry

High risk

410

0

0%

0

410

Significant pressures reported on the CLA budget and unable to deliver.
No mitigating savings identifed.
£200k shortlfall against this target, no mitigating savings yet identified

Including mitigating actions for Reds & Ambers

Negotiations ongoing with the CCG
Early Help review ongoing, savings achieved to date have been due to in
year savings due to delayed recuritment and vacancies within the Early
Help Review scope.

Budgeted savings

BAU

Contract savings

Tim Pouncey

Some risk

500

300

60%

300

200

Budgeted savings
Budgeted savings

BAU
0

Tim Pouncey
Tim Pouncey

High risk
Some risk

150
20

0
0

0%
0%

150
20

0
0

0
0

Other savings
measures

0

Running costs
Taxi Contract
Additional income moved in MTFS to
Grants, so is not part
of the Savings Review
total figure

Sal Tariq

High risk

1,250

433

35%

1,250

0

Further income expected to be identified

Running costs

Tim Pouncey

High risk

150

0

0%

150

0

0

Sal Tariq

High risk

330

0

0%

330

0

Further income expected to be identified

90

Other savings
measures
Other savings
measures

BAU
x

Additional income

Savings achieved

3,915

3,808

97%

3,825

Cancelled

0

0

0%

0

0

High risk

3,080

433

14%

2,670

410

Some risk
On track, no
issues
Total

3,470

983

28%

3,270

200

2,856
13,321

364
5,588

13%
42%

2,856
12,621

0
700

City Development
Budget Action Plan 2021/22 Financial Year

Page 215

Other Savings Measures

October (Month 7)

City Development
Budget Action Plan 2021/22 Financial Year

October (Month 7)

Red and Amber Risk Areas
Budgeted savings / Service Review /
Other savings
Business as
Savings title
measures
Usual
Budgeted savings

BAU

Estate Rationalisation
and Remodel

Budgeted savings

BAU

Markets and City
Centre Service

Budgeted savings

BAU

Highways &
Transportation

Budgeted savings

BAU

Budgeted savings

SR

Budgeted savings

SR

Arts, Events & Venues

Page 216

Strategic Planning
Planning application
decision-making
process

Achieved Budgeted
Projected
Projected
to date / achieved
Shortfall /
£'000s
£'000s
to date %
(Surplus) £'000s

Accountable Chief
Officer

Latest

Budgeted
£'000s

Angela Barnicle

Some risk

236

0

0%

192

44

Phil Evans

High risk

200

50

25%

116

84

Gary Bartlett

Some risk

900

370

41%

820

80

Projection reflects savings from St Georges House.
High risk of all savings within markets not being achieved by year end.
Latest forecasts assume 58% will be achived this year leading to a 84K
pressure.
Additional DLO income target may not be achievable in 21/22 due to
delays in recruitment but shortfall managed within the service

Eve Roodhouse

Some risk

254

224

88%

254

0

Some risk re Carriageworks Income as a result of covid

David Feeney

Some risk

100

0

0%

100

0

Staffing savings identified

David Feeney

At significant risk
of not delivering

100

0

0%

0

100

Unlikely to achieve saving proposal due to workload pressures within the
service as a result of Covid.

67

0

0%

0

67

Savings delvered via Service wide review of expenditure (achieved) and
through additional Income via One Estate (being monitored)

70

0

0%

0

70

Savings delvered via Service wide review of expenditure

At significant risk
of not delivering
At significant risk
of not delivering

Budgeted savings

SR

Lotherton Hall

Eve Roodhouse

Budgeted savings

SR

Thwaite Mills

Eve Roodhouse

Budgeted savings

SR

Breezecard charge

Eve Roodhouse

High risk

150

2

1%

75

75

Budgeted savings

SR

Leeds Lights

Eve Roodhouse

Some risk

208

158

76%

208

0

Budgeted savings

SR

Yeadon Tarn Sailing
Centre

Phil Evans

Some risk

88

88

100%

88

0

Budgeted savings

SR

John Charles Centre

Phil Evans

Some risk

200

100

50%

200

0

0

Estate Rationalisation

Angela Barnicle

High risk

376

0

0%

0

376

0

Strategic Investment
Fund

Angela Barnicle

High risk

1,315

381

29%

381

934

Savings achieved

Other savings
measures
Other savings
measures

Including mitigating actions for Reds & Ambers

4,235

4,235

100%

4,236

0

Cancelled

0

0

0%

0

0

High risk

2,278

433

19%

572

1,706

Some risk
On track, no
issues
Total

1,986

940

47%

1,862

124

3,182
11,681

2,773
8,381

87%
72%

3,182
9,852

0
1,830

Breezecard offer launched August. Requires 36,000 sales to achieve
target. To be monitored closely as considerable risk
Mostly delivered (savings against Staffing and Transport) along with
increased Income being monitored
Proposal to lease ongoing, currently awaiting Business Case review of
interested parties. Staffing savings identified in current year
this proposal was in 4 parts, Staffing - achieved, Tennis Centre - on
course, Club Bookings and Elite Programme both carry some risk due to
delayed offer as a result of covid and capacity issues - under close review
Fee income from sale of Logic Leeds (c£1.15m) and access rights income
will offset
Projection assumes St Georges House income. Remainder to be offset by
fee income from sale of Logic Leeds (c£1.15m)

Communities, Housing & Environment
Budget Action Plan 2021/22 Financial Year

October (Month 7)

Page 217

Communities, Housing Environment
Budget Action Plan 2021/22 Financial Year

October (Month 7)

Red and Amber Risk Areas
Budgeted savings / Service Review /
Savings title
Other savings
Business as
measures
Usual

Accountable Chief
Officer

Budgeted savings

BAU

Bus Lane Enforcement

John Mulcahy

Budgeted savings

BAU

Environmental
Services Staffing

John Woolmer

Budgeted savings

BAU

Ellar Ghyll HWRC

John Woolmer

Budgeted savings

BAU

Benefits Staffing

Lee Hemsworth

Budgeted savings

0

Parks - Intruder
Monitoring

Sean Flesher

Latest
At significant risk
of not delivering
Savings figure
may/will be
revised down
Savings figure
may/will be
revised down
Savings figure
may/will be
revised down
Savings figure
may/will be
revised down

Budgeted
£'000s

Achieved Budgeted
Projected
to date / achieved
£'000s
£'000s
to date %

Projected
Shortfall /
(Surplus) £'000s

Including mitigating actions for Reds & Ambers

Total parking income including BLE is significantly affected by COVID.
Assuming this £50k is part of £3m parking income pressures
Approx £40k projected variance 1 x team manager from original
proposals - however expected to be offset with other natural vacancies
during the year

Page 218

50

0

0%

0

50

683

398

58%

683

0

75

0

0%

31

44

Not implemented yet but other savings have been identified at
household waste sites to offset this specific BAP pressure

520

260

50%

461

59

Approx 50% delivered through ELIs at the end of 2020/21. balance from
vacant posts pending completion of service review and a restructure. Not
materially different

73

0

0%

18

55

Delay in implementation with a minor shortfall expected, pressure
expected to be offset by other unrelated staffing underspends

Savings achieved

0

0

0%

0

0

Cancelled

0

0

0%

0

0

High risk

50

0

0%

0

50

1,351

658

49%

1,194

158

4,692
6,093

3,124
3,782

67%
62%

5,192
6,386

-500
-293

Some risk
On track, no
issues
Total

Resources
Budget Action Plan 2021/22 Financial Year

Page 219

Other Savings Measures

October (Month 7)

Resources
Budget Action Plan 2021/22 Financial Year

October (Month 7)

Red and Amber Risk Areas
Budgeted savings / Service Review /
Other savings
Business as
Savings title
measures
Usual
Budgeted savings

0

CONTACT CENTRE:
CHE>R

Budgeted savings

SR

CEL: Increase income

Other savings

0

Other

Achieved Budgeted
Projected
Projected
to date / achieved
Shortfall /
£'000s
to date %
£'000s
(Surplus) £'000s

Page 220

Accountable Chief
Officer

Latest

Budgeted
£'000s

Mariana Paxton

Some risk

420

0

0%

420

0

Sarah Martin

Some risk

300

0

0%

300

0

Various

Savings figure
may/will be
revised down

500

292

58%

500

0

Savings achieved

35

35

100%

35

0

Cancelled

0

0

0%

0

0

High risk
Some risk
On track, no
issues
Total

0

0

0%

0

0

1,220

292

24%

1,220

0

14,115
15,370

8,234
8,560

58%
56%

14,115
15,370

0
0

Including mitigating actions for Reds & Ambers

Amber - A budget action plan of £420k requires channel shift to fully
deliver. £260k of the action plan has been achieved to date through the
Early Leavers initiative. The remainder has been achieved through
mitigation in other areas. The action plan is rated as amber.
Amber - Action plan to generate additional income has been impacted by
Covid. This pressure is reflected in the above figures, with a mitigation of
staff savings offsetting much of the pressure. This action plan is therefore
rated as amber.
0

Strategic and Central Accounts
Budget Action Plan 2021/22 Financial Year

October (Month 7)

Page 221

Strategic
Budget Action Plan 2021/22 Financial Year

October (Month 7)

Red and Amber Risk Areas
Budgeted savings / Service Review /
Other savings
Business as
Savings title
measures
Usual

Accountable Chief
Officer

Budgeted savings

0

Organisational Change

0

Budgeted savings

0

Organisational Change

0

Latest
Savings figure
may/will be
revised down
Savings figure
may/will be
revised down
Savings achieved
Cancelled
High risk

Page 222

Some risk
On track, no
issues
Total

Budgeted
£'000s

Achieved Budgeted
Projected
Projected
to date / achieved
Shortfall /
£'000s
to date %
£'000s
(Surplus) £'000s

Including mitigating actions for Reds & Ambers

1,000

0

0%

400

600

Revenues/Customer contact savings revised down.

350

0

0%

200

150

Revenues/Customer contact savings revised down.

-1,268

-1,268

100%

-1,268

0

0

0

0%

0

0

0

0

0%

0

0

1,350

0

0%

600

750

750
832

0
-1,268

0%
-152%

750
82

0
750

Agenda Item 10
Report author: Tim Rollett/Philip Steel
Tel: 378 9235 / 378 6952

Performance Report on Culture and An Efficient,
Enterprising and Healthy Organisation
Date: 24th January 2022
Report of: Directors of Resources and City Development
Report to: Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board
Will the decision be open for call in?

☐ Yes ☒ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐ Yes ☒ No

What is this report about?
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions
•

This report provides a summary of performance information against the strategic priorities
for the council and city related to the Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board.

•

The information contained relates to the “Culture” Best City Priority and the “An Efficient,
Enterprising and Healthy Organisation” Best Council Ambition.

•

This report covers the latest available results for each indicator.

Recommendations
a) Members are recommended to note the latest performance information contained in

Appendices 1 and 2 and the issues which have been highlighted and consider whether they
wish to undertake further scrutiny work to support improvement over the coming year in any
of these areas.
Why is the proposal being put forward?
1

To provide Members with the opportunity to review the latest performance information and
determine whether they wish to consider any of these areas in greater depth in the months
ahead.

What impact will this proposal have?
Wards affected:
Have ward members been consulted?

☐ Yes

☒No

2

The performance information contained in the Appendices to this report and the issues
which have been highlighted are provided for the Board’s information.

3

This is an information report and not a decision, so it is not necessary to conduct an equality
impact assessment. However, some of the results provided will link to wider issues of
Page 223

equality and diversity, and cohesion and integration, and there may be occasions when
Scrutiny Board members will want to look more closely at these issues and may request
further information to inform their investigations.
What consultation and engagement has taken place?
4

This is an information report and as such does not need to be consulted on with the public.
However, performance information is published on the council’s website and is available to
the public.

What are the resource implications?
5

There are no specific resource or procurement implications from this report, although some
performance indicators relate to financial and other value for money aspects.

What are the legal implications?
6

Performance information is publicly available and is published on the council website. This
report is an information update providing the Scrutiny Board with a summary of performance
for the strategic priorities within its remit and as such is not subject to call in.

What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
7

There are close links between performance and the comprehensive risk management
process used in the council to monitor and manage key risks.

8

The council’s Corporate Risk Register includes five risks directly linked to one or more of the
KPIs summarised in this report:
• In-year budget
• Medium-term financial strategy
• Health & Safety failure
• Information Management and Governance
• Workforce planning

Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars?
☒ Inclusive Growth
9

☒ Health and Wellbeing

☒ Climate Emergency

This report supports the Council’s three pillars by providing performance information for
Strategy & Resources that relates to the economic growth of a healthy city with high quality
services. It demonstrates what action is being taken to affect performance (where relevant)
and to allow the board to challenge the same and consider whether any further focus should
be given to any particular area in supporting these pillars. The council declared a climate
emergency in March 2019 with the stated ambition of working to achieve net zero carbon
emissions for the city by 2030. All services across the council will be involved with efforts to
achieve this ambition, but none of the performance information contained in this report is
directly linked to actions taking place to address the climate emergency and, therefore, will
not feed into an assessment of how on track the council is in achieving the target.

Page 224

Options, timescales and measuring success
a) What other options were considered?
10 N/A
b) How will success be measured?
11 N/A
c) What is the timetable for implementation?
12 N/A
Appendices
13 The following appendices are attached to this report:
• Appendix 1 – Performance Summary
• Appendix 2 – Workforce Profile
Background papers
14 None

Page 225

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 1 – Performance summary for the
Strategy & Resources Scrutiny Board
(Latest available data)
1 Main issues
This appendix provides a summary of performance information relating to the “Culture” Best City
Priority and the “An Efficient, Enterprising and Healthy Organisation” Best Council Ambition, both
of which fall within the portfolio of the Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board.
2 Culture
There are two BCP KPIs within this portfolio area:
3 Visitors to venues
Indicator
Number of visitors to a range of venues
and events

Target

2019

2020

Change

Increase

2,712,122
tickets/visitors

External data not
available due to the
pandemic

N/A

This indicator measures the number of people visiting a range of attractions or events within
Leeds including: Northern Ballet; Leeds Grand Theatre; City Varieties; Hyde Park Cinema;
Leeds Playhouse; First Direct Arena; Opera North; Leeds Town Hall and Museums & Galleries.
Results are cumulative for the calendar year and are compared to the same period during the
previous year.
The cultural and creative sector has been particularly badly affected by the Covid-19 pandemic.
Most of the successful events delivered in the city during 2019/20 have not been held since due
to Covid-related restrictions. Almost all public and private cultural venues and events were
closed for considerable periods of time and were only permitted to operate at a reduced capacity
once they re-opened.
The collection of data relating to visitor numbers has now resumed in some areas, although we
are not yet able to resume reporting against this KPI.
The latest data on city centre footfall suggests that, on average, levels are still approximately
20% lower than those seen in 2019, reflecting the fact that the many workers have still not
returned to their offices on a regular basis. The reduction in the numbers of people travelling to
the city centre, continues to have an impact on attendance at cultural venues.
Held on 14th and 15th October at locations across Leeds city centre, Light Night returned as a
live event in 2021, after taking place remotely in 2020. Approximately 120,000 people attended
across the two nights. This was lower than the estimated 150,000 in 2019 but on a par with
2018.
The council’s official press release following the event can be viewed: Light Night Leeds returns
The event was reviewed: Leeds Light Night 2021 - The State Of The Arts

Key
Target has been met
Target has not been met
No comparison to target

Page 227

Change in the right direction
Change in the wrong direction
No change or no material change

Appendix 1 – Performance summary for the
Strategy & Resources Scrutiny Board
(Latest available data)
4 Employees in creative industries
Indicator
Number of employees in the creative
industries in Leeds

Target

2018

2019

Change

Increase

12,000

10,000

-2,000

‘Creative Industries’ is a specific category within the Business Register of Employment Survey
(BRES) published by the Office for National Statistics.
Members are advised that updated results for this indicator had not been published at the time of
writing.
5 Human Resources
There are eight BCP KPIs within this portfolio area:
6 Representative workforce
Indicator

Target

End of Sep 2020

End of Sep 2021

Change

Council workforce representation
compared to the city (Census 2011)
and over time

To reflect our
communities

Female 61%.40+ 65%.
BAME 14%.
Disabled 6%. Carers 9%.
LGB 3%. T+<1%*

Female 61%. 40+65%.
BAME 14%
Disabled 6%. Carers 9%.
LGB 3%. T+ <1%*

--

* T+ refers to all those who do not identify as the gender they were assigned at birth

The demographics of the council’s workforce, along with other equality criteria, are assessed
regularly and compared to a baseline of 2011 census data and the results recorded 12 months
previously.
Appendix 2 summarises the council’s workforce profile data for the end of September 2021 and
compares this to the city-wide data taken from the 2011 census1.
The profile of the council’s workforce is very stable, reflecting the low turn-over in staff, and the
KPI results themselves do not reveal the range of work that is taking place in this area.
Work has begun to gain a better understanding of the comparison between our workforce and
the wider population, as recorded by the census, by looking more closely at the proportion of
people belonging to any given demographic who are economically active.
For example, there is a far higher proportion of young people in the city than within our
workforce but the majority of these are in full-time education and, therefore, less likely to be
available to work for the council.
Work is also underway to obtain a more accurate understanding of disability and long-term
health conditions within the council’s workforce. Whilst only 6% of staff have formally declared
themselves to be disabled, findings from the Pulse Survey2 and data relating to workplace
adjustments both suggest that between 15 and 20% of staff have a disability or long-term health
condition that limits their day-to-day activity in some way.
1
2

This comparison will be reviewed when the results of the 2021 census are available. Expected in May or June 2022.
Short surveys conducted by HR to gain an understanding of the current mood amongst the workforce. See point 9 below.
Key
Target has been met
Target has not been met
No comparison to target

Page 228

Change in the right direction
Change in the wrong direction
No change or no material change

Appendix 1 – Performance summary for the
Strategy & Resources Scrutiny Board
(Latest available data)
Members are asked to note that a separate report on this work looking at disability and long-term
health conditions within the council’s workforce is also included on today’s agenda.
Work continues to help us build a more inclusive and representative workplace, with
contributions from the BAME network and DAWN.
Work also continues to improve the accuracy of our workforce profile. This is focused on
encouraging staff to disclose their equality information; removing the barriers that might deter
staff from disclosing their information; and looking at other ways to form a more accurate picture
of our workforce.
7 Council apprentices
Indicator
Number / percentage of apprentices
employed by the council

Target

As at 31 Jun 2021

As at 30 Sep 2021

Change

2.30% (start)
4-year average

275 new starts
1.10%

296 new starts
1.18%

+0.08%

Under the terms of the Apprenticeship Levy, the public sector target is for 2.3% of the total
headcount of the workforce to start apprenticeships each year, averaged over a four-year period.
Whilst the average number of apprenticeships started, as a percentage of our total workforce, is
significantly lower than the target, this is broadly in line with other councils that have
responsibility for schools3.
It is clear the council must do more to increase the number of apprentices in the organisation by
boosting its apprenticeship offer to both existing members of staff and new employees.
Following a further mapping exercise by HR, work continues to identify possible opportunities for
apprenticeships, with services being asked to consider this as part of their service review and
planning activity.
Members are asked to note that 799 members of staff have completed their apprenticeships
since we started recording in April 2019 and 58% of these have progressed to a higher graded
role than they were in at the start of their apprenticeship.
8 Staff sickness
Indicator

Average staff sickness levels

Target

12 months to end
Jun 2021

12 months to end
Sep 2021

Change

8.5 days

Overall: 9.80 days
Exc. schools: 11.37

Overall: 10.79 days
Exc. schools: 12.64

+0.99
+1.27

The proportions of total sickness across the organisation (excluding schools), in the 12 months
to the end of September 2021, attributable to various monitored conditions were:

3

The inclusion of schools within the calculations has a significant impact on performance as it almost doubles our headcount but
provides very few additional apprenticeship opportunities. There are approximately 14K staff working for LCC and 12K in schools –
many of whom are part-time and neither qualify nor have the capacity for an apprenticeship.
Key
Target has been met
Target has not been met
No comparison to target

Page 229

Change in the right direction
Change in the wrong direction
No change or no material change

Appendix 1 – Performance summary for the
Strategy & Resources Scrutiny Board
(Latest available data)
Condition

Total days

Days per FTE

Proportion of total

Mental Health

56,986.91

4.60

36.4%

Musculo-Skeletal / Back & Neck

28,816.00

2.33

18.4%

Coronavirus

19,343.65

1.57

12.4%

Heart & Blood Pressure

6,342.91

0.52

4.1%

Levels of absence have inevitably been impacted by Covid-related ill-health and, during the
pandemic, the processes for monitoring and managing sickness triggers and Improving
Attendance stages have been temporarily adjusted to encourage a greater focus on wellbeing.
HR review this position monthly, and interim guidance has been issued to managers to ensure
they prioritise those sickness review meetings which do still need to be held. HR attendance
contacts continue to offer advice and assistance to managers with long term cases and those
requiring more intensive or additional support, e.g. mental health.
To ensure the wealth of Mental Health support we offer is available for all colleagues, we
continue to promote the Healthy Minds Group and the role of Mental Health First Aiders across
the organisation, and our regular “How are you feeling” and “listening ear” sessions continue to
be well-attended. The theme of the October leadership conference was mental health and
wellbeing and the six post-conference workshops for leaders and managers were centred
around the mental wellbeing of managers and teams. Mental health-themed messaging is
included in all our communication channels.
9 Health and wellbeing
Indicator

Target

2019 survey

2022 survey

Change

Score out of ten given by staff working for
Leeds City Council

Increase

7.5 / 10
48% response rate

Date TBC

N/A

Number of employees who believe that
their immediate manager/supervisor looks
out for their general health and wellbeing

Increase

77%

Date TBC

N/A

The results for both indicators are drawn from the council’s employee engagement survey, which
was last conducted in spring 2019. The dates of the next staff engagement survey have yet to
be confirmed, although a fifth wellbeing pulse survey is planned for Spring 2022.
Following the success of the first three wellbeing pulse surveys (May, June and October 2020),
a fourth wellbeing pulse survey was carried out in August 2021. Once again, the survey
attracted a good response rate (3,709 colleagues or 26% of the total workforce) and included
those working in front line roles as well as those still working from home. The survey picked up
on themes from the first three surveys and included some additional, targeted questions for two
particular groups: carers and disabled colleagues.
The headline results from the fourth survey showed that three in five staff (61%) were feeling
fairly or very happy (an increase of 10%), and fewer staff (17% from previous 20%) reported
feeling fairly or very unhappy.
Key
Target has been met
Target has not been met
No comparison to target

Page 230

Change in the right direction
Change in the wrong direction
No change or no material change

Appendix 1 – Performance summary for the
Strategy & Resources Scrutiny Board
(Latest available data)
Respondents were asked if a range of concerns highlighted as being an issue in previous
wellbeing surveys had improved, worsened, or stayed the same. Encouragingly, manager
support was the concern that performed the best (9% said it had worsened and 25% improved).
However, workload pressure was a growing concern.
Just over three quarters of staff (77% and a 3% increase from the previous survey) reported they
were happy with the level of support they were receiving. 9% reported feeling fairly or very
unhappy with the level of supported provided (mirroring the previous survey). All managers have
been reminded regularly about the importance of maintaining communication and contact with all
team members. In addition to this, ninety individual members of staff were contacted and
supported directly via a dedicated HR team after making a call-back request through the fourth
pulse survey.
The council’s Wellbeing Offer booklet and #TeamLeedsBeWell bulletins continue to be promoted
as widely as possible. There is also ongoing targeted work with groups that need it most,
including frontline staff, vulnerable staff, carers, and disabled colleagues. Peer support sessions
continue and receive very positive feedback. The occupational health team run regular wellbeing
drop-in sessions and regular men and women’s wellbeing groups. Our externally contracted
employee assistance provider, HELP, which is available 24/7, provides support around issues
such as bereavement, mental health, debt, and legal issues, and also provides counselling to
those that need it.
The importance of holding quality wellbeing conversations continues to be emphasised in the
regular manager updates and managers have been signposted to resources that can help them
to support their teams, including the Supporting Staff at Work Charter, personal wellbeing
booklet, carers’ passport and reasonable adjustments passport, and the digital wellbeing pledge.
The mid-year appraisal check-in has been adapted to take an even more person-centred
approach and give employees the chance to reflect on their wellbeing and discuss whether extra
support is needed. Encouragingly, over three-quarters of staff responding to a question about
the quality of appraisal in the fourth wellbeing survey, felt that the appraisal discussion had been
useful.
10 Reportable accidents and sickness
Indicator
Reduction in workplace accident and
incident reports

Target

Jul-Sep 2020

Jul-Sep 2021

Change

Decrease

Specified Injuries: 2
7+ days Injuries: 5
Rpt. Covid-19: 14

Specified Injuries: 1
7+ days Injuries: 6
Rpt. Covid-19: 21

-1
+1
+7

In order to monitor progress in reducing workplace accidents and incidents, this indicator records
the number of both 'Specified' injuries (i.e. major injuries) and other injuries that lead to
absences of 7 days or more, as well as cases of Reportable Diseases, all of which must be
reported to the Health & Safety Executive in accordance with the Reporting of Injuries, Diseases
and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations 2013.
Cases of Covid-19 need to be reported where we believe the member of staff contracted the
disease through their work.

Key
Target has been met
Target has not been met
No comparison to target

Page 231

Change in the right direction
Change in the wrong direction
No change or no material change

Appendix 1 – Performance summary for the
Strategy & Resources Scrutiny Board
(Latest available data)
Members are asked to note that there can be delays in reporting injuries and, therefore, the
latest results may be revised upwards later in the year.
11 Appraisals
Indicator
Percentage of staff appraisals and midyear reviews completed

Target

2019/20

2020/21

Change

100%

Mid-year: 97.51%
Year-end: No result

Mid-year: No result
Year-end: 89.72%

N/A

Due to the disruption caused by the Covid-19 pandemic and our focus on delivering essential
services, no appraisals were conducted at year-end 2019/20 or at mid-year during 2020/21.
Resources were directed to the places that needed them most which involved some
redeployment of staff.
Instead of a formal appraisal, managers were encouraged to hold regular wellbeing
conversations and conduct risk assessments or review those already in existence. Some teams
held weekly, or even daily, check-ins.
When Covid-related restrictions eased, our focus remained on service delivery and the
percentage of appraisals conducted was slightly lower than pre-pandemic levels.
Mid-year check-ins for 2021/22 are currently taking place and have been adapted to take an
even more person-centred approach and give employees the chance to reflect on their wellbeing
and discuss whether extra support is needed. The format also allows for a conversation around
the refreshed values and behaviours.
12 Gender pay gap
Gender pay gap across council staff

Target

31 March 2019

31 March 2020

Change

Mean hourly rate

5%

5.9%

6.0%

+0.1%*

Median hourly rate

N/A

7.8%

10.4%

+2.6*

Mean bonus pay

N/A

11.5%

39.6%

+28.1**

Median hourly bonus rate

N/A

21.1%

44.0%

+22.9**

* Only the mean hourly rate is used for monitoring purposes and reported as the KPI result
** Nothing can be inferred from changes in the GPG for bonus pay as the number of staff involved is extremely low

The Gender pay gap results are published one year in arrears, and the results reported here
reveal the picture on the ‘snapshot date’ of 31st March 2020. Members are advised that these
results are the same as those reported in July 2021.
The change to the median figure can be explained by an increase of women represented in our
top quartile and lower middle quartile of our workforce. The latter has risen from 55.1% to
59.2%. However, the impact on the median is as a result of a slight simultaneous increase in
males represented in the upper middle and lower quartiles.
The aim of the council is to have no bonus payment schemes. During the period in question one
women received a bonus (0.01% of women in the total workforce) and 210 males (3.5% of
males in the total workforce) were paid a bonus. As bonuses are so uncommon, the gender pay
Key
Target has been met
Target has not been met
No comparison to target

Page 232

Change in the right direction
Change in the wrong direction
No change or no material change

Appendix 1 – Performance summary for the
Strategy & Resources Scrutiny Board
(Latest available data)
gap for mean and median bonus pay is not representative of the whole workforce. Moreover, the
variations seen in comparison to the previous year were due to absences.
The following table shows the percentages of women in each of the four quartiles of salary
ranges within the organisation on 31st March 2020:
Quartile

31 March 2019

31 March 2020

Change

Top Quartile

58.8%

59.1%

+0.3%

Upper Middle Quartile

53.7%

51.0%

-2.7%

Lower Middle Quartile

55.1%

59.2%

+4.1%

Lower Quartile

75.2%

74.6%

-0.6%

In order to achieve an overall reduction in the gender pay gap, the council aims to increase the
percentage of women in the Top and Upper Middle Quartiles and decrease the percentage of
women in the Lower Middle and Lower Quartiles. The work outlined in the people strategy
should contribute to reducing the gender pay gap, linked to our strategic objective to promote
and support development and progression, and aims to create a culture that focuses on
harnessing opportunities.
The results in the Lower Quartile above should be viewed in the context of Leeds City Council
not outsourcing jobs in areas such as catering and cleaning which traditionally employ high
numbers of female staff. The decision to keep these services in-house has an impact on the
gender pay gap results. It is noted that the rates of pay adopted by the council for jobs in these
areas is above market rate and that employment terms and conditions include sickness and
pension arrangements.
13 Financial Services
There are three BCP KPIs within this portfolio area:
14 Budget
Indicator
Level of projected over/underspend for
this financial year

Target

End of Jun 2020

End of Sep 2021

Change

Balanced
budget

See Financial
Health Monitoring
report

See Financial
Health Monitoring
report

N/A

Detailed information on the council budget position is included in the Financial Health Monitoring
report which is on the same meeting agenda.
15 Collection rates
Indicator
Collection rates: council tax

Target

End of Sep 2020

End of Sep 2021

Change

96.11% by
year-end

54.06 %

53.64 %

-0.42%

Key
Target has been met
Target has not been met
No comparison to target

Page 233

Change in the right direction
Change in the wrong direction
No change or no material change

Appendix 1 – Performance summary for the
Strategy & Resources Scrutiny Board
(Latest available data)
This indicator shows the proportion of the total council tax collectable during 2021/22 that has
been received so far.
The target for the year remains at 96.11%.
The collection rate has decreased slightly, and we will continue to monitor the situation.
Indicator
Collection rates: business rates

Target

End of Sep 2020

End of Sep 2021

Change

98% by
year-end

50.38 %

48.00 %

-2.38%

This indicator shows the percentage of net rates billed for the current financial year that have
been collected so far.
The Covid-19 pandemic has had a negative impact on most business sectors resulting in an
inability to pay business rates.
The latest result shows a fall of more than 2 percentage points compared to last year. However,
a direct comparison is not possible due to the terms of the revised retail relief scheme4.
Although net business rates collectable has increased from £230m in 2020/21 to £330m in
2021/22, due to the revised retail relief scheme £100m of this did not become payable until July,
meaning instalments are not evenly spread throughout the year.
Recovery action has recommenced after being suspended for 16 months due to the pandemic.
16 Integrated Digital Service (IDS)
There is one BCP KPI within this portfolio area:
17 ICT service desk
Indicator

Target

Apr-Jun 2020

Jul-Sep 2021

Change

Percentage of ICT service desk calls fixed
at the first point of contact

70%

78.66%

70.76%

-7.9%

This KPI measures the percentage of calls to the ICT service desk that were fixed at the first
point of contact. Our target is that 70% of calls will be resolved in this way.
During Quarter 2, performance fell by 8 percentage points compared to the previous quarter and
was only slightly above target. This was due to the reduction in Service Centre staff, and the
ongoing impact of the recent rollouts of MS Office, O365, Teams and One drive, plus other new
systems, that have created addition demand for support from the Service Centre
The service centre has employed contractors and has requested more staff. In addition, as
customers have been encountering long queue times due to the volume of request tickets, the
4

In 2020/21, all businesses in the Retail, Hospitality and Leisure sectors, as well as childcare nurseries received 100% relief. In
2021/22, relief in the same sectors was 100% between 1 st April and 30th June and then 66% from 1st July 2021 to 31st March 2022.
The latter is subject to a national cap of £2M per business. The monthly instalments for businesses in this sector commenced from
1st July, rather than 1st April as in previous years. Most larger supermarkets have refused the discount altogether.
Key
Target has been met
Target has not been met
No comparison to target

Page 234

Change in the right direction
Change in the wrong direction
No change or no material change

Appendix 1 – Performance summary for the
Strategy & Resources Scrutiny Board
(Latest available data)
Service Centre has produced a SharePoint site providing first line fix information to assist
customers to “self-serve”.
Since the end of Quarter 2, these measures have had the desired effect and at the time of
writing, performance is believed to have returned to around 75-77%.
18 Customer Access
There are two BCP KPIs within this portfolio area:
19 Complaints
Indicator
Level of customer complaints

Target

Jun-Sep 2020

Jun-Sep 2021

Change

Decrease

1572

1897

+325

The increasing trend in complaint volumes has continued as we return to close to pre-pandemic
levels of activity. The latest figure is slightly lower than in the same period in 2019/20 before the
pandemic started.
The largest numbers of complaints received are for Housing Leeds and Waste Management.
Complaints relating to Housing have fluctuated due to pressures face by the repairs service as it
attempts to reduce the backlog of work that built up during the pandemic. In particular, they face
challenges relating to the availability of both operatives and materials.
Waste Management also faced challenges around staffing, but overall complaints are stable.
Complaints received by Children & Families have increased compared to the last period and last
year. This is partly due to the resumption of services that were suspended last year, as well as
an increase in special educational needs complaints brought about by the rise in the number of
children within this cohort.
Many complaints to Adults & Health relate to the impact of Covid-19 on care providers and have
reduced as the pandemic has eased.
Work continues around recovering from the impact of the pandemic, with a focus on ensuring
that customers are advised at the earliest opportunity where there may be delays.
Expanded reporting on complaints trends and performance and quality assurance of complaint
responses is currently being trialled within Housing, with a view to being introduced more widely
in due course.
Training for investigating officers has been developed and shared and early indications for
Quarter 3 suggest that the volume of complaints is now falling.

Key
Target has been met
Target has not been met
No comparison to target

Page 235

Change in the right direction
Change in the wrong direction
No change or no material change

Appendix 1 – Performance summary for the
Strategy & Resources Scrutiny Board
(Latest available data)
21 Customer self-serve
Indicator

Target

Apr-Sep 2020

Apr-Sep 2021

Change

Proportion of customers using self-serve
when getting in touch with the council

Increase

79.80%

79.72%

-0.08%

Proportion of customers using self-serve
(excluding digital only services)

Increase

69.92%

63.32%

-6.60%

This KPI (shown first in the table above) summarises data from a range of self-serve means of
accessing council services, including telephone-based, online, and mobile app-based methods.
The large number of transactions that can only be carried out through self-serve, such as the
‘check you bin day’ app or recycling site bookings, have the effect of distorting the true
proportion of customers who are choosing to use self-serve when other options are available.
Members’ attention is drawn to the second measure in the table above, which excludes digital
only services and gives a more accurate indication of the proportion of customers choosing to
use self-serve to access services.
Comparisons with last year should be treated with caution due to the impact of lockdown.
However, whilst there was very little change in the overall level of self-service, when digital only
services are removed, we see a significant fall in the percentage of people electing to use selfservice, most notably in relation to Highways (-24%), Waste (-9%) and Environmental Services
(-4%).
22 Information Management & Governance
There are two BCP KPIs within this portfolio area:
23 Statutory information requests
Indicator

Target

Jul-Sep 2020

Jul-Sep 2021

Change

Percentage of subject access requests
received responded to within statutory
timescales

88%

95.30%
212 requests

72.73%
210 requests

-22.57%
points

Percentage of FOI and EIR requests
received responded to within statutory
timescales

90%

91.20%
525 requests

79.17%
493 requests

-12.03%
points

The UK General Data Protection Regulation (UK-GDPR) stipulates that Subject Access
Requests (SARs) must be responded to within one calendar month from receipt of the request
(or two additional months if the request is complex or voluminous), and the Freedom of
Information Act 2000 (FOI) and Environmental Information Regulations 2004 (EIR) set the
statutory timeframe for responding to requests at 20 working days from receipt of the request
The Information Management & Governance (IM&G) requests team deals with all statutory
requests to the council in respect of SARs and FOIs / EIRs, therefore performance for these two
indicators is closely linked.
Key
Target has been met
Target has not been met
No comparison to target

Page 236

Change in the right direction
Change in the wrong direction
No change or no material change

Appendix 1 – Performance summary for the
Strategy & Resources Scrutiny Board
(Latest available data)
The number of requests received between July and September 2021 was very similar to the
same period last year, however, the proportion responded to within statutory timescales fell
considerably.
This comparison does not provide a true reflection of recent performance. The charts below
reveal an improving picture following a marked fall in performance during Quarter 3 2020/21:

Subject Access Requests
250

100.00%
90.00%
80.00%
70.00%
60.00%
50.00%
40.00%
30.00%
20.00%
10.00%
0.00%

200
150
100
50
0
Q2 20/21

Q3 20/21

Requests received

Q4 20/21

Q1 21/22

Q2 21/22

% responded to in timescales

Target

FOI and EIR Requests
700

100.00%
90.00%
80.00%
70.00%
60.00%
50.00%
40.00%
30.00%
20.00%
10.00%
0.00%

600
500
400
300
200
100
0
Q2 20/21

Q3 20/21

Requests received

Q4 20/21

Q1 21/22

% responded to in timescales

Q2 21/22
Target

The earlier fall in performance can be attributed to a shortage of resources with the IM&G
service combined with the reduced capacity of services across the council to respond to
information requests within the prescribed timescales during the pandemic.
IM&G are currently implementing recommendations from a review into this function that followed
a redesign of the IM&G service carried out at the start of Q2 2021/22. It is anticipated that
performance will continue to improve as the new ways of working are embedded.

Key
Target has been met
Target has not been met
No comparison to target

Page 237

Change in the right direction
Change in the wrong direction
No change or no material change

Appendix 1 – Performance summary for the
Strategy & Resources Scrutiny Board
(Latest available data)
25 Procurement & Commercial Services
There are three BCP KPIs within this portfolio area:
26 Local supplies and SMEs
Indicator

Target

Jul-Sep 2020

Jul-Sep 2021

Change

Percentage of orders placed with local
suppliers

Increase from
51.97%

52%
(or £115.92m)

52%
(or £129.6m)

-

Percentage of orders placed with small
and medium-sized enterprises

Increase from
51.97%

60%
(or £120.85m)

59%
(or £131.9m)

-1%

These indicators measure expenditure with local suppliers or small and medium-size enterprises
as a percentage of the council’s overall spend. They exclude suppliers that fall into the
“unclassified” category or whose classification is currently “unknown”. Due to ongoing work to
increase the proportion of suppliers that have been correctly classified, slight variations are likely
to be the result of greater accuracy rather than a change in spending habits.
The percentages of expenditure and the total value with both local suppliers and SMEs reflect
the council’s continued engagement with local and SME suppliers.
Although there was very little change in the percentage of orders placed with local suppliers and
SMEs, the total value of those orders rose by approximately 10% in both cases.
27 Prompt payment
Indicator

Target

Apr-Sep 2020

Apr-Sep 2021

Change

Prompt payment of invoices against target

92%

92.38%

93.59%

+1.21%

A payment is deemed ‘prompt’ if it is made within 30 days of the invoice being received in the
council or paid within other contractual terms offered by the supplier.
Performance has improved in comparison to last year and has returned to pre-pandemic levels.
This improvement can be attributed to two factors. Our processes for handling invoices remotely
are now more refined and embedded and staff across the organisation are more accustomed to
working remotely. In addition, the number of supplier invoices received has fallen compared to
last year. In September, traditionally a high-volume month, the number of invoices was
approximately 3,000 lower than last year and this trend was repeated in October.
The project to digitise and automate the processing of invoices is due to be rolled out in January
2022. Further information can be found on InSite:
https://insite.leeds.gov.uk/news/coming-soon-%E2%80%93-a-new-way-to-process-invoices
Although it is anticipated that performance might initially fall due to the disruption caused by the
roll out of the digitisation project, once staff become more familiar with the process, performance
should improve considerably.

Key
Target has been met
Target has not been met
No comparison to target

Page 238

Change in the right direction
Change in the wrong direction
No change or no material change

Appendix 2: Summary of council’s workforce profile – 30th September 2021

Headcount

% of overall
headcount

Council Staff

14,106

100%

Male (including Trans)

5,529

39%

Female (including Trans)

8,577

61%

16-25

880

6%

26-40

4,142

29%

41-54

5,321

38%

55-64

3,391

24%

372

3%

BAME

2,021

14%

Non BAME

10,768

76%

31

<1%

1,286

9%

844

6%

11,729

83%

112

1%

Not declared

1,421

10%

Carer

1,272

9%

Not a carer

7,805

55%

110

1%

Not declared

4,919

35%

Heterosexual

8,597

61%

Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual +

475

3%

Prefer not to say

157

1%

Not declared

4,877

35%

Religion stated

9,737

69%

27% of Leeds citizens stated
that they had no religion

135

1%

Not declared

4,234

30%

NB in the workforce profile, ‘no
religion’ is counted as ‘religion
stated’

Same as assigned at birth

3,377

24%

44

<1%

10,685

76%

Characteristic

Gender

Age

65+

Ethnicity
Prefer not to say
Not declared
Disabled
Not disabled
Disability
Prefer not to say

Carer
Prefer not to say

Sexual
Orientation

Religion

Additional
gender details

2011 census showed

51% of Leeds residents are
female, 49% male

15% of Leeds Citizens are aged
16-24
NB up to 70% of residents in
this age group are full-time
students or otherwise
economically inactive

19% of Leeds citizens are
BAME

17% of residents have a longterm health problem or disability
NB up to 75% of residents with
a condition that limits their dayto-day activities are
economically inactive

10% of Leeds residents give at
least 1 hour of unpaid care per
week

No comparative data

Prefer not to say

Not same as assigned at birth
Not declared

Source: Equality Dashboard – Leeds City Council
2021)
Page(September
239

No comparative data

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 11
Report author: Rob Clayton
Tel: 0113 378 8790

Best City Ambition
Date: 24 January 2022
Report of: Head of Democratic Services
Report to: Scrutiny Board (Strategy and Resources)
Will the decision be open for call in?

☐ Yes ☒ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐ Yes ☒ No

What is this report about?
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions
•

In October 2021 the Executive Board agreed in principle to replace the Best Council Plan
with an externally facing and partnership focused Best City Ambition.

•

As was the case with the Best Council Plan, the Best City Ambition will be included in the
Budget and Policy Framework in accordance with the Local Authorities (Functions and
Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000. Full Council is responsible for the adoption of
the Budget and Policy Framework as set out in Article 4.

•

Members resolved at the Council meeting on 10 November 2021 to approve the necessary
constitutional amendments to enable adoption of the Best City Ambition. Council also
requested a report be considered in February 2022 detailing the final proposals for the
adoption of the Best City Ambition.

•

In line with the timetable for progression of the Best City Ambition agreed by Council, initial
proposals were considered by the Executive Board on 15 December 2021. At that meeting
the Executive Board agreed to approve a period of public consultation on the proposals.

•

As required by the Budget and Policy Framework it was also agreed that the Best Council
Ambition proposals would be referred to Scrutiny for consideration and comment.

•

The outcome of the deliberations of the five Scrutiny Boards will be reported to Executive
Board to inform its consideration of the final proposals. The Executive Board is also required
to report to Council how it has taken into account any Scrutiny Board recommendations.

Recommendations
a) The Board is asked to consider and comment upon the initial Best City Ambition proposals.
b) The Board is asked to agree any recommendations of the Scrutiny Board (Strategy and
Resources) that members wish to be reflected in the composite report to Executive Board.

Page 241

Why is the proposal being put forward?
1

The initial Best City Ambition proposals are being referred to Scrutiny in accordance with
the requirements of the Budget and Policy Framework.

What impact will this proposal have?
Wards affected:
Have ward members been consulted?

2

☐ Yes

☒No

Consultation on the potential impact of the proposals is taking place with a range of
stakeholders including members, officers, partners and the public as detailed in the
appended Executive Board report (15 December 2021).

What consultation and engagement has taken place?
3

A full list of those individuals and groups already sighted on the proposals is provided at
appendix 2 of the attached Executive Board report.

4

On the 15 December the Executive Board approved the release of the draft proposals for
formal public consultation as required by the Budget and Policy Framework.

5

Additional consultation was due to take place at the 2021 State of the City meeting.
Unfortunately, due to the ongoing challenges of the pandemic the event was cancelled.
Those stakeholders due to attend the meeting will, however, be invited to contribute to the
consultation through alternative mechanisms.

What are the resource implications?
6

There are no direct resource implications arising from this report.

What are the legal implications?
7

The Scrutiny Board (Strategy and Resources) is being consulted on the Best City Ambition
proposals in accordance with the requirements of the Budget and Policy Framework.

What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
8

The risks of the proposed approach are detailed in the appended Executive Board report.

Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars?
☒ Inclusive Growth
9

☒ Health and Wellbeing

☒ Climate Emergency

The Best City Ambition proposals are reflective of the Council’s existing prioritisation of the
three key pillars. The proposals aim to take this existing approach further by enhancing the
framework through which these pillars can act as effective drivers of future Council activity.

Options, timescales and measuring success
Page 242

a) What other options were considered?
10 The Executive Board recommended the adoption of the Best City Ambition as an alternative
to retaining the Best council Plan.
b) How will success be measured?
11 The appended report sets out the work that has taken place with the Social Progress
Imperative to examine how to assess the success of the Best City Ambition proposals.
c) What is the timetable for implementation?
12 All five Scrutiny Boards will consider the proposals during January 2022 alongside the
public consultation.
13 Scrutiny Boards will report any recommendations to the Executive Board ahead of its
meeting in February 2022 and Full Council will consider the final proposals at its meeting
the same month.
Appendices
14 Best City Ambitions – initial proposals (Executive Board Report, 15 December 2021)
Background papers
15 Leeds 2030: Shaping our Best City Ambition (Executive Board, 20 October 2021)

Page 243

This page is intentionally left blank

Report authors: Simon Foy, Amy Beswick &
Mike Eakins
Tel: 0113 37 88646

Best City Ambition – initial proposals
Date: 15 December 2021
Report of: Director of Resources
Report to: Executive Board
Will the decision be open for call in?

☐ Yes ☒ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐ Yes ☒ No

What is this report about?
Including how it contributes to the city and council ambitions


This report asks Executive Board to endorse the initial proposals for the Leeds Best City
Ambition and agree to release these for public consultation. The report also asks Executive
Board to refer the proposals to Scrutiny, as required by the Budget and Policy Framework
Procedure Rules.



In October 2021 Executive Board agreed in principle to replace the Best Council Plan with a
Best City Ambition, better reflecting the important role partnership working across Leeds has
in achieving the city’s shared goals – and harnessing the Team Leeds approach which has
come to the fore even more strongly throughout the pandemic.



The Ambition will set out the strategic intent shared between the council and its partners in a
positive and distinctive way, clearly articulating the difference we are seeking to make to
improve the lives of people in Leeds. The background to this decision including the detailed
rationale for the change are outlined in the board paper available here.



This report outlines the structure of the initial Best City Ambition proposals, highlights the
areas where further development work is required and how the public consultation will inform
this work, and sets out the next steps. The draft proposals are attached in full as Appendix 1.

Recommendations
Executive Board is recommended to:
a) Consider the Best City Ambition initial proposals and approve commencement of public
consultation.
b) Refer the Best City Ambition initial proposals to Scrutiny for their consideration.
c) Note the Director of Resources will be responsible for production of the final Best City Ambition
proposals, scheduled to be received by the Board in February 2022.

Page 245

Why is the proposal being put forward?
1 The Best City Ambition initial proposals take forward Executive Board’s resolution to adopt a more
partnership focused approach to outlining Leeds’s overarching strategic intent, being clearer
about the role that all partners and local communities can play.
2 Executive Board has agreed the time is right for the city to move in this direction, recognising the
unique context in which we are currently operating – emerging and recovering from the Covid-19
pandemic and associated economic downturn, embracing the strong joint work and coming
together at both a city wide level between organisations and at a community level as people have
built on strengths supporting one another, and responding to a changing public service landscape
with West Yorkshire devolution and further NHS reform underway. From the engagement
undertaken to date, partners have welcomed this intention and direction of travel.
3 The Best City Ambition aims to add value to the work the council and partners are doing in the
city, being rooted in activity on the ground and helping to bring agendas together, maximise the
impact of limited resources by aligning work between partners, and building momentum around
a set of shared priorities. It will also provide a platform to better reflect the importance of place in
the city’s strategic ambitions, working with elected members and local communities to consider
what broader city-wide goals mean for their area and how everyone can use this to shape and
contribute to local priorities or investments in work that will continue over the coming months and
years.
What impact will this proposal have?
Wards affected: All
Have ward members been consulted?

☒ Yes

☐ No

4 The detailed arguments for adopting a Best City Ambition were outlined and agreed by Executive
Board in October 2021 – the paper setting out those details is available here.
5 The initial proposals attached at Appendix 1 are based around the three pillars of Health and
Wellbeing, Inclusive Growth and Zero Carbon. This framework, which has grown over recent
years and enjoys strong support from city partners, has been developed further through these
proposals and now sits at the heart of the overall Ambition, alongside Leeds’s longstanding
commitment to Tackling Poverty and Reducing Inequalities which remains central.
6 The Best City Ambition, while accounting for what is important across all three pillars, is seeking
primarily to target the ‘sweet spot’ where the three come together, recognising the strong interdependencies between them as a means for supporting joint and partnership working across city
priorities. In this, it also highlights how working across the three pillars is ‘everyone’s business’,
moving beyond more traditional boundaries to fully embrace the concept of wider determinants
and embed deeper connections between our key priorities.
7 The proposals also re-imagine the ‘breakthrough’ spirit the council has sought to galvanise
previously, taking this distinctive Leeds approach and reshaping it for a new decade, giving sharp
focus to the most pressing priority issues. The consultation draft is structured as follows:


Best City Ambition: providing a summary of the key components of the ambition for each
of the three pillars for the period up to 2030. Each pillar has been expanded and developed
to include a series of priority areas, explaining more clearly where partners’ shared
endeavours will focus.



How we will work together: setting out some key principles for joint working in
developing, delivering and reviewing the Best City Ambition.
Page 246



Team Leeds Accelerators: building on the spirit of partnership shown throughout the
Covid-19 pandemic, the accelerators will bring together action-focused teams from across
the city to quickly make tangible progress on key challenges and opportunities where
responsibility is shared.



The Big Challenges facing Leeds: drawn from the early engagement and discussion,
and from recent research and analysis including the 2021 Joint Strategic Assessment.



Health and Wellbeing, Inclusive Growth, Zero Carbon: more detail against each pillar
and focusing on the issues comment to all three, including the socio-economic and
environmental context, how we intend to progress, what our goals are, and what we can
achieve with the right support and joint work with Government.



Team Leeds in Action: highlighting the key partnerships crucial to delivering our ambition,
the role of citizens, and our approach to tracking/monitoring/assessing progress.

8 As noted in the list above, the Best City Ambition will include a small number of propositions to
Government, recognising that not all the levers required to fully realise our ambition are within the
city’s control. These elements are included partly as a response to several calls from Government
and the Prime Minister for places to consider ideas themselves and make proposals to
Government. As such, what is included will not simply be ‘asks’, but rather positive, practical
proposals where Leeds and national Government could come together to test ideas or inform
policy and statutory progress.
9 The consultation draft is an interim step towards production of the Best City Ambition, in
recognition that for the final document to be genuinely city-focused, it needs to be shaped and
owned by a wider group of people and organisations. As such, there remain gaps and areas for
further development as next steps over the coming months. One key element of these next steps
will be expanding on the role of and relationship with local communities as part of this Ambition.
We will consider ways in which, working with elected members and community committees, the
overall city-wide ambitions can be translated into more locally focused goals / priorities which
reflect the unique character, strengths and challenges of different parts of Leeds.
What consultation and engagement has taken place?
10 Extensive engagement has taken place to inform development of the Best City Ambition so far.
A full list of those people, groups, organisations, fora and committees engaged to date is included
as part of Appendix 2, along with a short account of the key messages emerging from that
engagement which have informed the initial proposals and will also inform delivery. The dialogue
with partners and the public from across the city will continue through the formal public
consultation detailed below, and beyond – as set out in Appendix 1, this is the start of a
conversation, not the end.
11 This paper asks Executive Board to release the consultation draft for public consultation as
required by the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules as part of the council’s
constitution. Formal consultation will be delivered primarily online, although the wider programme
of face-to-face engagement with partners, community forums and other stakeholders will continue
alongside. Two slightly different online surveys will be promoted, one offering the opportunity to
comment on all aspects of Appendix 1, and a shorter easy-read survey covering only the main
parts of the Ambition which can be completed in 10-15 minutes. Both options will be open to
everyone, but we anticipate the former will more suit organisational responses from partners, and
the latter may be more suitable for most members of the public.
12 As outlined above, it is important the Best City Ambition remains rooted in activity on the ground
and supports delivery of real progress in the city. For the council’s part, that means alignment is
required between the ambition and goals outlined and the financial and wider resources needed
Page 247

to deliver. The Best City Ambition public consultation will be delivered in parallel to the 2022/23
budget consultation therefore, helping residents and respondents to consider these two important
matters together. Efforts will be made to cross reference and signpost between the two
consultations.
13 In addition to testing the direction of travel and current draft in general terms, the consultation
also has some specific objectives to help move the Ambition forward. These include:


To gather a stronger account of the contributions city partners and local communities are
already making against the three pillars of the ambition.



To understand how partners and wider stakeholders feel they can contribute further, both
in general terms and on any specific commitments they wish to make.



To listen to the public, who may not yet have had the opportunity to contribute to this work,
and ensure the Best City Ambition is reflective of the wider public’s aspirations for their
city.

14 The October Executive Board report linked above noted the intention to use the 2021 State of the
City meeting as a further opportunity to engage on the Best City Ambition. Unfortunately, the
decision has been taken to cancel State of the City given the current Covid-19 context and
particularly while we learn about the impact of the new Omicron variant. Planned attendees to
that event will be invited to contribute further to the development of the ambition through other
channels.

What are the resource implications?
15 There are no direct resource implications arising from this report.
16 Resource allocation in support of the council’s own efforts to pursue the priorities set out in the
Best City Ambition, and other supporting strategies and plans, will be aligned through the medium
term financial strategy and annual budget – with proposals for next year also appearing on the
Executive Board agenda entitled “Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional Budgets for
2023/24 and 2024/25”.
What are the legal implications?
17 In accordance with the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations
2000 the council has determined that the Best City Ambition, like the Best Council Plan previously,
is of such significance that it should be included in the Budget and Policy Framework (B&PF) and
be subject to adoption by Full Council. On 10 November 2021 Full Council resolved to approve
the necessary constitutional amendments to enable this.
18 The Best City Ambition is therefore being prepared in accordance with the B&PF Procedure
Rules, which includes referral of the draft Best City Ambition to Scrutiny. In light of the above this
report is not eligible for Call In in line with Executive and Decision Making Procedure Rule 5.1.2.
19 An Equality Impact Screening will be carried out for the Best City Ambition and will be reported
with the final proposals in February 2022.
What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
20 The adoption of the Best City Ambition will require a review of some key risk and performance
information and processes which are currently aligned to the Best Council Plan and are reported
using that as a framework. Suitable alternative reporting arrangements and frameworks will need
to be established to ensure the continued smooth provision of management information and
Page 248

performance reports. This work is already under consideration and will continue alongside
production and adoption of the Best City Ambition.
Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars?
☒ Inclusive Growth

☒ Health and Wellbeing

☒ Climate Emergency

21 The Best City Ambition is focused around the council’s three pillars, but goes further than before
in explaining what contributes to them, how they are inter-related, and what the council’s and
city’s priorities will be to realise progress against them. Once adopted it will provide both a more
detailed and also a clearer framework through which the three pillars can be understood.
22 As a result of work to produce the Best City Ambition, some of the language around the three
pillars may be revised to better reflect the city’s direction of travel. Any changes will be contained
within the final proposals, informed by further consultation and engagement.

Options, timescales and measuring success
What other options were considered?
23 Executive Board has previously noted the alternative option being to maintain the current Best
Council Plan but discounted that option for reasons outlined in the October board report linked
above.
How will success be measured?
24 The Best City Ambition will contain a range of high level, aspirational and ambitious goals for
Leeds, aligned to the three pillars of health and wellbeing, inclusive growth and zero carbon, and
all contributing to efforts to tackle poverty and reduce inequality. Measuring and monitoring
progress is crucial in realising the ambition, and a range of delivery plans and performance
indicators are in place in supporting strategies and plans, many of which are already rooted in
partnership.
25 To strengthen how we assess progress against the Best City Ambition, the council has worked
with the Social Progress Imperative to develop a Social Progress Index (SPI) for Leeds. The SPI
is built around three themes – Basic Human Needs; Foundations of Wellbeing; and Opportunity
– and is a “comprehensive measure of real quality of life, independent of economic indicators”. It
can be used as a practical tool that will help us to identify and implement policies and programmes
that will driver faster social progress and enable us to monitor the impact of our interventions in
the future. The SPI will be a key part of our analysis in the future, enabling us to better understand
the different strengths and challenges of the city’s communities.
26 Through the public consultation outlined in paragraphs 8-10, further consideration will be given to
any additional ways measuring accountability for and progress towards the goals set out in the
Best City Ambition could be strengthened.

What is the timetable for implementation?
27 Should Executive Board agree the recommendations in this report, public consultation will
commence in December 2021 and close in mid-January 2022. It is envisaged Scrutiny will
consider the proposals at meetings scheduled in January 2022. The final proposals are scheduled
to be received by Executive Board in February 2022, before being referred to Full Council later
that same month.

Page 249

Appendices
Appendix 1: Leeds 2030: Shaping our Best City Ambition – Consultation Draft
Appendix 2: Overview of consultation to date
Background papers
None.

Page 250

Agenda Item 12
Report author: Rob Clayton
Tel: 0113 3788790

Work Programme
Date: 24 January 2022
Report of: Head of Democratic Services
Report to: Scrutiny Board (Strategy and Resources)
Will the decision be open for call in?

☐ Yes ☒ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐ Yes ☒ No

What is this report about?
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions

•

All Scrutiny Boards are required to determine and manage their own work schedule for the
municipal year. In doing so, the work schedule should not be considered a fixed and rigid
schedule, it should be recognised as a document that can be adapted and changed to
reflect any new and emerging issues throughout the year; and also reflect any timetable
issues that might occur from time to time.

•

The Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules also state that, where appropriate, all terms of
reference for work undertaken by Scrutiny Boards will include ‘to review how and to what
effect consideration has been given to the impact of a service or policy on all equality areas,
as set out in the Council’s Equality and Diversity Scheme’.

•

Reflecting on the information in this report and information presented as part of other
agenda items at today’s meeting, Members are requested to consider and discuss the
Board’s work programme for this municipal year.

Recommendations
Members are requested to consider and discuss the Scrutiny Board’s work schedule for the
2021/22 municipal year.

Page 251

Why is the proposal being put forward?
1.

A draft work schedule for the Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board is presented at
Appendix 1 for consideration and discussion. Reflected in the work schedule are known
items of scrutiny activity, such as performance and budget monitoring, identified Budget
and Policy Framework items and recommendation tracking items.

2.

The latest Executive Board minutes from the meeting held on 15 December 2021 are also
attached at Appendix 2. The Scrutiny Board is asked to consider and note the Executive
Board minutes, insofar as they relate to the remit of the Scrutiny Board; and consider any
matter where specific scrutiny activity may also be warranted.
Changes to the Work Programme since the last meeting

3.

As the work of the Board evolves changes to the work programme become necessary to
prioritise and fit agenda items in at appropriate times. Since the November meeting some
adjustments have taken place along with updates for Board members’ information. A
Scrutiny Board Working Group has taken place on 13 December which considered both
the Budget 2022/23 savings proposals and an item on the Contact Centre which has been
on the work programme for some time, this was an initial discussion that will now be
followed by a report to the public meeting of the Board in February.

4.

Since the last meeting in November the Executive Board approved the new Best City
Ambition at its meeting on 15 December 2021. This new approach will replace the Best
Council Plan (BCP) and as was the case with the BCP the Best City Ambition will be
included in the Budget and Policy Framework in accordance with the Local Authorities
(Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000. As a result, and as is
required by the Budget and Policy Framework, it was also agreed that the Best Council
Ambition proposals would be referred to Scrutiny for consideration and comment. This item
will therefore come to the Board on this agenda in January.

5.

In order to manage workloads at each meeting and to ensure agendas are not too large in
terms of substantive items, a knock-on implication of considering the Best Council
Ambition in January is that the planned item on Freedom of Information Requests will now
come to the Board in February.

6.

In addition, a further item on Year of Culture has been programmed in for March, following
initial consideration of the issue at the October meeting. Also in March an item on
Procurement is planned which builds on a similar report in March 2021 focussing on social
value in procurement. The Social Value element will be retained as a key area of interest
for the Board but there will also be a focus on value for money in procurement.

7.

It is important to also note that several potential work streams are also in development
reflecting the views of the Chair, the suggestions of the Board and recommendations from
the predecessor Board. This includes a possible item on how the Council allocates its
resources and receives income on a geographic basis in Leeds. Work is ongoing on this
and clearer picture on when this could be expected will be available later in the municipal
year. In addition, the suggestion that Devolution could feature on the Board’s Work
Programme or on the successor Board’s Work Programme has also been noted and is part
of agenda considerations in the coming months.

8.

In a further change since the November meeting, it is also proposed that the Waste Inquiry
will return to the Board in February for consideration of a summary of evidence item which
will seek to capture the views of the Board from the October and November meetings.
Page 252

What impact will this proposal have?
Wards affected: All
Have ward members been consulted?

9.

☐ Yes

☒No

All Scrutiny Boards are required to determine and manage their own work schedule for the
municipal year. The items in Appendix 1 set out the current programme of the Board and
sets a framework for its work in 2021/22.

What consultation and engagement has taken place?
10.

To enable Scrutiny to focus on strategic areas of priority, it is recognised that each
Scrutiny Board needs to establish an early dialogue with the Directors and Executive
Board Members holding the relevant portfolios. The Vision for Scrutiny also states that
Scrutiny Boards should seek the advice of the Scrutiny officer, the relevant Director and
Executive Member about available resources prior to agreeing items of work.

What are the resource implications?
11.

Experience has shown that the Scrutiny process is more effective and adds greater value if
the Board seeks to minimise the number of substantial inquiries running at one time and
focus its resources on one key issue at a time.

12.

The Vision for Scrutiny, agreed by full Council also recognises that like all other Council
functions, resources to support the Scrutiny function are under considerable pressure and
that requests from Scrutiny Boards cannot always be met.

13.

Consequently, when establishing their work programmes Scrutiny Boards should:
• Seek the advice of the Scrutiny officer, the relevant Director and Executive Member
about available resources;
• Avoid duplication by having a full appreciation of any existing forums already having
oversight of, or monitoring a particular issue;
• Ensure any Scrutiny undertaken has clarity and focus of purpose and will add value and
can be delivered within an agreed time frame.

What are the legal implications?
14.

This report has no specific legal implications.

What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
15.

There are no risk management implications relevant to this report.

Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars?
☒ Inclusive Growth

☒ Health and Wellbeing
Page 253

☒ Climate Emergency

16.

The terms of reference of the Scrutiny Boards promote a strategic and outward looking
Scrutiny function that focuses on the best council objectives.

Appendices
17.

Appendix 1 – Draft work schedule of the Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board for the
2021/22 municipal year.

18.

Appendix 2 – Minutes of the Executive Board meeting held on 15 December 2021.

Background papers
19.

None.

Page 254

Appendix 1
Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources)
Work Schedule for 2021/2022 Municipal Year

June

July

August

Meeting Agenda for 21 June 2021

Meeting Agenda for 19 July 2021

No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled.

Scrutiny Board Terms of Reference and
Sources of Work (DB)

Budget 2021/22 Service Reviews (PM)
Scrutiny Inquiry – Future working arrangements, Agile
Working and Estate Realisation

Performance Update (PM)

Page 255

Scrutiny Inquiry – Agile Working and Estate
Realisation - Staff and HR Feedback (PDS)

Agency Staff at Leeds City Council (PM)
DIS – Vision, Project and Programme Management –
Second Report

DIS – Vision, Project and Programme
Management

Working Group Meetings

Site Visits

Scrutiny Work Items Key:
PSR
Policy/Service Review
PDS
Pre-decision Scrutiny

RT
PM

Recommendation Tracking
Performance Monitoring

DB
C

Development Briefings
Consultation Response

Appendix 1
Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources)
Work Schedule for 2021/2022 Municipal Year

September

October

November

Meeting Agenda for 20September 2021

Meeting Agenda for 18 October 2021

Meeting Agenda for 29 November 2021

BAME CLT Action Plan – Update (PM)

Medium Term Financial Strategy – 2022/23 –
2026/27 and Financial Health Monitoring (PM)

DIS – Vision, Project and Programme
Management – Third Report (PDS)

Improving Recycling in Leeds (PDS)

Improving Recycling in Leeds (PDS)
Agency Staffing (PM)

Page 256

Year of Culture/Economy/Recovery (PM)

Electoral Services Update - voting
behaviour, postal voting and turnout (PM)
Scrutiny Inquiry – Agile Working and Estate
Realisation – Interim Statement/Inquiry
Report – Formal Approval

Scrutiny Inquiry – Future Ways of Working
Asset Management and Staff Well Being
Update (PDS)

Annual Corporate Risk Management Report
(PM)

Working Group Meetings
Site Visits

Scrutiny Work Items Key:
PSR
Policy/Service Review
PDS
Pre-decision Scrutiny

RT
PM

Recommendation Tracking
Performance Monitoring

DB
C

Development Briefings
Consultation Response

Appendix 1
Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources)
Work Schedule for 2021/2022 Municipal Year

December

January

February

No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled.

Meeting Agenda for 24 January 2022

Meeting Agenda for 14 February 2022

Staff Inclusion Update (PM)

DIS – Service Desk Performance (PM)

Performance Report (PM)

Customer Contact – self-service, digital
exclusion and performance (PDS)

Page 257

2022/23 Initial Budget Proposals (PDS)/
Financial Health Monitoring (PSR)

FOI Performance/ Elected Member FOI
Process (PM)

Best City Ambition Consultation (PDS)
Waste Inquiry - Improving Recycling in Leeds –
Summary of Evidence - (PDS)

Working Group Meetings

13/12/21 – Budget Working Group &
Customer Contact – self-service, digital
exclusion and performance
Site Visits

Scrutiny Work Items Key:

Appendix 1
Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources)
Work Schedule for 2021/2022 Municipal Year
PSR
PDS

Policy/Service Review
Pre-decision Scrutiny

RT
PM

Recommendation Tracking
Performance Monitoring

DB
C

Development Briefings
Consultation Response

March

April

May

Meeting Agenda for 28 March 2022

No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled.

No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled.

Procurement – Social Value, Cost Savings
(PM)
Page 258

Year of Culture/Economy/Recovery –
Second Report (PM)

Working Group Meetings

Site Visits

Scrutiny Work Items Key:
PSR
Policy/Service Review

RT

Recommendation Tracking

DB

Development Briefings

Appendix 1
Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources)
Work Schedule for 2021/2022 Municipal Year
PDS

Pre-decision Scrutiny

PM

Performance Monitoring

C

Consultation Response

Page 259

This page is intentionally left blank

EXECUTIVE BOARD
WEDNESDAY, 15TH DECEMBER, 2021
PRESENT:

Councillor J Lewis in the Chair
Councillors S Arif, D Coupar, S Golton,
M Harland, H Hayden, M Rafique and
F Venner

APOLOGIES:

Councillors A Carter and J Pryor

SUBSTITUTE MEMBER: Councillor A Lamb

85

Substitute Member
Under the provisions of Executive and Decision Making Procedure Rule 3.2.6,
Councillors A Lamb was invited to attend the meeting on behalf of Councillor
A Carter, who had submitted his apologies for absence from the meeting.

86

Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public
RESOLVED – That, in accordance with Regulation 4 of The Local Authorities
(Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England)
Regulations 2012, the public be excluded from the meeting during
consideration of the following parts of the agenda designated as exempt from
publication on the grounds that it is likely, in view of the nature of the business
to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that if members of the
public were present there would be disclosure to them of exempt information
so designated as follows:(A) That appendix B to the report entitled, ‘Wetherby High School Rebuild
Proposals and Business Case’, referred to in Minute No. 99 be
designated as being exempt from publication in accordance with
paragraph 10.4(3) of Schedule 12A(3) of the Local Government Act
1972 and considered in private on the grounds that the information
contained within that appendix contains information relating to the
financial and business affairs of the Council and other parties. It is
considered that the public interest in maintaining the exemption
outweighs the public interest in disclosing this information at this point
in time;
(B) That the designation of the appendix to the report entitled, ‘West
Yorkshire Devolution: Consent to Non-Transport Borrowing Powers’ as
being confidential under the provisions of Rule 9 of the Access to
Information Procedure Rules, be noted; and as such, agreement be
given that the appendix be exempt from publication and considered in
private on the basis of confidentiality and will be circulated during the
private part of the meeting, with it also being noted that the confidential
designation is due to the fact that it contains detail of the wording in the
draft order, which has not yet been published by Government, that
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 9th February, 2022

Page 261

publication of the draft order has been vetoed at this stage and that the
information has been given to the Council by a Government
department on terms which forbid its public disclosure in accordance
with Access to Information Procedure Rule 9.2 (a). (Minute No. 96
refers)
87

Late Items
Late Item of Business – ‘Update on Leeds Vaccination Programme’
With the agreement of the Chair, a late item of business was admitted to the
agenda entitled, ‘Update on Leeds Vaccination Programme’.
Given the scale and significance of this issue, it was deemed appropriate that
an update report be submitted to this meeting of the Board. However, due to
the fast paced nature of developments on this issue, and in order to ensure
that Board Members received the most up to date information as possible, the
report was not included within the agenda as originally published on the 7th
December 2021. (Minute No. 95 refers).
Late Item of Business – ‘West Yorkshire Devolution: Consent to NonTransport Borrowing Powers’
With the agreement of the Chair, a late item of business was admitted to the
agenda entitled, ‘West Yorkshire Devolution: Consent to Non-Transport
Borrowing Powers’.
Unanimous approval of all five West Yorkshire Councils was required for this
matter to proceed, and Government had indicated its intention to lay a draft
Order in parliament in January 2022. Therefore, this report could not be
deferred to the next scheduled Executive Board meeting, and any delay would
risk prejudice to the Council’s interests (and those of the combined authority
and other constituent Councils). Also, it was not possible for the report to be
submitted to an earlier meeting or included in the original agenda, as notice of
the Government’s intention to lay the draft Order in January 2022 was
received after the agenda for this meeting had already been published.
(Minute No. 96 refers).
Supplementary Information - Update on Coronavirus (Covid-19) Pandemic –
Response and Recovery Plan
With the agreement of the Chair, supplementary and updated information was
circulated to Board Members ahead of the meeting in relation to agenda item
10, ‘Update on Coronavirus (COVID-19) Pandemic – Response and Recovery
Plan’. (Minute No. 94 refers)

88

Declaration of Interests
There were no interests declared at the meeting.

89

Minutes
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 17th
November 2021 be approved as a correct record.

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 9th February, 2022

Page 262

RESOURCES
90

Financial Health Monitoring 2021/22 - October (Month 7)
The Chief Officer, Financial Services submitted a report which presented an
update on the financial health of the Authority in respect of both the General
Fund revenue budget and the Housing Revenue Account as at month 7 of the
2021/22 financial year.
By way of introduction to the report, the Executive Member for Resources
provided an overview of the key points included within it.
RESOLVED –
(a) That the projected financial position of the Authority, as detailed within
the submitted report and as at the end of October 2021 (Month 7 of the
financial year), be noted, together with the projected impact of COVID19 on that position;
(b) That it be noted that for 2021/22 the Authority is forecasting an
overspend of £0.909m, as at the end of October 2021;
(c) That it be noted that the position as reported does not reflect the
potential effects of any further local or national lockdown arrangements
on the financial projections.

91

Revenue Savings Proposals for 2022/23 to 2024/25
The Chief Officer (Financial Services) submitted a report presenting several
revenue savings proposals following ongoing review processes which
continued to be undertaken across Council services. The proposals were
designated as either ‘Business as Usual’, which could be implemented within
the Council’s delegated decision making framework, or as ‘Service Reviews’
which may require meaningful consultation with relevant stakeholders prior to
any decisions being taken, with those decisions being informed by the
outcomes of such consultation.
Members discussed the approach being taken by the Council with regard to
Minimum Revenue Provision and also Council borrowing.
Responding to a Member’s enquiry, the Board discussed the service reviews
taking place, and the approach being taken across directorates in relation to
such reviews and savings proposals. In conclusion, the Member in question
was offered the opportunity of a briefing on such matters, if required.
RESOLVED –
(a) That the ‘Business as Usual’ savings, as detailed within the submitted
report, be noted, with it also being noted that decisions to give effect to
them shall be taken by the relevant Director or Chief Officer in
accordance with the Officer Delegation Scheme (Executive functions);
(b) That agreement be given for consultation to commence with regard to
the two ‘Service Review’ proposals presented, with it being noted that
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 9th February, 2022

Page 263

decisions to give effect to them shall be taken by the relevant Director
or Chief Officer, following any consultation period, in accordance with
the Officer Delegation Scheme (Executive functions);
(c) That with specific regard to the ‘Review of Adult Social Work Provision’
Service Review as detailed within the submitted report:(i) Approval be given to the proposal to invest £660,253 to deliver a pilot
that uses Occupational Therapy and additional Social Worker staff
at “the front door” to maximise capacity to meet growing demand for
information and advice and demand for a social care assessment of
needs, embedding an “independence first” approach; with the
Board noting that this investment could generate £1.552m cost
avoidance savings during 2022-23;
(ii) Approval be given to the proposal to invest £646,323 to deliver a pilot
of a new Community Reviewing Team that includes Occupational
Therapy and Social Work staff to enhance the capacity of the
current Adult Reviewing Team, in order to deliver an increased
reviewing schedule; with the Board noting that this investment is
anticipated to deliver £3.3m from 2022–2025;
(iii) That it be noted that when accounting for annual investment costs over
the 3 years, total overall projected savings are £3.6m;
(iv) That it be noted that the impacts of the above proposals will inform a
longer-term model of area social work for the city;
(d) That it be noted that the savings proposals for 2022/23, as presented
within the submitted report, combined with the savings proposals
brought to the Executive Board at its September 2021 meeting support
a draft balanced budget for 2022/23 and the Council’s financial position
for the following two years, as set out within the accompanying report
submitted for consideration elsewhere on the agenda entitled,
‘Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional Budgets for 2023/24
and 2024/25’;
(e) That it be noted that further savings will be required in order to close
the Council’s estimated budget in the years 2023/24 and 2024/25, and
that related proposals will be brought to future meetings of this Board.
LEADER'S PORTFOLIO
92

Proposed Budget for 2022/23 and Provisional Budgets for 2023/24 and
2024/25
The Chief Officer (Financial Services) submitted a report presenting the
proposed budget for 2022/23, which subject to Executive Board’s approval,
was scheduled to be submitted to the respective Scrutiny Boards for their
consideration and review, with the outcome of their deliberations being
reported to Executive Board in February 2022, with the proposals also being
made available to other stakeholders as part of a wider and continuing
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 9th February, 2022

Page 264

process of engagement and consultation. The report also invited the Board to
note provisional budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25.
RESOLVED –
(a) That the proposed Budget for 2022/23, as presented within the
submitted report, which is based on the approval and delivery of
£17.7m of directorate savings for 2022/23, be noted, with it also being
noted that these matters have been brought to this Board through the
accompanying reports, ‘Revenue Savings Proposals for 2022/23 to
2024/25’ at its September meeting and elsewhere on this agenda;
(b) That agreement be given to consultation being undertaken upon the
proposed Budget for 2022/23, which includes the proposed increases
in core Council Tax and the Adult Social Care precept. Further to this,
agreement be given that these budget proposals are submitted to
Scrutiny for consideration and made available for wider consultation
with stakeholders;
(c) That the provisional budget position for 2023/24 and 2024/25, as
presented in the submitted report, be noted; and that it also be noted
that further savings proposals to address the updated estimated budget
gaps of £30.6m and £25.6m for 2023/24 and 2024/25 respectively will
be reported to future meetings of this Board;
(d) That should the application to form a 2022/23 Leeds City Region
Business Rates Pool be successful, approval be given for Leeds City
Council to become a member of the proposed Pool and to act as lead
Authority for it; with it being noted that the establishment of this new
Pool will be dependent upon none of the other proposed member
Authorities choosing to withdraw within the statutory period after
designation.
(Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 16.5, Councillor S Golton
required it to be recorded that he abstained from voting on the decisions
referred to within this minute.
Also, it was noted that whilst Councillor A Lamb was attending the Board
meeting in a non-voting capacity, were he able to, he would have abstained
from voting on the decisions referred to within this minute)
(The resolutions referred to within Minute No. 92 (a), (b) and (c), given that
these were decisions being made in accordance with the Budget and Policy
Framework Procedure Rules, were not eligible for Call In, as Executive and
Decision Making Procedure Rule 5.1.2 states that the power to Call In
decisions does not extend to those decisions made in accordance with the
Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules. However, the resolution
referred to in Minute No. 92 (d) was eligible for Call In, given that this was a
decision not being taken as part of the Budget and Policy Framework
Procedure Rules)
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 9th February, 2022

Page 265

93

Best City Ambition – Initial Proposals
Further to Minute No. 68, 20 October 2021, the Director of Resources
submitted a report presenting the initial proposals for the Leeds Best City
Ambition for the purposes of endorsement and approval that the proposals
were released for public consultation and referred to Scrutiny, as required by
the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules.
Responding to Members’ comments regarding the identification of the
Ambition’s priorities and the importance of ensuring that the outcomes from
the consultation were taken into consideration, the Board received further
information on how the outcomes from the proposed consultation exercise
would play a key role in how the Ambition developed.
RESOLVED –
(a) That the Best City Ambition initial proposals, as detailed within the
submitted report be noted, and that the commencement of a public
consultation process, be approved;
(b) That the Best City Ambition initial proposals, as submitted, be referred
to Scrutiny for consideration;
(c) That it be noted that the Director of Resources will be responsible for
the production of the final Best City Ambition proposals, which are
scheduled to be received by the Board in February 2022.
(The resolutions referred to within this Minute, given that they were decisions
being made in accordance with the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure
Rules, were not eligible for Call In, as Executive and Decision Making
Procedure Rule 5.1.2 states that the power to Call In decisions does not
extend to those decisions made in accordance with the Budget and Policy
Framework Procedure Rules)

94

Update on Coronavirus (COVID-19) Pandemic – Response and Recovery
Plan
The Chief Executive submitted a report outlining the latest position and
detailing ongoing activity across the multi-agency partnership, as the Council
together with its partners continued to respond to and recover from the Covid19 pandemic. Specifically, the report covered the period from the last report
considered by the Board in September 2021 to date.
Prior to the meeting Board Members were in receipt of supplementary
information to the submitted report which provided an updated position for
Members’ consideration as part of this item.
By way of introduction to the report, the Leader provided an update regarding
the latest developments with regard to the national and local position, with an
undertaking that the Council would continue to work with communities and
partner organisations in response to the pandemic.

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 9th February, 2022

Page 266

The Chief Executive provided an update on the Gold, Silver, Bronze ‘Team
Leeds’ approach which continued within the Council and with partners in
overseeing the actions being taken in relation to the pandemic. Also, updates
were provided regarding the planning and dialogue taking place within the
Council and with Government and relevant partners on:
 the continued financial implications of the pandemic;
 mitigating against the potential impact upon service provision and the
workforce as a result of Covid-19; and
 the dialogue with Government around providing greater flexibility in
relation to the delivery of decision making meetings during the
pandemic such as via remote means, with specific reference being
made to the budget Council meeting in February 2022.
RESOLVED –
(a) That the updates made to the Response & Recovery Plan, as detailed
at Annex A to the submitted report, which details ongoing response,
risks, and service pressures together with recovery efforts as the
Council plans for 2022, be noted;
(b) That the information presented in Annex B to the submitted report, be
noted, which is the usual Covid-19 Dashboard detailing information
across all seven themes;
(c) That it be agreed that the next Covid-19 update report will be submitted
to the Board in March 2022, dependent upon the local situation and the
national context.
95

Update on Leeds Vaccination Programme
The Chief Executive submitted a report providing an update on the Leeds
Covid-19 Vaccination Programme and which invited the Board to note the
range of initiatives that were being undertaken as part of that programme and
to endorse the approach taken by city partners under the leadership of the
NHS.
With the agreement of the Chair, the submitted report had been circulated to
Board Members as a late item of business prior to the meeting for the reasons
as detailed in Minute No. 87.
The Executive Member for Public Health and Active Lifestyles provided the
Board with an update on latest position regarding the vaccination programme,
with Members paying tribute to all of those who continued to be involved in its
delivery.
Responding to a Member’s enquiry, the Board received further detail on the
actions being taken to encourage greater take up of the vaccine in
communities where this remained an issue. Also, the Board received an
update regarding the progress which was being made in improving the
accessibility of vaccine provision, with the latest position regarding the
delivery of vaccines from GP practices and pharmacies being provided.
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 9th February, 2022

Page 267

In response to a Member’s enquiry, the Board was provided with information
on delayed hospital discharges.
RESOLVED –
(a) That the contents of the submitted report, together with the current
position, as detailed within it, be noted; and that the approach being
taken by NHS vaccine programme leaders and partners in Leeds
working together as ‘Team Leeds’, be endorsed;
(b) That the Board’s continued support be provided to the balanced
programme which scales up booster delivery whilst also working to
reduce health inequalities and overcome the barriers including access
and increasing confidence in the vaccination, in addition to promoting
first and second doses and also working with people and communities
through the ‘no-one left behind’ inequalities programme;
(c) That the comments made during the discussion about how best to
ensure continued support from Elected Members to act as the conduit
of information to and from their communities, including helping to
manage expectations and sign-posting people to online and community
resources, be noted.
(NB. The published report was marked as being not eligible for Call In,
however, in line with the relevant Procedure Rules, the resolutions arising
from this report are eligible for Call In)
96

West Yorkshire Devolution: Consent to Non-Transport Borrowing
Powers
The Chief Executive submitted a report which brought forward the next steps
for the devolution of powers to West Yorkshire, and which sought in-principle
consent to an Order which would enable the West Yorkshire Combined
Authority to borrow for non-transport related functions.
With the agreement of the Chair, the submitted report had been circulated to
Board Members as a late item of business prior to the meeting with the
confidential appendix being circulated at the conclusion of the public part of
the meeting, for the reasons as set out in the submitted report, and as
detailed in Minute No. 87.
Responding to a Member’s enquiry, it was undertaken that arrangements
would be made to provide Opposition Members with an opportunity to engage
and receive briefings in relation to the matters being proposed.
Overall, Members welcomed the proposals and the further benefits that the
devolved powers would bring.
In conclusion, the Leader highlighted that given the late submission of this
report, as required by the Executive and Decision Making Procedure Rules,
the Chair of the Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board had been consulted
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 9th February, 2022

Page 268

and had provided his agreement in relation to the reasons for urgency which
had been provided.
Following consideration of the appendix to the submitted report designated as
being confidential and therefore exempt from publication under the provisions
of Access to Information Procedure Rule 9.2(a), which was circulated at the
conclusion of the public part of the meeting and considered in private at that
point, it was
RESOLVED –
(a) That the Board’s in principle consent to the regulations to provide the
Combined Authority with the power to borrow for non-transport related
functions, as set out in the ‘minded to’ Devolution Deal, be confirmed;
(b) That the necessary authority be delegated to the Managing Director of
the Combined Authority, in consultation with the Leader and Chief
Executive of each constituent council and the Chair of the Combined
Authority, to finalise and consent to the final draft of the regulations,
further to any technical issues which may arise;
(c) That approval be given for all of the decisions taken by Executive
Board from the submitted report be exempt from Call In on the grounds
of urgency and for the reasons as set out in paragraph 12 of the
submitted report.
(The Council’s Executive and Decision Making Procedure Rules state that a
decision may be declared as being exempt from the Call In process by the
decision taker if it is considered that the matter is urgent and any delay would
seriously prejudice the Council’s, or the public’s interests. In line with this, the
resolutions contained within this minute were exempted from the Call In
process, as per resolution (c) above, and for the reasons as detailed within
sections 12 of the submitted report)
ADULT AND CHILDREN'S SOCIAL CARE AND HEALTH PARTNERSHIPS
97

Review of Charging for Non-Residential Adult Social Care Services
The Director of Adults and Health submitted a report presenting the outcomes
from the consultation undertaken regarding the review of charging for nonresidential Adult Social Care services. Specifically, the report provided options
and made recommendations for changes to charging.
In introducing the report, the Executive Member for Adult and Children’s
Social Care and Health Partnerships provided a detailed overview of the
changes to the Council’s current non-residential care charging policy which
were being proposed and the reasons for such proposals. Information was
also provided on the measures proposed to monitor and mitigate against the
impact on those affected, as detailed within the submitted report.
Responding to Members’ enquiries, the Board received further detail on the
financial basis for the proposal, the number of service users who would be
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 9th February, 2022

Page 269

affected, the phased approach being proposed, how the impact upon service
users would be monitored and the affected individuals supported, with
Members also receiving further detail regarding the level of response received
in relation to the associated consultation exercise.
As part of the review process and in response to a Member’s specific request,
it was undertaken that Executive Board Members would receive briefing
papers at 6 and 12 months in order to monitor how the changes were
progressing and the impact that they were having.
RESOLVED –
(a) That changes to the current charging policy, as detailed within the
submitted report, be approved, so that where more than one care
worker is required to deliver home care services at the same time, the
customer is required to contribute towards the costs of all workers
present;
(b) That approval be given to the removal of the Maximum Assessed
Charge (MAC) cap of £482 a week;
(c) That it be noted that the approach for the implementation of such
matters will be a phased approach; with it being noted that the
approach is recommended to be a staggered percentage increase, with
charges increasing by 25% of the difference between the current
charges and the new charges initially; by a further 25% after 3 months,
a further 25% after 6 months: and with customers expected to pay the
full amount of their new charges after 9 months;
(d) That further to resolution (b) above, it be noted that the charging policy
will be amended so that customers in Supported Living will be charged
for this service at the cost of their individual Placement Agreement
(subject to financial assistance);
(e) That it be noted that the officer responsible for the implementation of
the decision to amend the charging structure will be the Chief Officer of
Resources & Strategy;
(f) That it be noted that an update on the impact of this decision will be
brought to Executive Board within six months of its implementation,
with it also being noted (as detailed above), that Executive Board
Members would receive briefing papers at 6 and 12 months in order to
monitor how the changes were progressing and the impact that they
were having.
ENVIRONMENT AND HOUSING
98

Waste Management Service - Response to Covid-19
The Director of Communities, Housing and Environment submitted a report
which provided an update on the Waste Management Service operational
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 9th February, 2022

Page 270

response to the challenges being faced during the ongoing pandemic and
which also presented the related financial implications.
In introducing the key elements of the submitted report, the Executive
Member for Environment and Housing provided an overview of the current
performance statistics for the waste management service, the increased
workload and challenges which continued to be faced throughout the
pandemic and the budgetary implications arising from that. In conclusion, the
Executive Member for Environment and Housing, echoed by other Board
Members, paid tribute to the work of the refuse collection teams throughout
the pandemic.
In response to concerns raised, the Board discussed, and received further
information regarding:
 The measurement of performance and success for the service;
 The experience of service users;
 How the service had performed in light of continued challenges being
faced during the pandemic, including managing the levels of excess
waste which were being generated, the management of workforce
resource matters and budgetary pressures;
 The progression of the refuse service and route review;
 Comparisons with other Local Authorities.
As part of consideration of this matter, the Board received an update
specifically in respect of performance in Wetherby Ward, with officers
welcoming continued dialogue with Wetherby Ward Councillors to address
any issues arising. In addition, the Executive Member undertook to visit
Wetherby Ward to discuss service provision, in response to a request
received.
RESOLVED –
(a) That the contents of the submitted report, be noted;
(b) That the following be noted, together with the comments of the Board
during the consideration of such matters:
(i)
the performance of Waste Management Services in adapting to
the challenges presented by the coronavirus pandemic, in
particular the collection of additional waste produced by
households as more people work and learn from home;
(ii)

the breakdown of the additional cost of managing the additional
household waste produced during the pandemic, together with
the extra resources to ensure Government requirements for
isolation and safe working environments are being met; and

(iii)

the steps being taken to ensure that services are resilient to a
sustained change in the amount of household waste being
produced and other pressures such as the national LGV driver
shortage, together with the conclusion of the refuse
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 9th February, 2022

Page 271

service/route review to address issues effecting the performance
of the service pre-pandemic.
ECONOMY, CULTURE AND EDUCATION
99

Wetherby High School Rebuild Proposals and Business Case
The Director of Children and Families and the Director of City Development
submitted a joint report which set out the current issues regarding the
condition of Wetherby High School estate, and following a review undertaken,
presented details of proposals regarding the principle of a rebuild of the
school.
Members welcomed the proposals and extended their thanks to all of those
who had been involved in progressing the proposals to the current position.
In considering this matter, a Member highlighted Royds School, and the
investment which it needed. The school’s academy status was acknowledged,
and with that in mind it was noted that the options available in respect of
taking Royds School forward would be looked into.
Following consideration of Appendix B to the submitted report designated as
being exempt from publication under the provisions of Access to Information
Procedure Rule 10.4(3), which was considered in private at the conclusion of
the public part of the meeting, it was
RESOLVED –
(a) That the principle of the rebuild of Wetherby High School and the
ringfencing of capital receipts, CIL and S106, be approved in order to
support its delivery, as set out in exempt appendix B (Business Case)
to the submitted report;
(b) That following resolution (a) (above), and subject to the successful
outcome of the S77 notice and Sport England discussions regarding
the release and development of land around Wetherby High School,
approval be given to the submission of the planning applications for the
school and housing development to support the delivery of a new
secondary school at Wetherby for September 2024 at the earliest;
(c) That the principles of the Business Case, set out in the submitted
report and exempt appendix B, which has been developed to support
the delivery of the proposed rebuild of Wetherby High School, be
approved;
(d) That approval be given for the submission of an Executive Board report
at a future point in time once the Secretary of State approval to release
the land is secured and the details of the Business Case required to
deliver the project are known.

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 9th February, 2022

Page 272

100

The Great Jobs Agenda and the Leeds Anchors Network
The Director of City Development and the Director of Resources submitted a
joint report that explored the city’s approach towards promoting the Living
Wage and Great Jobs Agenda across the whole of the Leeds district. The
report also focussed upon the Leeds Anchors Network, including the recent
successful bid for funding to the Health Foundation to expand the Anchors
programme within local communities. Furthermore, the report set out the
Council’s actions in the context of the West Yorkshire Mayor’s ambition to
establish a Fair Work Charter.
Responding to a Member’s enquiry, the Board received further detail
regarding the work being undertaken to progress the respective areas of
‘future talent’ and ‘green jobs’.
RESOLVED –
(a) That the Board’s continued support towards the Council’s Employment
Agenda, as set out in paragraphs 12 to 15 of the submitted report, be
confirmed;
(b) That an approach whereby the Council continues to pay Council staff
the Living Wage Foundation Real Living Wage, be endorsed;
(c) That it be noted that the officers responsible for the implementation of
the matters detailed within the submitted report are the Chief Officer
Human Resources and Chief Officer Culture and Economy, with it also
being noted that all employment issues within the Council, including
engagement with Trade Unions, is the responsibility of the Chief
Officer Human Resources, with the Chief Officer Culture and Economy
being responsible for supporting both the Leeds Anchors Network and
wider employer engagement.

101

A Framework for Delivering Major Events in Leeds
The Director of City Development submitted a report presenting a renewed
framework for attracting and delivering major events for Leeds following a
review of the Council’s existing events programme. The report also sought
approval to host the World Triathlon Championship Series event in 2022 and
2024.
Responding to a Member’s comments, the Board acknowledged the need to
ensure that the correct balance was struck between delivering major events,
whilst at the same time ensuring that quality of life for local residents in those
host communities was preserved, and that local communities were included
in, and benefitted from such events.
Also, assurance was provided that where new major commercial events were
delivered in Roundhay Park or similar venues, the commercial provider would
provide the levels of resource required, which meant that staffing from parks
services would not be diverted as a result.

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 9th February, 2022

Page 273

RESOLVED –
(a) That the adoption of the Events Framework as presented in the submitted
report, be approved, incorporating:(i)
a mechanism for assessing and bidding for major events;
(ii)
a Framework for delivery of major events held within Leeds; and
(iii)
including an internal strategy for actively curating events within the
City’s parks.
(b)

That approval be given to host the World Triathlon Championship
Series event in 2022 and 2024;

(c)

That approval be given for the Head of Arts Events and Venues to be
responsible for the implementation of Major Events Framework in
Leeds.

PUBLIC HEALTH AND ACTIVE LIFESTYLES
102

Leeds Parks and Green Spaces Strategy
The Director of Communities, Housing and Environment submitted a report
presenting the Leeds Parks and Green Spaces Strategy. The report set out a
vision for the Parks and Countryside Service, and the actions that would be
undertaken by the service to deliver that vision over the next 10 years.
Responding to a specific enquiry, the Board received an update regarding the
approach being taken in respect of flower bed planting in parks and other
areas.
In response to a Member’s comments, the importance of prioritising
accessibility in the city’s parks was emphasised, which it was noted was
reflected in the proposed strategy. With regard to the strategy’s priorities more
generally, the Board received an update on the ways in which the service
would look to deliver such priorities.
A Member highlighted the benefits of the service working with local Ward
Councillors as a means of engaging local communities. Also, responding to a
specific enquiry, the Board noted the undertaking to prepare a plan on a page
for each community park in the city.
RESOLVED – That the new Parks and Green Spaces Strategy, as presented
within the submitted report, and which is for implementation by the Chief
Officer, Parks and Countryside from January 2022, be approved.
INFRASTRUCTURE AND CLIMATE

103

Main Modifications to the Leeds Site Allocations Remitted Plan
Further to Minute No. 148, 17 March 2021, and further to the matter being
considered by Development Plan Panel on 14th December 2021, the Director
of City Development submitted a report which sought approval to commence
a six-week public consultation on the Main Modifications (MM’s)
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 9th February, 2022

Page 274

recommended by the Independent Planning Inspector who had been
appointed to examine the Remitted part of the Leeds Site Allocation Plan.
In introducing the report, the Executive Member for Infrastructure and Climate
extended her thanks to the continued efforts of all of those who had
progressed the Leeds Site Allocations Remitted Plan to this advanced stage,
which was echoed by other Members.
In considering the proposals, support was given to the proposal to return the
36 housing sites back to the Green Belt, however one Member specifically
emphasised their Group’s view that the Barrowby Lane site should also be
returned to the Green Belt, at least until an employment review was
undertaken.
RESOLVED –
(a) That public consultation of the schedule of Inspector’s proposed Main
Modifications (as detailed at Appendix 1 to the submitted report) and
the supporting material (at Appendices 2 to 4 of the submitted report)
for a period of 6 weeks from 17th December 2021 to 28th January
2022, be approved;
(b) That the necessary authority be delegated to the Chief Planning
Officer, in consultation with the Executive Member for Infrastructure
and Climate, to enable the Chief Planning Officer to approve the detail
of any updates or corrections to the consultation material and any
technical documents and supporting evidence required.
(Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 16.5, Councillor S Golton
required it to be recorded that he abstained from voting on the decisions
referred to within this minute)
(The matters referred to within this minute, given that they were decisions
being made in accordance with the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure
Rules, were not eligible for Call In, as Executive and Decision Making
Procedure Rule 5.1.2 states that the power to Call In decisions does not
extend to those decisions being made in accordance with the Budget and
Policy Framework Procedure Rules)
104

Integrated Rail Plan for the North and Midlands: Outcome and
Implications for Leeds
The Director of City Development submitted a report setting out the key
issues in the Integrated Rail Plan for the North and Midlands (IRP) and the
specific implications for Leeds. In February 2020, the Government published
the outcome of the independent Oakervee report advising whether and how to
progress HS2 and recommending the need for an IRP for the North and
Midlands to be developed. The IRP was developed by Department for
Transport (DfT) and was published on 18th November 2021.
In considering the report, it was noted that this had been the first opportunity
to submit a report on such matters to the Board since the publication of the
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 9th February, 2022

Page 275

IRP, and the purpose of it was to provide Members with the latest position and
invite the Board’s support to seek clarification from Government in a number
of areas.
The Board discussed a number of issues, including:
 The key importance of addressing the capacity issues at Leeds station
moving forward;
 The need for clarity around alternative proposals for highspeed
connectivity for Leeds, as an alternative to the HS2 eastern leg;
 The key importance of effective East-West connectivity;
 The disappointment of the current position, given the significant
planning that had been made on the basis of the HS2 route into Leeds.
The Chief Executive highlighted that in moving forward, the aim was now to
establish a partnership approach with Government and regional partners in
order to deliver real transport improvements, given the integral role that
transport connectivity played in the city’s development. Positives, such as the
funding which had been allocated towards the development of a new West
Yorkshire Mass Transit System were also highlighted.
Finally, confirmation was provided that the DfT held the £100m which had
been allocated in the IRP towards a review of how to bring high-speed trains
to Leeds and to consider Leeds Station capacity issues, with it being noted
that the Council was keen to progress such matters with partners as quickly
as possible.
RESOLVED –
(a) That the proposed approach to seeking the following from Government,
as set out below, be endorsed:a) To note the key issues in the Integrated Rail Plan for the North and
Midlands including the emerging specific implications for Leeds;
b) To support the request to DFT and Treasury for Leeds City Council to
joint client all proposed further studies impacting Leeds Railway Station
in defining the scope and remitting of the study into highspeed rail to
Leeds, including the critical link between Leeds and Sheffield and
Leeds Station capacity utilising the £100m made available through the
IRP;
c) For officers to liaise with WYCA and DfT to obtain clarity over the total
development funding contribution to Mass Transit, understand how and
when it will be paid and the specific scope of the funding contribution
proposed;
d) For officers to seek clarity from DFT over the implications of the
TRU/NPR works to Leeds Station and to understand what land will be
required to implement the Government’s proposals. Officers will also
seek clarity over the level of disruption anticipated to existing TransPennine services while the works are undertaken not just to the rail
network but also the highway network specifically including consenting
regime, timescales and any required land acquisition;
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 9th February, 2022

Page 276

e) For officers to seek clarity from DFT on the timescales associated with
the safeguarding of land, and that impact on businesses and residents
have been updated by DfT on what the IRP and safeguarding now
means for them and for DFT to undertake further public engagement
on the ongoing implications;
f) For officers to seek greater clarity from DFT on the timescale for the
delivery of all the proposed enhanced journey times as stated in the
IRP and consenting powers/routes;
g) For officers to formally request a copy of the Mott MacDonald technical
report on alternative routes for the eastern leg of HS2;
(b) That subject to receiving clarification on resolutions (a) to (g) above,
officers bring back a further report to Executive Board to outline the
detailed implications of the IRP and any further recommendations for
the Council to take.

DATE OF PUBLICATION:
LAST DATE FOR CALL IN
OF ELIGIBLE DECISIONS:

FRIDAY, 17TH DECEMBER 2021

5.00 P.M., FRIDAY, 24TH DECEMBER
2021

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 9th February, 2022

Page 277

This page is intentionally left blank

